IMPORTANT NOTICE

THIS DOCUMENT IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER (1) QIBS (AS DEFINED
BELOW) OR (2) NON-U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED BELOW) LOCATED OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED
STATES.

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. This notice applies to the offering memorandum
dated October 13, 2022 (the “Offering Memorandum?) following this page, and you are therefore advised to read
this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Memorandum. In accessing the
Offering Memorandum, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications
to them any time you receive any information from the Issuer (as defined in the Offering Memorandum), the Arranger
and the Dealers (each as defined in the Offering Memorandum) as a result of such access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE
IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE
SECURITIES DISCUSSED IN THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM HAVE NOT BEEN, AND
WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER
JURISDICTION. THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS
DEFINED IN REGULATION S (“REGULATION S”) UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT), EXCEPT PURSUANT
TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY
OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY
FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS
UNAUTHORIZED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF
THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED
ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU
ARE NOT AUTHORIZED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES OFFERED
THEREUNDER.

In addition, the attached Offering Memorandum is not directed at, and may not be viewed by or distributed to (a)
persons who are “retail investors” (as defined below); (b) persons in the United Kingdom, except for persons who
are not retail investors and who (i) have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within
Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 as amended (the
“Order”), or (ii) are otherwise persons to whom the attached Offering Memorandum may be lawfully communicated:;
(c) persons in any Member State of the European Economic Area, except for persons who are not retail investors and
who are “qualified investors” within the meaning of Article 2(e) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended or
superseded (the “EU Prospectus Regulation”); or (d) any other persons who are not persons to whom the attached
Offering Memorandum may be otherwise lawfully communicated under the laws of any other jurisdiction.

As used in this disclaimer, a “retail investor” means a person who is (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of
Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID I1”); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive
(EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (iii) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of
Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the European
Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “EUWA”); and/or (iv) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended, the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the
FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client, as defined in point (8) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the
EUWA (“UK MIFIR”).



The attached Offering Memorandum is also not addressed to “consumers” (consumenten/ consommateurs) within
the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek van economisch recht/ Code de droit économique), as
amended.

Confirmation of your representation: In order to be eligible to view the attached Offering Memorandum or make
an investment decision with respect to the securities being offered, prospective investors must be either (1) qualified
institutional buyers (“QIBs”) (within the meaning of Rule 144A (“Rule 144A”) under the Securities Act) or (2) non-
U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) located outside of the United States. The attached Offering Memorandum
is being provided to you at your request and, by accessing the attached Offering Memorandum, you shall be deemed
to have represented to the Issuer, the Arranger and the Dealers that (1) you consent to delivery of such Offering
Memorandum by electronic transmission, (2) you are a person who is permitted under applicable law and regulation
to receive the Offering Memorandum and (3) you and any customers you represent are either (a) QIBs or (b) non-
U.S. persons located outside of the United States and any electronic mail address that you have provided and to
which the Offering Memorandum may have been delivered is not located in the United States, its territories and
possessions, any State of the United States or the District of Columbia.

You are reminded that the attached Offering Memorandum has been provided to you on the basis that you are a
person into whose possession this Offering Memorandum may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of
the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorized to, deliver or disclose the contents
of this Offering Memorandum to any other person.

The materials relating to the Programme (as defined in the Offering Memorandum) do not constitute, and may not
be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law.
If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer, and the Arranger, the Dealer(s) or
any of their respective affiliates is a licensed broker or dealer in the relevant jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed
to be made by the Arranger, the Dealer(s) or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

The attached Offering Memorandum has been provided to you in electronic form. You are reminded that documents
transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and,
consequently, none of the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers, any person who controls any of them or any director,
officer, employee or agent of any of them or affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility
whatsoever in respect of any difference between the Offering Memorandum provided to you in electronic format and
a hard copy version that may be available to you on request from the Arranger and/or the Dealers.



KBC

KBC Group NV

(incorporated with limited liability in Belgium)

U.S.$10,000,000,000
U.S. Medium Term Note Programme

Under this U.S.$10,000,000,000 U.S. Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”), KBC Group NV (the
“Issuer”) may from time to time issue notes (the “Notes”) denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer
and the relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below). The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any
time exceed U.S.$10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currencies). Any Notes issued under the
Programme on or after the date of this Offering Memorandum (as defined below) are issued subject to the
provisions herein. Notes to be issued under the Programme may comprise (i) unsubordinated Notes (“Senior
Notes”) and (ii) Notes that are subordinated as described herein and have terms capable of qualifying as Tier 2
Capital (as defined herein) (the “Subordinated Tier 2 Notes”). The Notes will be issued in the Specified
Denomination(s) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as defined below).

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to the Dealers specified below and any additional Dealer appointed
under the Programme from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis
(each a “Dealer” and together the “Dealers”).

The Notes will be held by The Bank of New York Mellon, as CDI depositary (the “CDI Depositary”), through
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) as a direct participant in the Securities Settlement System (as defined
below). The CDI Depositary will create certificated depository interests (“CDIS”) representing interests in the
Notes, which will be issued to The Depository Trust Company or its nominee (“DTC”), and its direct (including
Euroclear and Clearstream Banking S.A.) and indirect participants will record ownership of the beneficial interests
in the CDIs on their books. Investors will receive CDIs representing interests in the Notes, as further described
under “Form of Notes — Depositary Receipts”. Notes represented by CDIs sold in reliance on Rule 144A (as
defined below) will be represented by one or more global securities (each, a “Rule 144A Certificated Depositary
Interest”), and Notes represented by CDIs sold in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S (as defined
below) will be represented by one or more global securities (each, a “Regulation S Certificated Depositary
Interest”). Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the minimum specified denomination
of CDIs offered and sold in reliance on Rule 144A will be U.S.$200,000. References in this Offering
Memorandum to “Notes” include CDIs representing interests in the Notes unless the context otherwise requires.

This offering memorandum (the “Offering Memorandum”) does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of
article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the “Prospectus Regulation™). Application may be made
to the Irish Stock Exchange plc, trading as Euronext Dublin (“Euronext Dublin”), for a period of 12 months from
the date of this Offering Memorandum for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing on its
official list (the “Official List”) and trading on the Global Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin. This Offering
Memorandum constitutes listing particulars for the purpose of such application and has been approved by
Euronext Dublin. The Global Exchange Market is not a regulated market for the purpose of Directive 2014/65/EU
of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (as amended, “MiFID I17).
The Issuer may also issue Notes that are not listed or request the listing of Notes on any other stock exchange or
market.

This Offering Memorandum and any supplement hereto that may be published from time to time will be available
on the website of Euronext Dublin (https:/live.euronext.com/).

The Notes will be issued in dematerialized form in accordance with the provisions of the Belgian Companies and
Associations Code (Wethoek van Vennootschappen en Verenigingen/Code des Sociétés et des Associations), as
amended (the “Belgian Companies and Associations Code”) and will not be delivered in individually
certificated form. The Notes will be represented exclusively by book entries in the records of the securities
settlement system operated by the National Bank of Belgium (the “NBB”) or any successor thereto (the
“Securities Settlement System”).


https://live.euronext.com/

Information on the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of such Notes, the
issue price of such Notes and other information that is applicable to each Tranche (as defined herein) of such
Notes will be set out in a pricing supplement document (the “Pricing Supplement”). With respect to any Notes
to be listed on Euronext Dublin, a Pricing Supplement will be delivered to Euronext Dublin on or before the date
of issue of the Notes of such Tranche. Copies of the Pricing Supplement in relation to Notes to be listed on
Euronext Dublin will be published on the website of the Issuer (https://www.kbc.com/en/investor-relations/debt-
issuance/kbc-group/us-mtn-programme.html) and of Euronext Dublin (https:/live.euronext.com/).

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. When an issue of a certain Series (as defined herein)
of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating applicable to the Programme (if any), and
such rating may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Whether or not a rating in relation to any
Tranche of Notes will be treated as having been issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union
and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies, as amended (the “CRA
Regulation”) and/or by a credit rating agency established in the United Kingdom and registered under Regulation
(EC) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “EUWA”) (the “UK CRA Regulation”) will be disclosed in the applicable Pricing
Supplement. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The Notes will be offered in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144A (“Rule
144A”) under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), only to qualified
institutional buyers (“QIBs”) within the meaning of Rule 144A or outside the United States to non-U.S.
persons (as such term is defined in Rule 902 under the Securities Act (a “non-U.S. person”)) pursuant to
Regulation S (“Regulation S”) under the Securities Act.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors”
in this Offering Memorandum, setting out certain risks in relation to Senior Notes and Subordinated Tier
2 Notes. In particular, holders of Senior Notes and Subordinated Tier 2 Notes may lose their investment if
the Issuer were to become non-viable or the Notes were to be (in the case of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes)
written down and/or converted or (in the case of the Senior Notes) bailed-in. Moreover, Subordinated Tier
2 Notes include certain risks specific to the nature of such instruments, such as subordination, write-
down/conversion features, increased illiquidity, conflicts of interest and redemption. See pages 12 to 48 for
a description of the risk factors and pages 38 to 39 for a description of the risk factors specific to
Subordinated Tier 2 Notes.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Accordingly, prospective investors in the Notes
should decide for themselves whether they want to invest in the Notes and obtain advice from a financial
intermediary in that respect, in which case the relevant intermediary will have to determine whether or not
the Notes are a suitable investment for them.

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available, and will not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available, by any Dealer to “consumers” (consumenten / consommateurs) within the
meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wethoek van economisch recht / Code de droit économique),
as amended.

Arranger

BofA Securities

Dealers
BofA Securities BNP PARIBAS Credit Suisse
Deutsche Bank Securities Goldman Sachs International J.P. Morgan

Morgan Stanley

The date of this Offering Memorandum is October 13, 2022.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Memorandum contains or incorporates by reference certain statements that constitute forward-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements relating to the
Issuer’s business strategies, trends in its business, competition and competitive advantage, regulatory changes,
and restructuring plans.

Words such as “believes”, “expects”, “projects”, “anticipates”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “intends”, “plans” or similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying
such statements. The Issuer has based these forward-looking statements on the current view of its management
with respect to future events and financial performance. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations,
estimates and projections reflected in its forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this Offering
Memorandum, if one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialize, including those identified below or which
the Issuer has otherwise identified in this Offering Memorandum, or if any of the Issuer’s underlying assumptions
prove to be incomplete or inaccurate, the Issuer’s actual results of operation may vary from those expected,
estimated or predicted. Any forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum speak only as at
the date of this Offering Memorandum. The Issuer does not intend to update these forward-looking statements
except as may be required by applicable securities laws.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and
specific, and risks exist that predictions, forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or implied in
forward-looking statements will not be achieved. A number of important factors could cause actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and intentions
expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors include:

0] the ability to maintain sufficient liquidity and access to capital markets;

(i)  market and interest rate fluctuations;

(iif)  the strength of the global economy in general and the strength of the economies of the countries in which
the Issuer or the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole (the “Group”) conducts operations;

(iv)  the potential impact of sovereign risk in certain European Union countries;
(v)  adverse rating actions by credit rating agencies;
(vi)  the ability of counterparties to meet their obligations to the Issuer or the Group;

(vii) the effects of, and changes in, fiscal, monetary, trade and tax policies, financial and company regulation
and currency fluctuations;

(viii) the possibility of the imposition of foreign exchange controls by government and monetary authorities;
(ix)  operational factors, such as systems failure, human error, or the failure to implement procedures properly;

(X)  actions taken by regulators with respect to the Issuer’s and/or the Group’s business and practices in one or
more of the countries in which the Issuer or the Group conducts operations;

(xi)  the adverse resolution of litigation and other contingencies; and

(xii) the Issuer’s and/or the Group’s success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing.



The foregoing list of important factors is not exclusive; when evaluating forward-looking statements, investors
should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events, as well as the other risks
identified in this Offering Memorandum.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM

This Offering Memorandum does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of article 8 of the Prospectus
Regulation. Application will be made to Euronext Dublin, for a period of 12 months from the date of this Offering
Memorandum for Notes issued under the Programme, to be admitted to the “Official List” and to trading on the
Global Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin. This Offering Memorandum constitutes base listing particulars for
the purpose of such application and has been approved by Euronext Dublin. The Global Exchange Market is not
a regulated market for the purpose of MiFID II. The Issuer may also issue Notes under the Programme that are
not listed or admitted to trading.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Memorandum. To the best of the
knowledge of the Issuer, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained
in this Offering Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect its import.

This Offering Memorandum is to be read in conjunction with any supplement hereto and all documents that are
incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”). Unless specifically incorporated
by reference into this Offering Memorandum, information contained on websites mentioned herein does not form
part of this Offering Memorandum and has not been scrutinized or approved by Euronext Dublin.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained
in this Offering Memorandum in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer or any of the Dealers
or the Arranger. Neither the delivery of this Offering Memorandum nor any sale made in connection herewith
shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer
since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or
supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof
or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any
other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on
which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Offering Memorandum and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may
be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Memorandum comes are required by the Issuer,
the Arranger and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. None of the Dealers,
the Arranger or the Issuer makes any representation to any investor in the Notes regarding the legality of its
investment under any applicable laws.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any U.S. State securities laws. and
may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined
in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject
to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and in accordance with all applicable securities laws of any
State of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the
Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule
144A. Prospective investors should thus be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of an
investment in the Notes for an indefinite period of time. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales
of Notes and on distribution of this Offering Memorandum, see “Plan of Distribution; Subscription and Sale”.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, any retail investor
in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or
more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID 11 or (ii) a customer within the meaning



of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution Directive™), where that customer would
not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID Il. Consequently, no key
information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRIIPs Regulation™) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared
and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA
may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to, any retail investor
in the United Kingdom (“UK?”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i)
a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic
law by virtue of the EUWA or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 (as amended, the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement
the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in
point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA
(“UK MIFIR”). Consequently, no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part
of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling
the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK
PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO CONSUMERS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise
made available, and will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available, by any Dealer to any “consumer”
(consument / consommateur) within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Wetboek van economisch
recht / Code de droit économique), as amended.

MiFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Pricing Supplement in respect of the
Notes will include a legend entitled “MiFID Il Product Governance” which will outline the relevant target market
assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the
target market assessment. However, a distributor subject to MiFID 11 is responsible for undertaking its own target
market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593, as amended (the “MiFID Product Governance
Rules”), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither
the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the
MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Pricing Supplement in respect of any
Notes may include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Governance” which will outline the target market
assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the
target market assessment. However, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product
Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is responsible for undertaking its own
target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product
Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise
neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose
of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.



SINGAPORE: SECTION 309B(1)(C) NOTIFICATION - In connection with Section 309B of the Securities
and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital
Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has, unless
otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, determined the classification of all Notes to be issued under the
Programme as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

BENCHMARK REGULATION — Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to certain
reference rates. Any such reference rate may constitute a benchmark for the purposes of Regulation (EU)
2016/1011, as amended (the “Benchmark Regulation”). If any such reference rate does constitute such a
benchmark, the applicable Pricing Supplement will indicate whether or not the benchmark is provided by an
administrator included in the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the
European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation. Not
every reference rate will fall within the scope of the Benchmark Regulation. Transitional provisions in the
Benchmark Regulation may have the result that the administrator of a particular benchmark is not required to
appear in the register of administrators and benchmarks at the date of the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if
located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or equivalence). The registration status of any
administrator under the Benchmark Regulation is a matter of public record and, save where required by applicable
law, the Issuer does not intend to update the Pricing Supplement to reflect any change in the registration status of
the administrator.

This Offering Memorandum is a base listing particulars and therefore does not, without the applicable Pricing
Supplement that has been duly completed and signed by the Issuer, constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or
on behalf of the Issuer, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to subscribe for or purchase, any Notes.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents accept any responsibility
for the contents of this Offering Memorandum or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the
Avrranger, a Dealer or an Agent or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes.
The Arranger, each Dealer and each Agent accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or
contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) that they might otherwise have in respect of this Offering
Memorandum or any such statement. Neither this Offering Memorandum nor any other financial statements are
intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation
by any of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Offering Memorandum or any other
financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the
relevance of the information contained in this Offering Memorandum, and its purchase of Notes should be based
upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Arranger or the Dealers undertakes to review the
financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering
Memorandum or to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the
attention of any of the Arranger or the Dealers.

U.S. INFORMATION

This Offering Memorandum is being provided on a confidential basis in the United States to a limited number of
QIBs for informational use solely in connection with the consideration of the purchase of certain Notes or CDIs
issued under the Programme. Its use for any other purpose in the United States is not authorized. It may not be
copied or reproduced in whole or in part nor may it be distributed or any of its contents disclosed to anyone other
than the prospective investors to whom it is originally submitted.

Notes may be offered or sold within the United States only to QIBs in transactions exempt from registration under
the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 144A or any other applicable exemption. Each U.S. purchaser of Notes is
hereby notified that the offer and sale of any Notes to it may be being made in reliance upon the exemption from
the registration requirements of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.



Each purchaser or holder of Notes represented by a CDI in the form of a Rule 144A Certificated Depositary
Interest will be deemed, by its acceptance or purchase of any such Rule 144A Certificated Depositary Interest, to
have made certain representations and agreements intended to restrict the resale or other transfer of such CDIs as
set out in “Plan of Distribution; Subscription and Sale”. Unless otherwise stated, terms used in this paragraph
have the meanings given to them in “Form of Notes — Depositary Receipts”.

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other
securities commission or other regulatory authority in the United States, nor have the foregoing authorities
approved this Offering Memorandum or confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of the information
contained in this Offering Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is unlawful and a criminal offence
in the United States.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

To permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with any resales or other transfers of Notes that are “restricted
securities” within the meaning of the Securities Act, the Issuer has undertaken to furnish, upon the request of a
holder of such Notes or any beneficial interest therein, including holders of CDlIs, to such holder or to a prospective
purchaser designated by them, the information required to be delivered under Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities
Act if, at the time of the request, any of the Notes remain outstanding as “restricted securities” within the meaning
of Rule 144(a)(3) of the Securities Act and the Issuer is neither a reporting company under Section 13 or 15(d) of
the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) nor exempt from reporting pursuant
to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuer is a corporation organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium. All of the officers and directors
of the Issuer named herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of the
Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible
for investors to effect service of process outside the Kingdom of Belgium upon the Issuer or such persons, or to
enforce judgments against them obtained in courts outside the Kingdom of Belgium predicated upon civil
liabilities of the Issuer or such directors and officers under laws other than Belgian law, including any judgment
predicated upon United States federal securities laws. There is doubt as to the enforceability in the Kingdom of
Belgium in original actions or in actions for enforcement of judgments of United States courts of civil liabilities
predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States.

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT
The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. In particular, each potential investor should:

Q) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Offering Memorandum or any applicable supplement and all information contained in
the applicable Pricing Supplement;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its
overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant
Notes, including where the currency for principal and/or interest payments is different from the potential
investor’s currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant
indices, interest rates and financial markets; and



(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic,
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors
are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation, by certain authorities. Each potential
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) Notes are legal investments
for it, (b) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

STABILIZATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilizing manager(s)
(the “Stabilizing Manager(s)”) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager(s)) in the applicable
Pricing Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the
Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilizing
Manager(s) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager) will undertake stabilization action. Any
stabilization action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of
the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of
30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant
Tranche. Any stabilization action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilizing Manager(s) (or
any person acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group presents its consolidated financial information in euro, and references in this Offering Memorandum
to “euro”, “EUR” and “€” are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and
monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

In this Offering Memorandum, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “U.S.
dollars”, “U.S.$” and “$” are to United States dollars.

Annual financial statements

The Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2021 (the “2021
Financial Statements”), December 31, 2020 (the “2020 Financial Statements™) and December 31, 2019 (the
“2019 Financial Statements” and, together with the 2021 Financial Statements and the 2020 Financial
Statements, the “Annual Financial Statements”) are each incorporated by reference in this Offering
Memorandum and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and interpretations of these standards as adopted by the European Commission.

Financial information presented in this Offering Memorandum as at December 31, 2019 has been taken from the
2020 Financial Statements, as some balance sheet items as at December 31, 2019 were restated retroactively due
to changes in accounting policy, as explained in Note 1.1 to the 2020 Financial Statements.

The Annual Financial Statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Bedrijfsrevisoren BV (erkende
revisor/réviseur agréé), with Damien Walgrave and Jeroen Bockaert as auditors in charge, as set forth in the
auditor’s reports incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

Interim Financial Statements

The Issuer’s unaudited consolidated interim financial statements as at and for the six-month periods ended June
30, 2022 and 2021 (the “Interim Financial Statements™) are incorporated by reference in this Offering
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Memorandum and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as applicable to the preparation of interim
financial statements and interpretations of these standards as adopted by the European Commission.

The Interim Financial Statements have been reviewed in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the
Entity” applicable to review engagements by PricewaterhouseCoopers Bedrijfsrevisoren BV (erkende
revisor/réviseur agréé), with Damien Walgrave and Jeroen Bockaert as auditors in charge, as set forth in the
review report incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

Implementation of new and amended accounting policies

As of January 1, 2020, the Group adopted Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (“IBOR”) — Phase 2. Under Phase 2
of the IBOR reform, the IASB made a humber of amendments to 1AS 39 and to related affected standards, which
provide temporary relief from adopting specific hedge accounting requirements for hedging relationships directly
affected by this reform. The Group applied these amendments in the year ended December 31, 2020, prior to
mandatory adoption. The amendments to IAS 39 with regard to IBOR had no significant impact on the Group’s
hedge accounting, as most hedging derivatives are based on EURIBOR.

In May 2017, the 1ASB issued IFRS 17 (Insurance Contracts), a comprehensive new accounting standard for
insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17
will replace IFRS 4 (Insurance Contracts) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 will become effective for reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with comparative figures being required. In 2018, the Group
launched a Group-wide project to implement IFRS 17, and it will apply this standard when it becomes mandatory.

For more information on the implementation of new and amended accounting policies, including the known
impacts of introducing IFRS 17, see Note 1.1 to the Annual Financial Statements and the Interim Financial
Statements.

Unaudited information

Certain financial information in this Offering Memorandum is unaudited financial information that has been
extracted without material adjustment from the Group’s accounting records, which form the underlying basis of
the Annual Financial Statements. In particular, the financial information included within “Selected Statistical
Data”, “Risk Management” and “Capital Management” is unaudited and has been extracted from the Group’s
financial and other information systems.

Alternative performance measures

This Offering Memorandum includes certain alternative performance measures (“APMs”) that are not defined or
recognized under IFRS. Key financial ratios that are regulated by IFRS or other legislation (CRR/CRD) and non-
financial data are not considered APMs. APMs should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for,
financial information presented in compliance with IFRS. APMs as reported by the Group may not be comparable
to similarly titled amounts reported by other companies. The APMs discussed in this Offering Memorandum are
used in the internal management of the Group, along with the most directly comparable IFRS financial measures,
in evaluating operating performance. The Group’s management believes that these APMs, when considered in
conjunction with IFRS measures, accurately reflect the Group’s economic performance and enhance investors’
and management’s overall understanding of the Group’s performance.

Set forth below are the Group’s APMs used in this Offering Memorandum and their respective definitions:

e Combined ratio gives insight into the technical profitability (i.e. after eliminating investment returns,
among other items) of the non-life insurance business; more particularly the extent to which insurance
premiums adequately cover claim payments and expenses. The combined ratio takes ceded reinsurance
into account. The Group also uses the same methodology to calculate this ratio for each business unit.
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Six months ended Year ended

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

Technical insurance charges, including

the internal cost of settling claims (A) .. 542 478 1,081 945 1,006
/

Earned insurance premiums (B)............ 963 895 1,841 1,742 1,693
+

Operating expenses (C)......ccccvvevveeernane. 315 283 565 536 526
/

Written insurance premiums (D) .......... 1,086 1,007 1,875 1,769 1,728
=(A/B) + (C/D) 85% 82% 89% 85% 90%

e Cost/income ratio gives an impression of the relative cost efficiency (costs relative to income) of the
Group. The Group also uses the same methodology to calculate this ratio for each business unit. Where
relevant, the Group also eliminates exceptional and/or non-operating items when calculating the
cost/income ratio. This calculation aims to give a better idea of the relative cost efficiency of the pure
business activities.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)

Operating expenses (A) ....ccccevevverernene. 2,591 2,293 4,396 4,156 4,303
/
Total income (B)....ccoceevveeerieineennn 4,239 3,786 7,558 7,195 7,629
=(A)/(B) 61% 61% 58% 58% 56%

e Coverage ratio indicates the proportion of impaired loans that are covered by specific impairment
charges. The numerator and denominator in the formula relate to all impaired loans. See “Risk
Management—Credit Risk—Credit risk exposure in the banking activities arising from lending and

investing”.
Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

Specific impairment on loans (A).......... 2,076 2,518 2,569 2,638 2,584
/
Impaired 10ans (B) .......ccovvrerveicencnn. 4,278 5,896 5,454 5,902 6,160
=(A)/(B) 49% 43% 47% 45% 42%

e Credit cost ratio gives an idea of loan impairment charges recognized in the income statement for a
specific period, relative to the total loan portfolio (as defined below). In the longer term, this ratio can
provide an indication of the credit quality of the portfolio. The Group also uses the same methodology
to calculate this ratio for each business unit.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)

Net changes in impairment for credit
FISKS (A) coeeeeeeeieesiee e (5) (205) (330) 1,069 204
/
Average loan portfolio (B)................... 192,492 181,694 184,640 177,542 170,128
=(A)/(B) (0.01)% (0.22)% (0.18)% 0.60% 0.12%

e Dividend payout ratio gives an idea of the extent to which the Group distributes its annual profit (and,
therefore, also indirectly the extent to which profits are used to strengthen the capital reserves).
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Six months ended Year ended

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
Amount of dividend to be distributed
(including interim dividend) (A) @....... - - 3,585 1,017 416
+
Coupon on additional Tier 1
instruments included in equity (B)........ - - 50 50 56
/
Net result, group share (C).........c.c........ - - 2,614 1,440 2,489
=(A+B)/C - - 139% 74% 19%
1) When calculating the dividend payout ratio, the Group allocated €2 of the interim dividend paid in November 2021 (€3

per share entitled to dividend) to financial year 2020 and €1 to financial year 2021. This brings the total dividend for
2021 to €8.6 per share, of which €4.6 is an extraordinary dividend. If the Group had only included the ordinary dividend
(of €4) in the calculation, the dividend payout ratio for 2021 would have been 66%.

e Impaired loans ratio indicates the proportion of impaired loans in the loan portfolio (as defined below)
and, therefore, gives an idea of the creditworthiness of the portfolio. Impaired loans are loans where it is
unlikely that the full contractual principal and interest will be repaid/paid. These loans have a Group
default status of PD 10, PD 11 or PD 12. Where appropriate, the numerator in the formula may be limited
to impaired loans that are more than 90 days past due (PD 11 + PD 12). See “Risk Management—Credit
Risk—Credit risk exposure in the banking activities arising from lending and investing”. The Group also
uses the same methodology to calculate this ratio for each business unit.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

Amount of impaired loans (A).............. 4,278 5,896 5,454 5,902 6,160
/
Total loan portfolio (B)......c.ccceevruerennne 196,596 182,497 188,400 180,891 175,431
=(A)/(B) 2.2% 3.2% 2.9% 3.3% 3.5%

e Life insurance sales comprises life insurance premiums and unit-linked life insurance premiums. As
required under IFRS, the Group uses margin deposit accounting for most of these unit-linked contracts,
which means they are not recognized under “earned insurance premiums”. Similar data for the six months
ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 is not available.

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
Life insurance — Earned premiums before reinsurance (A)..... 1,196 1,223 1,323
+
Life insurance: difference between written premiums and
earned premiums before reinsurance (B) .......c.ccoceveiiinennnn. 1 2 1
+
Investment contracts without DPF (unit-linked), margin
deposit acCoUNtiNg (C) ...cvvveerreeiirieisieirieereee e 768 764 525
=(A)+(B) + (C) 1,964 1,989 1,849
e Loan portfolio gives an idea of the magnitude of lending activities.
Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
Loans and advances to customers (A)... 168,984 164,344 159,728 159,621 155,816
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Six months ended Year ended

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
Reverse repos (not with central banks)
(B) ettt 782 751 719 3,295 1,559
+
Debt instruments issued by corporates
and by credit institutions and
investment firms (banking) (C)............. 5,118 5,150 4,830 6,056 5,894
+
Other exposures to credit institutions
(D) ottt 4,419 4,187 4,392 4,009 4,629
+
Financial guarantees granted to clients
(E) vttt 9,554 8,481 9,040 7,919 8,160
+
Impairment on loans (F) .......ccccooeneneee. 2,460 3,398 2,581 3,703 2,866
Insurance entities (G).......ccccoverrreennnn (2,031) (2,106) (2,077) (2,198) (2,288)
Non-loan-related receivables (H).......... (499) (413) (338) (592) (738)
+
Other (1) .veveeirireceeersseee e 7,809 (1,296) 9,525 (923) (468)
=(A) + (B) + (C)+(D)+(E)+(F)-(G)-
(H)+() 196,596 182,497 188,400 180,891 175,431

e Net interest margin gives an idea of the net interest income of the banking activities (one of the most
important sources of revenue for the Group) relative to the average total interest-bearing assets of the
banking activities. The Group also uses the same methodology to calculate this ratio for each business

unit.
Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)

(Unaudited)
Net interest income of the banking

aCtiVItieS™ (A) .o 2,101 1,883 3,863 3,788 3,853
/

Average interest-bearing assets of the

banking activities* (B)........ccccevverveennnne 218,548 209,785 211,020 203,616 194,731
= (A) / (B) x 360/number of calendar

days 1.91% 1.79% 1.81% 1.84% 1.95%

*  After elimination of all divestments and volatile short-term assets used for liquidity management purposes.

e Parent shareholders’ equity per share gives the carrying value of a KBC share, i.e. the value in euros
represented by each share in the parent shareholders’ equity of the Group.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)

Parent shareholders’ equity (A) ............ 18,739 21,600 21,577 20,030 18,722
/
Number of ordinary shares less treasury
shares (at period-end) (B) .......cccceoeuenee. 417 417 417 417 416
=(A)/ (B) (in EUR) 45.0 51.8 51.8 48.1 45.0

e Return on equity gives an idea of the relative profitability of the Group, more specifically the ratio of
the net result to equity.



Six months ended Year ended

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
Result after tax, attributable to equity
holders of the parent (A).......cccoeeveenene 1,269 1,350 2,614 1,440 2,498
Coupon on the additional tier-1
instruments included in equity (B)........ (25) (25) (50) (50) (56)
/
Average parent shareholders’ equity,
excluding the revaluation reserve for
FVOCI and for FVPL —overlay (C)..... 19,578 19,421 19,463 17,954 16,907
=(A-B)/ (C) 13% 14% 13% 8% 14%

e Total assets under management (“AuM”) comprise third-party assets and Group assets managed by
the Group’s various asset management companies (including KBC Asset Management and CSOB Asset
Management), as well as assets under advisory management at KBC Bank. The assets, therefore, consist
mainly of KBC investment funds and unit-linked insurance products, assets under discretionary and
advisory management mandates of (mainly retail, private banking and institutional) clients, and certain
Group assets. The size and development of total AuM are major factors behind net fee and commission
income (generating entry and management fees) and hence account for a large part of any change in this
income line. In that respect, the AuM of a fund that is not sold directly to clients but is instead invested
in by another fund or via a discretionary/advisory management portfolio, are also included in the total
AuM figure in view of the related work and any fee income linked to them.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
Belgium Business Unit (A)........ccocenne 190 208 216 195 200
+
Czech Republic Business Unit (B)........ 14 13 14 11 11
+
International Markets Business Unit
(C) e 7 6 7 6 5
=(A) +(B) + (C) 211 228 236 212 216
PRESENTATION OF OTHER INFORMATION
Rounding

Certain figures in this Offering Memorandum have been subject to rounding adjustments. Numbers in the tables
of this Offering Memorandum as at and for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 and as at and for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 have not been rounded for the purpose of conforming the sum of
the numbers in a column or row of a table to the total figures given for that column or row. Accordingly, in certain
instances, the sum of the numbers in a column or row of a table contained in this Offering Memorandum may not
conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row. Additionally, in certain instances, the figure “0”
is used to indicate that a specific figure has been rounded to 0, whereas a dash indicates that there is no value for
that column or row. Percentage change figures are not provided where one or both figures being compared have
been rounded to 0.

Statistical data
The statistical data included in this Offering Memorandum is not intended to comply with Regulation S-K,
Industry Guide 3, Statistical Disclosure by Bank Holding Companies or subpart 1400 of Regulation S-K under

the Securities Act applicable to offerings of securities by bank holding companies that are registered with the
SEC.
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Green or sustainable terminology

When terminology such as “green” and “sustainable” is used in this Offering Memorandum, these terms do not
suggest in any way that what is described is already (fully) aligned with the EU Taxonomy.

Market and industry data

This Offering Memorandum contains information sourced from third parties, including market data, industry
forecasts and other information. Such information has been accurately reproduced and, so far as the Issuer is aware
and is able to ascertain from information published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted that would
render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

In particular, this Offering Memorandum contains information from Eurostat, the International Monetary Fund
(“IMF”) and Macrobond Financial. Although the Issuer regards these sources as reliable, the information
contained in them has not been independently verified. Therefore, the Issuer does not guarantee or assume any
responsibility for the accuracy of the data, estimates, forecasts or other information taken from sources in the
public domain. The Issuer also estimates certain market share statistics using both its internal data and industry
data from other sources, including those listed above. This Offering Memorandum contains assessments of market
data and information derived therefrom that could not be obtained from any independent sources. Such
information is based on the Issuer’s own internal assessments and may therefore deviate from the assessments of
competitors of the Group or future statistics by independent sources.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the
remainder of this Offering Memorandum and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche
of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement. This overview must be read as an introduction to this Offering
Memorandum. Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of this Offering
Memorandum as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference herein.

Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” shall have the same meanings in this

overview.

Information relating to the Issuer

Issuer:

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI)
of the Issuer:

Description of the Issuer:

Principal activities of the
Group:

KBC Group NV.

213800X3QILSAKRUWY91.

The Issuer is a mixed financial holding company, which has as its object the
direct or indirect ownership and management of shareholdings in other
companies, including but not restricted to credit institutions, insurance
companies and other financial institutions. The Issuer also has as its object to
provide support services for third parties, as mandatary or otherwise, in
particular for companies in which the Issuer has an interest — either directly
or indirectly.

A simplified chart of KBC Group’s legal structure is provided below:

KBC Group NV,

100% 100%
KBC Bank NV KBC Insurance NV

The Issuer and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are an integrated bank-
insurance group, catering mainly for retail, private banking, small and
medium-sized enterprises and mid-cap clients. Geographically, the Group
focuses on its core markets of Belgium, the Czech Republic, the Slovak
Republic, Hungary and Bulgaria. Elsewhere in the world, the Group is
present, to a limited extent, in several other countries to support corporate
clients from the Group’s core markets.

The Group’s core business is retail and private bank-insurance (including
asset management), although it is also active in providing services to
corporations and market activities. Across its core markets, the Group is
active in a large number of products and activities, ranging from the plain



vanilla deposit, credit, asset management and life and non-life insurance
businesses to specialized activities such as, but not exclusively, payments
services, dealing room activities (money and debt market activities),
brokerage and corporate finance, foreign trade finance, international cash
management and leasing.

Information relating to the Programme

Description:

Arranger:

Dealers:

CDI Depositary, Custodian,

Registrar  and
Agent:

Paying Agent:

Agents:

Size:

Distribution:

Transfer

U.S. Medium Term Note Programme.

Notes to be issued under the Programme may comprise (i) unsubordinated
Notes (“Senior Notes”) and (ii) Notes that are subordinated as described
herein and have terms capable of qualifying as Tier 2 Capital (as defined
herein) (the “Subordinated Tier 2 Notes™).

BofA Securities, Inc.

BofA Securities, Inc.

BNP Paribas Securities Corp.
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.
Goldman Sachs International

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any dealer
under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or
more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this
Offering Memorandum to “Permanent Dealers” are to the persons listed
above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers
in respect of the whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been
terminated) and references to “Dealers” are to all Permanent Dealers and all
persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more Tranches.

The Bank of New York Mellon

KBC Bank NV

The CDI Depositary, the Custodian, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent, the
Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent

Up to U.S.$10,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currencies)
aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time pursuant to
the U.S. Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”).

The Notes will be distributed by way of a wholesale offering, on a syndicated
or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”),
whether or not issued on the same date, that (except in respect of the first
payment of interest and their issue price) have identical terms on issue and
are expressed to have the same series number. A “Tranche” means, in
relation to a Series, those Notes of that Series that are identical in all respects.



Currencies:

Maturity:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes; Clearing and
Settlement of Notes:

Form of CDIs; Clearing and
Settlement of CDls:

The final terms and conditions for the Notes (or the relevant provisions
thereof) will be completed in the pricing supplement (the “Pricing
Supplement”).

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives,
Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealers.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws (including the Applicable
Banking Regulations), regulations and directives and unless previously
redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note will have the maturity as
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Unless otherwise permitted by the Applicable Banking Regulations,
Subordinated Tier 2 Notes constituting Tier 2 Capital will have a minimum
maturity of five years.

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to
their nominal amount.

The Notes will be issued in dematerialized form in accordance with the
Belgian Companies and Associations Code (Wetboek van Vennootschappen
en Verenigingen/Code des Sociétés et des Associations), as amended. The
Notes will be represented exclusively by book entry in the records of the
clearing system operated by the National Bank of Belgium (“NBB”) or any
successor thereto (the “Securities Settlement System”). The Notes will not
be delivered in individually certificated form and may not be converted into
bearer notes (effecten aan toonder/titres au porteur). Title to the Notes will
pass by account transfer.

Interests in the Notes may be held only by eligible investors referred to in
Article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of May 26, 1994 holding their
securities in an exempt securities account with the Securities Settlement
System or with a direct or indirect participant in such system, as further
described in “Taxation” (“Actual Eligible Investors”).

On the issue date, the Notes will be held by The Bank of New York Mellon,
as CDI Depositary, through Euroclear as a direct participant in the Securities
Settlement System. The CDI Depositary will create CDIs representing
interests in the Notes, which will be issued to DTC or its nominee, and its
direct (including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) and indirect
participants will record ownership of the beneficial interests in the CDIs on
their books. Investors will receive CDIs representing interests in the Notes,
as further described under “Form of Notes — Depositary Receipts”.

CDiIs representing interests in the Notes will be admitted for clearance and
settlement through DTC and through Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg as direct participants in DTC.

Notes represented by CDIs sold in reliance on Rule 144A will be represented
by Rule 144A Certificated Depositary Interests, and Notes represented by
CDIs sold in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S will be
represented by Regulation S Certificated Depositary Interests.



Disclosure of Certain
Information by the NBB:

Specified Denomination:

Status of Senior Notes:

Transfers of book-entry interests in CDIs representing interests in the Notes
will be effected through the book-entry facilities of DTC and, in the case of
the Notes sold pursuant to Regulation S, through Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg as direct participants in DTC and their respective participants.

Interests in the CDIs may be held only by Actual Eligible Investors or by
eligible investors referred to in Article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of May
26, 1994 who are capable of holding securities in an exempt securities
account with the Securities Settlement System or with a direct or indirect
participant in such system, as further described in “Taxation” (“Potential
Eligible Investors”).

In principle, the NBB is bound by a duty of confidentiality. However, the
NBB may, to the extent required by U.S. or international regulations or
treaties or otherwise, disclose certain information relating to the identity of
the holders of book entry interests in the Notes and the amount of interests
held in the Securities Settlement System.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the minimum
Specified Denomination of Notes and CDIs shall be at least (i) €100,000 (or
its equivalent in any other currency) and (ii) in respect of Notes and CDIs
offered and sold in reliance on Rule 144A, U.S.$200,000 or, in each case, its
approximate equivalent in any other currency, in either case with the option
to permit integral multiples of €/U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

Senior Notes constitute direct, unconditional, senior and unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and rank at all times (i) pari passu, without any
preference among themselves, and with all other outstanding unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, which will fall
or be expressed to fall within the category of obligations described in Article
389/1, 1° of the Belgian Banking Law, but, in the event of insolvency, only
to the extent permitted by laws relating to creditors’ rights, (ii) senior to
Senior Non-Preferred Obligations of the Issuer and any obligations ranking
pari passu with or junior to Senior Non-Preferred Obligations and (iii) junior
to all present and future claims as may be preferred by laws of general
application.

Subject to applicable law, if an order is made or an effective resolution is
passed for the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer by reason
of bankruptcy (faillissement/faillite), the Noteholders will have a right to
payment under the Senior Notes (i) only after, and subject to, payment in full
of any present and future claims as may be preferred by laws of general
application and (ii) subject to such payment in full, in priority to holders of
Senior Non-Preferred Obligations and other present and future claims
otherwise ranking junior to Senior Notes.

Where:

“Senior Non-Preferred Obligations” means any obligations or other
instruments issued by the Issuer which fall or are expressed to fall within the
category of obligations described in Article 389/1, 2° of the Belgian Banking
Law.



Status of Subordinated Tier
2 Notes:

Waiver of set-off:

Subordinated Tier 2 Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and
subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu
without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims of the
Noteholders in respect of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes are subordinated in
the manner as set out below.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of an order being made, or an effective
resolution being passed, for the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the
Issuer by reason of bankruptcy (faillissement/faillite) or otherwise (except, in
any such case, a solvent liquidation, dissolution or winding-up solely for the
purposes of a reorganization, reconstruction or amalgamation of the Issuer or
the substitution in place of the Issuer of a successor in business of the Issuer),
the rights and claims of the holders of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes against
the Issuer in respect of or arising under (including any interest or damages
awarded for breach of any obligation under) the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes
shall, subject to any obligations which are mandatorily preferred by law, rank
(@) junior to the claims of all Senior Creditors and of all Ordinary
Subordinated Creditors of the Issuer, (b) pari passu with the claims of holders
of all obligations of the Issuer which constitute, or would but for any
applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, Tier 2 Capital
of the Issuer and (c) senior to (1) the claims of holders of all share and other
equity capital of the Issuer (including preference shares, if any) and (2) the
claims of holders of all obligations of the Issuer which constitute Tier 1
Capital of the Issuer.

Where:

“Ordinary Subordinated Creditors” means creditors of the Issuer whose
claims are in respect of obligations which are subordinated to those of Senior
Creditors or which otherwise rank, or are expressed to rank, junior to
obligations owed by the Issuer to Senior Creditors, and which do not
constitute Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer (including the
Subordinated Tier 2 Notes).

“Senior Creditors” means creditors of the Issuer whose claims are in respect
of obligations which are unsubordinated (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, holders of Senior Notes) or which otherwise rank, or are expressed to
rank, senior to obligations owed by the Issuer to Ordinary Subordinated
Creditors and to obligations which constitute Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital
of the Issuer (including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes).

“Tier 1 Capital” and “Tier 2 Capital” have the respective meanings given
to such terms in the Applicable Banking Regulations from time to time.

Subject to applicable law, no Senior Noteholder may exercise or claim any
right of set-off, compensation, retention or netting in respect of any amount
owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with Senior Notes, and
each Senior Noteholder shall, by virtue of its subscription, purchase or
holding of any such Senior Note, be deemed to have waived all such rights
of set-off, compensation, retention or netting.

No holder of any Subordinated Tier 2 Note may exercise or claim any right
of set-off, compensation, retention or netting in respect of any amount owed



Terms of the Notes:

Redemption:

Optional Redemption:

Early Redemption:

Events of Default

Substitution and Variation:

to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with Subordinated Tier 2
Notes, and each such Noteholder shall, by virtue of its subscription, purchase
or holding of any such Subordinated Tier 2 Note, be deemed to have waived
all such rights of set-off, compensation, retention and netting.

Notes (i) bear interest calculated by reference to a fixed rate of interest (such
Note, a “Fixed Rate Note™), (ii) bear interest calculated by reference to a
fixed rate of interest for an initial period and thereafter by reference to a fixed
rate of interest recalculated on one or more dates specified in the Pricing
Supplement and by reference to a mid-market swap rate or to one or more
treasury rates, as adjusted for any applicable margin (such Note, a “Fixed
Rate Reset Note”), (iii) bear interest by reference to one or more floating
rates of interest (such Note, a “Floating Rate Note”) or (iv) are a
combination of two or more of (i) to (iii) of the foregoing, as specified in the
Pricing Supplement.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify the basis for calculating the
redemption amounts payable. Notes will be redeemed either (i) at 100% of
the Calculation Amount or (ii) at an amount per Calculation Amount
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state
whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the
option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and, if so, the terms applicable
to such redemption.

Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes can be early
redeemed at the option of the Issuer prior to their stated maturity for tax
reasons if the Tax Call Option is specified as applicable in the applicable
Pricing Supplement.

If so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Notes may also be early
redeemed, subject to certain conditions, (i) in respect of Subordinated Tier 2
Notes, upon the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event and (ii) in
respect of Senior Notes, upon the occurrence of a Loss Absorption
Disqualification Event.

Not applicable

In respect of any Series of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes, upon the occurrence
of a Capital Disqualification Event, or in order to ensure the effectiveness
and enforceability of Condition 15(c), the Issuer (in its sole discretion but
subject to the provisions of Condition 6) may, without any requirement for
the consent or approval of the Noteholders, either substitute all (but not some
only) of the relevant Series of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes for, or vary the
terms of all (but not some only) of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes of such
Series so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Tier 2 Compliant Notes
(and in either case may change the governing law of Condition 15(c) from
Belgian law to English law).

In respect of any Series of Senior Notes where “Substitution and Variation”
is specified to be applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement, upon the
occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event, or in order to ensure
the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 15(c), the Issuer (in its sole



Negative Pledge:

Ratings:

Withholding Tax:

Governing Law:

Listing and Admission to
Trading:

discretion but subject to the provisions of Condition 7) may, without any
requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, either substitute
all (but not some only) of the Senior Notes of such Series for, or vary the
terms of all (but not some only) of the Senior Notes of such Series so that
they remain or, as appropriate, become, Loss Absorption Compliant Notes
(and in either case may change the governing law of Condition 15(c) from
Belgian law to English law).

None

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche
of Notes is to be rated, such rating will be specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and
may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made
free and clear of withholding taxes of the Kingdom of Belgium, unless the
withholding is required by law. In such event, the Issuer shall, subject to
customary exceptions, pay such additional amounts on interest (but not on
principal or any other amount) as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders of
such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding
been required.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection
with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with,
English law, except that Condition 1, Condition 2, Condition 11(a),
Condition 15(c) and Schedule 1 to the Conditions, and (in each case) any
non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith, shall be
governed by and construed in accordance with Belgian law.

The deposit agreement between, inter alios, the Issuer and the CDI
Depositary dated on or about October 13, 2022 (the “Deposit Agreement”)
and any CDIs shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
laws of the State of New York.

The Deed of Covenant and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or
in connection with it are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance
with, English law.

Application will be made to Euronext Dublin, for a period of 12 months from
the date of this Offering Memorandum for Notes issued under the
Programme, to be admitted to the “Official List” and to trading on the Global
Exchange Market of Euronext Dublin. The Global Exchange Market is not a
regulated market for the purpose of MiFID I1.

As specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, a Series of Notes may be
unlisted or may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on other
or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) in relation to the Series.

CDIs will not be listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange.



Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes. See “Plan
of Distribution; Subscription and Sale” below.

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act
or any state securities laws. Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or
sold except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws. The Notes will be
offered in reliance on Rule 144A and Regulation S.

The Issuer is a Category 2 Issuer for the purposes of Regulation S under the
Securities Act.



SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables include a summary of historical financial data for the Group on a consolidated basis as at
and for each of (i) the six months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, and (ii) the three years ended December
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The summary historical financial data is derived from:

e in the case of all financial data as at and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2022 and June 30,
2021, the Interim Financial Statements, which are unaudited; and

e in the case of all financial data as at and for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the
Annual Financial Statements.

The summary historical financial data presented in the tables below should be read in conjunction with, and is
qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Interim Financial Statements and the Annual Financial Statements,
which have been incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum. See “Documents Incorporated by
Reference”. This information should also be read together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Selected Statistical Data”.

Consolidated Income Statement

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

Net interest iNCOME.......c.ccovvvvreiiiiieeirieesinns 2,448 2,162 4,451 4,467 4,618
INtErest iNCOME .....ccvcvvveviiiii e 4,961 3,009 6,320 6,264 7,244
INterest eXPeNnSe .......covveererenerienieins (2,513) (847) (1,869) (1,797) (2,626)

Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)...... 419 451 782 865 756
Earned premiums .........cccccoeevvrenenenns 990 916 1,885 1,777 1,721
Technical charges........c.ccoovvviieiiicnns (571) (464) (1,103) (912) (966)

Life insurance (before reinsurance)............. 24 22 45 10 (6)
Earned premiums ........ccococevvvevineenenns 556 564 1,196 1,223 1,323
Technical charges........c.ccooveviicinienens (531) (542) (1,150) (1,213) (1,329)

Ceded reinsurance result ............ccocoovrenenee 26 (12) 25 (20) (25)

Dividend inCOme ..........cccooeveinienincnciene 28 25 45 53 82

Net result from financial instruments at fair

value through profit or 10SS ........c.ccoceveneneee 233 156 145 33 181
of which result on equity instruments
(overlay approach) ........cccoceevreeniennn 27 59 104 (14) 93

Net realized result from debt instruments at fair

value through OCl ..o (16) 1 6 2 6

Net fee and commission income.................. 934 890 1,836 1,609 1,734
Fee and commission income................. 1,394 1,289 2,692 2,365 2,476
Fee and commission expense................ (461) (399) (856) (755) (741)

Other Net iINCOME .....covevveieieieecree e 144 91 223 176 282

Total INCOME ..ot 4,239 3,786 7,558 7,195 7,629

Operating eXPENSES ......ccovevervrvererreirieeneanes (2,591) (2,293) (4,396) (4,156) (4,303)
Staff eXpenses .......cooeeviennciieiieee (1,255) (1,184) (2,457) (2,329) (2,357)
General administrative expenses.......... (1,154) (944) (1,583) (1,518) (1,595)
Depreciation and amortization of fixed
assets....... (182) (164) (356) (309) (351)

Impairment (50) 200 261 (1,182) (217)
on financial assets at amortized cost and at
fair value through OCl ...........ccccocuenee. 6 206 334 (1,074) (203)
0N goodWill.........cccvvvevieieicicecee 0 0 ©)] - -
OthEr o (56) (5) (65) (108) (14)

Share in results of associated companies and

JOINE VENTUIES ... (5) 1) (5) (11) 7

Result before tax........cccoovveciennnnicenns 1,594 1,693 3,418 1,847 3,116

INCOME taX EXPENSE ..c..eveeenieeeiieieeie e (325) (342) (804) (407) (627)



Six months ended

Year ended

Net post-tax result from discontinued operations
Result after taX ...
attributable to minority interests.................
of which relating to discontinued
OPErationS.......ccccvvevierieieeei e
attributable to equity holders of the parent
of which relating to discontinued
OPErationS.......ccccerereereieieeee e

Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS
Cash, cash balances with central banks and other
demand deposits with credit institutions...............
Financial @ssets.........covererieiriiennienese e
Reinsurers’ share in technical provisions, insurance
Profit/loss on positions in portfolios hedged against
interest rate Fisk.........cocooeveiiiininiircceee
TAX SSELS ..o
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Investments in associated companies and joint
VENTUIES .. vttt e seesennns
Property and equipment and investment property
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Financial liabilities..........cccooiiiiiiiniiiiiee
AMOrtized COSt......ovveieieiiieeee e
Fair value through profit or 10ss....................
of which held for trading.................
Technical provisions, before reinsurance
Profit/loss on positions in portfolios hedged against
interest rate Fisk........coceoeieiiiiiiniieeeeeee
Tax labilities. ...,
Liabilities associated with disposal groups...........
Provisions for risks and charges
Other liabilities..........ccocevereiinieiiieieenn
Total liabilities .......ccccovveveiiiiiieecc
Total EQUILY .vveveeeieeec e
Parent shareholders’ equity ..........cocoevvviiiiiniinnn,
Additional tier-1 instruments included in equity ..
MiNority iINTErests ........cooeeeeiiieniieseeeceeias
Total liabilities and equity .........cccccceveieininnene

Consolidated Cashflow Statement

Net cash from or used in operating activities .......

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
0 0 - - -
1,269 1,350 2,614 1,440 2,489
0 0 - - -
0 0 - - -
1,269 1,350 2,614 1,440 2,489
0 0 - - -
As at As at
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
53,360 40,653 24,583 8,356
301,953 281,658 286,386 273,399
242 191 145 121
(3,618) (436) 1,360 478
1,274 1,296 1,624 1,434
9,023 10,001 19 29
34 37 24 25
3,505 3,568 3,691 3,818
1,773 1,749 1,551 1,458
2,260 1,630 1,361 1,474
369,807 340,346 320,743 290,591
326,078 291,667 276,781 248,400
302,448 268,387 254,053 224,093
22,889 22,187 21,409 23,137
9,533 7,271 7,157 6,988
18,817 18,967 18,718 18,560
(1,544) (863) 99 (122)
222 435 498 476
3,278 4,262 - R
286 282 209 227
2,430 2,520 2,908 2,827
349,568 317,269 299,214 270,369
20,239 23,077 21,530 20,222
18,739 21,577 20,030 18,722
1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500
0 - - -
369,807 340,346 320,743 290,591
Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
29,403 44,424 14,043 26,369 (2,462)
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Six months ended Year ended

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
Net cash from or used in investing activities........ (2,538) 135 822 (7,253) (1,854)
Net cash from or used in financing activities ....... (3,319) (795) (448) 451 (1,148)

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Net increase or decrease in cash and cash

EQUIVAIENTS ..o 23,546 43,764 14,417 19,566 (5,464)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

PEIIOT ...t 63,554 47,794 47,794 29,118 34,354
Effects of exchange rate changes on opening cash

and cash equivalents..........cocovevveiineiicencens (120) 790 1,343 (891) 228
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the

PEIIOU ..ot 86,980 92,348 63,554 47,794 29,118
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RISK FACTORS

This section sets out risks which the Issuer believes are specific to it, the Group and/or the Notes and which are
deemed to be material to investors for taking an informed investment decision in respect of Notes issued under
the Programme. Any such factors may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfill its obligations under such Notes. All of
these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the material risks inherent in investing in Notes
issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to fulfill its obligations under any Notes may occur
for other reasons which may not be considered material risks by the Issuer based on the information currently
available to it or which it may not currently be able to anticipate.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any
investment decision and consult with their own professional advisers.

The “Group” refers to KBC Group NV and its subsidiaries from time to time (including KBC Bank NV and KBC
Insurance NV). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall bear the meanings ascribed to them
in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below. Any reference to any code, law, decree, regulation, directive or
any implementing or other legislative measure shall be construed as a reference to such code, law, decree,
regulation, directive or implementing or other legislative measure as the same may be amended, supplemented,
restated or replaced from time to time.

RISKS RELATED TO THE MARKETS AND ECONOMIES IN WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES

Deterioration in the economic conditions in the markets in which the Group operates can have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The financial services industry generally prospers in conditions of economic growth, stable geopolitics, capital
markets that are transparent, liquid and buoyant, and positive investor sentiment. Each of the Group’s operating
segments is affected by general economic and geopolitical conditions, which can cause the Group’s results of
operations and financial position to fluctuate from year to year as well as on a long-term basis. The Group’s
performance is in particular significantly influenced by the general economic conditions of the countries in which
it operates. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Significant factors affecting the Group’s results of operations and financial condition—Macroeconomic
conditions” for more details on recent economic developments. The countries in which the Group operates are
sensitive to disruptions in the regional and global economies or in the free flow of goods and services, such as the
disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic (see “—The outbreak of COVID-19 has adversely impacted, and
may further adversely impact, the Group and its clients, counterparties, employees and third-party service
providers” below) and the Russian invasion of Ukraine (see “—The Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operations may be adversely affected by the Russian invasion of Ukraine and other geopolitical risks”
below), and other geopolitical events, including trade policy disagreements, for example, between the United
States and China, which have a negative impact on the global financial markets. Adverse economic developments
have affected and will continue to affect the Group’s business in a number of ways, including, among others, by
affecting the income, wealth, liquidity and/or financial condition of the Group’s clients, which, in turn, could
reduce the Group’s credit quality (resulting in increased impairment charges) and demand for the Group’s
financial products and services. In particular, borrowing levels are heavily dependent on client confidence,
employment trends, the state of the economy, inflation and market interest rates. In addition, the Group may
experience reductions in business activity, increased funding costs, decreased liquidity, decreased access to the
wholesale funding markets, decreased asset values, additional credit impairment losses and lower profitability and
revenues. Accordingly, any or all of the conditions described above could continue to have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and measures implemented
by the Group might not be satisfactory to reduce any operational, credit, market and liquidity risks.

12



The financial sector currently faces a number of challenges, including those that stem from the impact of the war
in Ukraine, not only directly, but also indirectly, due to the resulting increase in energy and commodity prices and
supply-side shortages, which were already stressed following the COVID-19 pandemic. This has contributed to a
surge in inflation, resulting in upward pressure on interest rates, volatility in financial markets, lower growth
prospects and concerns regarding the creditworthiness of counterparties in the most exposed economic sectors.
These risks affect global economies generally and European economies especially, including the Group’s core
markets. Higher inflation is a business risk for the Group, as increased operating costs and, in particular, salary
costs may not be fully compensated by an increase in revenues.

As a result of various global macroeconomic trends, such as recession or reduced rates of growth, the Issuer may
experience reductions in business activity, increased funding costs, decreased liquidity, decreased access to the
wholesale funding markets, decreased asset values, additional credit impairment losses and lower profitability and
revenues, which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The Group's business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by the
Russian invasion of Ukraine and other geopolitical risks.

On February 24, 2022, Russia launched a large-scale invasion of Ukraine, significantly amplifying already
existing geopolitical tensions among Russia, Ukraine, Europe, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (“NATO”)
and the West. Following Russia’s actions, various countries, including the United States, Canada, the United
Kingdom, Germany and France, as well as the European Union, issued broad-ranging economic sanctions against
Russia. Examples of such sanctions include a prohibition on doing business with certain Russian companies, large
financial institutions, officials and oligarchs, as well as “sectoral” sanctions affecting specified types of
transactions with named participants in certain industries and a commitment by certain countries and the European
Union to remove selected Russian banks from the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial
Telecommunications (“SWIFT”), the electronic banking network that connects banks globally. Many Western
companies have also announced the cessation of their Russian businesses and/or their unwillingness to retain
interests in Russian assets or to continue dealings with Russian or related counterparties, even where such action
is not required by current sanction regimes. The scope and scale of such economic sanctions and voluntary actions
by companies remain subject to rapid and unpredictable change and may have considerable negative impacts on
global macroeconomic conditions and on European economies and counterparties.

The conflict in Ukraine has impacted and is expected to continue to impact energy prices and energy supply in
Europe, which is largely dependent on Russian natural gas and on crude oil, which has in turn had an impact on
the economies of the countries in which the Group operates. In addition, the actions discussed above and the
potential for a wider conflict could increase financial market volatility, cause severe negative effects on regional
and global economic markets, industries, and companies and have a negative effect on the Group beyond its direct
loan exposure to Russia, Ukraine and Belarus, which amounted to €35 million as at June 30, 2022, mainly
concentrated in commercial exposures to Russian banks, which was fully covered by additional impairments in
the first half of 2022. In addition, Russia may take retaliatory actions and other countermeasures, including
cyberattacks and espionage against other countries and companies around the world or cutting energy supply,
which may negatively impact the Group or the countries in which it operates.

Moreover, existing concerns about market volatility, rising commodity prices, disruptions to supply chains, high
rates of inflation and the risk of regional or global recessions or “stagflation” (i.e., recession or reduced rates of
economic growth coupled with high rates of inflation), including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, have
been exacerbated by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. These emerging and compounding risks may impact not only
retail clients, by increasing costs of living and higher repayments schemes due to increasing interest rates, but also
corporate and small- and medium-sized enterprises (“SME”) clients, which may suffer from supply chain issues
and increasing commodity and energy prices. Any of the above factors may have a material adverse effect on the
Belgian economy or the economies of the other countries in which the Group operates, the Group’s clients and
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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While the Group continues to monitor the impact of the conflict in Ukraine on the Group’s core markets, it is
difficult to ascertain how long the conflict between Russia and Ukraine may last, or how severe its impacts may
become. If the conflict is prolonged, escalates or expands (including if additional countries become involved), or
if additional economic sanctions or other measures are imposed, or if inflation, volatility in commaodity prices or
disruptions to supply chains worsen, regional and global macroeconomic conditions and financial markets could
be impacted more severely, which in turn could have a more severe effect on the Belgian economy or the
economies of the other countries in which the Group operates, the Group’s clients and the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business is sensitive to volatility in interest rates and to changes in the competitive
environment affecting spreads on its lending and deposits.

Changes in interest rate levels, yield curves and spreads affect the Group’s lending and deposit spreads. An
increase in interest rates could reduce the demand for credit, as well as contribute to an increase in defaults by the
Group’s clients. Conversely, a reduction in the level of interest rates may adversely affect the Group through,
among other things, a decrease in demand for deposits and an increase in competition in deposit-taking and lending
to clients. The Group is exposed to changes in the spread between the interest rates payable by it on deposits or
its wholesale funding costs, and the interest rates that it charges on loans to clients and other banks. Although both
the interest rates payable by the Group on deposits, as well as the interest rates that it is able to charge on loans to
clients and credit institutions, are in each case mainly floating rates or swapped into floating rates, there is a risk
that the Group will not be able to re-price its floating rate assets and liabilities at the same time, giving rise to re-
pricing gaps in the short or medium term. As applicable interest rates on deposits are close to zero in Belgium, it
may not be possible in the near term to offset in full or in part a decrease in interest rates on loans to clients by a
corresponding decrease in interest rates on deposits. The Group may also be subject to intense competition for
client deposits and a low interest rate environment in Europe has put pressure on the Group’s deposit spreads. If
the Group is unable to adjust the interest rate payable on deposits in line with the changes in market interest rates
receivable by it on loans, or if the Group’s monitoring procedures are unable to manage adequately the interest
rate risk, its interest income could rise less or decline more than its interest expense, in which case the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be negatively affected.

Interest rates are sensitive to several factors that are out of the Group’s control, including the fiscal and monetary
policies of governments and central banks, as well as domestic and international political conditions. These
conditions are subject to significant volatility and uncertainty as a result of the Russia/Ukraine conflict and the
continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as governmental measures implemented to mitigate their
adverse economic and monetary effects, both at national levels and with respect to regional or multilateral
coordination. See “—The Group's business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected by the Russian invasion of Ukraine and other geopolitical risks” above and “—The outbreak of COVID-
19 has adversely impacted, and may further adversely impact, the Group and its clients, counterparties, employees
and third-party service providers” below.

The Group’s financial performance may be adversely affected by material fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates.

The Group has operations in a number of jurisdictions. As a result, the Group’s operations are conducted in
different currencies, including Bulgarian lev, Czech koruna and Hungarian forint, which must be translated into
euro at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Because the
Group’s consolidated financial statements are stated in euro, the translation effect of any material foreign currency
fluctuations may have an adverse effect on the results of operations and financial position of the Group and may
affect the comparability of its results between financial periods. The Group also has liabilities in currencies other
than euro and trades currencies on behalf of its clients and for its own account, thus maintaining open currency
positions. Adverse movements in foreign exchange rates may impact the Group and its clients negatively,
particularly with respect to the Group’s liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and its clients’ open currency
positions. Adverse currency movements may also impact the Group’s deposit base and certain borrowers and the
Group’s exposure to its lenders. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the overall impact on the net result of
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fluctuations in the exchange rates of the Group’s main non-euro currencies was, on balance, a positive impact of
approximately €17 million, primarily due to the appreciation of the Czech koruna and partly offset by the
depreciation of the Hungarian forint.

The Group generally hedges foreign exchange risks affecting its balance sheet. Material foreign exchange
exposures in the ALM books of banking entities with a trading book are transferred via internal deals to the trading
book, where they are managed within the allocated trading limits. The foreign exchange exposure of banking
entities without a trading book and of insurance and other entities has to be hedged, if material. The Group’s
hedging policies, procedures and strategies may not succeed in effectively limiting its exposure to all types of
market environments or all kinds of risks, and may even prove ineffective for some risks that the Group was
unable to identify or anticipate. In addition, non-euro-denominated equity holdings in the investment portfolio are
not required to be hedged, as foreign exchange volatility is considered part of the investment return.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, in particular if such fluctuations are unanticipated or sudden, may
adversely affect the Group’s cash flows as well as its balance sheet positions, and over the long term, its results
of operations, and may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, capital ratios
and financial position.

The Group operates in competitive markets, which could have an adverse effect on its business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group faces intense competition in all of its areas of operation (including, among others, retail banking, asset
management and insurance), both in Belgium and the international markets in which it operates. Competition for
client lending and deposits is affected by client demand, technological changes, the impact of consolidation in the
banking industry, regulatory actions and other factors. The Group’s competitors are principally commercial and
investment banks, with increasing competition from online banks, fin-tech companies, Big Tech companies and
e-commerce in general. The Group’s ability to remain competitive also depends on its ability to anticipate and
respond to rapid technological changes and evolving industry standards, and to allocate resources to the
development of products and services that can be successfully marketed to clients. There can be no guarantee that
the Group will be able to anticipate and respond to technological changes or to successfully introduce new
products and services in line with ongoing market trends and client demands. The recurrence of a financial crisis
could introduce additional competitive challenges, as during such crises many national governments seek to
provide support in a variety of forms to banks organized in their jurisdictions. Depending on the level of
government support and the financial strength of the banks in question, this support could strengthen the
competitive position of these banks and intensify the competition faced by the Group.

Competition has further increased with the emergence of additional distribution channels such as internet and
mobile telephone banking, digital banking and payment platforms. In recent years, Big Tech companies have
challenged the traditional financial players by providing no-frills, no-hassle services and superior client
experience. Clients have become accustomed to convenience, including the instant delivery of personal advice,
products and services anywhere at any time. These competitive pressures could result in increased pricing
pressures on a number of the Group’s products and services or in the loss of market share in one or more such
markets. In addition, the widespread adoption of new technologies could require the Group to make substantial
capital expenditures to modify or adapt existing products and services or develop new products and services. If
the Group is unable to provide competitive product and service offerings and successfully respond to technological
developments, it may fail to attract new clients or retain existing clients, experience decreases in its interest income
and fee and commission income or lose market share, the occurrence of any of which could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Catastrophic events, terrorist acts, acts of war or hostilities, pandemic diseases, geopolitical, climate-related
or other unpredictable events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Catastrophic events, terrorist acts, acts of war or hostilities, pandemic diseases (including COVID-19, as discussed
below), geopolitical, climate-related or other unpredictable events and responses to those acts or events may create
economic and political uncertainties, which could have a negative impact on the economic conditions in the
countries where the Group operates and, more specifically, could interrupt the Group’s business and result in
substantial losses. Such events or acts, and losses resulting therefrom, are difficult to predict and may relate to
property, financial assets, trading positions or key employees.

In addition, such events or acts could have a material adverse impact on borrowers’ credit quality or result in
increased insurance claims, which could impact the Group’s results. For example, unpredictable events, such as
natural disasters, industrial explosions, terrorist attacks, and similar events may cause an unexpected and
substantial increase in insurance claims under policies written by KBC Insurance NV (“KBC Insurance”), which
may in turn cause it to incur substantial losses. Some types of natural disasters (such as tornadoes and floods)
have been increasingly observed in recent years, including several devastating natural catastrophes that occurred
in the countries in which the Group operates. For example, in June 2021, the most severe tornado in the Czech
Republic on record destroyed several villages, leading to an estimated 10ss to the Group of €24 million before tax
and before reinsurance at the end of the second quarter of 2021. In addition, in July 2021, Western Europe was
hit by exceptional rainfall resulting in floods with a severe impact in Belgium and other countries. The gross loss
at December 31, 2021 for KBC Insurance was €110 million before tax and before reinsurance.

Unforeseen events can also lead to increased operating costs, such as higher insurance premiums and the need for
additional back-up systems. If the Group’s business continuity plans do not address such events or cannot be
implemented under the circumstances, such losses may increase. Insurance coverage for certain risks may also be
unavailable and thus increase the Group’s risk. The Group’s inability to effectively manage these risks could have
a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The outbreak of COVID-19 has adversely impacted, and may further adversely impact, the Group and its
clients, counterparties, employees and third-party service providers.

The outbreak in 2020 of a novel strain of coronavirus disease, COVID-19, created a global public-health crisis
that has had a significant adverse impact on global macroeconomic conditions and financial markets and the
economic environments in which the Group operates. The COVID-19 pandemic and governmental responses to
the pandemic have had a severe impact on global economic and business conditions, contributing to significant
volatility in financial and commaodities markets. In 2020, governments and regulatory bodies in affected areas,
including Belgium and other countries in which the Group operates, imposed a number of measures designed to
contain the outbreak, including widespread business closures, travel restrictions, quarantines, and cancellations of
gatherings and events. Such restrictions have at various times been eased and re-introduced. Governments,
monetary authorities and regulators have also taken actions to support the economy and financial system,
including taking fiscal and monetary measures to increase liquidity and support incomes, and regulatory actions
in respect of financial institutions.

The pandemic and related countermeasures have affected, and may continue to affect, some of the Group’s clients
adversely, which, in turn, has had, and could continue to have, an adverse impact on the Group (for example,
through deteriorations in credit quality and higher impairments). In the jurisdictions in which the Group operates,
schemes were initiated by both the Group and national governments to provide financial support to parts of the
economy most impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak. For example, since the start of the pandemic, the Group has
worked closely with government agencies to support certain of its clients affected by the pandemic through the
provision of support measures, such as loan payment moratoria schemes. For the Group’s core markets combined,
the volume of loans that were granted payment holidays under the various support measures amounted to €10
billion as at December 31, 2021 (including European Banking Authority (“EBA”)-compliant moratoria and the
now non-EBA-compliant scheme in Hungary, but excluding Ireland, which is now classified under IFRS 5).
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Virtually all EBA-compliant moratoria expired by the end of December 2021, with approximately €0.2 billion of
EBA-compliant moratoria outstanding as at June 30, 2022. For 96.5% of the loans under the now-expired EBA-
compliant moratoria, payments had fully resumed as of December 31, 2021. In addition, as of June 30, 2022, the
Group had granted approximately €1.0 billion in loans that fall under the various COVID-19-related government
guarantee schemes in its core markets. The accounting treatment of these payment moratoria schemes resulted in
significant impairment, which had an adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Until now, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group from an operational and credit risk point of view
has remained limited. However, if the pandemic worsens or there are further outbreaks (including as a result of
new variants that are resistant to vaccines), or other diseases emerge that give rise to similar effects, this could
have a further adverse impact on the global economy and/or financial markets and, in turn, adversely impact the
Group in a number of ways, including as a result of (i) declines in net interest income and non-interest income
due to reduced activity or volatility and declining prices in financial, real estate and/or commodities markets, (ii)
higher credit losses and increases in the allowances for expected credit losses as a result of the Group’s clients’
failure to meet existing payment or other obligations to the Group, especially if businesses are required to close,
unemployment rises and/or the Group’s clients draw on their lines of credit or seek additional loans or payment
holidays to help finance their personal or business needs, (iii) a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
services, including loans, deposits and asset management services, (iv) a failure to meet the minimum regulatory
capital and liquidity ratios and other supervisory requirements, (v) possible downgrades to the Group’s credit
ratings, and (vi) disruptions to significant portions of the Group’s operations as a result of illness, quarantines,
shelter-in-place arrangements, governmental actions and/or other restrictions imposed by measures intended to
contain the pandemic.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described
in this “Risk Factors” section. To the extent that the COVID-19 pandemic results in sustained adverse effects on
global macroeconomic conditions, financial and commodities markets and the economic environments in which
the Group operates, the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be
materially adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to market risk.

Market risk is defined as the potential negative deviation from the expected value of a financial instrument (or
portfolio of such instruments) due to changes in the level or in the volatility of market prices (e.g., interest rates,
exchange rates and equity or commodity prices). The Group is exposed to market risk in respect of both its trading
and non-trading activities.

In respect of its non-trading activities (comprising the Group’s banking activities, life insurance activities and
other business operations), the Group is primarily exposed to interest rate risk, credit spread risk and equity price
risk:

) Interest rate risk is the potential negative deviation from the expected value of a financial instrument or
portfolio due to changes in the level or in the volatility of interest rates. The value of interest bearing
positions will decrease when market interest rates increase and vice-versa, unless the position contains
inherent protection against such decrease, such as a variable or floating interest rate mechanism. The
Group estimates that, as at December 31, 2021, an increase of market interest rates by 10 basis points
would lead to a decrease in the value of the Group’s total portfolio by €45 million. See “—The Group’s
business is sensitive to volatility in interest rates and to changes in the competitive environment affecting
spreads on its lending and deposits” below.

. Credit spread risk is the risk arising from changes in the level or in the volatility of credit spreads. The
value of the Group’s positions will decrease when credit spread increases, and vice-versa. This is mainly
relevant for the Group’s portfolio of sovereign and non-sovereign bonds. As at December 31, 2021, the
total carrying value (i.e., the amount at which an asset or liability is recognized in the Group’s accounts)
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of the Group’s sovereign and non-sovereign bond portfolio combined was €65 billion. The Group
estimates that an increase in credit spread of 100 basis points across the entire curve would lead to a
negative economic impact of €3.2 billion on the value of both portfolios combined.

. Equity risk is the risk arising from changes in the level or in the volatility of equity prices. The total value
of the Group’s equity portfolio as at December 31, 2021 was €1.7 billion. The Group estimates that a
25% drop in equity prices would have a negative impact of €429 million on the value of this portfolio.

The Group is also exposed to market risks through the trading activities of its dealing rooms in Belgium, the Czech
Republic, Slovakia, Bulgaria and Hungary, as well as via a minor presence in the United Kingdom and Southeast
Asia. Market risk exposures in the trading book are measured by the historical value-at-risk (“HVaR”’) method,
which is defined as an estimate of the amount of economic value that might be lost due to market risk over a
defined holding period. The Group uses the historical simulation method, based on patterns of experience over
the previous two years. The Group’s HVaR estimate, calculated on the basis of a one-day holding period, was €7
million as at December 31, 2021, and varied between €4 million and €11 million during the year ended December
31, 2021.

RISKS RELATED TO THE GROUP’S OPERATIONS
The Group has significant client and counterparty credit risk exposure.

Credit risk is the potential negative deviation from the expected value of a financial instrument arising from the
non-payment or non-performance by a contracting party (for instance a borrower), due to either default risk (that
party’s insolvency, inability or lack of willingness to pay or perform) or country risk (events or measures taken
by the political or monetary authorities of a particular country).

As a large and diverse financial organization, the Group is subject to a broad range of general credit risks. Through
its banking operations in Belgium and in certain other jurisdictions, the Group engages in traditional banking
businesses, including lending to retail, corporate and institutional clients. These activities expose the Group to
credit risk. The Group is also exposed to credit risk with respect to clients and third parties who owe the Group
money, securities or other assets and who may not pay or perform their obligations, potentially leading to increased
loan losses. These clients and third parties include borrowers of loans made to them by the Group, issuers whose
securities the Group holds, trading counterparties, counterparties under swap, credit and other derivative contracts,
clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses and other financial intermediaries. These parties may default on their
obligations to the Group due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the economy or declines in asset values,
operational failures or other reasons. For information on the Group’s credit exposure, see “Risk Management—
Credit Risk”.

Within the financial services industry, the default of any one institution could lead to defaults by other institutions.
Concerns about, or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by
other institutions because the commercial and financial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely
related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing and other relationships. Even perceived lack of creditworthiness
or questions about a counterparty’s solvency may lead to market-wide liquidity problems and losses or defaults
by the Group or by other institutions. This risk is sometimes referred to as “systemic risk” and may adversely
affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and exchanges.
The Group routinely executes a high volume of transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry
and systemic risk could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s ability to raise new funding and on its
business, results of operations and financial position. Volatility in foreign exchange and fixed income markets
could increase counterparty credit risk. Credit risk also includes the risk of losses due to a country’s financial
difficulties, the imposition of sanctions relating to or affecting a country, political decisions on nationalization
and expropriation, or if the country’s credit rating is downgraded, or there is an expectation of a potential
downgrade.
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In addition, the Group is subject to the risk that its rights against third parties may not be enforceable in all
circumstances. The deterioration or perceived deterioration in the credit quality of third parties whose securities
or obligations the Group holds could result in losses and/or adversely affect its ability to rehypothecate or
otherwise use those securities or obligations for liquidity purposes. A significant downgrade in the credit ratings
of the Group’s counterparties could also have a material adverse effect on the Group’s income and risk weightings
applied to the Group’s assets, leading to increased capital requirements. While in many cases the Group is
permitted to require additional collateral from counterparties that experience financial difficulty, disputes may
arise as to the amount of collateral the Group is entitled to receive and the value of pledged assets. The Group
may also be unable to realize or liquidate collateral held by it at prices sufficient to recover the full amount of the
counterparty exposure.

If any of the events described above materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and financial position.

The Group is exposed to operational and compliance risks, which could result in financial loss, liability to
clients, administrative fines, penalties and/or reputational damages.

The Group is exposed to a large array of operational risks, which are defined as risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or arising from human errors or sudden man-made or
natural external events, that could give rise to material losses in services to clients and to loss or liability to the
Group. Such events may result in financial loss, liability to clients, administrative fines, penalties and/or
reputational damages.

The nature of the Group’s business inherently generates operational risks. The main operational risks of the Group
are as follows:

. Conduct and compliance risk, which is the risk of non-conformity or sanctions due to the Group’s failure
(or the perceived failure) to comply with laws and regulations relating to integrity, and with internal
policies and codes of conduct reflecting the institution’s own values and codes of conduct in relation to
the integrity of its activities. This also includes the current or prospective risk of losses arising from the
inappropriate supply of financial services, including cases of willful or negligent misconduct. See “Risks
related to the regulatory environment—The Group is subject to substantial regulation and regulatory
oversight in the jurisdictions in which it operates, which could have an adverse effect on its business”
below.

) Information security risk, which are risks arising from the loss, misuse, unauthorized disclosure or
modification, inaccessibility, inaccuracy and damage of information.

. Information technology (“IT”) risk, which is the risk of losses resulting from misalignment between
business and IT strategies, from the inability of IT to timely implement business and regulatory
requirements or from unstable or unavailable IT services. See “—The IT and other systems on which the
Group depends for its day-to-day operations may fail for a variety of reasons that may be outside its
control. The Group is also subject to the risk of infrastructure disruption, cyberattacks or other effects
on such systems” below.

) Process risk, which is the risk of losses caused by insufficient, badly designed or poorly implemented
processes and processing controls and unintentional human errors or omissions during normal
(transaction) processing. See “—Weaknesses or failures in the Group’s internal processes and
procedures and other operational or reputational risks could have a negative impact on its business,
financial condition, results of operations, or prospects, and could result in reputational damage” below.

. Outsourcing risk and third party risk, which are risks stemming from problems regarding the continuity,

integrity and/or quality of the activities outsourced to or partnered with third parties (whether or not
within a group) or from the equipment or staff made available by these third parties.
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. Model risk, which is the risk of losses or the potential for adverse consequences arising from decisions
based on incorrect or misused model outputs and model reports. A distinction is made between model
errors and wrong application of the model (e.g., the use of outdated models).

. Fraud risk, which is the risk of deliberate abuse of procedures, systems, assets, products and/or services
by one or more persons who intend to deceitfully or unlawfully benefit themselves or others.

. Legal risk, which includes the risk of losses caused by bad management of disputes, the inability of the
Group to protect its intellectual property (“IP”), the failure to manage (non-)contractual obligations or
the failure to timely and correctly detect, assess and implement legislation and regulations. See “—The
Group is, and may in the future be, subject to various legal proceedings, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and could result
in reputational damage” below.

) Business continuity risk, which is the risk that business activities cannot be continued at an acceptable
pre-defined level resulting from the lack of a strategic and tactical capability of the Group to plan for and
respond to serious (business) disruptions, crises or disasters. See “Risks related to the markets and
economies in which the Group operates—Catastrophic events, terrorist acts, acts of war or hostilities,
pandemic diseases, geopolitical, climate-related or other unpredictable events could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects” above.

. Personal and physical security risk, which is the risk of losses arising from acts inconsistent with
employment, health or safety laws or agreements, from personal injury claims, or from diversity and
discrimination events.

There can be no assurance that the risk controls, loss mitigation and other internal controls or actions in place at
the Group will be effective in identifying and controlling each of the operational risks faced by it. Any weakness
in these controls or actions could result in a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operations or prospects, and could result in reputational damage. Given the Group’s high volume of
transactions, errors in the recording and processing of transactions may be repeated or compounded before they
are discovered and rectified, and there can be no assurance that risk assessments made in advance will adequately
predict the occurrence, or estimate the costs, of these errors.

The failure of the Group to manage these risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The IT and other systems on which the Group depends for its day-to-day operations may fail for a variety
of reasons that may be outside its control. The Group is also subject to the risk of infrastructure disruption,
cyberattacks or other effects on such systems.

The Group’s operations are dependent on its ability to process and monitor, on a daily basis, a large number of
transactions, many of which are complex, across numerous and diverse markets, and in many currencies. The
Group’s financial, accounting, data processing or other operating systems and facilities may fail to operate
properly or may become disabled due to, for example, a spike in transaction volume, failures of communications
networks or incidents with third-party software, which may have an adverse effect on the Group’s ability to
process transactions or provide services. In addition, other factors which could cause the Group’s operating
systems to fail or not operate properly include a deterioration in the quality of IT development, support and
operations processes. There can be no assurance that the Group’s IT systems will function as planned. Any
disruption in the Group’s IT or other systems, whether as a result of internal or third party failure, may have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

Despite the contingency plans and facilities the Group has in place, its ability to conduct business may be adversely

impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports the businesses and the countries in which it is located.
This may include a disruption involving electrical, communications, transportation or other services used by the
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Group or third parties with which it conducts business, or a catastrophic event involving any location where the
Group has a significant operational base.

Further, if the Group is not successful in implementing new systems, or adapting its current IT platform in line
with the expected growth of its business, the Group may not be able to meet the expectations or changing demands
of its clients. If the Group fails to effectively implement new IT systems or to adapt to new technological
developments, it may incur substantial additional expenses or be unable to compete successfully, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other
information in its computer systems and networks. The Group’s computer systems, software and networks may
be vulnerable to unauthorized access or malicious hacking, computer viruses or other malicious code and other
external attacks or internal breaches that could have a security impact. Like all financial institutions, the Group is
regularly subject to cyberattacks and efforts to obtain sensitive information. The threat to the security of the
Group’s information held on clients from cyber-attacks continues to increase, including as a result of the COVID-
19 pandemic. Activists, rogue states and cyber-criminals are among those targeting computer systems. Risks to
technology and cyber-security change rapidly and require continued focus and investment. Given the increasing
sophistication and scope of potential cyber-attacks, it is possible that future attacks may lead to significant
breaches of security. Any such breaches may expose the Group to significant legal as well as reputational harm,
which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If one or more of such events occur, any one of them potentially could jeopardize the confidential and other
information of the Group, its clients or its counterparties. The Group may be required to spend significant
additional resources to modify its protective measures or to investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other
exposures. It may also be subject to litigation and financial losses, as well as reputational risks that are either not
insured against or not fully covered through any insurance maintained by the Group. The occurrence of any of
these events could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations
or prospects.

The Group requires significant funding to service its indebtedness and relies on the credit and capital
markets to meet a significant part of its funding needs.

As at June 30, 2022, the Group’s total indebtedness was €24,333 million. See “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and funding” and “Capitalization and
Indebtedness”.

Future disruptions, uncertainty or volatility in the capital and credit markets, which were particularly volatile
during the first half of 2020 as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, could limit the Group’s ability
to refinance maturing liabilities with long- or short-term funding. The availability of any additional financing the
Group may need will depend on a variety of factors, such as market conditions, the availability of credit generally
and to borrowers in the financial services industry specifically, the volume of trading activities, the Group’s
financial condition, its credit ratings and credit capacity, as well as the possibility that clients or lenders could
develop a negative perception of the Group’s financial prospects. In particular, the Group’s access to funds may
be impaired if regulatory authorities impose additional regulatory capital and liquidity requirements or rating
agencies downgrade the Group’s credit ratings.

In addition, like many banks, KBC Bank NV (“KBC Bank”) relies on client deposits to meet a substantial portion
of its funding requirements. Such deposits are subject to fluctuation due to certain factors outside the Group’s
control, such as any possible loss of confidence and competitive pressures, which could result in a significant
outflow of deposits within a short period of time. In addition, increasing interest and inflation rates may trigger
outflows from retail deposits or a shift from current and saving accounts to term deposits. Any material decrease
in the KBC Bank’s deposits could have a negative impact on the Group’s liquidity, which could, in turn, have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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The Group is subject to the risk that liquidity may not always be readily available.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities and obligations as they fall due, without
incurring higher-than-expected costs. This risk is inherent in banking operations and can be heightened by a
number of enterprise-specific factors, including over-reliance on a particular source of funding (including, for
example, short-term and overnight funding), changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena such as market
dislocation and major disasters. The capital and credit markets experience volatility on a recurring basis. Market
volatility increased significantly through the end of January 2020 and again at the end of February 2020,
continuing through the spring of 2020 as COVID-19 continued to spread. The uncertainty that the spread of
COVID-19 (and the policies to mitigate its economic impact) have caused means the full impact on the financial
markets cannot currently be predicted. In addition to the impact of COVID-19, political uncertainty in the EU and
the United States has had repercussions for financial markets in recent years, including following Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine in February 2022. For a further discussion of macroeconomic conditions, see “Risks related
to the markets and economies in which the Group operates” above.

Liquidity risk can be sub-divided into contingency liquidity risk, structural liquidity risk and operational liquidity
risk:

. Contingency liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to attract additional funds or replace
maturing liabilities under stressed market conditions. This risk, assessed on the basis of liquidity stress
tests, relates to changes to the liquidity buffer of a bank under extreme stressed scenarios.

. Structural liquidity risk is the risk that the Group’s long-term assets and liabilities might not be
(re)financed on time or can only be refinanced at a higher-than-expected cost. Typical for banking
operations, funding sources generally have a shorter maturity than the assets that are funded, leading to
a negative net liquidity gap in the shorter time buckets and a positive net liquidity gap in the longer-term
buckets. This creates liquidity risk if the Group would be unable to renew maturing short-term funding.

. Operational liquidity risk is the risk that the Group’s operational liquidity management cannot ensure
that a sufficient buffer is available at all times to deal with extreme liquidity events in which no wholesale
funding can be rolled over.

If the Group fails to manage its contingency liquidity risk, structural liquidity risk or operational liquidity risk, the
Group’s internal sources of liquidity may prove to be insufficient and, in such case, the Group may not be able to
successfully obtain additional financing on favorable terms or at all, which could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s liquidity and prospects. Additionally, any liquidity constraints that arise in the funding market, or
even a perception among market participants that a financial institution is experiencing greater liquidity risk, can
cause significant damage to the institution’s funding sources. If the Group’s funding sources become volatile or
are unavailable, including as a result of disruption in the capital markets, the Group’s access to liquidity and cost
of funding could be adversely affected as it would be required to utilize other, more expensive, sources to meet
its funding needs.

CRD IV (as defined below) requires the Group to meet targets set for the Basel Il liquidity related ratios,
comprising (i) the liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR”), which requires the bank to hold an adequate stock of
unencumbered high-quality liquid assets (“HQLA”) that can be converted into cash easily and immediately in
private markets to meet its liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day liquidity stress scenario; and (ii) the net stable
funding ratio (“NSFR”) which is calculated as the ratio of an institution’s amount of available stable funding to
its amount of required stable funding. Any failure of the Group to meet the liquidity ratios could result in
administrative actions or sanctions or it ultimately being subject to any resolution action.
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The Group’s borrowing costs and its access to the debt capital markets depend significantly on the Issuer’s
credit ratings.

The credit ratings of the Issuer are important to maintain access to key markets and trading counterparties. The
Issuer’s credit ratings as of the date of this Offering Memorandum are A (Fitch), Baal (Moody’s) and A- (Standard
& Poor’s).

The Issuer’s credit ratings are subject to change and could be downgraded as a result of many factors, including
the failure of the Group to successfully implement its strategies as well as factors outside of the Group’s control,
such as the COVID-19 pandemic and Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Any failure by the Issuer to maintain its credit
ratings could adversely impact the competitive position of the Group, undermine confidence in the Group, make
entering into hedging transactions more difficult and increase borrowing costs or limit access to the capital markets
or the ability of the Group to engage in funding transactions. In connection with certain trading agreements, the
Issuer might also be required, if its current ratings are not maintained, to provide additional collateral. In addition,
a downgrade of the Issuer’s credit ratings could also lead to a loss of clients and counterparties, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects or on
the market price of the Notes. See also “Risks relating to the Notes—Risks relating to the subscription of the Notes,
the listing and settlement of the Notes and the market in the Notes—Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any
Notes may not reflect all risks associated with an investment in the Notes and investors are exposed to the risks
of a downgrade of any credit ratings assigned to the Issuer and/or the Notes” below.

The Group is exposed to changes in the fair value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The Group’s trading and fair value income was €145 million as at December 31, 2021, €33 million as at December
31, 2020 and €181 million as at December 31, 2019, with the sharp decrease in 2020 reflecting the outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic in the first quarter of 2020, which initially resulted in collapsing stock markets, higher
credit spreads and lower long-term interest rates. The fair value of financial instruments held by the Group,
including bonds (government, corporate and mortgage), equity investments, investments in private equity and
hedge funds, commaodities and derivatives (including credit derivatives), is sensitive to the volatility of and
correlations between various market variables, including interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices and foreign
exchange rates. If the fair value of the Group’s trading portfolio assets were to decline, the Group would be
required to record fair value losses. In addition, the fair value of certain financial instruments is determined by
using financial models incorporating assumptions, judgments and estimates that are inherently uncertain and may
change over time or may ultimately be inaccurate. Moreover, market volatility and illiquidity could make it
difficult to value certain of the Group’s holdings. Any of these factors could require the Group to recognize fair
value losses, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

The Group is exposed to insurance risk through KBC Insurance.

KBC Insurance, a subsidiary of the Issuer, with insurance activities in Belgium, the Czech Republic, Hungary,
Bulgaria and Slovakia, and KBC Group Re S.A., as the reinsurer, are exposed to risks related to economic (such
as lapse rates, expenses) and non-economic (such as mortality, longevity, disability) parameters in the life
insurance business and catastrophe and non-catastrophe risks in the non-life insurance business.

Technical insurance risks stem from uncertainty regarding the frequency and severity of insured losses. Changes
in the frequency of the underlying risk factors may affect the level of liabilities of KBC Insurance and its realized
technical income, which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. KBC Insurance’s insurance risk is linked to actual trends in life expectancy, mortality,
disability, critical illness and other similar factors. For example, trends in mortality and critical illness affect life
insurance. KBC Insurance undertakes ongoing actuarial assessments, which take into account the factors
described above, for the purpose of calculating insurance obligations and relevant reserve adjustments. Such
assessments involve estimates and assumptions, which are inherently uncertain, and include KBC Insurance’s
estimates of premiums to be received over the assumed life of the policy, the timing of the event covered by the
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insurance policy, the amount of benefits or claims to be paid under the policy and the investment returns on the
assets purchased with the premiums received. Unpredictable events, such as natural disasters, industrial
explosions, terrorist attacks, and similar events may cause an unexpected and substantial increase in insurance
claims under policies written by KBC Insurance, which may in turn cause it to incur substantial losses. See “—
Catastrophic events, terrorist acts, acts of war or hostilities, pandemic diseases, geopolitical, climate-related or
other unpredictable events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects”.

While some of KBC Insurance’s insurance risk is covered by reinsurance arrangements and KBC Insurance tries
to balance its portfolio, it is exposed to the risk of a material decrease in the availability and amount of reinsurance
and a material increase in the cost of reinsurance. Furthermore, KBC Insurance is subject to credit risk in relation
to its current and future reinsurers as the insolvency or inability of reinsurers to meet their financial obligations
could have an adverse effect on KBC Insurance’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.
There is also a risk that KBC Insurance’s reinsurance agreements may not be renewed, or renewed at less favorable
terms.

The inability of KBC Insurance to successfully manage its insurance risks could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group is exposed to risks related to climate change.

The physical and transition risks of climate change are becoming ever more apparent and have the potential to
pose a significant threat to the Group’s business without a coordinated and timely response from governments and
other stakeholders.

Climate change, and businesses’ response to the emerging threats, are under increasing scrutiny by governments,
regulators and the public alike. These include physical risks resulting from changing climate and weather patterns
and extreme weather-related events, as well as transition risks resulting from the process of adjustment towards a
lower carbon, climate-resilient or environmentally sustainable economy (including policy changes, legislative
changes, technological progress and behavioral changes). Both transition risk and physical risk can have
significant financial consequences, which can affect financial institutions, for example through loan defaults,
investment losses, higher insurance settlements and disruptions to operations.

For example, there have been several devastating extreme weather events in the countries in which the Group
operates in recent years, including a severe tornado in the Czech Republic and exceptional flooding in Western
Europe in 2021. See “Risks related to the markets and economies in which the Group operates—Catastrophic
events, terrorist acts, acts of war or hostilities, pandemic diseases, geopolitical, climate-related or other
unpredictable events could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects” above. The occurrence of multiple natural catastrophic events in such a short period of
time raises questions about their exceptionality and whether their likelihood is expected to increase, driven by
climate change.

Governments and regulators may introduce increasingly stringent rules and policies designed to achieve targeted
outcomes, which could increase compliance costs for the Group, drive asset impairments and result in regulatory
fines or other action if the Group is unable to implement adequate reforms sufficiently quickly. See “—The Group
is subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in the jurisdictions in which it operates, which could
have an adverse effect on its business” below. How the Group assesses and responds to these developments and
challenges could increase the Group's costs of business, and a failure to identify and adapt the Group’s business
to meet new rules or evolving expectations, or any perception that the Group is under-performing relative to its
peers or failing to meet the objectives under its sustainable strategy, could result in reputational damage and/or
risk of legal claims.
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The Group may incur further liabilities under its defined benefit retirement plans if the value of plan assets
is not sufficient to cover potential obligations.

The Group maintains a limited number of defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes for past and
current employees. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group made a cash contribution of approximately
€40 million in respect of its defined benefit pension plan and approximately €35 million in respect of its defined
contribution pension plan. The net IFRS liability of both plans was approximately €69 million as at December 31,
2021.

Under the defined contribution plans, the Group’s statutory or constructive obligation is limited to the amount that
it agrees to contribute to the fund. The amount of the post-employment benefit to be received by the employee is
determined by the amount of the contributions paid by the Group and the employee him or herself into the post-
employment benefit plan, as well as by the investment returns arising from those contributions. The actuarial risk
is therefore borne by the employee.

However, under the defined benefit plans, the Group’s obligation is to provide the agreed benefits to current and
former employees and, in substance, the actuarial risk and investment risk fall on the Group. This means that if,
from an actuarial or investment viewpoint, things turn out worse than expected, the Group’s obligation may be
increased. In addition, in Belgium, defined contribution plans have a legally guaranteed minimum return and the
actual return can be lower than the legally required return. These plans also have defined benefit plan features and
the Group treats them as defined benefit plans.

Additional cash contributions may be required to the pension plans in excess of ordinary contributions, for
example, as a result of changes in the underlying assumptions for the calculation of the pension obligations, which
may lead to greater than expected estimated future obligations, or as a result of declines in the value of, and return
from, the plan assets. If such additional contributions are significant, this could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

As a financial institution, the Group is exposed to risks related to money laundering, terrorist financing
activities and sanctions violations, and compliance with anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism
financing rules involves significant cost and effort.

In general, the risk that banks will be subjected to, or used for, money laundering has increased worldwide. The
risk of money laundering occurring is higher in emerging markets (including certain jurisdictions in Eastern
Europe where the Group operates) due to, among other factors, high turnover of employees, the difficulty in
consistently implementing related policies and technology systems, and the general business conditions in these
countries compared to Belgium or other more developed markets where the Group operates.

The Group has implemented internal measures aimed at preventing it from being used as a conduit for money
laundering or terrorist financing. However, such measures, procedures and compliance may not be completely
effective. If the Group is associated with money laundering or terrorist financing, it could suffer serious damage
to its reputation, which could affect its ability to maintain existing relationships, attract new business and provide
services to its clients. The Group could also become subject to fines, sanctions and/or legal enforcement (including
being added to any “blacklists” that would prohibit certain parties from engaging in transactions with the Group),
which could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

In addition, the Group is required to comply with a number of international sanctions regimes, including those of
the EU, the United Nations, the United States and a number of other countries. A wide range of countries,
organizations and individuals may be subject to sanctions under these regimes. While the Group takes steps to
screen transactions against sanctions lists, these procedures may not have been and may not always be effective
or may require significant cost and effort, and the complexity of banking operations and evolving nature of
sanctions (including extending the reach to a greater number of individuals or activities) may increase this risk,

25



particularly following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. See “—The Group's business, financial condition and results
of operations may be adversely affected by the Russian invasion of Ukraine and other geopolitical risks” above.

As a result, the risk of future incidents and allegations in relation to money laundering, terrorist financing and
sanctions violations always exists for the Group. Any violation of anti-money laundering rules, anti-terrorism
financing rules or sanctions regimes, or even the suggestion of such violations, may have severe legal and
reputational consequences for the Group and may, as a result, materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The risk management methods used by the Group may be insufficient to cover unidentified, unanticipated,
or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities.

The Group devotes significant resources to develop risk management policies, procedures and assessment
methods for its banking and other businesses. Like many other financial institutions, the Group increasingly relies
on advanced mathematical, statistical and numerical models to support decision making, measure and manage
risk, manage businesses and streamline processes. For these purposes, the Group uses credit risk models (including
Probability of Default, Exposure at Default and Loss Given Default), an HVaR model, stress tests and other risk
assessment methods. Nonetheless, the risk management techniques and strategies applied by the Group may not
be fully effective in identifying and hedging risk exposure in all economic market environments or against all
types of risk, including risks that the Group fails to identify or anticipate. Some of the qualitative tools and metrics
used by the Group for managing risk are based upon the use of observed historical market behavior as well as
future predictions. The Group applies statistical and other tools to these observations and predictions to arrive at
quantifications of risk exposures. These tools and metrics may fail to predict or may incorrectly predict future risk
exposures and the Group’s losses could, therefore, be significantly greater than such measures would indicate. In
addition, the risk management methods used by the Group do not necessarily take all risks into account and could
prove insufficient. If asset prices move or losses on credit portfolios occur in a way that the Group’s risk modeling
has not anticipated, the Group may experience significant unexpected losses. Assets that are not traded on public
trading markets, such as derivative contracts between banks, may be assigned values that are calculated by the
Group using mathematical models. Monitoring the deterioration of assets like these can be difficult and may lead
to losses that the Group has not anticipated. Unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risk exposures could result in
material losses in the banking and asset management businesses of the Group.

Other risk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information regarding markets, clients or other
matters that is publicly available or otherwise accessible. This information may not in all cases be accurate, up-
to-date or properly evaluated. Management of operational, legal and regulatory risk requires, among other things,
policies and procedures to properly record and verify a large number of transactions and events, and the Group’s
policies and procedures may not be fully effective.

The inability of the Group to successfully implement and adhere to effective risk management methods, including
the inability to accurately assess the credit risk of its clients, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Weaknesses or failures in the Group’s internal processes and procedures and other operational or
reputational risks could have a negative impact on its business, financial condition, results of operations,
or prospects, and could result in reputational damage.

The Group’s businesses are dependent on their ability to process and report accurately and efficiently a high
volume of complex transactions across numerous and diverse products and services, in different currencies and
subject to a number of different legal and regulatory regimes. Operational risks are present in the Group’s
businesses, through inadequate or defective internal processes (including financial reporting and risk monitoring
processes) or from people-related events (including the risk of fraud and other criminal acts carried out against
the Group, misconduct or errors by employees, violations of internal instructions and policies and failure to
document transactions properly or obtain proper authorization) or external events (including natural disasters or
the failure of external systems). The increasing presence of new technologies and outsourcing or third party
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solutions in the banking sector may also increase operational risk. There can be no assurance that the risk controls,
loss mitigation and other internal controls or actions in place within the Group will be effective in controlling each
of the operational risks faced by it. Any weakness in these controls or actions could result in a material adverse
impact on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects, and could result in
reputational damage.

The Group’s reputation is one of its most important assets. Negative public opinion may adversely affect the
Group’s ability to keep and attract clients, depositors and investors, as well as its relationships with regulators and
the general public. The Group cannot ensure that it will be successful in avoiding damage to its business from
reputational risk, including from negative public opinion from causes such as activities of business partners over
which the Group has limited or no control or from unanticipated consequences of using new technologies in the
banking sector.

The Group is, and may in the future be, subject to various legal proceedings, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and could result in
reputational damage.

The Group is involved in a variety of claims, disputes, legal proceedings and governmental investigations in
jurisdictions where it operates. See “Description of the Group—Legal Proceedings”. The Group may also in the
future become subject to various civil, administrative and arbitration proceedings with various parties, including
clients, business partners, employees, or regulatory or tax authorities. Such claims, disputes and legal proceedings
are subject to many uncertainties, and their outcomes and ultimate consequences are often difficult to predict,
particularly in the earlier stages of a case or an investigation. These types of claims and proceedings may expose
the Group to monetary damages, direct or indirect costs (including legal costs), direct or indirect financial loss,
civil and criminal penalties, loss of licenses or authorizations, or damage to reputation, as well as the potential for
regulatory restrictions on its businesses, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

For example, KBC Investments Ltd (a wholly-owned subsidiary of KBC Bank) is currently involved in a dispute
with Irving H. Picard, trustee for the liquidation of Bernard L. Madoff Investments Securities LLC and Bernard
L. Madoff (the “Trustee”). On October 6, 2011, the Trustee sued KBC Investments Ltd before the bankruptcy
court in New York to recover approximately U.S.$110,000,000 that had been transferred from Madoff (via a
feeder fund called Harley) to KBC entities. This claim is one of a number of claims made by the Trustee against
several banks, hedge funds, feeder funds and investors. A lengthy litigation process was conducted on the basis
of preliminary objections in respect of the applicability of the Bankruptcy Code's ‘safe harbor’ and ‘good faith
defense’ rules, as well as prudential limitations on U.S. courts’ powers in international cases, to subsequent
transferees (as is the case for KBC Investments Ltd). In June 2015, the Trustee stated his intention to amend the
original claim, which led to an increase in the amount claimed to U.S.$196,000,000. A court ruling dismissing the
claim of the Trustee was issued on March 3, 2017. The Trustee appealed and the Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit reversed the dismissal on February 28, 2019. A petition filed on August 30, 2019 was denied by the U.S.
Supreme Court on June 2, 2020. As a consequence, the merits of the case are being handled by the Bankruptcy
Court. On August 30, 2021, in two other appeals by other defendants, the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit
reversed the burden of proof from an initial burden on the Trustee to adequately allege the defendant’s lack of
good faith to a burden on the defendant to prove its good faith. On August 1, 2022, the Bankruptcy Court judge
issued a stipulation and order regarding the filing of an amended complaint and subsequent scheduling of
proceedings. As a result, the Trustee amended his complaint on August 5, 2022 by reducing his claim to
U.S.$86,000,000, consisting of subsequent transfers received by KBC Investments Ltd from Harley (a feeder
fund). Pursuant to the stipulation and order, the Group may file a motion to dismiss the amended complaint on or
before October 7, 2022. The last reply brief in support of its motion must be filed on or before January 13, 2023.
A court hearing will be set in February 2023. The procedure may still take several years.

The Group may also become subject to legal proceedings following a merger or acquisition. For example,
following the merger between KBC Bank and Antwerpse Diamantbank NV (“ADB”) on July 1, 2015, KBC Bank
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is now a party to a proceeding, both in its own name and in its capacity as legal successor to ADB. See
“Description of the Group—Legal Proceedings—Lazare Kaplan International Inc”.

Even though the Group believes it has appropriately provided for contingent obligations in respect of claims,
litigation and other proceedings, the outcome of any such claim, litigation or proceeding may differ from
management expectations and expose the Group to unexpected costs and losses, reputational and other non-
financial consequences and diversion of management attention. Legal proceedings may also lead to negative
media coverage and may adversely affect the Group’s brand or public image, even if the proceedings resolve in
the Group’s favor.

Any of the above-mentioned factors could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity and/or prospects.

The business operations of the Group’s asset management companies are exposed to significant risks.

The Group is subject to several risks related to the business operations of its asset management companies,
including KBC Asset Management NV, KBC Fund Management Ltd and CSOB Asset Management. As at
December 31, 2021, the Group recorded €236.2 billion of assets under management, comprising third-party assets
and group assets managed by the Group’s various asset management companies, as well as assets under advisory
management at KBC Bank. The assets, therefore, consist mainly of KBC Bank’s investment funds and unit-linked
insurance products, assets under discretionary and advisory management mandates of (mainly retail, private
banking and institutional) clients, and certain group assets.

The business operations of the Group’s asset management companies are subject to several risks, particularly
financial risks and operational risks. There is a risk that the portfolio management services and the investment
advisory services provided to the Group’s clients will not be successful, which could result in clients losing all or
parts of their initial investment. Such a scenario can result in financial losses, loss in reputation and potential
litigation for the Group. Furthermore, the funds operated by the Group’s asset management companies cover a
wide range of sectors and markets that can be highly volatile, and any changes in international, national or local
economic, political and other conditions may adversely affect its portfolio management services and investment
advisory services. See “Risks related to the markets and economies in which the Group operates” above.

Investments, which are made on behalf of securities funds and discretionary portfolios managed by the Group’s
asset management companies, are subject to interest rate risk and currency risk. If the values of such fixed income
securities vary inversely with changes in interest rates, the Group’s asset management companies’ cash flows, the
fair value of their investments and their operating results could decrease. In addition, currency risk could cause
the value of investments in currencies other than euro to decrease regardless of the inherent value of the underlying
investments. The utilization of hedging and risk management transactions may not be successful, which could
subject the investment portfolio of the Group’s asset management companies to increased risk or lower returns on
investments and, in turn, cause a decrease in the fair value of their assets.

Furthermore, if any of the relevant permits or licenses expire or are withdrawn, such as KBC Asset Management’s
UCITS and MiFID Il licenses, the Group may lose its ability to carry out its fund and portfolio management and
investment advisory services which could have a material adverse effect on its business.

Any misconduct by employees of the Group’s asset management companies (or at the companies in which they
have invested) could harm the Group by impairing its ability to attract and retain clients and subjecting it to
significant legal liability and reputational harm. Further, any failure by the Group to deal appropriately with
conflicts of interest in its portfolio management and investment advisory services could damage its reputation and
adversely affect its business.

The realization of any of the foregoing risks and/or any disruption to the business operations of the Group’s asset

management companies could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.
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In order to compete successfully, the Group is dependent on highly skilled individuals, and the Group may
not be able to retain or recruit key talent.

The Group’s performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals, including
senior management. The Group’s continued ability to compete effectively in its businesses and to expand into
new businesses and geographic areas depends on its ability to attract new employees and to retain and motivate
its existing employees. This ability may be adversely affected by regulations affecting the manner in which the
Group is permitted to remunerate its employees. Competition for key employees is intense both from within the
financial services industry, including from other financial institutions, new competitors in the industry (such as
online banks, fin-tech companies and Big Tech companies), hedge funds, private equity funds and venture capital
funds, and, increasingly, from businesses outside the financial services industry. This may impact the Group’s
ability to take advantage of business opportunities or potential efficiencies. Any loss of the services of key
employees, particularly to competitors, or the inability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel in the future
or the need to replace any senior management as a result of failures or perceived failures in management of the
Group could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or
prospects.

The Group’s accounting policies and methods are critical to how it reports its financial condition and
results of operations. They require management to make estimates about matters that are uncertain.

Accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how the Group records and reports its results of operations
and financial condition. Management must exercise judgment in selecting and applying many of these accounting
policies and methods so they comply with IFRS. Management has identified certain accounting policies in the
notes to its financial statements as being critical because they require management’s judgment to ascertain the
value of assets and liabilities. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical accounting policies” and the notes to the 2021 Financial Statements incorporated by
reference into this Offering Memorandum.

The estimates and assumptions that the Group uses in preparing its financial statements are based on premises that
management finds reasonable, but that are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. A variety of factors could affect
the ultimate value that is obtained either when earning income, recognizing an expense, recovering an asset or
reducing a liability. Although the Group has established detailed policies and control procedures that are intended
to ensure that these critical accounting estimates and assumptions are well controlled and applied consistently,
there can be no assurance that these policies and procedures will always be effective. In addition, the policies and
procedures are intended to ensure that the process for changing methodologies occurs in an appropriate manner.
Because of the uncertainty surrounding the Group’s estimates and assumptions pertaining to these matters, the
Group cannot guarantee that it will not be required to make changes in accounting estimates or restate prior period
financial statements in the future.

The Group may be impacted by changes in accounting policies or accounting standards and the
interpretation of such policies and standards.

From time to time, the International Accounting Standards Board (the “lASB”) changes the financial accounting
and reporting standards that govern the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. For example, IFRS 17, a
comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement,
presentation and disclosure, will come into effect in the year ending December 31, 2023 and is expected to impact
KBC Insurance, though the full impact on the Group is still being ascertained. Further, changes may take place in
the interpretation of, or differences of opinion may arise between the Group and competent authorities with regard
to the application of, such standards. These changes can be difficult to predict and can materially impact how the
Group records and reports its financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, the Group may be
required to apply a new or revised standard, or alter the application of an existing standard, retroactively, rendering
a restatement of prior period financial statements necessary. Any such change in the Group’s accounting policies
or applicable accounting standards could materially affect its reported financial condition and/or results of
operations.
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Because of the uncertainty surrounding the Group’s judgments and the estimates pertaining to these matters, the
Group cannot guarantee that it will not be required to make changes in accounting estimates or restate prior period
financial statements in the future.

Any merger and acquisition activity or change projects, including divestments, may be unsuccessful.

The Group may seek to expand through mergers, acquisitions and joint ventures in the future and may seek to
implement change projects in line with the Group’s strategy, including divestments. Acquisitions could
necessarily leave the Group exposed, at least to some degree, to any operational failings of the target company
and potentially to overpaying for any such target. In addition, there can be no assurance that the Group will be
able to identify future acquisition targets or that acquired businesses will be fully integrated into the Group or that
expected cost savings and revenue generation opportunities will be realized. Therefore, the Group’s future
acquisitions may not achieve the initially defined goals and consequently may have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

In addition, from time to time, the Group considers portfolio optimizations including, but not limited to,
divestment projects.

Should the Group elect to dispose certain of its assets, there can be no assurance that such sale will be on
commercially acceptable terms or will not otherwise materially adversely affect the Group’s business. In 2021,
the Group reached an agreement to dispose of substantially all of the non-performing mortgage loan portfolio of
KBC Bank Ireland (which was finalized in February 2022) and an agreement relating to the sale of substantially
all of KBC Bank Ireland’s performing loan assets and its deposit book. The finalization of the pending deal will
ultimately lead to the Issuer withdrawing from the Irish market.

Furthermore, mergers, acquisitions and change projects, including divestments like the sale of the Group’s Irish
operations, may divert financial and management resources from the Group’s core business, which could have an
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. Further, the Group
may not have the required experience to successfully execute and implement such complex transactions or
projects.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations or prospects.

Any impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets would have a negative effect on the Group’s
financial position and results of operations.

The Group conducts impairment tests on goodwill and other intangible assets at least once per year or whenever
there are indications of a possible impairment of any such assets. The outcome of any impairment test model
depends, among other things, on key input data on macroeconomic factors and long-term growth assumptions.

Should economic conditions worsen beyond the Group’s expectations, or should there be a change in regulatory
conditions affecting the Group’s assets, either in any of the markets in which the Group operates or in general, an
impairment charge relating to goodwill and other intangible assets may need to be recognized, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

RISKS RELATED TO THE REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

The Group is subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in the jurisdictions in which it
operates, which could have an adverse effect on its business.

The Group’s business activities are subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in the jurisdictions
in which it operates. This is particularly the case in the current market environment, which is experiencing
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increased levels of government and regulatory supervision, intervention and enforcement in the financial sector,
which the Group expects to continue for the foreseeable future.

The Group is subject to supervision by the European Central Bank (the “ECB”), the National Bank of Belgium
(the “NBB”), the Single Resolution Board (the “SRB”’) and Belgian regulations regarding, among other things,
solvency and capital adequacy requirements, including capital ratios and liquidity rules. The Group is also subject
to the supervision of local supervisory authorities in other countries in which the Group operates. The Group is
also subject to EU regulations with direct applicability, such as the General Data Protection Regulation (EU)
2016/679 (“GDPR”) (effective as of May 25, 2018) requiring businesses to protect the personal data and privacy
of EU citizens for transactions that occur within the EU, and EU directives which are implemented through local
laws.

Recent regulatory and legislative developments applicable to credit institutions, such as KBC Bank NV, or
insurance undertakings, such as KBC Insurance, may adversely impact the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operation or prospects. A non-exhaustive overview of certain important regulatory and legislative
developments, such as changes to the prudential requirements for credit institutions, capital adequacy rules and
recovery and resolution mechanisms, is set out in the section entitled “Banking and Insurance Regulation and
Supervision” of this Offering Memorandum. Compliance with such regulations has increased the Group’s capital
requirements, exposed it to additional costs and liabilities, diverted management attention and has affected how
the Group conducts its business, including collateral management, and may, in the future, have other adverse
impacts on its business, the products and services it offers and the value of its assets. Future changes in regulation,
fiscal or other policies are unpredictable and beyond the Group’s control and could materially adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In particular, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) risks are high on the agenda of the regulators, leading
to a number of directives, guidelines and disclosure requirements. These must be gradually implemented in the
coming years, with the main focus on strategy, governance, risk management and internal and external reporting.
While the Group is taking the necessary actions to implement and to be compliant with all new regulations, there
can be no assurance that the Group will be able to implement such changes in a timely manner. In addition, the
Group expects market participants, investors and society in general will increasingly judge financial institutions,
in general, and the Group, in particular, on how well they adapt to climate change and other ESG related aspects.
As a result, any failure (or perceived failure) by the Group to comply with such regulation could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s reputation and, in turn, its business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Regulators are also increasingly focusing on operational resilience, inspired by the COVID-19 pandemic, the
increasing number of cyber threats and the Russia-Ukraine conflict. The ECB has regularly announced that it will
engage with institutions to ensure that operational disruptions are properly planned for, managed and mitigated.
While the Group is working to further improve its key building blocks (such as business continuity management,
cyber security and outsourcing risk management), additional steps may be needed to ensure operational resilience,
and the Group may be required to make significant expenditures or modify its business practices in order to
comply with the expectations of regulators in this regard.

Any failure by the Group to comply with existing or future laws and regulations could result in administrative
actions or sanctions. Disputes with regulators are generally subject to many uncertainties, and their outcomes are
often difficult to predict, particularly in the earlier stages of a case or investigation. Adverse regulatory action
could result in reputational harm, fines, sanctions or restrictions or limitations on the Group’s operations, any of
which could result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. In addition, any determination by local regulators or enforcement agencies that the Group has not
acted in compliance with applicable local laws in a particular market, or any failure to develop effective working
relationships with local regulators, could have a material adverse effect not only on the Group’s businesses in that
market but also on its reputation generally. Furthermore, proceedings, investigations and other regulatory actions
(or related civil lawsuits) could involve significant costs for the Group, require significant attention from the
Group’s management and the Board of Directors, entail adverse reputational impacts and attract adverse media
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and political attention. Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

As an organization consisting of various financial institutions, most operations in the Group are contingent upon
licenses issued by financial regulators in the countries in which such financial institutions operate. Violations of
the law, or rules and regulations, whether intentional or unintentional, may lead to the withdrawal or limitation of
the Group’s licenses. Any breach of these or other regulations could adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group is, and will continue to be, subject to increased capital requirements and standards due to
governmental or regulatory requirements and changes in perceived levels of adequate capitalization, and
may need additional capital in the future, which capital may be difficult and/or costly to obtain.

At the international level, a number of regulatory and supervisory initiatives have been implemented in recent
years in order to increase the quantity and quality of capital, and raise liquidity levels in the banking sector. Among
such initiatives are a number of specific measures proposed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the
“Basel Committee”) and implemented by the European Union through CRD 1V (as defined below). For further
information on these measures, see “Capital Management”. As a bank-insurance group, the Group and certain
Group entities are currently subject to the capital requirements and capital adequacy ratios imposed by Directive
2013/36/EU (“CRD 1V”) and certain Group entities are currently subject to the capital requirements and capital
adequacy ratios imposed by Directive 2009/138/EC (“Solvency 117).

The requirements of CRD IV include a capital conservation buffer and, in certain circumstances, a systemic buffer
and/or a countercyclical buffer which come on top of the minimum requirements. These additional requirements
are being gradually phased in and have an impact on the Group and its operations, as they impose higher capital
requirements. In addition, capital requirements will increase if economic conditions or trends in the financial
markets worsen and, as such, further capital increases may be difficult or costly to achieve.

Solvency Il includes requirements for the in-scope entities of the Group to keep adequate capital buffers (eligible
own funds) to absorb the impact of adverse circumstances, including (but not limited to) deteriorated market
conditions, counterparty defaults and specific risks linked to insurance policies. These solvency capital
requirements are determined on the basis of the risk profiles and on the way in which such risks are managed.
Distinction is made between the Solvency Capital Requirement (“SCR”) and the Minimum Capital Requirement
(“MCR?”), which are both calculated on a quarterly basis. If the SCR exceeds the eligible own funds, this is an
early warning indicator to the supervisory authority and insurance company to better manage the risks. If the MCR
exceeds the eligible own funds, this means the insurance company is technically insolvent.

The capital requirements applicable to the Group may change over time, including as a result of the new Basel 1V
framework, which was released by the Basel Committee in December 2017 and is expected to be implemented by
January 1, 2025. Implementation of any changes that impose more stringent requirements could lead to increased
funding costs for the Group, and it may need to raise additional capital in the future. Such capital, whether in the
form of debt financing, hybrid capital or additional equity, may not be available on attractive terms, or at all. The
Group is unable to predict what regulatory requirements may be imposed in the future or accurately estimate the
impact that any currently proposed regulatory changes may have on its business, the products and services that it
offers and the values of its assets. For example, if the Group is required to make additional provisions, increase
its reserves or capital, or exit or change certain businesses as a result of the initiatives to strengthen the
capitalization of banks, this could adversely affect its results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group is exposed to the risk of changes in tax legislation and its interpretation and to increases in the
rate of corporate and other taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates.

The Group’s activities are subject to tax at various rates in the jurisdictions in which it operates, computed in
accordance with local legislation and practice. Future actions by the Belgian, Czech, Hungarian or other
governments to increase tax rates or to impose additional taxes would reduce the Group’s profitability. In Belgium,
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for example, the Ministry of Finance is preparing draft legislation which could significantly increase the Deposit
Guarantee Fund contributions of banks for 2023 and 2024. It is expected that the reform would aim for a target
amount of 1.8% of the covered deposits by July 2024, instead of the current level in Belgium of 1.5% of the
covered deposits. In addition, in the Czech Republic, the government has indicated the possibility of imposing
additional tax on certain industries, primarily energy and banking. While the proposal is still at the nascent stage
of political discussions and it is not yet clear what parameters such tax would have or whether any legislation
proposals will be put forward, there can be no assurance that such sector tax will not be implemented in the Czech
Republic due to increased pressure faced by public finance.

In addition, revisions to tax legislation or to its interpretation may have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial
condition in the future. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations or prospects. Further, there can be no assurance that any such change in tax
legislation or the interpretation of tax legislation may not have a retroactive effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES
Risks relating to the Conditions
Noteholders may be required to absorb losses in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails.

Noteholders may lose their investment in case the Issuer were to become non-viable or fail. In such circumstances,
resolution authorities may require Subordinated Tier 2 Notes to be written down or converted and Senior Notes
to be bailed-in pursuant to Directive 2014/59/EU, as amended (the “BRRD”) as implemented in the Belgian
Banking Law.

In addition to the write-down and conversion powers of eligible liabilities mentioned below, the BRRD and the
Belgian Banking Law contain four resolution tools and powers, which may be used alone or in combination where
the relevant resolution authority considers that a relevant entity meets the conditions for resolution specified in
Article 244 81 of the Belgian Banking Law, i.e. (a) a relevant entity is failing or likely to fail, (b) there is no
reasonable prospect that any alternative private sector measures would prevent the failure of such relevant entity
within a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a resolution action is in the public interest. The four resolution tools and
powers are: (i) sale of business, which enables resolution authorities to direct the sale of the relevant entity or the
whole or part of its business on commercial terms; (ii) bridge institution, which enables resolution authorities to
transfer all or part of the business of the relevant entity to a “bridge institution” (an entity created for this purpose
that is wholly or partially under public control), which may limit the capacity of the relevant entity to meet its
repayment obligations; (iii) asset separation, which enables resolution authorities to transfer impaired or problem
assets to one or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow them to be managed with a view to
maximizing their value through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this can be used together with another
resolution tool only); and (iv) bail-in, which gives resolution authorities the power to write down certain claims
of unsecured creditors of a failing relevant entity (which write-down may result in the reduction of such claims to
zero) and to convert certain unsecured debt claims (including Senior Notes) to equity or other instruments of
ownership (the “bail-in power”), which equity or other instruments could also be subject to any future
cancellation, transfer or dilution.

Write-down / conversion of tier 2 capital instruments, including Subordinated Tier 2 Notes.

The BRRD requires the Resolution Authority to write down the principal amount of tier 2 capital instruments
(including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) or to convert such principal amount into common equity tier 1 of the
Issuer so as to ensure that the regulatory capital instruments (including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) fully absorb
losses at the point of non-viability of the issuing institution. Accordingly, the Resolution Authority shall be
required to write down or convert such capital instruments (including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) immediately
before taking any resolution action, together with such resolution action or independently from any resolution
action, if the Issuer were deemed to have reached the point of non-viability or were to benefit from public support.
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An institution will be deemed to be no longer viable if (i) it is failing or likely to fail and (ii) there is no reasonable
prospect that a private action would prevent the failure within a reasonable timeframe.

The resolution authorities have to exercise the write down and conversion powers in accordance with the priority
of claims under normal insolvency proceedings, in a way that results in (i) common equity tier 1 instruments of
the Issuer are reduced first in proportion to the losses and to the extent of their capacity; (ii) second the principal
amount of additional tier one instruments is written down or converted into common equity tier 1 instruments or
both, to the extent required or to the extent of the capacity of the relevant capital instruments; (iii) thereafter, to
the extent required, the principal amount of tier 2 capital instruments (including Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) is
written down (in principle on a permanent basis), converted into common equity tier 1, or a combination of the
above.

More specifically, article 267/8, 81 of the Belgian Banking Law provides the order in which eligible liabilities
should be converted or written down in case the Resolution Authority decides to apply the bail-in tool. Tier 2
capital instruments of the Issuer (including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) will only be converted or written down
following conversion or write-down of the tier 1 capital instruments of the Issuer, but before all subordinated debt
and other eligible liabilities of the Issuer that are not tier 1 or tier 2 capital instruments of the Issuer at the time of
resolution.

In circumstances of financial distress (whether related to the economy or markets generally or events specific to
the Group), there may be uncertainty as to the likelihood that resolution authorities could in the future decide to
write down or convert Subordinated Tier 2 Notes into tier 1 instruments. Due to the uncertainty as to whether any
such write down or conversion could occur, the trading price of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes could drop
significantly.

Any indication that the Issuer’s securities may run the risk of being required to absorb losses in the future is likely
to have an adverse effect on the market price of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes. Under such circumstances,
investors may not be able to sell their Subordinated Tier 2 Notes at prices comparable to the prices of more
conventional investments or at all.

Furthermore, the Resolution Authority has the power to suspend any payment or delivery obligation arising from
a contract to which a credit institution is a party when the conditions set out in Article 244/2 of the Belgian
Banking Law are met.

Bail-in of senior debt and other eligible liabilities, including Senior Notes.

Holders of Senior Notes are at risk of losing some or all of their investment (including outstanding principal and
accrued but unpaid interest) upon exercise by the Resolution Authority of the “bail-in” resolution tool in
circumstances where the Issuer is no longer viable. An institution will be deemed to be no longer viable if (i) it is
failing or likely to fail and (ii) there is no reasonable prospect that a private action would prevent the failure within
a reasonable timeframe.

The Resolution Authority has the power to bail-in (i.e., write down, cancel or convert) senior debt such as the
Senior Notes, after having written down or converted tier 1 capital instruments, tier 2 capital instruments (such as
the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) and subordinated debt which is not tier 1 or tier 2 capital.

The bail-in power enables the Resolution Authority to recapitalize a failed institution by allocating losses to its
shareholders and unsecured creditors (including holders of Senior Notes) in a manner which is consistent with the
hierarchy of claims in an insolvency of the relevant financial institution. The BRRD contains certain safeguards
which provide that shareholders and creditors that are subject to any write down or conversion should in principle
not incur greater losses than they would have incurred had the relevant financial institution been wound up under
normal insolvency proceedings (‘no creditor worse off” principle).
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Importantly, certain liabilities of credit institutions will be excluded from the scope of the “bail-inable liabilities”
and therefore not subject to bail-in. These include covered deposits, secured liabilities (including covered bonds)
as well as certain debt with maturities of less than seven days and certain other liabilities. Certain other liabilities
(including the Senior Notes) will be deemed “bail-inable liabilities” subject to the statutory bail-in powers.

BRRD specifies that governments will only be entitled to use public money to rescue credit institutions as a last
resort and provided that a minimum of 8% of the own funds and total liabilities have been written down, converted
or bailed in. Moreover, the resolution authorities will be entitled to first bail-in senior debt issued at the level of
the Issuer (including the Senior Notes) before writing down or bailing in any tier 1, tier 2 capital instruments or
senior debt issued at the level of KBC Bank NV.

Impact of loss absorption.

The determination that all or part of the principal amount of any series of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes and Senior
Notes are subject to loss absorption (i.e., conversion or write-down) is likely to be inherently unpredictable and
may depend on a number of factors which may be outside of the Group’s control. This determination will also be
made by the Resolution Authority and there may be many factors, including factors not directly related to the
Group, which could result in such a determination. Because of this inherent uncertainty, it will be difficult to
predict when, if at all, the exercise of any resolution tool may occur.

Accordingly, trading behavior in respect of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes and potentially Senior Notes is not
necessarily expected to follow the trading behavior associated with other types of securities. Potential investors
in the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes and the Senior Notes should consider the risk that a Noteholder may lose all of
its investment, including the principal amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if such statutory loss
absorption measures are acted upon or that the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes or the Senior Notes may be converted
into ordinary shares. Noteholders may have limited rights or no rights to challenge any decision to exercise such
powers or to have that decision reviewed by a judicial or administrative process or otherwise.

As the Issuer is a holding company, the holders of Notes will be structurally subordinated to other creditors
who hold debt instruments at the level of one or more of the subsidiaries of the Issuer.

The Issuer is the financial holding company of the Group and has two important subsidiaries, KBC Bank NV and
KBC Insurance NV. The main sources of operating funds for the Issuer are the dividends, distributions, interest
payments and any advances it receives from its subsidiaries and the amounts raised through the issuance of debt
instruments such as the Notes. The ability of the subsidiaries to make dividend and other payments to the Issuer
may depend on their profitability and may be subject to certain legal or contractual restrictions. The extent to
which the Issuer is able to receive or raise such funds will, in turn, affect its ability to make payments on the Notes
and any other debt instruments of the Issuer, which, in addition, may rank senior to the Notes. The Notes do not
benefit from any guarantee from any of the subsidiaries.

Moreover, the holders of Notes will be structurally subordinated to other creditors who hold debt instruments at
the level of one or more of the subsidiaries of the Issuer, including, without limitation, the contingent Tier 2 capital
notes issued by KBC Bank NV. The subsidiaries of the Issuer generally hold more operational assets than the
Issuer. If the assets of the Issuer’s subsidiaries were to be realized, it is possible that, after such realization,
insufficient assets would remain available for distribution to the Issuer in order to enable it to fulfill any payment
obligations under the Notes. Please also refer to the risk factor entitled “Noteholders may be required to absorb
losses in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails”.

The Notes are subject to early redemption by the Issuer, subject to certain conditions.
The Issuer may have an optional redemption right, in its sole and full discretion, in the circumstances and subject

to the conditions set out in Condition 4(b) (Redemption upon the occurrence of a Tax Event), Condition 4(c)
(Redemption of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes following the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event),
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Condition 4(d) (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer) and Condition 4(e) (Redemption of Senior Notes following
the occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event).

The Issuer’s ability to redeem the Notes at its option may affect the market value of the Notes. In particular, during
any period when the Issuer has the right to elect to redeem the Notes or the market anticipates that redemption
might occur, such as when the Issuer’s cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes, the market
value of the Notes generally would not be expected to rise substantially above the redemption price.

If the Issuer redeems the Notes in any of the circumstances mentioned above, there is a risk that the Notes may be
redeemed at times when the redemption proceeds are less than the current market value of the Notes or when
prevailing interest rates may be relatively low, in which case Noteholders may only be able to reinvest the
redemption proceeds in securities with a lower yield.

The Issuer is not prohibited from issuing additional debt.

There is no restriction on the amount of debt that the Issuer may issue, which may rank pari passu with, or, in the
case of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes, senior to, the Notes. The issue of any such debt or securities may reduce the
amount recoverable by investors upon an insolvency of the Issuer. If the Issuer’s financial condition were to
deteriorate, the holders could suffer direct and materially adverse consequences, including suspension of interest
and reduction of interest and principal and, if the Issuer were liquidated (whether voluntarily or involuntarily), the
holders could suffer loss of their entire investment.

In certain instances the Noteholders may be bound by certain amendments to the Conditions to which they did
not consent, which may result in less favorable terms of the Notes.

Condition 11 (Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications) and Schedule 1 (Provisions on Meetings of
Noteholders) to the Conditions contain provisions for Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests
generally, including modifications to the Conditions. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
holders, including holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and holders who voted in a manner
contrary to the majority or, as the case may be, who did not sign the relevant written resolution or provide their
electronic consents for the passing of the relevant resolution.

Further, Condition 11 (Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications) provides that the Issuer may, without the
consent or approval of the Noteholders, make such amendments to the Conditions or the Agency Agreement which
are of a formal, minor or technical nature or made to correct a manifest error or comply with mandatory provisions
of law or such amendments to the Agency Agreement which are not prejudicial to the interests of the holders
(except those changes in respect of which an increased quorum is required).

In addition, pursuant to Condition 3(j) (Benchmark replacement), if a Benchmark Event or a Benchmark
Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, as applicable, occurs, certain changes may be
made to the interest calculation and related provisions of the Floating Rate Notes and the Fixed Rate Reset Notes,
as well as the Agency Agreement in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the
consent or approval of the Noteholders. Please also refer to the risk factor entitled “Risks related to certain Notes

2999
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Finally, if so specified in the Pricing Supplement, the Issuer will, subject to certain conditions, be entitled to
substitute and/or vary the terms of the relevant Notes upon the occurrence and continuation of a Loss Absorption
Disqualification Event (in accordance with Condition 7 (Senior Notes —Substitution or variation following a Loss
Absorption Disqualification Event)) or a Capital Disqualification Event (in accordance with Condition 6
(Subordinated Tier 2 Notes — Substitution or variation following a Capital Disqualification Event)), as applicable,
S0 as to ensure that they remain or become Eligible Liabilities Instruments or Qualifying Securities, as applicable.
Please also refer to the risk factors entitled “Substitution and variation of Senior Notes upon the occurrence of a
Loss Absorption Disqualification Event” and “Variation of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes upon the occurrence of a
Capital Disqualification Event”.
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Accordingly, there is a risk that the Conditions may be modified, waived or varied in circumstances where a holder
does not agree to such modification, waiver or variation, which may adversely impact the rights of such holder.
Such decisions may for example relate to a reduction of the amount to be paid by the Issuer upon redemption of
the Notes, which would then impact the return an investor may receive on its Notes.

Changes in law or the application, interpretation or administrative practice may affect the rights of
Noteholders.

As set out in Condition 15 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), the Conditions are governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law, other than Condition 1, Condition 2, Condition 12(a), Condition 14(c) and Schedule
1 to the Conditions, which are governed by Belgian law. Such law is, in each case, as is in effect as of the date of
this Offering Memorandum. Any change in law or in the official application, interpretation or administrative
practice after the date of this Offering Memorandum may affect the enforceability of the Noteholders’ rights under
the Conditions or render the exercise of such rights more difficult and, hence, materially adversely impact the
value of any Notes affected by it. This may for example relate to the implementation of statutory resolution and
loss-absorption tools. Please also refer to the risk factor entitled “Noteholders may be required to absorb losses
in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails”.

Risks relating to particular Notes
Risks related to Senior Notes.
Substitution and variation of Senior Notes upon the occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event.

Pursuant to Condition 7 (Senior Notes —Substitution or variation following a Loss Absorption Disqualification
Event), the Issuer has the option to specify in the Pricing Supplement in relation to Senior Notes that a Loss
Absorption Disqualification Event Variation or Substitution is applicable. A Loss Absorption Disqualification
Event Variation or Substitution would, if selected in the applicable Pricing Supplement, allow the Issuer in
circumstances where a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing or in order to ensure
the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 15(c), to elect either to (i) substitute all (but not some only) of
such Series of Senior Notes or (ii) vary the terms of all (but not some only) of such Series of Senior Notes, so that
they become or remain Eligible Liabilities Instruments (and, in either case to change the governing law of
Condition 15(c) from Belgian law to English law), subject to, and to the extent required at such date, the prior
written approval of the Relevant Regulator and/or the Resolution Authority.

Eligible Liabilities Instruments are securities issued by the Issuer that have, inter alia, terms not materially less
favorable to the Noteholders as a class than the terms of the Senior Notes as reasonably determined by the Issuer
(provided that the Issuer shall have delivered a certificate to that effect to the Paying Agent), except in
circumstances where the substitution or variation is in order to ensure the effectiveness and enforceability of
Condition 15(c). Where the Issuer has determined that the terms of Eligible Liabilities Instruments to be issued
are not materially less favorable to the Noteholders as a class, it is possible that these will not be as favorable to a
particular Noteholder, given such Noteholder’s individual circumstances. If any substitution or variation of any
Notes were to be effected in order to address any actual or perceived ineffectiveness of Condition 15(c) regarding
the Bail-in Power, such substitution or variation might not be viewed by the market as being equally favorable to
Noteholders. In circumstances where the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to Senior Notes specifies that
Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Variation or Substitution is applicable, the Senior Notes are intended to
qualify in full towards the Issuer’s and/or the Group’s minimum requirements for (i) own funds and eligible
liabilities and/or (ii) loss absorbing capacity instruments under the applicable Loss Absorption Regulations. Given
the current status and evolving nature of the legislation on this topic and the interpretation thereof, there is,
nevertheless, uncertainty regarding the final substance of the applicable Loss Absorption Regulations. It is
therefore possible that the Senior Notes will not be or will not remain eligible instruments for minimum
requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities (“MREL”).
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No events of default apply to Senior Notes allowing acceleration of payment, other than in a dissolution or
liquidation.

Condition 10 (Enforcement) provides that no events of default will apply allowing for acceleration of the Senior
Notes if certain events occur. In such case, the Noteholders will not be able to accelerate the maturity of such
Notes. Accordingly, if the Issuer fails to meet any obligations under the Senior Notes (including any failure to pay
interest when due), investors will not have the right to accelerate payment of principal (other than in the event of
the Issuer’s dissolution or liquidation). Upon a payment default, the sole remedy available to holders of Senior
Notes for recovery of amounts owing in respect of any payment of principal or interest on the Senior Notes will
be the institution of dissolution or liquidation proceedings to the extent permitted under Belgian law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged
to pay any sum or sums sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

Risks related to Subordinated Tier 2 Notes.
The Subordinated Tier 2 Notes are subordinated obligations.

Condition 2(b) (Status of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) states that the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall, in the event of a dissolution,
liquidation or winding-up of the Issuer (except, in any such case, a solvent liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
solely for the purposes of a reorganization, reconstruction or amalgamation of the Issuer or the substitution in
place of the Issuer of a successor in business of the Issuer), be subordinated in right of payment to the claims of
Senior Creditors of the Issuer.

Therefore, if the Issuer were to be wound up, liquidated or dissolved, the liquidator would first apply assets of the
Issuer to satisfy all rights and claims of such Senior Creditors. If the Issuer does not have sufficient assets to settle
such claims in full, the claims of the holders of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes will not be met and, as a result, the
holders will lose the entire amount of their investment in the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes. The Subordinated Tier 2
Notes will share equally in payment with other pari passu claims. If the Issuer does not have sufficient funds to
make full payments on all of them, holders could lose all or part of their investment.

The Issuer may issue other obligations that rank or are expressed to rank senior to the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes
or capital instruments that rank or are expressed to rank pari passu with the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes, in each
case as regards the right to receive periodic payments on a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer and the right to
receive repayment of capital on a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer. In the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy
of the Issuer, the Issuer will be required to pay (i) its depositors and other unsubordinated creditors and (ii) subject
as described in the paragraph that follows, its other subordinated creditors (other than the present or future claims
of creditors that rank or are expressed to rank pari passu with or junior to the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) in full
before it can make any payments on the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have enough
assets remaining after these payments are made to pay amounts due under the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes.

According to Article 48(7) of the BRRD (as transposed into Belgian law by an amendment to Article 389/1 of the
Belgian Banking Law), liabilities resulting from fully or partially recognized own funds instruments (within the
meaning of the CRR, and including the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) shall rank junior to all other liabilities. This
entails that, regardless of their contractual ranking, liabilities that are no longer at least partially recognized as an
own funds instrument for the purpose of the CRR shall rank senior to any liabilities fully or partially recognized
as an own funds instrument. Accordingly, in the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, the Issuer will,
inter alia, be required to pay subordinated creditors of the Issuer, whose claims arise from liabilities that are no
longer fully or partially recognized as an own funds instrument (within the meaning of the CRR, and which could
include some series of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes if they are no longer so recognized) in full before it can make
any payments on the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes which continue to be at least partially recognized as own fund
instruments at the time of the opening of the liquidation or bankruptcy procedure.
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In addition, in the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, to the extent the Issuer has assets remaining
after paying its creditors who rank senior to the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes, payments relating to holders of other
obligations or capital instruments of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank pari passu with the Subordinated
Tier 2 Notes may, if there are insufficient assets to satisfy the claims of all of the Issuer’s pari passu creditors,
further reduce the assets available to pay amounts due under the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes on a liquidation or
bankruptcy of the Issuer.

No events of default apply to Subordinated Tier 2 Notes allowing acceleration of payment, other than in
dissolution or liquidation.

The Conditions of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes do not provide for events of default allowing for acceleration of
the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes if certain events occur. Accordingly, if the Issuer fails to meet any obligations under
the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes, including the payment of any interest, investors will not have the right to accelerate
payment of principal, which shall only be due in the event of the Issuer’s dissolution or liquidation. Upon a
payment default, the sole remedy available to holders of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes for recovery of amounts owing
in respect of any payment of principal or interest on the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes will be the institution of
dissolution or liquidation proceedings to the extent permitted under Belgian law in order to enforce such payment.

Holders should further be aware that, in or prior to any such dissolution or liquidation scenario, the Resolution
Authority could decide to write down the principal amount of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes to zero or convert
such principal amount into equity or tier 1 instruments. Please also refer to the risk factor entitled “Noteholders
may be required to absorb losses in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails” on pages 33 to 35 of this
Offering Memorandum.

Variation of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes upon the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event

Pursuant to Condition 6 (Subordinated Tier 2 Notes — Substitution or variation following a Capital
Disqualification Event), the Issuer has the option to specify in the Pricing Supplement in relation to Subordinated
Tier 2 Notes that a Capital Disqualification Event Variation is applicable. A Capital Disqualification Event will
apply if, as a result of a change to the regulatory classification, the Issuer would no longer be able to count the
Subordinated Tier 2 Notes wholly or in part towards its tier 2 capital. A Capital Disqualification Event Variation
would entitle the Issuer in such circumstances to vary the terms of such Subordinated Tier 2 Notes (subject to
certain conditions) in order to ensure that they remain or become Qualifying Securities (i.e., qualify again as tier
2 capital of the Issuer) or in order to ensure the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 15(c). Importantly,
the Issuer would in such circumstances be entitled (i) to vary, subject to the conditions set out in Condition 6
(Subordinated Tier 2 Notes — Substitution or variation following a Capital Disqualification Event), the terms of
the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes without the consent of the holders of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes or (ii) to vary
the governing law of Condition 15(c) from Belgian law to English law. The Issuer would treat the investors as a
class and the individual position of the Noteholders may be prejudiced, despite the conditions set out in Condition
6 (Subordinated Tier 2 Notes — Substitution or variation following a Capital Disqualification Event).

There are no rights of set-off for Subordinated Tier 2 Notes and Senior Notes

No holder of a Subordinated Tier 2 Note or a Senior Note may exercise or claim any right of set-off, compensation,
retention or netting in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with such
Note, and each such Noteholder shall, by virtue of its subscription, purchase or holding of any such Note, be
deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, netting, compensation or retention.

Risks related to certain Notes linked to “benchmarks”.
Reference Rates and indices, including interest rate benchmarks, such as the Euro Interbank Offered Rate
(“EURIBOR?”) and the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), which are used to determine the amounts

payable under financial instruments or the value of such financial instruments (“Benchmarks”), have, in recent
years, been the subject of political and regulatory scrutiny as to how they are created and operated. This has
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resulted in regulatory reform and changes to existing Benchmarks, with further changes anticipated. These reforms
and changes may cause a Benchmark to perform differently than it has done in the past, to be discontinued, or
have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any change in the performance of a Benchmark or its
discontinuation, could have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing or linked to such Benchmark.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the “EU Benchmarks Regulation™) applies, subject to certain transitional
provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a
benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorized or
registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognized or endorsed) and
(ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as the Issuer) of benchmarks of administrators that are
not authorized or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognized or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark
in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the
requirements of the EU Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of
reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the national or international reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
Benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

The euro risk-free rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and high-level
recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro-denominated cash products
(including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other things, that continuing
to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro
area financial system. On May 11, 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group published its recommendations on
EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates.

Such factors may (without limitation) have the following effects on certain Benchmarks: (i) discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or contribute to the Benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or
methodologies used in the Benchmark; or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the Benchmark. Any of the above
changes or any other consequential changes as a result of national or international reforms or other initiatives or
investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes referencing, linked to
or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon a Benchmark.

Any changes to the administration of a Benchmark or the emergence of alternatives to a Benchmark as a result of
these reforms, may cause such Benchmark to perform differently than in the past or to be discontinued, or there
could be other consequences which cannot be predicted. The potential discontinuation of a Benchmark or changes
to its administration could require changes to the way in which the Rate of Interest is calculated in respect of any
Notes referencing or linked to such Benchmark. Uncertainty as to the nature of alternative reference rates and as
to potential changes to a Benchmark may adversely affect such Benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes,
the return on the relevant Notes and the trading market for securities based on the same Benchmark. The
development of alternatives to a Benchmark may result in Notes linked to or referencing such Benchmark
performing differently than would otherwise have been the case if such alternatives to such Benchmark had not
developed. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return on, any Notes
referencing or linked to a Benchmark.

Condition 3(j) (Benchmark replacement) provides for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a Benchmark
Event or Benchmark Transition Event occurs, for example, where a published Benchmark (including any page on
which such Benchmark may be published (or any successor service)) becomes unavailable. The Benchmark
Events also include the situation where the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate or Reset Reference Rate
(as applicable) announces that the methodology to calculate such Reference Rate or Reset Reference Rate (as
applicable) has materially changed. If a Benchmark Event or Benchmark Transition Event occurs, the Issuer may,
after appointing and consulting with an Independent Adviser, determine a Successor Rate, Alternative Reference
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Rate or Benchmark Replacement to be used in place of the relevant Benchmark where that relevant Benchmark
has been selected as the Reference Rate or Reset Reference Rate (as applicable) to determine the Rate of Interest.
The use of any such Successor Rate, Alternative Reference Rate or Benchmark Replacement to determine the
Rate of Interest may result in Notes linked to or referencing the relevant Benchmark performing differently
(including paying a lower Rate of Interest) than they would if the relevant Benchmark were to continue to apply
in its current form.

Furthermore, if a Successor Rate, Alternative Reference Rate or Benchmark Replacement for the relevant
Benchmark is determined by the Issuer, the Conditions provide that the Issuer may vary the Conditions, as
necessary, to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Reference Rate or Benchmark
Replacement, without any requirement for consent or approval of the Noteholders. Please also refer to the risk
factor entitled “In certain instances the Noteholders may be bound by certain amendments to the Conditions to
which they did not consent, which may result in less favorable terms of the Notes”. No adjustments or amendments
will be applied if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected
to result in a change in the regulatory classification of the Notes giving rise to a Capital Disqualification Event (in
the case of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes) or a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event (in the case of Senior Notes).

If a Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate is determined by the Issuer, the Conditions also provide that an
Adjustment Spread will be determined by the Issuer to be applied to such Successor Rate or Alternative Reference
Rate. The aim of the Adjustment Spread is to reduce or eliminate, so far as is practicable, any economic prejudice
or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the relevant Benchmark with the
Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate. However, it is possible that the application of an Adjustment
Spread will not reduce or eliminate economic prejudice to Noteholders.

In addition, if the relevant Benchmark is discontinued permanently and the Issuer, for any reason, is unable to
determine the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate, the Rate of Interest may revert to the Rate of Interest
applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date before the relevant Benchmark was discontinued
and such Rate of Interest will continue to apply until maturity. This will result in the Floating Rate Notes, in effect,
becoming Fixed Rate Notes.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return on, any Notes to which
the fallback arrangements are applicable. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to
the setting or existence of any relevant reference rate could adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its
obligations under the Notes and could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount
payable under, the Notes.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to the Notes.
Risks related to Fixed Rate Reset Notes.

Fixed Rate Reset Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest until (but excluding) the First Reset
Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date (if applicable) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if any)
thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of the applicable Mid-Swap Rate and the Margin or as
determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date (each such interest rate, a
“Subsequent Reset Rate”). The Subsequent Reset Rate for any Reset Period could be less than the Initial Rate
of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate for prior Reset Periods and could affect the market value of an investment
in the Fixed Rate Reset Notes.

Risks related to Fixed/Floating Rate Notes.
Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that will be converted from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or
from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The conversion of the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the

market value of such Notes since the conversion will usually be effected when the new interest rate is likely to
produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If a fixed rate is converted to a floating rate, the spread on the
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Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favorable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes
tied to the same Reference Rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other
Notes. If a floating rate to a fixed rate is converted, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its
Notes.

Risks related to Notes where a Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest applies.

Notes where a Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest applies will be less exposed to the
positive and negative performance or fluctuations of the underlying Reference Rate.

Notes where a Maximum Rate of Interest applies to a particular Interest Basis have an interest rate that is subject
to a maximum specified rate. The maximum Interest Amount payable in respect of such Interest Basis will occur
when the applicable formula leads to a Rate of Interest which is higher than the maximum specified rate, in which
case the Rate of Interest will be limited to the Maximum Rate of Interest specified in the Pricing Supplement.
Investors in such Notes will therefore not benefit from any increase in the relevant Reference Rate.

Risks related to the CDlIs

Any payments made in respect of any CDIs, any actions to be taken by holders of CDIs and all communications
with the Issuer will occur through DTC.

On the issue date, if The Bank of New York Mellon has, after prior consultation with the Issuer and upon receipt
of an instruction from the Issuer, consented to act as CDI Depositary, Custodian, Registrar and Transfer Agent
for the benefit of the registered holder(s) of the CDIs in respect of such Series, the Notes of each Series will be
held by The Bank of New York Mellon, as CDI Depositary, through Euroclear as a direct participant in the
Securities Settlement System. The CDI Depositary will create CDIs representing interests in the Notes, which will
be issued to DTC or its nominee, and its direct (including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) and indirect
participants will record ownership of the beneficial interests in the CDIs on their books.

Holders of beneficial interests in any Notes represented by CDIs will not be considered holders of a Note under
the Agency Agreement or the Deposit Agreement. After payment of any interest, principal, Additional Amounts
or other amount to the CDI Depositary, the Issuer will not have any responsibility or liability for the payment of
such amount by the CDI Depositary to DTC or by DTC to any holder of a beneficial interest in any Note
represented by CDIs, including to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as Participants in DTC. The CDI
Depositary will be the sole holder of any Notes of each Series, and each person owning a beneficial interest therein
represented by a CDI must rely on the CDI Depositary and on the procedures of DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as participants in DTC (and if such person is not a participant in DTC or an accountholder in
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the procedures of the participant or accountholder through which such
person holds such interest) with respect to the exercise of any rights of a holder of a Note.

Payments of principal and interest on, or any Additional Amounts and other amounts due in respect of, the Notes
will be made to the CDI Depositary (as holder of the Notes), which will in turn distribute payments to Cede &
Co. (as nominee of DTC). Upon receipt of any payment from the CDI Depositary, DTC will credit participants’
accounts (including those of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) with payment in amounts proportionate to
their respective ownership of CDIs as shown on their records. The Issuer expects that payments by participants or
indirect participants to owners of interests in CDIs held through such participants or indirect participants will be
governed by standing customer instructions and customary practices, and will be the responsibility of such
participants or indirect participants. None of the Issuer, the CDI Depositary or any Paying Agent (as defined in
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes”) will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating
to, or payments made on account of, the CDIs or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating
to such CDlIs. There can be no assurance that procedures implemented will be sufficient to enable holders of CDIs
to receive any such payments or amounts on the same Business Day as such payments or amounts are made to the
CDI Depositary.
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Unlike Noteholders, holders of the CDIs will not have the right under the Conditions to act upon solicitations by
or on behalf of the Issuer for consents or requests by or on behalf of the Issuer for waivers or other actions from
Noteholders. Instead, a holder of CDIs will be permitted to act only to the extent it has received appropriate proxies
to do so from DTC and, if applicable, their participants and in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit
Agreement. In addition, the CDI Depositary may not be able to send voting instructions or carry out voting
instructions in a timely manner. There can be no assurance that procedures implemented for the granting of such
proxies, for receiving voting materials or any notices will be sufficient to enable holders of CDIs to vote on any
requested actions in respect of the Notes on a timely basis. Furthermore, the CDI Depositary will not be
responsible for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, for the manner in which any vote is cast or for the
effect of any such vote. As a result, holders of CDIs may not be able to vote in a timely manner.

Similarly, where holders of the Notes are entitled to take enforcement action under Condition 10 of the Notes,
holders of CDIs will be restricted to acting through DTC and the CDI Depositary unless and until, pursuant to the
terms of the Deed of Covenant, as of the Relevant Time (as defined below), the CDI Depositary ceases to have
rights under the Notes of such Series in accordance with the Conditions. At such Relevant Time, institutions that
have accounts with DTC or its successors (“DTC Participants”) shall automatically acquire at the Relevant Time,
without the need for any further action on behalf of any person, against the Issuer all those rights that the DTC
Participants would have had if immediately prior to the Relevant Time they held and beneficially owned a nominal
amount of Notes of the relevant Series equal to the nominal amount of CDIs that the DTC Participants have
credited to their securities account with DTC at the Relevant Time, save that any payment in respect of the Notes
shall continue to be made to the CDI Depositary as the holder of such Notes. “Relevant Time” means the time at
which the CDI Depositary will have no further rights under the Notes of a Series upon the occurrence of a Relevant
Event (as defined in the Deed of Covenant). Prior to the Relevant Time, the CDI Depositary will have no
obligation to enforce any provisions of the relevant Series of Notes and, after the Relevant Time, the CDI
Depositary will no longer have any rights to enforce any provisions of the relevant Series of Notes.

There can be no assurance that the procedures to be implemented by DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg
and the CDI Depositary under such circumstances will be adequate to ensure the timely exercise of remedies under
the Conditions. For a description of the CDIs, see “Form of Notes — Depositary Receipts”.

None of the Issuer, the CDI Depositary, the Paying Agent or any of their agents will have any responsibility for
the performance by DTC or its participants or account holders of their respective obligations under the rules and
procedures governing their operations.

There may be no tax gross-up protection with respect to the CDIs.

The Conditions provide that the Issuer will gross-up payments on the Notes in certain circumstances due to
changes in Belgian law. However, the Issuer has not made any separate gross-up undertakings with respect to the
CDls, and investors holding CDIs are therefore exposed to changes in tax law that affect the CDIs, which could
reduce the payments such investors receive in respect of their CDIs and adversely affect the market prices of the
CDls.

Holders of CDIs may be required to absorb losses in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails.

Upon exercise by the Resolution Authority of the “bail-in” resolution tool in circumstances where the Issuer is no
longer viable, as set out under “—Risks relating to the Conditions—Noteholders may be required to absorb losses
in the event the Issuer becomes non-viable or fails” above, each holder of a CDI acknowledges and agrees that
the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Resolution Authority with respect to the Notes will not constitute a breach
of, or default under, the terms of the Notes or, for the avoidance of doubt, under the terms of the CDIs. In addition,
any payment, offering, right or benefit made available to Noteholders in accordance with the exercise of the bail-
in power may not be made available to DTC or beneficial owners of CDls.
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If the CDI Depositary resigns or is removed, the Issuer or a court of competent jurisdiction, as applicable, may
not be able to find a successor CDI Depositary on a timely basis or at all, which could have adverse
consequences on holders of CDIs.

Pursuant to the Deposit Agreement, the CDI Depositary may resign by giving written notice thereof to the Issuer
and DTC not less than 120 days prior to the effective date of such resignation, subject to certain conditions set out
in the Deposit Agreement. In addition, the CDI Depositary may be removed by the Issuer (i) at any time upon not
less than 90 days’ notice, or (ii) immediately for certain causes set out in the Deposit Agreement. If the CDI
Depositary resigns or is removed by the Issuer, or if a vacancy occurs in the office of the CDI Depositary for any
reason, including as a result of the CDI Depositary being incapable of acting with respect to any CDI or certain
insolvency events in respect of the CDI Depositary, the Issuer or a court of competent jurisdiction, as applicable,
may be unable to appoint a successor CDI Depositary on a timely basis or at all. If no successor CDI Depositary
is found, holders of beneficial interests in any Notes represented by CDIs may be required to hold book-entry
interests in the Notes themselves (as opposed to the CDIs). The Notes clear in dematerialized form in the Securities
Settlement System, and interests in the Notes are held through participants in the Securities Settlement System,
including Euroclear, and through other financial intermediaries that in turn hold the Notes through Euroclear or
other participants in the Securities Settlement System. Interests in the Notes (not held in the form of CDIs) may
not be held through DTC or direct and indirect participants in DTC. Such holding of interests in the Notes
themselves (as opposed to the CDIs) may also require the implementation of transfer or other certification
procedures to facilitate compliance with tax and securities laws. Holding interests in the Notes themselves (as
opposed to the CDIs) may have adverse consequences on such holders, and may impact the liquidity,
transferability and market price of the Notes.

Risks relating to the subscription of the Notes, the listing and settlement of the Notes and the market in the
Notes

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this could
adversely affect the value at which investors could sell their Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop,
it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide
them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly
the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific
investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited
categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more
price volatility than conventional debt securities. This is likely to be particularly the case for Subordinated Tier 2
Notes given that they are designed for specific investment objectives and have been structured to meet the
investment requirements of limited categories of investors.

In a similar vein, liquidity is likely to be very limited if the relevant Notes are not listed or no listing is obtained.
The Issuer may, but is not obliged to, list an issue of Notes on a stock exchange or market.

In addition, recent regulatory actions by the SEC under Rule 15c¢2-11 of the Exchange Act may restrict the ability
of brokers and dealers to publish quotations on the Notes on any interdealer quotation system or other quotation
medium after January 3, 2023, which may materially adversely affect the liquidity and trading prices for the Notes.

Moreover, although pursuant to Condition 4(h) (Purchases) the Issuer and any of its subsidiaries can purchase
Notes at any time, neither the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries is obliged to do so. Purchases made by the Issuer
or its subsidiaries could affect the liquidity of the secondary market of the Notes and thus the price and the
conditions under which investors can negotiate these Notes on the secondary market. In the case of Subordinated
Tier 2 Notes, purchases by the Issuer and its subsidiaries are subject to Condition 4(j) (Conditions to Redemption
and Purchase of Subordinated Tier 2 Notes). Consequently, the Issuer and its subsidiaries will generally be
prohibited from purchasing any Subordinated Tier 2 Notes and will not be able to act as market maker in respect
of such securities.
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Hedging transactions may affect the market price, liquidity or value of Notes.

In the ordinary course of its business, including, without limitation, in connection with its market-making activities
(if any), the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates may effect transactions for its own account or for the account of its
customers and hold long or short positions in the Reference Rate(s) or related derivatives. In addition, in
connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates may enter into one or more hedging
transactions with respect to the Reference Rate(s) or related derivatives. In connection with such hedging or
market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading activities by the Issuer and/or any of its
affiliates, the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates may enter into transactions in the Reference Rate(s) or related
derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be adverse to the
interests of the relevant Noteholders.

A Noteholder’s actual return on Notes may be adversely impacted by transaction costs and/or fees.

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and commissions)
are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may significantly reduce or even
exclude the profit potential of the Notes which is initially determined to be received by potential investors of such
Notes. For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions which are either fixed
minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. Noteholders must furthermore take
into account that they may be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of third
parties which are involved in the execution of an order (third party costs). In addition to such costs directly related
to the purchase of securities (direct costs), holders must also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody
fees). The incurrence of any such costs and/or fees will impact the return an investor receives on its Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all risks associated with an investment in the
Notes and investors are exposed to the risks of a downgrade of any credit ratings assigned to the Issuer and/or
the Notes.

The Issuer has been and the Notes may be assigned a credit rating by one or more independent credit rating
agencies, as will be stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement. One or more independent credit rating agencies
may assign ratings to an issue of Notes and/or the Issuer, which, however, will not necessarily reflect all risks
relating to an investment in the Notes.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for
regulatory purposes in the EEA, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA
and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to
transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general restriction will also apply in the case of
credit ratings issued by third country non-EEA credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are
endorsed by an EEA-registered credit rating agency or the relevant third country rating agency is certified in
accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not
been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). The list of
registered and certified rating agencies published by ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation
is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays
between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the
updated ESMA list.

Investors regulated in the UK are subject to similar restrictions under the UK CRA Regulation. As such, UK
regulated investors are required to use, for UK regulatory purposes, ratings issued by a credit rating agency
established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of ratings issued by third country
non-UK credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either be: (a) endorsed by a UK registered credit
rating agency; or (b) issued by a third country credit rating agency that is certified in accordance with the UK
CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case, to (a) the relevant UK registration, certification or
endorsement, as the case may be, not having been withdrawn or suspended, and (b) transitional provisions that
apply in certain circumstances. In the case of third country ratings, for a certain limited period of time, transitional
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relief accommodates continued use for regulatory purposes in the UK of existing pre-2021 ratings, provided the
relevant conditions are satisfied.

If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes for the purposes of the CRA Regulation or the UK CRA
Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes in the
EEA or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment, which may impact the
value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary market.

In addition, it is possible that any rating of the Issuer and/or the Notes will not be maintained by the Issuer
following the date of this Offering Memorandum or the date of the applicable Pricing Supplement, respectively.
If any rating assigned to the Issuer and/or the Notes is revised lower, suspended, withdrawn or not maintained by
the Issuer, the market value of the Notes may be negatively influenced.

Finally, any negative change in or withdrawal of a rating assigned to the Issuer could adversely affect the trading
price of the Notes, including where this would lead to a negative change in or withdrawal of a credit rating assigned
to such Notes. See “Risks related to the Group’s operations—The Group’s borrowing costs and its access to the
debt capital markets depend significantly on the Issuer’s credit ratings” above.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes exposes the relevant investor to the risk that the price of such Fixed Rate Note
falls as a result of changes in the current interest rate on the capital market (the “Market Interest Rate”). While
the nominal rate of a security with a fixed interest rate is fixed for a specified period, the Market Interest Rate
typically changes on a daily basis. As the Market Interest Rate changes, the price of such security is likely to
change in the opposite direction. If the Market Interest Rate increases, the price of such security typically falls
until the yield of such security is approximately equal to the Market Interest Rate. If the Market Interest Rate falls,
the price of a security with a fixed compensation rate typically increases until the yield of such security is
approximately equal to the Market Interest Rate. Investors should be aware that movements of the Market Interest
Rate can adversely affect the price of Fixed Rate Notes and can lead to losses for the Noteholders if they sell such
Fixed Rate Notes.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to
changes in market interest rates.

The market value of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tends to
fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than the price for conventional interest-bearing
securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility compared to
conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. This may have an impact on the ultimate
return which an investor may receive on such Notes.

The transfer of any Notes, any payments made in respect of any Notes and all communications with the Issuer will
occur through the Securities Settlement System.

A Noteholder must rely on the procedures of the Securities Settlement System for transfers of Notes and to receive
payment under its Notes. Furthermore, pursuant to Condition 12 (Notices), notices to Noteholders shall be valid,
among others, if delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer to the NBB (in its capacity as operator of the Securities
Settlement System) for onward communication by it to the participants of the Securities Settlement System. It is
expected that notices will in principle be disseminated to Noteholders in this way. A Noteholder will therefore
also need to rely on the procedures of the Securities Settlement System to receive communications from the Issuer.

In addition, the CDI Depositary shall be obligated to promptly forward to DTC or, based upon instructions

received from DTC, to the persons owning any beneficial interest in the CDlIs, such notices, communications and
materials as required by the Deposit Agreement. There is no assurance that the persons owning any beneficial
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interest in the CDIs will receive any of these notices in time to enable them to carry out the relevant transactions
or to enable DTC to deliver the instructions to the CDI Depositary prior to the applicable cutoff date.

None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments
made in respect of, the Notes within, or any other improper functioning of, the Securities Settlement System and
Noteholders should in such case make a claim against the Securities Settlement System through participants in
the Securities Settlement System. Any such risk may adversely affect the rights and/or return on investment of a
Noteholder, for example where the Noteholder would not receive a payment or notification in due time following
a malfunction of the Securities Settlement System.

The Paying Agent is not required to segregate amounts received by it in respect of Notes cleared through the
Securities Settlement System.

Conditions 5(a) (Payment in euro) and 5(b) (Payment in other currencies) and the Agency Agreement provide
that the Paying Agent will debit the relevant account of the Issuer and use such funds to make the relevant
payments to the holders under the Notes. The Agency Agreement provides that the Paying Agent will pay to the
holders directly any amounts due in respect of the relevant Notes. However, the Paying Agent is not required to
segregate any such amounts received by it in respect of the Notes.

Potential conflicts of interest

The Issuer may from time to time be engaged in transactions which may affect the market price, liquidity or value
of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders.

Potential investors should be aware that the Agents, the Arranger, some of the Dealers and their respective
affiliates have engaged in, and may in the future engage in, investment banking and other commercial dealings in
the ordinary course of business with the Issuer or its affiliates. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business
activities, the Arranger, the Dealers and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments
and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including
bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. The Arranger, the Dealers and their
respective affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research
views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they
acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. They might therefore have conflicts of
interest which could have an adverse effect on the interests of the Noteholders.

Furthermore, potential investors should be aware that the Issuer is the parent company of KBC Bank NV, which
may act as Dealer, and that the interests of KBC Bank NV and the Issuer may conflict with the interests of the
holders of Notes. Moreover, the holders of Notes should be aware that KBC Bank NV, acting in whatever capacity,
will not have any obligations vis-a-vis the holders of any Notes and, in particular, will not be obliged to protect
the interests of the holders of any Notes.

Where the Issuer acts as Calculation Agent or the Calculation Agent is an affiliate of the Issuer (including KBC
Bank NV), potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent and Noteholders, including
with respect to certain determinations and judgements that the Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the
Conditions (such as in the case of any applicable interest rate determination) which may influence the amount
receivable under the Notes. Where any such determination or judgement is to be made, there is generally no or
very limited room for discretion as the Conditions stipulate the objective parameters on the basis of which the
Calculation Agent has to perform its calculations and tasks (such as, for example, determining a rate by computing
a predetermined rate and a screen rate). The Conditions nevertheless provide that, in certain limited and
exceptional cases, the Calculation Agent may have to determine certain rates in its sole discretion as fallback in
the absence of any such objective parameters (see, for example, Condition 3(b) (Interest on Fixed Rate Reset
Notes) and Condition 3(c)(iii)(A) (Term Rate Floating Rate Notes)). In such circumstances, the Calculation Agent
is likely, but not required, to make use of methodologies and determinations which are available or customarily
used in the market.
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Risks relating to the status of investors
There may be no tax gross-up protection.

Potential investors should be aware that if the Tax Call Option is specified as not applicable in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, Condition 8 (Taxation) does not require the Issuer or any other person to gross up the net
payments received by a Noteholder in relation to the Notes with the amounts withheld or deducted for tax
purposes.

To the extent the Tax Call Option is specified as applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Condition 8
(Taxation) provides that if any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties
or charges of whatever nature in respect of any payment of interest in respect of the Notes (but not principal or
any other amount) is required to be made, the Issuer shall make such payment after such withholding or deduction
has been made and will account to the relevant authorities for the amount so required to be withheld or deducted.
However, no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Notes in the circumstances defined in
paragraphs (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Condition 8 (Taxation).

In any case where no gross-up requirement applies to the Issuer, the Noteholders (and no other person) will be
liable for, and be obliged to pay, any tax, duty, charge, withholding or other payment whatsoever as may arise as
a result of, or in connection with, the ownership, transfer or payment in respect of the Notes. This could have a
significant impact on the net amounts the investors will receive pursuant to the payments to be made under the
Notes and could also materially adversely affect the value of such Notes.

Taxation may have an impact on the return a Noteholder may receive on its Notes.

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or
documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are
transferred or other jurisdictions. In addition, payments of interest on the Notes (if any), or profits realized by a
Noteholder upon the sale or repayment of its Notes, may be subject to taxation in the home jurisdiction of the
potential investor or in other jurisdictions in which it is required to pay taxes.

Potential investors are advised not to rely solely upon the tax summary contained in this Offering Memorandum
but to ask for their own tax adviser’s advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding,
sale and redemption of the Notes. Only such adviser is in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the
potential investor. This risk factor should be read in connection with the taxation sections of this Offering
Memorandum. Please refer to the section entitled “Taxation” of this Offering Memorandum.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor’s home currency, it will be exposed to
movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the imposition of exchange
controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks
relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or
currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange
rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of
the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose
or modify exchange controls (as some have done in the past). An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s
Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the
Notes, (ii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s
Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes. Exchange controls could adversely impact an applicable exchange
rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Notes, which may have an impact on the return
an investor receives on its Notes.

48



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Offering Memorandum and have been filed with the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority, shall be
incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Memorandum:

@ the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial year ended
December 31, 2019, together  with the related auditors’ report (available on
www.kbc.com/content/dam/kbccom/doc/investor-relations/Results/JVS-2019/JVS 2019 GRP_en.pdf);

(b) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial year ended
December 31, 2020, together = with the related auditors’ report (available on
www.kbc.com/content/dam/kbccom/doc/investor-relations/Results/jvs-2020/jvs-2020-grp-en.pdf);

(© the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial year ended
December 31, 2021, together with the related auditors’ report (available on
https://www.kbc.com/content/dam/kbccom/doc/investor-relations/Results/jvs-2021/jvs-2021-grp-

en.pdf); and

(d) the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the six-month period
ended June 30, 2022, together with the related auditors’ report (available on
https://www.kbc.com/content/dam/kbccom/doc/investor-relations/Results/2q2022/2q2022-quarterly-

report-en.pdf).

Following the publication of this Offering Memorandum, a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by Euronext Dublin. Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in a document
incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable, be deemed to modify or supersede statements
contained in this Offering Memorandum or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Offering
Memorandum. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute
a part of this Offering Memorandum.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum can be obtained from the website
of the Issuer (https://www.kbc.com/en/investor-relations/debt-issuance/kbc-group/us-mtn-programme.html).
This Offering Memorandum and each document incorporated by reference may also be published on the website
of Euronext Dublin (https://live.euronext.com/). The information on the website of the Issuer and on the website
of Euronext Dublin does not form part of this Offering Memorandum, except to the extent that such information
is explicitly incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum, and has not been scrutinized or approved
by Euronext Dublin.

The table below sets out the relevant page references for (i) the audited consolidated statements for the financial
years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively, as set out in the Issuer’s Annual Reports
and (ii) the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the second quarter and first
half of 2022. Information contained in the documents incorporated by reference other than information listed in
the table below is for information purposes only, and does not form part of this Offering Memorandum. Such non-
incorporated parts are either deemed not relevant for investors or are covered elsewhere in this Offering
Memorandum.

Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021*

Issuer’s Annual Issuer’s Annual Issuer’s Annual
Report for Report for Report for
the financial year the financial year the financial year
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ended December 31,

Audited consolidated annual
financial statements of the Issuer

report of the Board of
Directors

income statement
balance sheet

statement of changes in
equity

cash flow statement

notes to the financial
statements

Auditors’ report
Additional information

ratios used

2019

page 6-176
page 180-181

page 184

page 185-186

page 186-187

page 188-254

page 255-262

page 273-278

ended December 31,
2020

page 6-164
page 165-166

page 169

page 170

page 171-172

page 173-251

page 252-257

page 266-270

ended December 31,
2021

page 6-185
page 189-190

page 193

page 194

page 195-196

page 197-280

page 281-287

page 297-301

* Page references are to the English language PDF version of the relevant incorporated documents.

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the six-month period

ended June 30, 2022*

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Issuer as of and for the six-
month period ended June 30, 2022

income statement

statement of comprehensive income

balance sheet

statement of changes in equity

cash flow statement

notes to the financial statements
Auditors’ report
Additional information

ratios used

Issuer’s extended quarterly
report for the second quarter

of 2022

page 13-14
page 15
page 16

page 17-18

page 19-20

page 20-37

page 38-39

page 59-64

* Page references are to the English language PDF version of the relevant incorporated documents.
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CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets forth the Issuer’s consolidated capitalization and indebtedness as at June 30, 2022. The
table should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and the Interim Financial Statements and the Annual Financial Statements, which have
been incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum.

As at June 30, 2022

(EUR million)

(Unaudited)

Liabilities

(101 ZT£=To [ oTo ] o - 4,783
ORI ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e enanes 5,235
NON-CONVEITIDIE DONUSD) ...ttt ettt ettt st e e et et se s et eaeea 12,003
Non-convertible subordinated Habilities...............cc.eviveireiiveieiees e 2,312
BIC0] r= AT 10 (=] o] (=T QLTSRS 24,333
Equity

Parent Shareholders” QUILY .........coveiriiiiiieiiiiese e 18,739
Additional tier-1 instruments inCluded iN BQUITY ........oervrieeiieereesseeee e 1,500
TOLAL BOUILY «...cvoeeeececeee ettt a sttt 20,239
Total capitalization and iNAEDTEANESS................covvurveereeereeeeeseeeee e 44,572

(1) Including certificates of deposit and savings certificates.
(2) Excluding covered bonds.

There have been no material changes affecting the Issuer’s consolidated capitalization and indebtedness between
June 30, 2022, and the date of this Offering Memorandum.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Notes to be issued under the Programme will be used for general corporate purposes
of the Group.

The net proceeds of the Subordinated Tier 2 Notes will strengthen the Issuer’s capital base under a fully loaded
CRD approach and are part of the Issuer’s long-term funding, which the Issuer uses to fund and manage its
activities and which it may on-lend to its subsidiaries. The Issuer may on-lend the proceeds of the Subordinated
Tier 2 Notes to KBC Bank NV under a framework agreement which will also qualify at the level of KBC Bank
NV as Tier 2 capital for regulatory capital purposes.

The Issuer may;, if it so elects, on-lend the proceeds of the Senior Notes to its subsidiaries on a senior non-preferred
or subordinated basis in order for the relevant loan to be included as a minimum requirement for MREL under
applicable regulations.

If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP
Overview

The Group is an integrated bank-insurance group, catering mainly to retail, private banking and SME clients. The
Group’s geographic focus is Europe, with Belgium, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Ireland
(which is being sold) as its “home” (or “core”) markets. In addition to its core markets, the Group has a limited
presence in a number of other countries, including France, the United Kingdom, Italy and the United States, where
its primary focus is to support the activities of its corporate clients in the core markets.

The Group’s core business is retail and private bank-insurance, including asset management, although it is also
active in providing services to corporations and market activities. Across most of its core markets, the Group is
active in a large number of products and activities, ranging from the plain vanilla deposit, credit, asset management
and insurance businesses to specialized activities such as, but not exclusively, payments services, dealing room
activities (including money and debt market activities), brokerage and corporate finance, foreign trade finance,
international cash management and leasing.

The Group is structured around three business units:

. the Belgium Business Unit, comprising the activities of KBC Bank NV and KBC Insurance NV and their
Belgian subsidiaries, such as CBC Banque, KBC Asset Management, KBC Lease Group (Belgium) and
KBC Securities;

. the Czech Republic Business Unit, comprising the activities of the CSOB group in the Czech Republic

(under the CSOB Bank, Postal Savings Bank, CSOB Stavebni sporitelna and Patria Finance brands) and
the insurer CSOB Pojit’ovna; and

. the International Markets Business Unit, comprising the activities conducted by CSOB Bank and CSOB
Poist’oviia in Slovakia, K&H Bank and K&H Insurance in Hungary, United Bulgarian Bank (“UBB”)
and DZI Insurance in Bulgaria and, until the end 0of 2021, KBC Bank Ireland plc (“KBC Bank Ireland”),
in view of the pending sale agreement.

In addition to its three business units, the Group also reports on “Group Centre”, which comprises the results of
the holding company, items that have not been allocated to the other business units and the results of companies
to be divested (including, as of January 1, 2022, the Group’s business in Ireland).

As of December 31, 2021, the Group’s client base consisted of approximately 12 million clients across its core
markets. As at the same date, the Group had 1,159 staffed bank branches in its network. As of December 31, 2021,
the Group employed approximately 40,000 employees, of which approximately 60% were located outside of
Belgium.

As at June 30, 2022, the Group had total assets of €369.8 billion and total equity of €20.2 billion. For the six
months ended June 30, 2022, the Group’s net result was €1,269 million and for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s net result was €2,614 million, €1,440 million and €2,489 million, respectively.
In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Belgium Business Unit represented 76% of the Group’s net result, the
Czech Republic Business Unit represented 27% of the Group’s net result, the International Markets Business Unit
represented 5% of the Group’s net result and the Group Centre accounted for (8)% of the Group’s net result.

History
The Group was incorporated on February 9, 1935 as the Kredietbank, and was subsequently renamed KBC Group

NV on March 2, 2005. It was incorporated in Belgium, with a registered office at Havenlaan 2, 1080 Brussels,
Belgium, and its registration number is 0403.227.515.
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In 1998, Kredietbank merged with CERA Bank and ABB (Insurance) and the Group’s unique “bancassurance”
(bank-insurance) model was launched in Belgium. The following year, the Group embarked on its policy of
expansion in Central and Eastern Europe with the acquisition of CSOB in the Czech Republic and the Slovak
Republic. Between 2000 and 2005, the Group continued to expand its position in the banking and insurance
markets of Central and Eastern Europe by acquiring banks and insurance companies in Poland, Hungary, the
Czech Republic and the Slovak Republic. During this time, the Group also began to gradually introduce the
bancassurance model to its core markets in Central and Eastern Europe. In 2005, it merged with its parent
company, Almanij, to create KBC Group NV, which benefited the Group by, among other things, giving it access
to a network of European private banks. Between 2006 and 2008, the Group increased its presence in Central and
Eastern Europe through further acquisitions in Bulgaria, Romania and Serbia. During this time, the Issuer also
established a presence on the Russian banking market, which was subsequently sold in May 2013.

In 2008 and 2009, following the global financial crisis, the Group entered into capital transactions and guarantee
agreements (the “state aid”) with the government of Belgium and the Flemish regional government. The Group
made its first partial repayment on these transactions in 2012. These transactions and agreements resulted in the
Group entering a period of divestments and restructuring, which began in 2010 and ended in 2015 with the Group’s
final repayment to the Flemish regional government.

In 2009, the Group renewed its strategy to focus on core markets in Belgium, the Czech Republic, Slovakia,
Hungary, Poland and Bulgaria. Between 2011 and 2013, this strategic plan was amended to include the sale of
activities in Poland. In 2014, the Group announced an updated strategy and targets, and the Group updated its
corporate sustainability strategy in 2016.

In 2017, the Group defined Ireland as a core market, acquired UBB and Interlease in Bulgaria and updated the
Group’s strategy, capital deployment plan and financial guidance through 2020. In 2019, the Group acquired the
remaining part of CMSS in the Czech Republic (subsequently renamed CSOB Stavebni sporitelna).

In 2020, the Group shifted its focus to digital transformation and enhancing the client experience by launching its
“Differently: the Next Level” strategy. See “Strategy” below. During that same year, the Group expanded in
Slovakia by acquiring OTP Banka Slovensko. The following year, the Group acquired NN’s Bulgarian pension
and life insurance businesses and signed an agreement to acquire the Bulgarian activities of Raiffeisen Bank
International. Also in 2021, the Group reached an agreement to dispose of substantially all of the non-performing
mortgage loan portfolio of KBC Bank Ireland (which was finalized in February 2022) and an agreement relating
to the sale of substantially all of KBC Bank Ireland’s performing loan assets and its deposit book. The finalization
of the pending deal will ultimately lead to the Group withdrawing from the Irish market.

Competitive Strengths
The Group believes that the following key strengths differentiate it from its peers.
The Group’s integrated bank-insurance model

The Group offers an integrated response to its clients’ banking and insurance needs. The Group is also organized
and managed in an integrated style. The Group’s integrated model offers its clients the benefits of a
comprehensive, one-stop, relevant and personalized financial service that allows them to choose from a wide,
complementary and optimized range of products and services, which go beyond pure bank-insurance. For the
Group, this model provides income and risk diversification, additional sales potential through intensive
cooperation between the bank and insurance distribution channels, significant cost savings and synergies, and
heightened interaction opportunities with, and a more complete understanding of, the Group’s clients.

The Group’s digital approach

Digital interaction with clients forms the basis of the Group’s strategy, not only in terms of sales and advice, but
also process and product development. In addition to a digital product range, therefore, the Group also offers its
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clients digital advice and develops all processes and products as if they had to be sold digitally. The Group believes
artificial intelligence (“Al”’) and data analysis will play an increasingly important part in digital sales and advice.
“Kate”, the Group’s personal digital assistant, is expected to feature prominently in this regard. In addition,
through its own Al fintech DISCAI, a fully owned subsidiary, the Group is commercializing its innovative
portfolio of Al applications developed in-house, starting with the launch of an Al application designed to combat
money laundering.

The Group pays particular attention to the speed and simplicity with which it can serve its clients and takes this
into account when adjusting its internal processes. To support this, the Group is fully engaged in introducing end-
to-end straight-through processing into all of its commercial processes, making full use of all technological
capabilities (such as Al) with the aim to increase its straight-through processing ratio, which measures how many
services that can be offered digitally are processed without human intervention from the moment of the interaction
with the client to final agreement by KBC.

The Group’s strong geographical focus

The Group focuses on its core markets of Belgium, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Ireland
(which is being divested). As a result, the Group now operates in a mix of mature and growth markets, taking
advantage in the latter of the catch-up potential for financial services. The Group has a limited presence elsewhere
in the world, primarily in the rest of Europe, the United States and Southeast Asia, where the Group’s presence
aims to support the activities of its corporate clients in the core markets.

The Group’s focus on local responsiveness

The Group has built, and aims to continue building, sustainable relationships with local clients in its core markets.
It therefore invests in getting to know and understand its local clients better, pick up signals effectively and
respond to them proactively, offer tailored products and services, and focus on the sustainable development of the
different communities in which the Group operates. Where relevant, the Group cooperates between its core
markets to avoid duplicating efforts and to offer clients the best solutions.

The Group’s approach to sustainability

As a financial institution, the Group is one of the driving forces behind the real economy and has a major direct
and indirect impact on society. As a company that aims to support the transition to a more sustainable and climate-
proof society, the Group has made sustainability integral to its overall business strategy and integrated it into the
Group’s day-to-day business operations and the products and services it provides. The Group’s sustainability
strategy, which is geared towards the local economy and society, consists of three cornerstones: encouraging
responsible behavior on the part of all employees, increasing the Group’s positive impact on society and limiting
any adverse social impact the Group might have.

The Group’s shareholder structure

A special feature of the Group’s shareholder structure is the core shareholder syndicate consisting of Cera, KBC
Ancora, MRBB and the other core shareholders, which together held approximately 40% of the Group’s shares
as at December 31, 2021. A shareholder agreement was concluded between these core shareholders that provides
for a contractual shareholder syndicate. It sets out the rules for the syndicated shares, management of the syndicate,
syndicate meetings, voting rights within the syndicate, preferential subscription rights in the event of the transfer
of syndicated shares, withdrawal from the agreement, and the duration of the agreement. Apart from decisions on
a limited number of reserved matters, the syndicate meeting may take decisions by a two-thirds majority vote, on
the understanding that none of the shareholder groups can block a decision. The agreement was extended for a
ten-year period with effect from December 1, 2014. The Group believes this shareholder structure provides
stability to the Group, both in respect of the duration of the agreement and the decision-making mechanics.
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Strategy

The Group believes that its strategy — powered by its culture and with the contribution of its people — helps it earn,
keep and grow trust day by day, with the goal of becoming the benchmark in the Group’s core markets. The
Group’s strategy rests on four key principles:

Q) Client centricity: the Group places its clients at the center of its work, striving to offer them a high-
quality service and relevant solutions at all times;

(ii) Unique bank-insurance experience: the Group strives to offer its clients a unique bank-insurance
experience;

(iii) Sustainable growth: the Group focuses on its long-term development and aims to achieve sustainable
and profitable growth; and

(iv) Social responsibility: the Group takes its responsibility towards society and local economies seriously
and aims to reflect that in the Group’s everyday activities.

In recent years, the Group has taken large steps in the digital transformation of its business, both in itself and in
the way it serves its clients and responds flexibly to their rapidly changing needs and expectations. In light of
these fast-changing client expectations, the Group reassessed its “More of the same, but differently” strategy at
the end of 2019 and identified where its focus should lie in the years ahead. With “Differently: the Next Level”,
the Group is continuing down its chosen route while shifting up a gear.

Client centricity

The Group always aims to put its clients first, and by implementing this new strategy it is taking its bank-insurance
services and client experience to an even higher level. As a starting point, the Group continues to invest in its
digital applications and its traditional brick-and-mortar bank branches and insurance agencies. With the support
of Al and data analysis, the Group can take a solution-driven approach to proactively make life easier for its
clients. Since the end of 2020, retail clients in Belgium and the Czech Republic can choose to use the services of
the Group’s personal, fully digital assistant, “Kate”. By rolling out Kate, the Group took a giant step forward in
the service it provides to its clients. Kate is a core element of a disruptive business strategy that has an impact on
all products and processes, as well as on how the Group steers its organization and interacts with its clients.

The way in which clients experience the Group’s services is strongly influenced by the speed and simplicity with
which the Group can serve them. Therefore, now more than ever, the Group’s internal processes are being
revamped on the basis of end-to-end processing and short, fast decision-making processes. All these steps are
intended to enable the Group to develop at an accelerated pace into a data-driven and solution-driven digital-first
bank-insurance company.

Unique “bank-insurance+” experience

An important aspect of the Group’s strategy in Belgium is its ability to leverage the cooperation between the
Group’s bank branches and insurance agencies in micro markets. The branches focus on bank and standard
insurance products, and refer clients to the insurance agency in the same micro market for other insurance
products. The insurance agencies sell the full range of insurance products and handle all claims, including those
relating to policies taken out at a bank branch. Working together like this enables the Group to deliver a
comprehensive product offering to its clients that is aligned with their needs.

The Group intends to gradually strengthen its bank-insurance model in a cost-effective manner in all of the

Group’s core markets. The roll-out of this model is expected to occur in several phases in the Group’s various
core markets.
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The cooperation and interaction between the Group’s bank and insurance businesses, and the Group’s broad range
of distribution channels (including tied agents, bank branches, contact centers, websites and mobile apps) help the
Group to better understand its clients and, as a result, to offer more complete and relevant solutions to clients.
Therefore, the Group believes that strengthening its bank-insurance model is a powerful way to become the
benchmark in client-centricity and to secure long-term growth.

Besides offering traditional bank-insurance solutions (loans, insurance, investments and payments) to its retail,
SME and corporate client segments, the Group also seeks to provide less traditional but often-used solutions. The
“+” in “Bank-insurance +” refers to the broader “economic services” the Group is offering. These may include
solutions that help clients save money (such as advising them to switch to a cheaper energy supplier), make money
(such as the KBC Deals discounts offered in Belgium), simplify everyday payments (such as the ability to pay for
parking automatically) or support business activities (such as the BrightAnalytics reporting tool). The Group aims
to do this with full respect for the protection of clients' data and privacy.

Sustainable growth

The Group wants to secure its existence for the long term by building long-term relationships with clients. This is
why the Group does not aim for high short-term returns that come with excessive risks, but rather focuses on
sustainable and profitable growth in the long run. The Group respects solid risk, capital and liquidity boundaries
in the way it does business. The Group believes stringent risk management is key to ensuring this sustainability
and to maintaining its focus on real economies.

Social responsibility

The Group creates trust not only by creating financial sustainability but also by meeting the expectations of its
clients, employees, shareholders and society. Therefore, the Group aims to continuously build and re-earn client
loyalty and preference, relentlessly build employee engagement and prove how the Group contributes positively
to society, day by day.

To contribute positively to society, the Group strives to stimulate the local economy of all its core markets, prepare
solutions today for the problems of tomorrow, develop innovative solutions to today’s societal challenges and
communicate as transparently as possible on socially sensitive issues.

Wherever possible, the Group aims to offer financial solutions that have a positive impact on society and the local
economy. The Group also focuses on limiting any adverse impact it might have on society and encouraging
responsible behavior on the part of its employees. The Group constantly pursues a balance, therefore, between
healthy profitability and fulfilling its role as a socially responsible business.

Business Units

The Group is structured around three business units, which focus on the Group’s core markets. The Group’s
business units are the Belgium Business Unit, the Czech Republic Business Unit and the International Markets
Business Unit. In addition to its three business units, the Group also reports on “Group Centre”, which includes,
among other things, costs related to the funding of the Group and other costs related to the holding of participating
interests and the results of companies or activities earmarked for divestment or that are already in the process of
being wound down (including, as of January 1, 2022, the Group’s business in Ireland).

The following tables set forth certain key financial information regarding the Group’s business units for the
periods indicated.
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Six months ended June 30, 2022

Czech International Group
Belgium Republic Markets Centre Total
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
Netresult.........ccoocvrvnnenne. 790 443 125 (90) 1,269
Net interest income........... 1,311 666 380 90 2,448
Technical insurance
result @ .o, 246 119 103 9 470
Net fee and commission
[[10] 11 I 658 112 165 2 934
Operating eXpenses .......... (1,456) (475) (498) (162) (2,591)
Impairment on loans......... 18 2 (39) (27) (50)
(1)  Technical insurance result is earned premiums less technical charges plus ceded insurance result.
Year ended December 31, 2021
Czech International Group
Belgium Republic Markets Centre Total
(EUR million)
Net result........ccccovevennne, 1,997 697 127 (207) 2,614
Net interest income........... 2,533 972 962 (16) 4,451
Technical insurance
result @ ..o, 441 221 184 6 853
Net fee and commission
INCOME ..cvveiivieccvie e 1,320 214 305 3) 1,836
Operating expenses .......... (2,436) (803) (1,048) (109) (4,396)
Impairment on loans......... 309 142 (110) ©) 334
(1)  Technical insurance result is earned premiums less technical charges plus ceded insurance result.
Year ended December 31, 2020
Czech International Group
Belgium Republic Markets Centre Total
(EUR million)
Netresult........cocooovrvnnnnne. 1,001 375 199 (135) 1,440
Net interest income........... 2,579 1,012 894 (18) 4,467
Technical insurance result
D e, 487 188 170 10 855
Net fee and commission
[[g[o{0] 1 1= 1,138 203 273 4 1,609
Operating expenses .......... (2,398) (752) (894) (111) (4,156)
Impairment on loans......... (654) (210) (217) 7 (1,074)
Q) Technical insurance result is earned premiums less technical charges plus ceded insurance result.
Year ended December 31, 2019
Czech International Group
Belgium Republic Markets Centre Total
(EUR million)
Netresult.......cccocovvrvrnnnnne 1,344 789 379 (23) 2,489
Net interest income............. 2,516 1,277 863 (38) 4,618
Technical insurance result
D 397 164 163 1 724
Net fee and commission
INCOME ....viiviiiicice e 1,182 254 301 3) 1,734
Operating exXpenses ............ (2,485) (770) (932) (116) (4,303)
Impairment on loans........... (241) (12) 18 32 (203)

(1)  Technical insurance result is earned premiums less technical charges plus ceded insurance result.
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Belgium Business Unit

The Belgium Business Unit comprises the activities of KBC Bank NV and KBC Insurance NV, and their Belgian
subsidiaries, such as CBC Banque, KBC Asset Management, KBC Lease Group (Belgium) and KBC Securities.
As of December 31, 2021, the Group had a network of 439 bank branches and 310 insurance agencies in Belgium,
comprising KBC Bank and KBC Insurance NV branches in Flanders, CBC Banque SA and CBC Assurances SA
branches in Wallonia and KBC Brussels branches in the Brussels area. The branches focus on providing clients
with a broad range of credit (including mortgage loans), deposit, investment fund and other asset management
products, insurance products and other specialized financial banking products and services. KBC Bank’s bricks-
and-mortar networks in Belgium are supplemented by electronic channels, such as ATMs, telephones and the
Internet (including a mobile banking app). The Group serves, based on its own estimates, approximately 3.8
million clients in Belgium as of December 31, 2021.

In the Group’s financial reporting, the Belgium Business Unit also includes the foreign branches of KBC Bank.
The foreign branches of KBC Bank are located mainly in Western Europe, Southeast Asia and the United States
and focus on serving clients that already do business with KBC Bank’s Belgian or Central and Eastern European
network. In recent years, many of the other (niche) activities of these branches have been scaled back, stopped or
sold, and the Group has scaled down its purely international credit portfolio.

The Group considers itself to be an integrated bank-insurer. Certain shared and support services are organized at
Group level, serving the entire Group, and not just the bank or insurance businesses separately. It is the Group’s
aim to continue to actively encourage the cross-selling of bank and insurance products. The success of the Group’s
integrated bank-insurance model is in part due to the cooperation that exists between the bank branches and the
insurance agents of KBC Insurance and CBC Assurances, whereby the branches sell standard insurance products
to retail clients and refer their clients to the insurance agents for non-standard products. Claims-handling is the
responsibility of the insurance agents, the call center and the head office departments at KBC Insurance.

The Group believes in the power of a physical presence through a branch and agency network that is close to its
clients. At the same time, however, it expects the importance of online and mobile bank-insurance to continue to
grow and it is constantly developing new applications in these areas. That includes various mobile banking apps
for smartphones and tablets, which are being continuously improved and expanded, and Kate, the Group’s digital
assistant.

With an increasing number of clients opting for digital channels, the Group is gradually aligning its distribution
network with this changing client behavior. The Group is in the process of converting a number of smaller
branches in Belgium into unstaffed ones and closing some of the existing unstaffed branches in Flanders.
Meanwhile, the Group continues to invest in its full-service branches, in “KBC Live” (an online contact service
that connects clients with specialists from KBC) and in its digital channels, including Kate.

The Group’s strategy for the Belgium Business Unit is as follows:

. to continue pursuing its strategy of putting the interests of the client at the heart of all the products and
services it develops and at the center of everything it does. The Group’s focus is on a “digital first”
approach with a human touch, and on investing in the seamless integration of the various distribution
channels. The Group is working on the further digitalization of its banking, insurance and asset
management services and exploiting new technologies and data to provide clients with more personalized
and proactive solutions. Its digital assistant “Kate”, launched in November 2020, is taking this to the next
level;

. to support these activities, the Group is also fully engaged in introducing end-to-end straight-through
processing into all commercial processes, making full use of all technological capabilities such as Al;

. to expand its service provision through own and other channels. The Group collaborates to this end with
partners through “eco-systems” that enable it to offer clients comprehensive solutions. The Group is also
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integrating a range of selected partners into its own mobile app and making products and services
available in the distribution channels of selected third parties;

. to exploit the potential in Brussels more efficiently via the separate brand, KBC Brussels, which reflects
the capital’s specific cosmopolitan character and is designed to better meet the needs of the people living
there;

. to grow bank-insurance further at CBC in specific market segments and to expand the accessibility in
Wallonia;

. to work tirelessly on the ongoing optimization of its bank-insurance model in Belgium;

. to continue pursuing its ambition to become the reference bank for SMEs and mid-cap enterprises in

Belgium based on thorough knowledge of the client and its personal approach; and

. to express its commitment to Belgian society by leading the way in the sustainability revolution. The
Group strives to make its banking, insurance and asset management products more sustainable to create
financial leverage in achieving global climate targets. It aims to be more than a provider of pure bank-
insurance services—as a partner in the climate transition, it is working with other partners on developing
housing, mobility and energy solutions. The Group also continues to focus on financial literacy,
entrepreneurship and population ageing.

Czech Republic Business Unit

As in Belgium, the Group owns both a bank and an insurance company in the Czech Republic, which work
together closely. On the banking side, the Group operates through the bank branches of CSOB, the branches
belonging to other subsidiaries (CSOB Stavebni sporitelna, Hypoteéni banka, CSOB Leasing) and the PSB
branches in the Czech postal network. The Group also sells insurance through various distribution channels,
including a network of tied CSOB insurance agents, CSOB Pojist’ovna agencies, CSOB bank branches and multi-
agents and individual brokers. As of December 31, 2021, the Group had a network of 208 bank branches in the
Czech Republic, serving approximately 4.2 million clients.

The Group focuses on providing clients with a broad area of credit (including mortgage loans), deposit, investment
fund and other asset management products, insurance products and other specialized financial products and
services. As is the case in Belgium, the bricks-and-mortar network in the Czech Republic is supplemented by
electronic channels, such as ATMs, telephone, the internet and the digital assistant, Kate.

The Group’s bank-insurance concept has over the past few years been exported to the Czech Republic, as well as
other Central and Eastern European entities (see “—International Markets Business Unit” below). In order to be
able to do so, the Group has built up a second core market in Central and Eastern Europe in insurance. The Group
has an insurance business in the Czech Republic and every Central and Eastern European core market. Unlike in
Belgium, the Group’s insurance companies in Central and Eastern Europe operate not only via tied agents (and
bank branches) but also through other distribution channels, such as insurance brokers and multi-agents.

The Group’s strategy for the Czech Republic Business Unit is as follows:

. to retain its benchmark position in banking and insurance services by offering its retail, SME and mid-
cap clients a hassle-free, no-frills client experience;

. to use data and Al to offer personalized solutions proactively to its clients, including via “Kate”, its
personalized digital assistant;
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o to continue the further digitalization of its services and to introduce new and innovative products and
services, including open bank-insurance solutions aimed at boosting the financial well-being of its
clients;

. to concentrate on rolling out straight-through processing and further simplifying products, head office,
distribution model and branding, in order to enable it to operate even more cost-effectively;

. to unlock business potential through advanced use of data and digital lead management, to leverage its
position as market leader in home finance and to focus even more strongly on growing the volume and
profitability of its insurance offering;

. to strengthen its business culture and become even more flexible, agile and diverse; and

. to express its social engagement by focusing on environmental awareness, financial literacy,
entrepreneurship and population ageing.

International Markets Business Unit

The Group’s International Markets Business Unit comprises the activities conducted by entities in the other (non-
Czech) Central and Eastern European core markets, namely CSOB and CSOB Poist’oviia in Slovakia, K&H Bank
and K&H Insurance in Hungary and UBB and DZI Insurance in Bulgaria. It also historically included KBC Bank
Ireland, which was transferred to the Group Centre in 2022 in view of the pending sale transaction. See “—Group
Centre—KBC Bank Ireland” below.

At the end of November 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of 99.44% of the shares in OTP Banka
Slovensko and, in October 2021, the company merged with CSOB Bank in Slovakia. The Group also reached
agreement with NN in February 2021 to acquire its Bulgarian pension and life insurance businesses, a move that
is expected to enable the Group to further consolidate its position in Bulgaria. That acquisition was completed in
July 2021. In November 2021, the Group reached agreement on another acquisition in Bulgaria, to acquire
Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria). On July 7, 2022, the Issuer and Raiffeisen Bank International completed the deal. The
acquisition, worth a total of €1,009 million paid in cash, reflects the quality of the Raiffeisen franchise in Bulgaria
and the potential for synergies. Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) is one of Bulgaria’s leading universal banks, offering a
full range of banking, asset management, leasing and insurance services to individuals, SMEs and business
customers. Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) ranks sixth in Bulgaria, with a local market share of 7.9% in assets and 8.4%
in loans (Source: Raiffeisen Bank International). At the time of the acquisition, Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) had a
network of 122 bank branches across the country that are complemented by a network of mobile banking advisors,
external partners and credit intermediaries. Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) had 2,500 employees and served 635,000
customers at the time of the acquisition. Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) and UBB will merge their operations, allowing
the Group to further strengthen its position in the Bulgarian banking market.

As of December 31, 2021 (and excluding the acquisition of Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria), the Group had a network
of 123 bank branches in Slovakia, 198 in Hungary and 168 in Bulgaria, serving an estimated 0.8 million, 1.6

million and 1.5 million clients, respectively.

The Group’s strategy for all countries in the International Markets Business Unit is as follows:

. to develop new and unique ‘bank-insurance+’ propositions;

. to continue digitally upgrading its distribution model in those countries;

. to drive up the volume of straight-through and scalable processing;

. to increase its capacity in relation to data and Al to enable the Group’s businesses in these countries to

proactively offer relevant and personalized solutions;
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. to selectively expand activities with a view to securing a top-three position in banking and a top-four
position in insurance; and

. to implement a socially responsible approach in all countries, with a particular focus on environmental
awareness, financial literacy, entrepreneurship and health.

In Hungary, the Group also aims to become the undisputed leader in the area of innovation. The Group aims to
raise profitability by targeting income through vigorous client acquisition in all banking segments and through
more intensive cross-selling. It also aims to expand its insurance activities substantially, primarily through sales
at bank branches and, for non-life insurance, via both online and traditional brokers.

In Slovakia, the Group also aims to maintain robust growth in strategic products (including home loans, consumer
finance, SME funding, leasing and insurance), partly through cross-selling to group clients and via digital
channels. The Group’s other priorities in Slovakia include the sale of funds and increased fee income.

In Bulgaria, the Group also aims to focus on increasing its share of the lending market in all segments, while
applying a robust risk framework, for example through the acquisition of Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria). The Group’s
insurance business in Bulgaria, DZI, likewise aims to maintain its goal of growing faster than the market in both
life and non-life insurance, via the bank and other channels.

Group Centre

The Group’s three business units are supplemented by the Group Centre. The Group Centre includes, among other
things, costs related to the funding of the Group and other costs related to the holding of participating interests
and the results of companies or activities earmarked for divestment or that are already in the process of being
wound down (including, as of January 1, 2022, the Group’s business in Ireland).

KBC Bank Ireland

In the Group’s financial reporting, KBC Bank Ireland was included in the International Markets Business Unit for
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. As of January 1, 2022, KBC Bank Ireland was transferred to
the Group Centre in view of the pending sale.

The loan portfolio of KBC Bank Ireland was approximately €9 billion as at June 30, 2022, almost entirely relating
to mortgage loans. As at June 30, 2022, approximately 2.7% (€250 million) of the total Irish loan portfolio was
impaired (of which €100 million was more than 90 days past due). For the impaired loans, approximately €135
million impairments have been booked. The Group estimates its share of the Irish retail market was 9% as at
December 31, 2021, with approximately 0.3 million clients. KBC Bank Ireland has 12 branches (hubs) in Ireland,
as well as its digital channels.

In August 2021, KBC Bank Ireland reached an agreement on the disposal of a non-performing mortgage loan
portfolio of approximately €1.1 billion in a transaction financed by funds managed by CarVal Investors. This
disposal was finalized in February 2022. In October 2021, KBC Bank Ireland confirmed that it had entered into a
legally binding agreement with Bank of Ireland relating to the sale of substantially all of KBC Bank Ireland’s
performing loan assets and its deposit book to Bank of Ireland Group. As part of the transaction, Bank of Ireland
Group will also acquire a small non-performing mortgage loan portfolio. The transaction remains subject to the
approval of the supervisory authority. The finalization of the pending transaction will ultimately result in KBC’s
exit from the Irish market.

Products and Services

The Group offers a comprehensive range of deposit, credit, asset management, insurance and other financial
services to its clients in each of its core markets in Belgium and Central Europe.
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As a bank, the Group offers its clients a wide range of deposit and savings products, including, but not limited to,
demand deposits, time deposits, savings accounts, certificates of deposits and other debt securities. The Group
also offers various other investment opportunities, including investment funds, such as equity funds, fixed-income
funds and balanced funds. Investment products also include green bonds and socially responsible funds, varying
from best-in-class funds and funds with sustainable themes to impact investing funds. The Group uses the money
from the deposits of its clients to provide loans to individuals, businesses and public authorities and also holds a
portfolio of investments, relating mostly to government bonds. Credit products the Group offers include, but are
not limited to, mortgage loans, term loans, consumer credit, financial lease and current account advances. These
also include green loans and loans to specific sectors and projects, such as the social profit sector and infrastructure
projects.

As an insurer, the Group offers a wide range of life and non-life products. Non-life products include, but are not
limited to, motor, property, accidents and legal assistance insurance. Life insurance products include, but are not
limited to, unit-linked products and guaranteed interest rate products (both single and periodic premiums).

The Group also offers a variety of other services that are important to clients in their everyday lives, including,
but not limited to, payments, cash management, securities, trade finance, leasing, factoring, brokerage, corporate
finance, advisory services, money and capital market products and roadside assistance.

Competition

All of the Group’s operations face competition in the sectors they serve. Depending on the activity, competitors
include other commercial banks, saving banks, loan institutions, consumer finance companies, investment banks,
brokerage firms, insurance companies, specialized finance companies, asset managers, private banks, investment
companies and fintech and e-commerce companies.

In both Belgium and Central and Eastern Europe, the Group has an extensive bank-insurance network of branches,
insurance agencies and other distribution channels. The Group believes most of its companies have strong name
brand recognition in their respective markets.

In Belgium, the Group is one of the top three financial institutions by market share, based on its own estimates
and the latest available data at December 31, 2021. For certain products or activities, the Group estimates it has a
leading position, such as in the area of investment funds. The Group’s main competitors in Belgium are BNP
Paribas Fortis, Belfius, ING, AG Insurance, Ethias and Crelan, although for certain products, services or markets,
other financial institutions may also be important competitors. Based on its own estimates and the latest available
data at December 31, 2021, the Group estimates that its market share in Belgium was 19% for traditional banking
products, 28% for investment funds, 13% for life insurance and 9% for non-life insurance.

In its Central and Eastern European core markets, the Group occupies significant positions in banking and
insurance. In each of these countries, the Group competes against local financial institutions, as well as
subsidiaries of other large foreign financial groups such as Erste Bank, Unicredit and others. Based on its own
estimates and the latest available data at December 31, 2021, the Group estimates that its market share in the
Czech Republic was 20% for traditional banking products, 23% for investment funds, 8% for life insurance and
9% for non-life insurance. Based on its own estimates and the latest available data at December 31, 2021, the
Group estimates that its market share in Slovakia was 11% for traditional banking products, 7% for investment
funds, 3% for life insurance and 5% for non-life insurance. Based on its own estimates and the latest available
data at December 31, 2021, the Group estimates that its market share in Hungary was 11% for traditional banking
products, 12% for investment funds, 7% for life insurance and 3% for non-life insurance. Based on its own
estimates and the latest available data at December 31, 2021, the Group estimates that its market share in Bulgaria
was 11% for traditional banking products, 10% for investment funds, 22% for life insurance and 12% for non-life
insurance.
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In Ireland, KBC Bank Ireland plc is a challenger bank. Its main competitors are the large domestic banks (such as
Allied Irish Banks plc and Bank of Ireland plc). KBC Bank Ireland plc is in the process of being sold. For further
detail, see “—Business Units—Group Centre—KBC Ireland” above.

The Group operates a limited number of branches and subsidiaries in the rest of the world, primarily in Western
Europe, Southeast Asia and the United States, which focus on serving customers that already do business with
KBC Bank’s Belgian or Central and Eastern European network. In the rest of the world, the Group faces
competition from both local companies and international financial groups.

Culture

The Group uses the acronym ‘PEARL+’ to define its culture and the way it behaves:

. Performance: “We strive for excellent results and do what we promise to do”;

. Empowerment: “We offer every employee the chance to develop their creativity and talent”;

. Accountability: “We meet our personal responsibility towards our clients, colleagues, shareholders and
society”;

. Responsiveness: “We anticipate and respond proactively to the questions, suggestions, contributions and

efforts of our clients, colleagues and management”; and

. Local embeddedness: “We view the diversity of our teams and of our clients in the different core markets
as a strength and we stay close to our clients”.

Recently, the Group has further expanded on the strong corporate culture epitomized by “PEARL” by adding an
extra dimension, a “+”. This means that it will increasingly focus on the joint development and smart deployment
of solutions, initiatives and ideas within and throughout the Group (in such areas as HR, strategy, finance and
retail products/services). The Group consistently seeks to further accelerate group-wide cooperation between the
various countries and domains. This is intended to make it possible to work more efficiently, to respond more
quickly to change and to leverage local talent/skills throughout the group.

The Group encourages all employees to behave in a responsive, respectful and results-driven way:

. Respectful: “We treat people as being equal, we are transparent, we appreciate people for what they do
and who they are, we trust people”;

. Responsive: “We anticipate and respond to suggestions and questions spontaneously and positively”; and

. Results-driven: “We do what we promise, we meet our objectives, we deliver quality, and we do so on
time and in a cost-effective manner”.

Employees

As at December 31, 2021, the Group had, on a consolidated basis, 40,428 employees (of which 37,207 were full
time equivalents), the majority of whom were located in Belgium (largely employed by KBC Bank) and Central
and Eastern Europe.

In addition to consultations at works council meetings and at meetings with union representatives and with other

consultative bodies, the Group also works closely in other areas with employee associations. There are various
collective labor agreements in force.
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Intellectual Property

The Group holds various intellectual property rights, including trademarks. The Group is the owner of several
trademark registrations, and believes the trademark “KBC” and variations thereof are of material significance to
its operations. The KBC trademark is subject to national trademark registration in a number of countries, including
Belgium, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary and Bulgaria. The Group’s intellectual property portfolio also
includes numerous domain names for websites that it uses in its business, as well as several patents and pending
patent applications.

Information Technology

Robust information and communications technology (“ICT”) systems are extremely important in an increasingly
digital world. The Group works to achieve highly secure and reliable ICT systems and robust data protection
procedures by constantly monitoring its systems and digital environment.

Teleworking has long been well established at the Group, but it became the norm as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. To enable its employees to access critical systems and data remotely, the Group has redoubled its
commitment to cybersecurity and IT and developed additional guidelines.

The group-wide Competence Centre for Information Risk Management & Business Continuity (the “Competence
Centre”) tracks all risks relating to data protection, cybercrime and operational IT. The Competence Centre
informs and assists local entities, tests the Group’s defense mechanisms and provides training, cyber-awareness
and reporting in the group. The Competence Centre includes an internationally recognized and certified group
Cyber Expertise & Response Team.

The Global IT Committee serves as the governance structure to ensure alignment on information security and IT
strategy across the group. Information security and IT risks are structurally reported to the Group Internal Control
Committee, which supports the Group Executive Committee in the domain of strengthening the quality and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

Real Property

The Group’s principal executive offices are located in Brussels, Belgium. It also operates through a number of
other offices and branches located throughout Europe and elsewhere internationally. As at December 31, 2021,
the Group had, on a consolidated basis, €3,050 million of property and equipment, of which €1,479 million
represented land and buildings, with the remainder representing IT and other equipment.

Insurance

In order to protect the Group’s business against major financial losses arising from the risks in performing the
Group’s activities and services, the Group carries insurance policies, which it believes are customary for the
industry, to cover certain risks associated with its activities and services. The Group has a broad-based insurance
program that includes, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, crime and civil liability
insurance, property damage, business interruption and terrorism insurance, public liability insurance, employer
liability insurance and various other liability and accident insurance policies.

Legal proceedings

The Group is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. This section sets out material
litigation to which the Group or any of its subsidiaries (or certain individuals in their capacity as current or former
employees or officers of the Group or any of its companies) are party. It describes all claims in connection with
these legal proceedings, quantified or not, that could lead to the impairment of the company’s reputation or to a
sanction by an external regulator or governmental authority, or that could present a risk of criminal conviction for
the company, the members of the board or the management.
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Although the outcome of these matters is uncertain and some of the claims concern relatively substantial amounts
in damages, the Group does not believe that the liabilities arising from these claims will adversely affect the
Group’s consolidated financial position or results, given the provisions that, where necessary, have been set aside
for these disputes.

Lazare Kaplan International Inc.

Lazare Kaplan International Inc. (“LKI”) is a U.S. based diamond company. Lazare Kaplan Belgium NV (“LKB”
and, together with LKI, “LK”) is LKI’s Belgian affiliate. Following the merger between KBC Bank and
Antwerpse Diamantbank NV (“ADB”) on July 1, 2015, KBC Bank is now a party to the proceedings below, both
in its own name and in its capacity as legal successor to ADB. However, for the sake of clarity, further reference
is made to ADB on the one hand and KBC Bank on the other hand as they existed at the time of the facts described.

Fact summary

Since 2008, LKB has been involved in a serious dispute with its former business partners, DD Manufacturing NV
and KT Collection BVBA (“Daleyot”), Antwerp based diamond companies belonging to Mr. Erez Daleyot. This
dispute relates to a joint venture LK and Daleyot set up in Dubai (called “Gulfdiam”).

LKB and Daleyot became entangled in a complex litigation in Belgium, each claiming that the other party is their
debtor. Daleyot initiated proceedings before the Company Court of Antwerp for payment of commercial invoices
for an amount of (initially) approximately U.S.$9 million. LKB launched separate proceedings for payment of
commercial invoices for (initially) an amount of approximately U.S.$38 million.

At the end of 2009, ADB terminated LK’s credit facilities. After LK failed to repay the amount outstanding of
U.S.$45,000,000, ADB started proceedings before the Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp, for the
recovery of said amount. In a bid to prevent having to pay back the amount owed, LK in turn initiated several
legal proceedings against ADB and/or KBC Bank in Belgium and the USA. These proceedings, which are
summarized below, relate to, inter alia, the dispute between ADB and LKI with regard to the termination of the
credit facility and the recovery of all the monies LK1 owes under the terminated credit facility as well as allegations
that LK was deprived of approximately U.S.$140 million by DD Manufacturing and other Daleyot entities in
cooperation with ADB.

Overview of Legal Proceedings

@ Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp

On March 16, 2010, proceedings were initiated by ADB against LK1 in order to recover the monies owed
to it under the terminated credit facility (approximately U.S.$45 million in principal). LKB voluntarily
intervened in this proceeding and claimed an amount of U.S.$350 million from ADB. LKI launched a
counterclaim of U.S.$500 million against ADB (from which it claims any amount awarded to LKB must
be deducted).

LKI and/or LKB started numerous satellite proceedings with the sole aim to delay the decision of the
Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp regarding ADB’s recovery claim (please also refer to the
proceedings described below).

LKI and/or LKB were convicted for reckless and vexatious legal actions numerous times and were
ordered to pay KBC Bank in damages for a total amount of €495,000 and legal expenses (including the
legal representation costs) of €204,015.51 (including the amounts granted by the decisions described
below).

All decisions (45) regarding these proceedings rejected LKI and/or LKB’s claims and legal actions. Only
three decisions were rendered in favor of LKI. The first was a decision of the United States Court of
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Appeals for the Second Circuit in 2013 whereby the RICO case was reversed and remanded back to the
District Court on legal technical grounds. The second decision was the ruling of Court of Cassation dated
December 19, 2019 which only partially annulled the Antwerp Court of Appeal decision of December
13, 2018 regarding the lack of reasoning in relation to the order of LKI and LKB to pay damages for
vexatious reckless proceedings. The case was only sent to the Brussels Court of Appeal on this aspect.
The third decision was the ruling of the Court of Cassation dated January 25, 2021 annulling the decision
of the Antwerp Court of Appeals dated February 28, 2019 but only on technical legal grounds (see point
(c) below).

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, after over ten years of litigation, the Company Court of
Antwerp, section Antwerp has still not been able to decide on the merits of the case. On October 6, 2020,
the Company Court of Antwerp ordered a briefing schedule inviting parties to take a position on the
procedural objections invoked by LK regarding the handling of KBC Bank's claim by the Court.

On June 3, 2021, the Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp declared that it has jurisdiction to
rule on all claims and dismissed the procedural objections invoked by LK. A court hearing was set for
September 8, 2022.

However, LKB and LKI lodged separate appeals against the decision of June 3, 2021. The Antwerp Court
of Appeal merged the two appeals and set October 20, 2022 as the hearing date to address the procedural
objections raised by LK.

Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp

On July 28, 2014, LK launched proceedings against ADB and certain Daleyot entities. This claim is
aimed at having certain transactions of the Daleyot entities declared null and void or at least not
opposable against LK.

LK also filed a damage claim against ADB for a provisional amount of U.S.$60 million based on the
alleged third party complicity of ADB. This case is still pending. The court postponed the case sine die.

Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp

On December 10, 2014, LKB filed a proceeding against ADB and KBC Bank claiming an amount of
approximately U.S.$77 million, based on the allegedly wrongful grant and maintenance of credit
facilities by ADB and KBC Bank to the Daleyot entities. In its last court brief, LK claims an additional
amount of approximately U.S.$5 million.

By decision of February 7, 2017, the Company Court of Antwerp, section Antwerp dismissed LKB’s
claim. Moreover, the court decided that the proceedings initiated by LKB were reckless and vexatious
and ordered LKB to pay €250,000 in damages, as well as the maximum legal representation cost of
€72,000.

LKB appealed against the decision of February 7, 2017. On February 28, 2019, the Antwerp Court of
Appeals dismissed LKB’s appeal. LKB was ordered to pay the legal representation cost for the appeal
proceedings of €18,000. On June 18, 2019, LKB initiated proceedings before the Court of Cassation
against the decision of the Antwerp Court of Appeals dated February 28, 2019. On January 25, 2021, the
Court of Cassation annulled the decision of the Antwerp Court of Appeals, but only on technical legal
grounds relating to the Court of Appeals’ assessment of the limitation period for LKB's liability claims.
The case has been sent to the Ghent Court of Appeals.

LKI — which was not a party to the first instance proceedings — commenced third-party opposition
proceedings against the decision of February 7, 2017 with the Company Court of Antwerp, section
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Antwerp. By decision of May 7, 2019, the Company Court dismissed the third-party opposition
proceedings initiated by LKI. The court ordered LKI to pay the legal representation cost of €1,440.

(d) Criminal complaint

On October 13, 2016, LK filed a criminal complaint with the Investigating Magistrate at the Dutch
speaking Court of First Instance of Brussels against KBC Bank. On April 9, 2019 LK filed an additional
complaint with the same Investigating Magistrate against KBC Bank and certain of its (former)
employees. The criminal complaints are based, inter alia, on: embezzlement, theft and money-
laundering. On September 29, 2021, KBC Bank received notification that the chambers section of the
Criminal Court of Brussels will decide on the closure of the criminal investigation and on the regulation
of procedure (either dismissal of charges or referral to the criminal court). On November 16, 2021 the
chambers section of the Criminal Court decided to postpone indefinitely the proceedings because of LKI
and LKB's request for additional investigation.

Bernard L. Madoff Investments Securities LLC and Bernard L. Madoff

On October 6, 2011, Irving H. Picard, trustee for the substantively consolidated Securities Investor Protection
Corporation Act (“SIPA”) liquidation of Bernard L. Madoff Investments Securities LLC and Bernard L. Madoff
(the “Trustee”), sued KBC Investments Ltd before the bankruptcy court in New York to recover approximately
U.S.$110 million worth of transfers made to KBC entities. The basis for this claim were the subsequent transfers
that the Group had received from Harley International, a Madoff feeder fund established under the laws of the
Cayman Islands. This claim is one of a set made by the Trustee against several banks, hedge funds, feeder funds
and investors. In addition to the issues addressed by the district court, briefings were held on the applicability of
the Bankruptcy Code’s ‘safe harbor’ and ‘good defenses’ rules to subsequent transferees (as is the case for the
Group). The Group, together with numerous other defendants, filed motions for dismissal. District court Judge
Jed Rakoff has made several intermediate rulings in this matter, the most important of which are the rulings on
extraterritoriality and good faith defenses.

On April 27, 2014, Judge Rakoff issued an opinion and order regarding the ‘good faith’ standard and pleading
burden to be applied in the Picard/SIPA proceeding based on sections 548(b) and 559(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.
As such, the burden of proof that lies on Picard/SIPA is that the Group should have been aware of the fraud
perpetrated by Madoff. On July 7, 2014, Judge Rakoff ruled that Picard/SIPA’s reliance on section 550(a) does
not allow for the recovery of subsequent transfers received abroad by a foreign transferee from a foreign transferor
(as is the case for KBC Investments Ltd.). Therefore, the Trustee’s recovery claims have been dismissed to the
extent that they seek to recover purely foreign transfers. In June 2015, the Trustee filed a petition against the
Group to overturn the ruling that the claim fails on extraterritoriality grounds. In this petition, the Trustee also
announced he would amend the original claim including the sum sought. The amount would be increased to
U.S.$196 million.

On November 21, 2016, Judge Bernstein issued a memorandum decision regarding claims to recover foreign
subsequent transfers, including the transfers which the Trustee seeks to recover from the Group. In this
memorandum decision, Judge Bernstein concluded that the Trustee’s claims based on foreign transfers should be
dismissed out of concern for international comity and ordered a dismissal of the action against the Group. On
March 3, 2017, the Bankruptcy Court issued an appealed order denying the Trustee’s request for leave to amend
his complaint and dismissing the complaint. On March 16, 2017, the Trustee filed an appeal of dismissal, on
September 27, 2017 the Second Circuit granted the Trustee’s petition for a direct appeal, on January 10, 2018 the
Trustee filed his opening brief in appeal to Second Circuit. Briefing in the appeal was completed on May 8, 2018,
and the Second Circuit held oral argument on November 16, 2018.

On February 28, 2019, the Second Circuit reversed the Bankruptcy Court’s dismissal of the actions against the

Group on extraterritoriality and international comity grounds. The action against the Group has therefore been
remanded back to the Bankruptcy Court for further proceedings.
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In April 2019, a request for rehearing was denied.

On August 30, 2019, a petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the U.S. Supreme Court to consider the appeal
and reverse the Second Circuit decision by the joint defense group.

On December 10, 2019, the U.S. Supreme Court entered a brief order inviting the U.S. Solicitor General to file a
brief expressing the views of the United States Government.

On April 10, 2020, the United States Solicitor General filed a brief recommending that the Supreme Court deny
the Madoff defendants’ petition for a writ of certiorari.

On June 2, 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the petition. Consequently, the merits of the case will be handled
by the Bankruptcy Court.

On August 30, 2021, the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reversed the pleading standard of good faith
from an initial burden for the plaintiff of proving lack of good faith on the part of the defendant to henceforth a
burden for the defendant of proving his good faith.

On August 1, 2022, the Bankruptcy Court judge issued a stipulation and order regarding the filing of an amended
complaint and subsequent scheduling of proceedings. As a result, the Trustee amended his complaint on August
5, 2022 by reducing his claim to U.S.$86,000,000, consisting of subsequent transfers received by KBC
Investments Ltd from Harley (a feeder fund). Pursuant to the stipulation and order, the Group may file a motion
to dismiss the amended complaint on or before October 7, 2022. The last reply brief in support of its motion must
be filed on or before January 13, 2023. A court hearing will be set in February 2023. Although the burden of proof
has been increased, the Group still believes it has good and credible defenses, both procedurally and on the merits
including demonstrating its good faith. The procedure may still take several years.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Overview

The Group is an integrated bank-insurance group, catering mainly to retail, private banking and SME clients. The
Group’s geographic focus is Europe, with Belgium, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Ireland
(which is being sold) as its “home” (or “core”) markets. In addition to its core markets, the Group has a limited
presence in a number of other countries, including France, the United Kingdom, Italy and the United States, where
its primary focus is to support the activities of its corporate clients in the core markets.

The Group’s core business is retail and private bank-insurance, including asset management, although it is also
active in providing services to corporations and market activities. Across most of its core markets, the Group is
active in a large number of products and activities, ranging from the plain vanilla deposit, credit, asset management
and insurance businesses to specialized activities such as, but not exclusively, payments services, dealing room
activities (including money and debt market activities), brokerage and corporate finance, foreign trade finance,
international cash management and leasing.

The Group is structured around three business units:

. the Belgium Business Unit, comprising the activities of KBC Bank NV and KBC Insurance NV and their
Belgian subsidiaries, such as CBC Banque, KBC Asset Management, KBC Lease Group (Belgium) and
KBC Securities;

. the Czech Republic Business Unit, comprising the activities of the CSOB group in the Czech Republic

(under the CSOB Bank, Postal Savings Bank, CSOB Stavebni sporitelna and Patria Finance brands) and
the insurer CSOB Pojist’ovna; and

. the International Markets Business Unit, comprising the activities conducted by CSOB Bank and CSOB
Poist’oviia in Slovakia, K&H Bank and K&H Insurance in Hungary, United Bulgarian Bank (“UBB”)
and DZI Insurance in Bulgaria and, until the end of 2021, KBC Bank Ireland plc (“KBC Bank Ireland”),
in view of the pending sale agreement.

In addition to its three business units, the Group also reports on “Group Centre”, which comprises the results of
the holding company, items that have not been allocated to the other business units and the results of companies
to be divested (including, as of January 1, 2022, the Group’s business in Ireland).

As of December 31, 2021, the Group’s client base consisted of approximately 12 million clients across its core
markets. As at the same date, the Group had 1,159 staffed bank branches in its network. As of December 31, 2021,
the Group employed approximately 40,000 employees, of which approximately 60% were located outside of
Belgium.

As at June 30, 2022, the Group had total assets of €369.8 billion and total equity of €20.2 billion. For the six
months ended June 30, 2022, the Group’s net result was €1,269 million and for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s net result was €2,614 million, €1,440 million and €2,489 million, respectively.
In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Belgium Business Unit represented 76% of the Group’s net result, the
Czech Republic Business Unit represented 27% of the Group’s net result, the International Markets Business Unit
represented 5% of the Group’s net result and the Group Centre accounted for (8)% of the Group’s net result.

Significant Factors Affecting the Group’s Results of Operations and Financial Condition

The Group’s business, results of operations and financial position have been affected, and may continue to be
affected, by various factors, the most significant of which are described below. The impact of these and other
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potential factors may vary significantly in the future, and many of these factors are outside the control of the
Group.

Macroeconomic conditions

The macroeconomic environment is the principal factor affecting the Group’s financial condition and results of
operations. In particular, macroeconomic developments affect demand for, and pricing of, the Group’s products
and services, as well as the quality of its assets. For example, investor sentiment directly impacts the Group’s net
fee and commission income, and GDP growth has an impact on the level of loans in each country. In addition,
ECB decisions to support loan growth during difficult financial times can materially increase the Group’s balance
sheet, such as through participation in the third series of targeted longer-term refinancing operations (“TLTRO
111”), which allows the Group to attract funds from the ECB at a -100bps rate. Changes in currency exchange
rates also have an immediate impact on the Group’s balance sheet and income statement. Furthermore, the Group’s
results of operations are affected by the level of provisioning for impaired loans, which are impacted by
macroeconomic scenarios, including the COVID-19 pandemic and Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, and the
macroeconomic conditions of the markets in which the Group operates.

The following table sets forth certain data regarding the market conditions of the Group’s core markets as at and
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Czech

Belgium Republic Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland®
Change in GDP (real).........ccocevneene. 6.2% 3.5% 3.0% 7.1% 4.0% 13.5%
Inflation (average annual increase
iN CONSUMEr PriCes) ...cvvvvvveveverrenne. 3.2% 3.6% 2.8% 5.2% 2.9% 2.4%
Unemployment rate (% of the labor
force at year-end; Eurostat
definition, apart from Ireland)......... 5.7% 2.1% 6.5% 3.6% 4.6% 5.1%
Government budget balance (% of
GDP) oot (5.5)% (5.9)% (6.2)% (6.8)% (4.1)% (1.9)%
Public debt (% of GDP) .................. 108.2% 42.0% 63.1% 76.8% 25.1% 56.0%

Source:  Eurostat
1) Ireland was part of the International Market Business Unit until year-end 2021, but was then transferred to the Group Centre in
view of the pending sale transactions.

Set out below is a summary of economic developments in the Group’s core markets during the period under
review. Unless otherwise indicated, the source for historical macroeconomic data set out below is Macrobond
Financial.

Belgium

The Belgian economy recorded steady but modest growth in the year ended December 31, 2019, with quarter-on-
quarter real GDP growth strengthening throughout the year after a weak start in the first quarter of 2019. However,
there was a weakening in sentiment indicators, such as consumer confidence and the business barometer of the
National Bank of Belgium, although these improved again at the end of 2019. Annual economic growth came out
at 2.1% in 2019, up from 1.8% in 2018, and Belgian growth outpaced the euro area average by half a percentage
point. The generally favorable economic position in Belgium in 2019 was mainly underpinned by final domestic
demand (excluding stocks). Net exports made a minor contribution to GDP growth in 2019, while the contribution
of changes in stocks was negative. Growth in domestic demand was broadly underpinned by both household
consumption and private investment, as households benefited from a sharp increase in real disposable income.
Inflation stood at 1.2% in 2019, having fallen sharply in the autumn and reaching 0.2% in October, primarily due
to substantial falls in the price of energy and unprocessed food, before increasing again in the closing months of
the year. On the property market, Belgian homes increased in price by 4% in 2019, according to Eurostat’s
harmonized index. Housing market activity was exceptionally vigorous in the second half of 2019, due to the
scheduled abolition of mortgage tax relief in Flanders at the beginning of 2020. Belgian 10-year government bond
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yields dipped below the 0% level at the end of July 2019. They reached a low of -0.4% in August 2019, before
rising again in the autumn to around 0% at year-end. The spread with their German counterparts peaked at 75
basis points at the beginning of 2019, before narrowing to around 30 points between August and the end of 2019.

As elsewhere, the pandemic and the exceptional measures taken in 2020 prompted an unprecedented fall in
Belgian GDP that year. Midway through the year, economic activity was almost 15% lower than in the fourth
quarter of 2019. The ensuing recovery in the third quarter of 2020, while robust, was far from complete. Moreover,
the renewed surge in COVID-19 infections in the fourth quarter of 2020, and the measures taken as a consequence,
led to a slight contraction in economic activity. The outcome was an annualized fall in real GDP in the year ended
December 31, 2020 of 5.7%. As at December 31, 2020, there was still a shortfall of almost 5% compared with the
GDP level as at December 31, 2019. Belgian inflation based on the European harmonized consumer price index
was very low in 2020, averaging 0.4% across the year, due mainly to a steep year-on-year decline in energy prices.
House prices continued to surge ahead in the year ended December 31, 2020, rising by 4.2% on an annual basis
due to strong investment demand.

The Belgian economy experienced a solid recovery of 6.2% in the year ended December 31, 2021. Outpacing the
euro area, economic activity exceeded the pre-pandemic level in the third quarter of 2021. Private consumption
was the main driver of growth, underpinned by an improving pandemic situation and easing restrictions as the
year progressed. In the second half of 2021, bottlenecks on the supply side of the economy increasingly hampered
growth, with companies suffering from both supply problems and labor shortages. The fourth wave of COVID-
19 also compelled the Belgian government to impose further measures towards the end of 2021. In the meantime,
the energy and Ukraine crises have clouded the 2022 growth outlook. Rising energy prices and supply chain
bottlenecks caused by COVID-19 drove Belgian inflation upwards to 7% as at December 31, 2021 according to
the European Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices. In the first half of 2022, inflation rose further, to above 10%
during the summer months. At 3.2%, the average inflation figure for the year ended December 31, 2021 as a whole
was well above the level of 2020. The ten-year rate of Belgian linear bonds picked up overall from approximately
-0.4% at the start of 2021 to 0.2% at the end of 2021. The yield spread with the corresponding German Bund rose
from less than 20 basis points at the start of 2021 to 40 basis points at the end of 2021.

Czech Republic

Following a strong performance in previous years, the Czech economy grew at a slower rate in the year ended
December 31, 2019, in line with economic developments in the euro area. In particular, it suffered the adverse
impact of the slowdown in German growth and the general decline in industrial production. Growth potential was
also held back by a tight labor market. Real GDP nevertheless grew by a robust 3% in 2019, driven primarily by
domestic demand, including private consumption, government spending and investment. On the supply side, there
was a considerable decline in manufacturing industry’s contribution to growth, which was partly offset by
vigorous expansion in the service sector and a bigger contribution from construction. According to the IMF,
inflation averaged 2.8% in 2019, above the 2% target set by the Czech National Bank (“CNB”).

The performance of the Czech economy in the year ended December 31, 2020 was heavily influenced by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The growing restrictions on international trade disrupted supply chains, which until then
had been functioning smoothly. Eventually, these issues forced domestic companies to cut or in some cases even
cease production. The restrictions imposed in the face of the pandemic hit the service sector particularly hard (in
particular the hospitality and tourism sector) and were the main driver of the economic recession in the first half
of 2020. The gradual easing of the measures from the end of the second quarter of 2020 opened the way for a
recovery in almost all sectors of the economy, leading to very dynamic economic growth as early as the third
quarter of 2020. Unfortunately, the autumn wave of COVID-19 ushered in a second and third lockdown in the
Czech Republic, which once again had an adverse impact mainly on the service sector. By contrast, the largest
domestic sector — the manufacturing industry — proved to be largely immune to that wave of the pandemic. The
Czech government introduced a number of measures to support affected companies and entrepreneurs, which
negatively impacted the government budget. In addition, a moratorium was introduced for the repayment of bank
loans, as well as a temporary moratorium on rent payments. The CNB also responded to the exceptional economic
situation by cutting its main interest rate by 200 basis points, relaxing mortgage lending criteria and lowering the
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countercyclical capital buffer for the banking sector. These moves led to a substantial reduction in interest rates
and yields on the bond markets in 2020, though they did rise again slightly in the fourth quarter. The Group’s net
interest income for the Czech Republic Business Unit decreased by 21% in 2020 compared to 2019, partly as a
result of these interest rate cuts by the CNB. The negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was reflected in
increased risk aversion, as well as in the weakening of the Czech koruna, which lost up to 10% of its value against
the euro between February 2020 and April 2020. However, some of this depreciation reversed over the course of
2020.

The Czech Republic suffered two waves of the COVID-19 pandemic in the year ended December 31, 2021. The
lockdown measures intended to counteract the waves of infection translated into a contraction of the Czech
economy in the first quarter of 2021, which mainly impacted the service sector, with trade and tourism again being
hit the hardest. Although the favorable development of industrial output in the first half of 2021 prevented more
severe economic consequences, the industrial sector faced increasing problems with supply chains, international
transport that suffered from more and more delays and became more expensive, and the surging prices of raw
materials and energy. These bottlenecks peaked in the third quarter of 2021, prompting a significant decline in
production in the automotive industry, which still accounted for approximately 10% of total GDP. Economic
recovery in the year ended December 31, 2021 was accompanied by higher inflationary pressure, which prompted
the CNB to intervene and raise its policy rate by 25 basis points to 0.50% as early as the end of June 2021. The
CNB kept tightening its monetary policy at every subsequent policy meeting, resulting in a two-week repo rate of
3.75% at the end of December 2021. Inflationary pressure nevertheless continued its upward trend, leading to an
inflation rate of 3.6% in 2021.

The war in Ukraine has led to further upward inflationary pressure, as oil and gas prices have skyrocketed. The
tight labor market has also contributed to inflationary pressure. The unemployment rate is at a record-low level in
the Czech Republic (2.4% in the first quarter of 2022), while vacancy rates are at very high levels. The integration
of refugees (which represent approximately 3% of the population) may partially ease tensions. Headline inflation
increased to 10.6% in June 2022. To combat inflation, the CNB continued to raise its policy rate in 2022, reaching
7.00% in June 2022. The CNB elected to leave interest rates unchanged in August 2022. The larger interest rate
difference compared with the euro supported the Czech koruna, which amounted again to 25 koruna per euro at
December 31, 2021, but weakened against the euro mainly due to uncertainty in financial markets following the
outbreak of the Russian-Ukrainian war.

International Markets (Slovakia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Ireland?)

Economic growth remained exceptionally strong in Hungary in the year ended December 31, 2019, supported by
monetary stimulus, strong absorption of EU funds and fiscal stimulus measures by the government. The Hungarian
economy grew by 4.6% in 2019, making it one of the strongest-growing countries in Europe that year. Inflation
remained within the Hungarian central bank’s target band in 2019. By contrast, Slovakia — like the Czech Republic
— felt the effects of the economic slowdown in Germany and the global challenges faced by industry in 2019. As
a result, Slovakian growth eased substantially in 2019, to 2.6%, although this was still relatively strong. At 4%,
Bulgarian growth also held up in 2019, despite challenges in its neighbor and trading partner Turkey. Therefore,
the Central and Eastern Europe region generally performed relatively strongly in 2019 in economic terms.
Domestic demand and investment, in particular, continued to contribute to economic growth in the region as a
whole.

The course of the pandemic was the biggest determinant of the macroeconomic performance of Slovakia, Hungary
and Bulgaria in the year ended December 31, 2020. A significant downturn in the second quarter of 2020 as a
result of the lockdowns was followed in the third quarter of 2020 by a pronounced economic recovery in the
region. However, despite the strong figures posted in the third quarter of 2020, none of the regional economies
entirely recovered from the downturn in the first half of the year. The performance in the fourth quarter of 2020
was much worse owing to the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic and the policy responses to it. The majority

t Ireland was part of the International Market Business Unit until year-end 2021, but was then transferred to the Group Centre in
view of the pending sale transactions.
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of lockdown measures primarily impacted the demand side of the economy, especially the service sector, while
the supply side fared better. This was important for the regional economies, where industry plays a crucial role.
Consequently, industrial output remained relatively strong. The resilience of German industrial output and the
new, less stringent pandemic measures during the second wave helped explain why the economies of Central
Europe were less affected at that time.

In the year ended December 31, 2021, economic recovery following the COVID-19 impact in 2020 was the main
determinant for Slovakia, Hungary and Bulgaria. In line with euro area developments, the first quarter of 2021
had a difficult start in the second wave of the pandemic. Both the Slovakian economy and the Bulgarian economy
contracted in the first quarter of 2021. The Hungarian economy was an exception and showed positive growth.
The second and third quarters of 2021 then saw positive quarterly growth figures for the Central European core
markets in line with euro area developments, again followed by a weaker fourth quarter of 2021 on the back of
the fourth wave of COVID-19 and the Omicron variant. The focus on specialist sectors, such as the automotive
industry, rendered the markets in Central Europe more vulnerable to obstacles in international supply chains. As
a result, the Russian-Ukrainian war has had a significant impact on these markets and is expected to weigh on
growth in the year ending December 31, 2022.

The surge in inflation in the year ended December 31, 2021 was generally more substantial in the Central European
economies than in the euro area. Tight labor markets and rising energy prices following the outbreak of the war
in Ukraine have further driven prices upwards in 2022. The National Bank of Hungary has maintained its data-
driven policy, increasing policy rates by more than 900 bps in 2021, bringing the Budapest Interbank Offered Rate
above 11%. Given the strong depreciation of the Hungarian forint, which added to inflationary pressure, and
otherwise high and accelerating inflation, the Group expects a further tightening of monetary policy by the
National Bank of Hungary, leading to further increases in the Budapest Interbank Offered Rate, with peak rates
expected by the end of 2022. Although insufficient foreign exchange reserves prevent sizeable interventions by
the National Bank of Hungary, it intervenes sporadically. The Hungarian forint came under pressure during both
the first and second waves of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. In a bid to support the currency, the National
Bank of Hungary pursued a more restrictive policy, which had the effect of pushing up money market rates from
April 2020 and again from October 2020. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Hungarian forint depreciated
only moderately against the euro overall; however, volatility was substantial throughout 2021. The marked
depreciation in the period between September 2021 and the end of 2021 was mainly due to the difference in real
interest rates between Hungary and the euro area. The forint depreciated sharply due to uncertainty in financial
markets following the outbreak of the Russian-Ukrainian war, but the Group believes it is likely to subsequently
stabilize and continue its depreciation in line with the trend.

Bulgaria joined the European Exchange Rate Mechanism 11 (“ERM 11”°) system on July 10, 2020, a stepping stone
on the way to the eventual introduction of the euro. During its membership of ERM 11, Bulgaria will maintain the
currency board for the lev against the euro, meaning it will not make use of the exchange rate fluctuation margin
that is permitted under ERM 11. Bulgarian economic growth also rebounded in 2021 in the wake of the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Annual average inflation rose in 2021, but to a lesser extent than in the other
Central European core markets. The Bulgarian economy was adversely affected by the conflict in Ukraine and a
low rate of vaccination, which rendered Bulgaria more vulnerable to the fourth wave of COVID-19 and the
Omicron variant. Political uncertainty has also prevailed since mid-2021, with new parliamentary elections to be
scheduled for later this year.

With real GDP growth of 4.9%, 5.9% and 13.5% in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021,
respectively, Ireland performed better than other KBC core markets, including as the only KBC core market that
recorded positive annual average economic growth in 2020. However, Irish GDP figures are heavily distorted by
the activities of large multinationals in the country, which means that underlying economic growth in Ireland is
likely to have been lower. Against the backdrop of the pandemic and given the importance of multinationals to its
economy, Irish GDP is also influenced by growth in the pharmaceutical sector due to the development of the
COVID-19 vaccine. In line with the general trend for European economies, Irish inflation remained at very modest
levels, decreasing from 0.9% in the year ended December 31, 2019 to -0.5% in the year ended December 31, 2020
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before increasing to 2.4% in the year ended December 31, 2021. Rising energy prices and tightening labor markets
in Ireland pushed inflation to 8.9% in July 2022.

Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and other developments

The outbreak of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020 triggered a sequence of market events that resulted in a
significant deterioration in economic growth and economic outlook, and led to unprecedented policy responses
by central banks and governments around the world. As a result, the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and continues
to have, a significant impact on global macroeconomic conditions and financial markets and the economic
environments in which the Group operates, including in Belgium and the Czech Republic. See “Risk Factors—
Risks related to the markets and economies in which the Group operates—The outbreak of COVID-19 has
adversely impacted, and may further adversely impact, the Group and its clients, counterparties, employees and
third-party service providers, and could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects” for a further discussion of COVID-19 and its impact on the Group.

Although the vaccination campaigns are accelerating throughout the world, the COVID-19 pandemic continues
to adversely affect the global economy. The number of COVID-19 infections remains high and continues to put
pressure on intensive care capacity and the medical sector as a whole. As a result, the pandemic continues to have
an impact on the worldwide economy and, as a result, on the environment the Group operates in as a financial
institution. As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the impact of COVID-19 on the Group remains relatively
limited. From an operational risk perspective, the different waves of the COVID-19 pandemic and corresponding
government responses had a limited impact on the Group’s provision of services to clients and on ensuring service
continuity, which underscores the Group’s robust operational resilience. With respect to credit risk management,
some easing of the Group-wide restrictive measures and policies implemented at the onset of the pandemic has
already occurred in the year ended December 31, 2021 (including, for example, removing certain credit
underwriting restrictions on sectors vulnerable to COVID-19). However, the Group continues to monitor specific
credit portfolios in all countries, including portfolios that might be more sensitive to the potential consequences
of COVID-19 and portfolios that include clients or assets that applied for support, such as moratoria and
government guarantees. If the COVID-19 pandemic worsens again, and further restrictions are imposed,
cautionary Group-wide restrictive measures and policies similar to those imposed in response to previous waves
may be reinstated.

Largely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s results before tax decreased from €3,116 million in
the year ended December 31,2019 to €1,847 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. Although the Group’s
results before tax recovered strongly in the year ended December 31, 2021 (increasing to €3,418 million), and
while the Group’s capital position and liquidity position remained strong throughout the pandemic, COVID-19
and the related risks may continue to have an impact on the profitability and performance of the Group.

In addition, in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, schemes have been initiated by both the Group and
national governments to provide financial support to parts of the economy most impacted by the COVID-19
outbreak. Since the start of the pandemic, the Group has worked closely with government agencies to support
certain of its clients that were affected by the pandemic through the provision of support measures, such as loan
payment holidays. For the Group’s core markets combined, the volume of loans that were granted payment
holidays under the various support measures amounted to €10 billion as at December 31, 2021 (including EBA-
compliant moratoria and the now non-EBA-compliant scheme in Hungary, but excluding Ireland, which is now
classified under IFRS 5). Virtually all EBA-compliant moratoria expired by the end of December 2021, with
approximately €0.2 billion of EBA-compliant moratoria outstanding as of June 30, 2022. For 96.5% of the loans
under the now-expired EBA-compliant moratoria, payments had fully resumed as of December 31, 2021. In
addition, as of June 30, 2022, the Group had granted approximately €1.0 billion in loans that fall under the various
COVID-19-related government guarantee schemes in its core markets.

For a further discussion of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group, including an overview of the

main impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s results of operations in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
see Note 1.4 to the 2021 Financial Statements and the 2020 Financial Statements.
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Interest rates

The Group earns interest from loans and other assets and pays interest to its depositors and other creditors. The
Group’s results of operations are, therefore, dependent to a great extent on its net interest income. Net interest
income represented 58.9% of the Group’s total income in the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to
62.1% in the year ended December 31, 2020 and 60.5% in the year ended December 31, 2019. The Group’s net
interest margin, which is the difference between the yield on its interest-bearing assets and the cost of its interest-
bearing liabilities, varies according to prevailing interest rates and is a significant factor in determining the
profitability of the Group. Reductions in interest rates or compression of the interest rate spread may result in a
decrease in the amount of net interest income generated by the Group and its net interest margin. For a discussion
of developments in interest rates, see “Risk Factors—Risks related to the markets and economies in which the
Group operates—The Group’s business is sensitive to volatility in interest rates and to changes in the competitive
environment affecting spreads on its lending and deposits.”

The Group’s net interest income is driven by a combination of lending and deposit volumes and margins. The
deposit margin is generally more sensitive to decreases in interest rates than lending margin because in periods of
interest rates approaching zero or becoming negative, the rates payable on some client deposits cannot decrease
below zero, which limits the ability to manage deposit margins. The Group’s net interest income was €4,451
million in the year ended December 31, 2021, €4,467 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 and €4,618
million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease of the Group’s net interest income in both 2020 and
2021 was largely due to the low interest rate environment.

Effects of the regulatory environment

The Group’s business activities are subject to substantial regulation and regulatory oversight in the jurisdictions
in which it operates. For a non-exhaustive overview of certain important regulatory and legislative developments,
see “Banking and Insurance Regulation and Supervision”. Compliance with such regulations has increased the
Group’s capital requirements, exposed it to additional costs and liabilities and may, in the future, have a material
impact on its business, the products and services it offers and the value of its assets.

At the international level, a number of regulatory and supervisory initiatives have been implemented in recent
years in order to increase the quantity and quality of capital, and raise liquidity levels in the banking sector. Among
such initiatives are a number of specific measures proposed by the Basel Committee and implemented by the
European Union through CRD V. For further information on these measures, see “Capital Management”. As a
bank-insurance group, the Group and certain Group entities are currently subject to the capital requirements and
capital adequacy ratios imposed by CRD IV and Solvency II.

The capital requirements applicable to the Group may change over time, including as a result of the new Basel IV
framework, which was released by the Basel Committee in December 2017 and is expected to be implemented by
January 1, 2025. Implementation of any changes that impose more stringent requirements could lead to increased
funding costs for the Group, and it may need to raise additional capital in the future.

Factors impacting KBC Insurance

Claims experience

The Group’s financial results are affected by its claims experience, which may vary from the assumptions that the
Group makes both when it designs and prices its insurance products and when it calculates its insurance contract
liabilities. Claims experience varies over time and from one type of product to another, and may be impacted by
specific events and changes in macroeconomic conditions, population demographics, mortality, morbidity and

other factors.

The Group establishes liabilities to reflect future expected policyholder benefits and claims. The Group establishes
these liabilities and prices its products based on many assumptions and estimates, including mortality and
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morbidity rates, policyholder behavior, expected premiums, investment return, policy persistency, policyholder
benefits to be paid and expenses to be incurred, as well as macroeconomic factors such as interest rates and
inflation. If the net liabilities initially established for future policyholder claims and benefits prove insufficient,
the Group must increase its net liabilities, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations

Adverse weather and other unpredictable events

During the period under review, adverse weather events in the countries in which the Group operates have resulted
in increased insurance claims, which impacted the Group’s results. For example, in June 2021, the most severe
tornado in the Czech Republic on record destroyed several villages, leading to an estimated impact to the Group
of €24 million before tax and before reinsurance at the end of the second quarter of 2021. In addition, in July
2021, Western Europe was hit by exceptional rainfall resulting in floods with a severe impact in Belgium and
other countries. The gross loss at December 31, 2021 for KBC Insurance was €110 million before tax and before
reinsurance.

Further adverse weather events or other unpredictable events, such as natural disasters, industrial explosions,
terrorist attacks, acts of war or hostilities, pandemics and similar events may cause an unexpected and substantial
increase in insurance claims under policies written by KBC Insurance, which may in turn cause it to incur
substantial losses. Some types of natural disasters (such as tornadoes and floods, as described above) have been
increasingly observed in recent years. The occurrence of multiple natural catastrophic events in such a short period
of time raises questions about their exceptionality and whether their likelihood is expected to increase driven by
climate change. If the occurrence of such events continues to become more frequent, as a result of climate change
or otherwise, the Group’s financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

Recent Developments

OnJuly 7, 2022, KBC Bank and Austria-based Raiffeisen Bank International completed the transaction for KBC
Bank to acquire 100% of the shares of Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) EAD (Raiffeisen Bank International’s Bulgarian
banking operations). See “Description of the Group—Business Units—International Markets Business Unit”.

In addition, as decided by the Group’s Board of Directors of August 10, 2022, and in line with the Group’s general
dividend policy, an interim dividend of €1.00 per share (€417 million in total) as an advance on the total dividend
for the financial year ending December 31, 2022 will be paid on November 16, 2022.

Results of Operations for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 Compared to the Six Months Ended June
30, 2021

The financial information of the Group as at and for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and the comparative
information as at and for the six months ended June 30, 2021 discussed in this section has been extracted from
the Interim Financial Statements, incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

The table below summarizes the Group’s income statement for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30,
2021.

Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
Net INtErest INCOME.........ccviirieireieere e 2,448 2,162 13.2
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance) ...........ccooeevvieeieicnenne. 419 451 (7.2)
Life insurance (before reinSurance).........ccccoceveveiienieiencneniens 24 22 9.1
Ceded reinSurance reSUlt ..........coocevirereeienese e 26 (12) -
Dividend INCOME ......oceiiiieieere e 28 25 12.0
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Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOfit OF 0SS ..vviviiiie e 233 156 49.4
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OC ] it (16) 1 -
Net fee and COMMISSION INCOME......cocverveiierieineee e 934 890 4.9
Other NEEINCOME ...ttt ettt 144 91 58.2
TOtal INCOME......oiiiiiic s 4,239 3,786 12.0
Staff EXPENSES.....voiiieiie e (1,255) (1,184) 6.0
General administrative eXPeNSES .......cccvcvveeveriervereeree e see s (1,154) (944) 32.8
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets...............c..c........ (182) (164) 11.0
Total OpPerating eXPENSES...........o.eveveeverreersrersessssssssnseneen (2,591) (2,293) 13.0
Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair
value through OCH ... 6 206 (97.1)
Impairment on goodwill ............cccooeveiieiic - - -
IMPAITMENE ON OthET ... (56) () 1,020.0
Total IMPAITMENT ..o (50) 200 -
(R (U] | S o1 (0] = = D R 1,594 1,693 (5.8)
INCOME X EXPENSE ....oovevrvereeesseeesesenseesseesssenseessssessesssseanees (325) (342) (5.0)
RESUIES ftEI TAX .. .viiiiiiirec et 1,269 1,350 (6.0)

Total Income

Total income increased by €453 million, or 12.0%, from €3,786 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021
to €4,239 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to higher results from
net interest income (which increased by €286 million, or 13.2%, from €2,162 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 to €2,448 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022) and higher results from financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (which increased by €77 million, or 49.4%, from €156 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2021 to €233 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022).

The Group’s total income consists of net interest income, technical insurance results (earned premiums less
technical charges plus the ceded insurance result), dividend income, net result from financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”), net fee and commission income and other net income, each of which is discussed further below.

Net interest income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net interest income for the six months ended June 30,
2022 and June 30, 2021:

Six months ended
June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

TOtAl e 2,448 2,162 13.2
INTErESt INCOME ...vvvieece et e ene 4,961 3,009 64.9
Interest income on financial instruments calculated using the

effective interest rate method

Financial assets at amortized COSt..........c.ooovvreivririerinnenns 3,303 2,273 45.3
Financial assets at fair value through OCl ................c....... 128 147 (12.9)
Hedging derivatiVesS..........coeiiiiiiene e 713 137 420.4
Financial liabilities (negative interest rate) ...........cc.cccue..e. 298 194 53.6
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(©11 1] TR 46 14 228.6
Interest income on other financial instruments

Financial assets MFVPL other than held for trading......... 16 11 45.4

Financial assets held for trading.........c.ccoovevveveveinsncnnnne. 457 233 96.1

Of which economic hedges .........cccovvvviviiveieiene s 405 216 87.5
Other financial assets at fair value through profit and

LSS ottt 0 0 0

INTEIESt EXPENSE . .vcvveveeeieiteste et ee e ste e ste e e e sre e eneas (2,513) (847) 196.7

Interest expense on financial instruments calculated using the
effective interest rate method

Financial liabilities at amortized COSt..........ccoccovveriinnennns (617) (229) 169.4
Hedging derivatiVes..........cccoeveiiiiiciincicsc e (776) (286) 171.3
Financial assets (negative interest rate)..........ccccooeveiviennes ) (117) (34.2)
OBNET .t 2) 2) 0
Interest expense on other financial instruments

Financial liabilities held for trading ........c.cccocvvvvvrvennnne, (1,029) (206) 399.5
Of which economic hedges ........cccocvvvieveiiii v, (1,003) (187) 436.4
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

J0SS ettt (11) (6) 83.3
Net interest expense relating to defined benefit plans ........ (8] (8] 0

Net interest income increased by €286 million, or 13.2%, from €2,162 million for the six months ended June 30,
2021 to €2,448 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily the result of an
improved yield environment in euro-denominated countries, interest rate hikes in the Czech Republic and, to a
lesser extent, in Hungary, lending and deposit volume growth, negative interest being charged on more current
accounts held by corporations and SMEs, higher income from inflation-linked bonds and a positive foreign
exchange effect. These factors were partly offset by pressure on loan portfolio margins in almost all countries and
the higher funding cost of participations.

Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)

Non-life insurance results (before reinsurance) decreased by €32 million, or 7.1%, from €451 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2021 to €419 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily
due to higher technical charges (an increase of 23%), which was affected by the impact of extreme weather
conditions in Belgium in the first quarter of 2022 (a negative impact of €97 million before tax and before
reinsurance), compared to a milder impact from weather related incidents in the first half of 2021 (a negative
impact of €24 million before tax and before reinsurance). This was partly offset by the increase in premium income
(an increase of 8%) and a higher ceded reinsurance result.

Life insurance (before reinsurance)

Life insurance results (before reinsurance) increased by €2 million, or 9.1%, from €22 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 to €24 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. However, in compliance with IFRS,
certain types of life insurance (i.e. unit-linked products) have been excluded from the figures for premiums and
technical charges in the life insurance business. If the premium income from such products is included, premium
income from the life insurance business totaled €835 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, representing
a 0.5% increase compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, as a result of stable evolution in both the retail
and corporate markets.

Ceded reinsurance result

Ceded reinsurance result was €26 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, an increase from a negative
€12 million ceded reinsurance result for the six months ended June 30, 2021. The increase was primarily related
to higher recoveries from higher technical charges in the six months ended June 30, 2022 (mainly in the first
quarter in Belgium), compared to a milder storm season and lower storm-related recoveries in the six months
ended June 30, 2021.
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Ceded reinsurance result includes the net amount of all actual or estimated amounts which, under contractual
reinsurance arrangements, are recuperated, as well as the premiums paid for this reinsurance.

Dividend income

Dividend income increased by €3 million, or 12.0%, from €25 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to
€28 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to higher dividend payments
in the six months ended June 30, 2022 as companies returned to higher levels of dividends with the abatement of
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net result from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021:

Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
TOtAl e 233 156 49.4
Total broken down by driver
Market value adjustments (MVA) .......cccoovvienienieseeieeieenns 51 37 37.8
Change in the value of derivatives used for asset/liability
MANAGEMENT PUIPOSES ....evvveenrerreriiresre st 4 (59) -
Financial instruments to which the overlay approach is
APPHEA . 27 59 (54.2)
Dealing room and Other ..o 151 119 26.9

Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss increased by €77 million, or 49.4%, from
€156 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to €233 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The
increase was primarily related to higher dealing room results and positive changes in the market value of
derivatives used for asset and liability management purposes. This was partly offset by lower results related to the
share portfolio of the insurance business.

Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI

Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI was negative €16 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2022, compared to a €1 million net realized result from debt instruments at fair value though OCI
for the six months ended June 30, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to losses on the sale of low yielding
bonds in the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Net fee and commission income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net fee and commission income for the six months
ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021.:
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Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
TOtAl .o 934 890 4.9
Fee and commisSioN INCOME .......ccovvvereiiereise e 1,394 1,289 8.1
Fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE ...c.vevevereerirrireieeesieseeseeseeseesneens (461) (399) 155
Breakdown by type
ASSEt MaNageMENt SEMVICES ... .cveverierieriesrese et e e esesee e e eneas 602 572 5.2
Fee and commisSioN INCOME ........ccovveviereienienieese e 638 608 4.9
Fee and commission eXPENSE........ccccvvverrrieeeereeneenieseesennnns (36) (36) 0.0
Banking SEIVICES ........ccoveiiiiiieiicieise e 492 463 6.3
Fee and commission INCOME.........ccocvvvrvrienieienese e 710 638 11.3
Fee and coOmMMISSION EXPENSE......ccvirvierrerieisrerieiesie e (218) (175) 24.6
DISEIDULION ..o (160) (145) 10.3
Fee and commission INCOME.........ccocvvvrvrienieienese e 46 43 7.0
Fee and COmMMISSION EXPENSE......vivirveeirerieinrerieiesie e (206) (188) 9.6

Net fee and commission income increased by €44 million, or 4.9%, from €890 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 to €934 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily to the result of
an increase in fees for asset management services and for certain banking services (mainly payment transactions),
despite higher distribution fees paid.

Net other income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net other income for the six months ended June 30,
2022 and June 30, 2021:

Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

TOtAl e 144 91 58.2
Of which gains or losses on

Sale of financial assets measured at amortized cost........... (32) (8] 3,100.0

Repurchase of financial liabilities measured at amortized

COSE 1ttt ettt bttt bbbt r bbb ene s @ 0 -
Other, INCIUAING: ..c.veeescre e 177 92 92.4

Income from operational 1eases. ..........ccoevvererrieneneennen. 56 46 21.7

Income from VAB Group ......cccccvveveineneinenieee e 28 28 -

Legacy legal Cases........ccovvviriiiinieieic e 7 0 -

Gain on sale real estate subsidiary at KBC Insurance....... 68 0 -

Net other income increased by €53 million, or 58.2%, from €91 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021
to €144 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to a higher amount of
one-off items for the six months ended June 30, 2022. For the six months ended June 30, 2022, net other income
included the recognition of a gain on the sale of a real estate subsidiary (€68 million) at KBC Insurance, realized
loss on exceptional sale of low yielding bonds at amortized cost, mainly in Belgium and Hungary (negative €32
million), and a legacy legal case in the Czech Republic (€7 million).

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by €298 million, or 13.0%, from €2,293 million for the six months ended June
30, 2021 to €2,591 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to wage drift,
inflation and indexation, higher ICT expenses, higher marketing and professional fee expenses, a negative foreign
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exchange effect, an extraordinary profit bonus for staff (compared to a smaller COVID-19 related bonus in the
six months ended June 30, 2021) and significantly higher bank taxes, partly offset by lower full time employees,
among other things. With respect to bank taxes, the first six months of 2022 included an extraordinary payment
of €24 million to the deposit guarantee fund related to Sberbank Hungary and €78 million related to a new bank
and insurance tax in Hungary. Excluding all major one-off items and foreign exchange effects, operating expenses
(excluding bank taxes) increased by approximately 5% year-on-year.

Total impairment

The following table shows the components of the Group’s impairment for the six months ended June 30, 2022
and June 30, 2021:

Six months ended

June 30,
2022 2021 % change
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

TOtAl .o (50) 200 -
Impairment on financial assets at AC and at FVOCI ................ 6 206 (97.1)
Of which impairment on financial assets at AC .........cccccccveneee. 5 205 (97.6)
By product

Loans and adVanCeS..........ccccereerereienenee e 10 185 (94.6)

Debt SECUNTLIES ..o 1 2 (50.0)

Off-balance-sheet commitments and financial guarantees . (6) 18 -
By type

Stage 1 (12-month ECL) ....ccooviiiiiicceee e 9 44 -

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL) .occvovvviiicieceeceece e 44 166 (73.5)

Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) .occvovviiiciececcecece e (33) 0 -

Purchased or originated credit impaired assets.................. 3 5) -
Of which impairment on financial assets at FVOCI.................. 1 1 -
DDt SECUTTIES ...vvviiecer et 1 1 -

Stage 1 (12-month ECL) ....coveiiiiiiiiicceese e 0 2 (100.0)

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL.......ccocooviiiiiiiiircese e 1 2 -

Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) ....coovieiiiieiicreese e 0 0 -
Impairment on goodwill .............cccoovveiieiici e 0 0 -
IMpairment 0N Other ... (56) (5) (1,020.0)
Intangible fixed assets (other than goodwill) ..........c.cceeien (23) 0 -
Property and equipment (including investment property).......... 9 (8] 800.0
Associated companies and joint VENTUIES ........ccccvveeveieieneneens 0 0 -
(@131 OO (24) 4) 500.0

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI decreased by €200 million, or
97.1%, from a net release of €206 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to a net release of €6 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The first six months of 2022 included the full release of the remainder of
the previously recorded provisions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, a small net release related to individual
loans and the booking of a new provision for geopolitical and emerging risks.

Impairment on other
Impairment on other increased by €51 million, or 1,020.0%, from €5 million for the six months ended June 30,
2021 to €56 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to a one-off

impairment on fixed assets in Ireland in view of the pending sale, impairment charges on real estate in the Belgium
Business Unit and the effect of the extension of the interest cap regulation in Hungary.
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Results before tax

Results before tax decreased by €99 million, or 5.8%, from €1,693 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021
to €1,594 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in total
operating expenses, partly offset by an increase in total income.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased by €17 million, or 5.0%, from €342 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021
to €325 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the lower result before
tax, which resulted in a lower tax burden.

Results after tax

Results after tax decreased by €81 million, or 6.0%, from €1,350 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021
to €1,269 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the lower result
before tax, partly compensated by lower income tax expense.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to the Year Ended December 31,
2020

The financial information of the Group as at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the comparative
information as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 discussed in this section has been extracted from the
2021 Financial Statements, incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

The table below summarizes the Group’s income statement for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December
31, 2020.

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 % change
(EUR million)

NEt INtEreSt INCOME.......viiiveeie et 4,451 4,467 0.4)
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance) ..........ccoceeeeerennenienn 782 865 (9.6)
Life insurance (before reinsurance).........ccoeovveveineneniseniennns 45 10 350.0
Ceded reinSurance result .........ccooeveereieneneeseeese e 25 (20) -
Dividend INCOME ....c.eiviiiiieieere e 45 53 (15.1)
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOTIL OF 0SS ...eive ettt 145 33 3394
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OCl 6 2 200.0
Net fee and COMMISSION INCOME.......ccerveirreriiiece e 1,836 1,609 14.1
Other net income 223 176 26.7
TOtAl INCOME......ciiiiiiici s 7,558 7,195 5.0
Staff EXPENSES. ... (2,457) (2,329) 55
General administrative eXPeNSES ........couevererererieresieeenenie e (1,583) (1,518) 4.3
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets...............c........... (356) (309) 15.2
Total OPerating eXPENSES............ovvevveereereeeeeereeseeseesseeenenes (4,396) (4,156) 5.8
Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair
value through OCl ... 334 (1,074) (131.1)
Impairment on goodwill ... ) - -
IMpairment 0N Other ... (65) (108) (39.8)
Total IMPAITMENT ..o 261 (1,182) -
RESUItS DEFOIE taX ... 3,418 1,847 85.1
INCOME tAX EXPENSE ..ttt (804) (407) 97.5
RESUILS @Ftr taX......ooeieeieeieere e 2,614 1,440 815
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Total Income

Total income increased by €363 million, or 5%, from €7,195 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
€7,558 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher results from net
fee and commission income (which increased by €227 million, or 14.1%, from €1,609 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020 to €1,836 million for the year ended December 31, 2021) and higher results from financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (which increased by €112 million, from €33 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020 to €145 million for the year ended December 31, 2021).

The Group’s total income consists of net interest income, technical insurance results (earned premiums less
technical charges plus the ceded insurance result), dividend income, net result from financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI, net fee and
commission income and other net income, each of which is discussed further below.

Net interest income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net interest income for the year ended December 31,
2021 and December 31, 2020:

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 % change
(EUR million)
TOMAl oo 4,451 4,467 (0.4)
INEErESt INCOME ..ttt s 6,320 6,264 0.9
Interest income on financial instruments calculated using the
effective interest rate method
Financial assets at amortized COSt........c.ccccveveeevvieicveeennen. 4,797 4,869 (1.5)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI ....................... 286 330 (13.3)
Hedging derivatiVesS..........ccccocvvieiiiiee e 355 377 (5.8)
Financial liabilities (negative interest rate) .........c...c......... 425 222 91.4
(@111 PSSP 25 10 150.0
Interest income on other financial instruments
Financial assets MFVPL other than held for trading......... 24 14 71.4
Financial assets held for trading...........c.ccoveeveiiciiinennns 407 442 (7.9)
Of which economic hedges .........ccoevvireriininiie 367 398 (7.8)
Other financial assets at fair value through profit and
[0S 1ttt 0 0 0
INTEIESE EXPENSE ...ttt (1,869) (1,797) 4
Interest expense on financial instruments calculated using the
effective interest rate method
Financial liabilities at amortized coSt ..........cccoceverirnnnene. (534) (707) (24.5)
Hedging derivatiVes..........ccoviiiiiiiie e (604) (632) (4.9)
Financial assets (negative interest rate)...........ccocceeevenuene. (253) (79) 220.3
OtNET et @) (5) 40.0
Interest expense on other financial instruments
Financial liabilities held for trading ...........c.ccococeneiiiniinnnns (459) (345) 33.0
Of which economic hedges ........cccoervireriinenereees (414) (313) 32.3
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
JOSS ottt (11) (25) (56.0)
Net interest expense relating to defined benefit plans ........ (D) ?3) (66.7)

Net interest income decreased by €16 million, or 0.4%, from €4,467 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €4,451 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The slight decrease was primarily due to the
negative impact of a number of factors, including lower reinvestment yields in the euro countries, pressure on
loan portfolio margins in virtually all countries and lower interest income from the insurer’s bond portfolio (partly
driven by a positive one-off item in the reference period) and was almost fully offset by lower funding costs
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(including the effect of TLTRO Ill and ECB tiering, which exempts part of credit institutions’ excess liquidity
holdings (i.e. reserve holdings in excess of minimum reserve requirements) from negative remuneration at the rate
applicable on the deposit facility), a larger loan portfolio, the consolidation of OTP Banka Slovensko, the more
extensive charging of negative interest rates for certain current accounts held by business and SME clients, the
higher positive effect of ALM foreign exchange swaps and the exchange rate effect.

Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)

Non-life insurance results (before reinsurance) decreased by €83 million, or 9.6%, from €865 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020 to €782 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily
due to the positive effect of the increase in premium income (an increase of 6.1%) being cancelled out by
significantly higher technical charges (an increase of 21%). The latter was affected by the impact of the extreme
weather conditions in the Czech Republic (tornado in June 2021) and, most notably in Belgium, which
experienced heavy flooding during the summer of 2021. Gross claims related to these floods totaled €110 million
in the year ended December 31, 2021; after reinsurance (of which the impact is included in ceded reinsurance
result), the net amount was €87 million, €45 million of which was above the legal limit, which is the ceiling
introduced in Belgian law on the intervention of insurers in the event of very large floods. The decrease in non-
life insurance results also reflects that the claims submitted during the year ended December 31, 2020 were
favorably affected by lower claims during the lockdowns.

Life insurance (before reinsurance)

Life insurance results (before reinsurance) increased by €35 million from €10 million for the year ended December
31, 2020 to €45 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. However, in compliance with IFRS, certain types
of life insurance (i.e. unit-linked products) have been excluded from the figures for premiums and technical
charges in the life insurance business. If the premium income from such products is included, premium income
from the life insurance business totaled €1,964 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a 1%
decrease compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This slight decrease can be credited mainly to unit-
linked life insurance in Belgium and the Czech Republic, partially offset by Bulgaria (as a result of the
consolidation of NN’s life insurance business). For the Group as a whole, products offering guaranteed rates and
unit-linked products accounted for 52% and 48%, respectively, of premium income from the life insurance
business in the year ended December 31, 2021.

Ceded reinsurance result

Ceded reinsurance results increased by €45 million from a negative €20 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €25 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase primarily reflected higher recoveries
from significantly higher technical charges following the heavy flooding during the summer in Belgium in the
year ended December 31, 2021.

Ceded reinsurance result includes the net amount of all actual or estimated amounts which, under contractual
reinsurance arrangements, are recuperated, as well as the premiums paid for this reinsurance.

Dividend income

Dividend income decreased by €8 million, or 15.1%, from €53 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
€45 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to lower dividend income in
Belgium. In particular, in both the year ended December 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, dividend
income was low as companies kept dividend payments at a lower level in order to keep capital and liquidity buffers
during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, some sectors, such as European banks, were not permitted to
distribute capital for a certain period following an ECB decision.

85



Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net result from financial instruments at fair value

through profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 % change
(EUR million)
TOAL e 145 33 3394
Total broken down by driver
Market value adjustments (MVA).......ccooeoiiriininciiinees 67 13 4154
Change in the value of derivatives used for asset/liability
MAaNAGEMENT PUMPOSES ....covverrerirririeeiieeeresre e (197) (94) 109.6
Financial instruments to which the overlay approach is
APPHE .. 104 (14) -
Gains or 10SSeS 0N SAlE .......cccoviiieiie e 123 116 6
IMPAIMMENT ... (20) (131) (84.7)
Dealing room and Other..........c.ccceveiievin i 171 128 33.6

Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss increased by €112 million from €33
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to €145 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase
primarily reflected the lower result in the year ended December 31, 2020, which was adversely affected during
the first quarter of 2020 by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic (which initially resulted in collapsing stock

markets, higher credit spreads and lower long-term interest rates).

Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI

The net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI was not material in the years ended

December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Net fee and commission income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net fee and commission income for the year ended

December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Year ended

December 31,
2021 2020 % change

(EUR million)
TOtAl ..o 1,836 1,609 14.1
Fee and commisSion iNCOME .......c.ccoveeeivieeiee i 2,692 2,365 13.8
Fee and commISSION EXPENSE ......covviverieeiireesie e (856) (755) 134

Breakdown by type

ASSEt MaNAgEMENT SEMVICES ... .cuveeeieiereesteseereeeeseesesee e e aneas 1,196 1,022 17.0
Fee and commission iNCOME.........ccccveeieeveerie e 1,274 1,081 17.9
Fee and commission eXPenSe. ........ccoeverereneeieenienie e (78) (59) 32.2
Banking SEIVICES ......ccoieiireiiiie et 950 875 8.6
Fee and commission iNCOME..........cccveeveeveeve e 1,330 1,205 104
Fee and commission eXPenSe. ........ccoeverereneeieneenie e (380) (330) 15.2
DiStrIDULION ..o (311) (288) 8.0
Fee and commisSiON INCOME ........ccovvvviereenenieesie e 87 78 115
Fee and commIisSioN eXPENSE.......cccvvvverrrieeeereereeseseeseennns (398) (366) 8.7

Net fee and commission income increased by €227 million, or 14.1%, from €1,609 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020 to €1,836 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to
the increase in fees for asset management services (almost exclusively attributable to higher management fees)
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and, to a slightly lesser extent, to an increase in fees for banking services (especially for payments), which were
only partly offset by higher distribution fees, mainly for insurance products.

Other net income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s other net income for the year ended December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020:

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 % change
(EUR million)
TOtAl e 223 176 26.7
Of which gains or losses on
Sale of financial assets measured at amortized cost........... 6 11 (45.5)
Repurchase of financial liabilities measured at amortized
COST ettt et 0 0 0
Other, INCIUAING: ..o 218 165 32.1
Income from operational leasing activities ....................... 98 77 27.3
Income from VAB Group ......cccccoveveineniinineee e 50 49 2.0
Gain on sale of KBC Tower in ANtWerp ........ccoceevvervvcnnenn 13 0 -
Settlement of legal Cases.........ccccvevviivve v 6 0 -
Provisioning for tracker mortgage review............cccccveeveene. (18) 9 100.0
BadWill......cooveieiiieieese e 2 0 -

Other net income increased by €47 million, or 26.7%, from €176 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
to €223 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher amount in one-
off items for the year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the main positive one-
off items in other net income included the recognition of badwill related to the acquisition of OTP Banka
Slovensko and the gain on the sale of the KBC Tower in Antwerp, as well as an increase in the recurring other net
income related to operational leasing activities. The main negative item was the additional costs related to the
tracker mortgage review in Ireland. Provisioning for the tracker mortgage review concerns KBC Bank Ireland,
which — like all major lenders in Ireland at the time — had offered tracker mortgages (mortgages with variable
rates that move in relation to a reference interest rate during the specified period) between 2003 and 2008. In
December 2015, the Central Bank of Ireland requested the Irish banking industry, including KBC Bank Ireland,
to undertake a broad and wide-ranging examination of tracker mortgage related issues. The purpose of the tracker
mortgage review was to identify cases where clients’ contractual rights under the terms of their mortgage
agreements had not been fully honored and/or lenders had not fully complied with the various requirements and
standards regarding disclosure and transparency for the client. In situations where client detriment was identified
from this examination, KBC Bank Ireland had to provide appropriate redress and compensation in line with the
CBI “Principles for Redress”. KBC Bank Ireland recognized a provision of €4 million in 2016 and €116 million
in 2017 in respect of redress and compensation for clients identified as being impacted. In 2018, most of the clients
affected duly received redress and compensation payments. In 2019, a provision of €23 million was recorded,
including €14 million as a provision for a potential sanction. In 2020, a provision of €9 million was set aside, €4
million of which related to the sanction, and, in 2021, a provision of €18 million was recorded.

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by €240 million, or 5.8%, from €4,156 million for the year ended December
31, 2020 to €4,396 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to exceptional
and/or non-operating items, mainly the one-off costs related to the sale of the Group’s operations in Ireland (€97
million) and changes in the scope of consolidation (€48 million related to OTP Banka Slovensko), and, to a lesser
extent, the payment of an exceptional COVID-19-related bonus to staff and the positive effect of the reversal of a
provision for expenses connected with the sale of the KBC Tower in Antwerp. Excluding these items, total
operating expenses increased by approximately 1.5% (or 1%, if foreign exchange effects are also excluded),
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primarily as a result of, among others, wage inflation, higher variable pay in relation to the low amount paid in
2020, lower numbers of full-time equivalents (“FTES”) in several core markets and higher IT costs.

Total impairment

The following table shows the components of the Group’s impairment for the year ended December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020:

Year ended
December 31,
2021 2020 % change
(EUR million)

TOtAl e 261 (1,182) -
Impairment on financial assets at AC and at FVOCI ............ 334 (1,074) -
Of which impairment on financial assets at AC .................... 330 (1,069) -
By product

Loans and advanCes..........cccevvveveereeriecie e 315 (1,067) -

Dbt SECUNITIES ..cuvvevvieiiecie e @ 0 -

Off-balance-sheet commitments and financial

QUATANTEES ...t 15 2 -

By type

Stage 1 (12-month ECL) ..o 70 (44) -

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL) ...oooovviiiiiiineeeeeeee 449 (724) -

Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) ....oocoovvereiieieeeee e (191) (302) (36.8)

Purchased or originated credit impaired assets.............. 2 1 100.0
Of which impairment on financial assets at FVOCI.............. 4 (5) -
DDt SECUTITIES .vvveivie ettt 4 (5) -

Stage 1 (12-month ECL) .....ccocvvvvieiieii e 3 2 -

Stage 2 (lifetime ECL......c.ccccovvevieiieceeece e 0 2 -

Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) ....ooovveiiiieieeeeeee e 0 0 -
Impairment on goodwill ... ) 0 -
IMpairment 0N Other ..........ccoieiiieiec e (65) (108) (39.8)
Intangible fixed assets (other than goodwill) ............cccocvnee. (35) (64) (45.3)
Property and equipment (including investment property) ..... (17) 9 88.9
Associated companies and joint VENTUreS..........ccoccoevvvenienne 0 0 -
L@ 13T ] SO SR (13) (35) (62.9)

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI decreased by €1,408 million, from
a €1,074 million addition for the year ended December 31, 2020 to a €334 million release for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the year ended
December 31, 2020, where impairment on financial assets increased to €783 million, calculated as the sum of
€672 million based on expert-based calculations and €111 million through the ECL models with updated
macroeconomic variables. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group’s calculation was able to decrease
impairment on financial asset calculations by €494 million and as a result, the outstanding amount in collective
impairment for the COVID-19 pandemic decreased to €289 million as at December 31, 2021.

Impairment on goodwill

Impairment on goodwill decreased by €7 million, from zero for the year ended December 31, 2020 to €7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the impairment on the USetfeno
participation in the Czech Republic for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Impairment on other

Impairment on other decreased by €43 million, or 39.8%, from €108 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €65 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020, impairment
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on other related primarily to impairment charges on software development projects and the accounting treatment
for modification losses in the Group’s various core markets due to payment moratoria schemes related to the
COVID-19 pandemic. In the year ended December 31, 2021, impairment on other related primarily to the
impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets (mainly in connection with the pending sale
transactions in Ireland) and, to a lesser extent, additional modification losses.

Results before tax

Results before tax increased by €1,571 million, or 85.1%, from €1,847 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €3,418 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase primarily reflected collective
impairment recorded for the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the year ended December 31, 2020 (totaling
€783 million, which the Group was able to decrease by €494 million in the year ended December 31, 2021).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by €397 million, or 97.5%, from €407 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €804 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to the higher result
before tax and a one-off amount relating to the sale transactions in Ireland, relating to derecognition of deferred
tax assets.

Results after tax

Results after tax increased by €1,174 million, or 81.5%, from €1,440 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to €2,614 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase primarily reflected the Group’s higher
results before tax, as discussed above, partly offset by higher income tax expense.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to the Year Ended December 31,
2019

The financial information of the Group as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the comparative
information as at and for the year ended December 31, 2019 discussed in this section has been extracted from the
2020 Financial Statements, incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

The table below summarizes the Group’s income statement for the years ended December 30, 2020 and December
30, 2019.

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)

NEt INtErESt INCOME.....c.viiieeeii et 4,467 4,618 (3.3)
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance) ..........ccoceveeevenecniennn 865 756 14.4
Life insurance (before reinsurance) .........ccoceeveveinenenieenieneae 10 (6) -
Ceded reinSurance result ..........cooevvereinieneese e (20) (25) (20.0)
Dividend INCOME ....c.oiviieiieieeie e 53 82 (35.4)
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through

PrOFIt OF 10SS.....cviieiiieiieie e 33 181 (81.8)
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through

OClI 2 6 (66.7)
Net fee and commissSion INCOME..........ccoererinirieninieee e 1,609 1,734 (7.2)
Other net income 176 282 (37.6)
TOtal INCOME....cuiiiiiiiie e 7,195 7,629 (5.7)
Staff EXPENSES. ...t e (2,329) (2,357) (1.2)
General administrative eXPENSES .......ccovevererererieresieieenee e (1,518) (1,595) (4.8)
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets...............cc...o...... (309) (351) (12.0)
Total Operating EXPENSES............ovveveeeveereereeereeseeeseesseeeseenes (4,156) (4,303) 34)
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Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair

value through OCI ... (1,074) (203) 429.1
Impairment on goodwill ..o - - -
IMpairment 0N Other ... (108) (14) 671.4
Total IMPAITMENT .........cvecveceeeceeceeceeeeeeee e (1,182) (217) 4447
RESUIS DEFOIE tAX .....voveoveececees e 1,847 3,115 (40.7)
INCOME TaX EXPENSE ..ottt e (407) (627) (35.1)
RESUILS @FtEr TaX ... ..oieiiiiieiee e 1,440 2,489 (42.1)

Total Income

Total income decreased by €434 million, or 5.7%, from €7,629 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to
€7,195 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to lower results from net
interest income (which decreased by €151 million, or 3.3%, from €4,618 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to €4,467 million for the year ended December 31, 2020), lower results from financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss (which decreased by €148 million, from €181 million for the year ended December
31, 2019 to €33 million for the year ended December 31, 2020) and lower results from net fee and commission
income (which decreased by €125 million, or 7.2%, from €1,734 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
to €1,609 million for the year ended December 31, 2020).

The Group’s total income consists of net interest income, technical insurance results (earned premiums less
technical charges plus the ceded insurance result), dividend income, net result from financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI, net fee and
commission income and other net income, each of which is discussed further below.

Net interest income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net interest income for the year ended December 31,
2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)

TOMAl oo 4,467 4,618 (3.3)
INEErESt INCOME ..ot 6,264 7,244 (13.5)
Interest income on financial instruments calculated using the

effective interest rate method............cccoovveniieieneiienn

Financial assets at amortized COSt............cocvevveeeiviernnens 4,869 5,536 (12.0)

Financial assets at fair value through OCI ..................... 330 333 (0.9

Hedging derivatiVes..........ccooeiiiiiieienee e 377 486 (22.4)

Financial liabilities (negative interest rate) .................... 222 51 335.3

L@ 1311 SRRSO 10 15 (33.3)
Interest income on other financial instruments.....................

Financial assets MFVPL other than held for trading...... 14 8 75.0

Financial assets held for trading..........c.ccoovvevviveicrennnn, 442 816 (45.8)

Of which economic hedges .........ccocervirenerneneeeieee 398 789 (49.6)

Other financial assets at fair value through profit and

JOSS ottt 0 0 -

INTEIESt EXPENSE ...eveeveeeeerieie e stesre e e e st te e sre e ne e aenrens (1,797) (2,626) (31.6)
Interest expense on financial instruments calculated using the

effective interest rate method.............ccocovviiiiicicncnn

Financial liabilities at amortized cost .............ccecevenennn. (707) (1,276) (44.6)

Hedging derivatiVes..........ccoeiiriiieie e (632) (663) 4.7
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Financial assets (negative interest rate)..........cccccccvenee. (79) (70) 12.9

L@ 131 RSP (5) (6) (16.7)
Interest expense on other financial instruments ..................

Financial liabilities held for trading .........c..cccovevvevennenen. (345) (563) (38.7)

Of which economic hedges .........ccovvvereieninie e (313) (525) (40.4)
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

J0SS 1.ttt (25) (40) (37.5)

Net interest expense relating to defined benefit plans ..... ?3) (8) (62.5)

Net interest income decreased by €151 million, or 3.3%, from €4,618 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to €4,467 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the negative
impact of interest rate cuts by the Czech central bank, the depreciation of the Czech koruna and the Hungarian
forint against the euro and lower reinvestment yields, which could not be fully compensated for by the positive
effect of a larger loan and bond portfolio, higher margins on new production of home loans than those on the
outstanding portfolios in Belgium, the Czech Republic and Slovakia, the effect of TLTRO I1I, ECB deposit tiering,
the impact of changes in the scope of consolidation and a positive one-off effect.

Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)

Non-life insurance results (before reinsurance) increased by €109 million, or 14.4%, from €756 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019 to €865 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily
due to growth in premium income (an increase of 3%) and lower technical charges (a decrease of 6%), partly
attributable to lower claims during lockdown periods and despite an increase in the ageing reserves.

Life insurance (before reinsurance)

Life insurance results (before reinsurance) increased by €16 million from a loss of €6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to income of €10 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. However, in compliance
with IFRS, certain types of life insurance (i.e. unit-linked products) have been excluded from the figures for
premiums and technical charges in the life insurance business. If the premium income from such products is
included, premium income from the life insurance business totaled approximately €2 billion in the year ended
December 31, 2020, representing an increase of approximately 8% compared to the year ended December 31,
2019. The increase occurred primarily in Belgium among unit-linked life insurance products. For the Group as a
whole, products offering guaranteed rates and unit-linked products accounted for 51% and 49%, respectively, of
premium income from the life insurance business in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Ceded reinsurance result
Ceded reinsurance results improved by €5 million, from a negative €25 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to a negative €20 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to higher

recoveries in both the Czech Republic and Slovakia related to non-life claims.

Ceded reinsurance result includes the net amount of all actual or estimated amounts which, under contractual
reinsurance arrangements, are recuperated, as well as the premiums paid for this reinsurance.

Dividend income

Dividend income decreased by €29 million, or 35.4%, from €82 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to
€53 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
which negatively impacted dividends in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net result from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:
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Year ended
December 31,

2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)
TOtAl .o 33 181 (81.8)
Total broken down by driver
Market value adjustments (XVA) ......ccccvvvienieeiieiene e 13 1 1,200.0
Change in the value of derivatives used for asset/liability
MAaNAGEMENT PUIPOSES ...vvvrereerrerrereereseestesseeseeseessesseseessessessenses (94) (D) 9,300.0
Financial instruments to which the overlay approach is
APPHIEA . (14) 93 -
Gains or 10SSES 0N SAUE .......cvevverieieiiie e 116 117 (0.9)
IMPAITMENT ..o (131) (24) 445.8
Dealing room and Other ... 128 88 45.5

Net result from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss decreased by €148 million, or 81.8%,
from €181 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to €33 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The decrease was primarily due to the fall in the value of derivatives used for asset/liability management purposes
and a lower result from shares at the insurance business, which more than cancelled out the increase in the
contribution from dealing room results and the positive effect of various fair value adjustments.

Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI

The net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through OCI was not material in the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Net fee and commission income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s net fee and commission income for the year ended
December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)
TOtAl .o 1,609 1,734 (7.2)
Fee and commISSIiON iNCOME .......c.coevveeiieeeieeiie e 2,365 2,476 (4.5)
Fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE ......ccveevevieereerieerieeveeresreesieens (755) (741) 1.9
Breakdown by type
ASSet MaNagEMENT SEIVICES .....coveiuieieeieie e 1,022 1,088 (6.1)
Fee and commission iNCOME.........ccoevererenineeieie e 1,061 1,145 (5.6)
Fee and commisSion eXPenSe. ........coeverereneneeieenieneeees (59) (57) 35
Banking SEIVICES .......ccoriiiiriiiiirieescse s 895 930 (5.9)
Fee and commission iNCOME .......cccvvvvevereiieeeiee e 1,225 1,266 (4.8)
Fee and commIisSioN EXPENSE.......ccurviverireriniriereeeenienienns (330) (336) (1.8)
DISEIDULION ..o s (288) (284) 14
Fee and commission INCOME .........coevvvvrennineneeinenes 78 64 21.9
Fee and commIisSiON eXPENSE.......ccurvevereriereeiriereneenieneenns (366) (348) 5.2

Net fee and commission income decreased by €125 million, or 7.2%, from €1,734 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to €1,609 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to
a decline in fees for asset management services (lower management and entry fees for investment funds and unit-
linked life insurance products), a reduction in fees for banking services (including for payments, which were down
due to the lockdowns, and for loans, the effect of which was only partly offset by higher securities fees) and the
depreciation of the Czech koruna and Hungarian forint against the euro.
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Other net income

The following table shows the components of the Group’s other net income for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:

Year ended
December 31,
2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)
TOAL s 176 282 (37.6)
Of which gains or losses on
Sale of financial assets measured at amortized cost........... 11 14 (21.4)
Repurchase of financial liabilities measured at amortised
COSE vttt 0 9 (100.0)
Other, INCIUAING: ......ciiiiiiiec s 165 259 (36.3)
Income from (mainly operational) leasing activities, KBC
LEASE GIOUPD....ccviviieriisrisiecieeee et 76 72 5.6
Income from VAB Group .....ccccoeevveiieeiie i see e 49 41 195
Settlement of legal Cases.........ccccvevvvievie i, 0 9 -
Provisioning for tracker mortgage review............cccccveeveee. 9 (23) (60.9)
Revaluation of existing shareholding in CMSS ................ - 82 -

Other net income decreased by €106 million, or 37.6%, from €282 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
to €176 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the one-off €82 million
positive impact of the revaluation of the existing 55% stake in CMSS, which benefited the year ended December
31, 2019 when the remaining 45% interest was purchased.

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by €147 million, or 3.4%, from €4,303 million for the year ended December
31,2019 to €4,156 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to lower staff
expenses (including lower provisions for variable remuneration and a fall in the average number of FTES), several
direct effects of the COVID-19 pandemic (including lower expenses for facility services, marketing, events, travel
and professional fees), reduced software expenses (owing to the changed rules for software depreciation) and the
fall in value of the Czech koruna and Hungarian forint against the euro. These items more than offset the negative
impact of wage drift, higher ICT costs and the changes in the scope of consolidation, among other things.

Total impairment

The following table shows the components of the Group’s impairment for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:
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Year ended
December 31,

2020 2019 % change
(EUR million)
TOAL e (1,182) (217) 444.7
Impairment on financial assets at AC and at FVOCI ............... (1,074) (203) 429.1
Of which impairment on financial assets at AC ...........cccccoove.e. (1,069) (204) 424.0
By product
Loans and advancCes............ccvevereerieneresnsinseenee e (1,067) (182) 486.3
DEDt SECUNILIES . .evvevieie e 0 Q) -
Off-balance-sheet commitments and
financial guarantees ..........cccccveevvvivieeieecese s 2 (21) (90.5)
By type
Stage 1 (12-month ECL) ....ccovvevieiec e (44) (20) 120.0
Stage 2 (lifetime ECL) ....oocvviiiiiiciiec e (724) 48 -
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) ....coccvviiiiriiieceeceecs (302) (237) 27.4
Purchased or originated credit impaired assets................ 1 6 (83.3)
Of which impairment on financial assets at FVOCl................. (5) 1 -
DEDt SECUMTIES ..ottt (5) 1 -
Stage 1 (12-month ECL) ....ccoevvviviiiriceees 2 0 -
Stage 2 (lifetime ECL......c.cccovvevieiee e 2 1 -
Stage 3 (lifetime ECL) ...cccocvveviiiieeee e 0 0 -
Impairment on goodwill ... 0 0 -
IMpairment 0N Other ... (108) (14) 671.4
Intangible fixed assets (other than goodwill) .............coccvene. (64) (6) 966.7
Property and equipment (including investment property) ........ 9) 3) 200.0
Associated companies and joint VENTUresS..........ccocevvverenieeenen. 0 0 -
(@13 ST STSTSRR (35) (5) 600.0

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI

Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value through OCI increased by €871 million from
€203 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to €1,074 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The
increase was primarily due to the fallout of the COVID-19 pandemic, for which the Group set aside €783 million
in collective impairment.

Impairment on other

Impairment on other increased by €94 million, from a negative €14 million for the year ended December 31,2019
to a negative €108 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to software
impairment and the accounting treatment of the various payment moratoria schemes related to the COVID-19
pandemic in the Group’s core markets.

Results before tax

Results before tax decreased by €1,269 million, or 40.7%, from €3,116 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to €1,847 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to higher
impairments on financial assets at amortized cost and fair value through OCI and which were triggered by
substantial collective impairment creations due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense decreased by €220 million, or 35.1%, from €627 million for the year ended December 31,

2019 to €407 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the lower result
before tax, which resulted in a lower tax burden.
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Results after tax

Results after tax decreased by €1,049 million, or 42.1%, from €2,489 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to €1,440 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the lower result
before tax, partly compensated by lower income tax expense.

Results by Business Unit

The Group is structured around three business units: the Belgium Business Unit, the Czech Republic Business
Unit and the International Markets Business Unit. In addition to its three business units, the Group also reports on
“Group Centre”, comprising the results of the holding company, items that have not been allocated to the other
business units, and the results of companies to be divested (including, as of January 1, 2022, the Group’s business
in Ireland). In the Group’s financial reporting, KBC Bank Ireland was included in the International Markets
Business Unit as at and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. For a further discussion of the
Group’s segment reporting, see Note 2 to the 2021 Financial Statements and the 2020 Financial Statements.

The following tables set forth certain data for the Group’s business units for the six-month periods ended June 30,
2022 and 2021 and the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:
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Net iNterest iNCOME ........covverecrnicneenecreeeeees
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)............c.......
Earned premiums.........ccoeeeeeeeeeeeeeenenenene
Technical charges
Life insurance (before reinsurance).........cccoovveevenne.
Earned premiums........ccceeveeesneneeesneneneenns
Technical charges..........cccovveeevneecerreeen,
Ceded reinsurance result............cooovereeeneeeenieeneeennns
Dividend iNCOME .......c.ovevrieriecnieneececeeeienes
Net result from financial instruments at fair value
through profit Or [0SS..........ccovvrecrenrneneeees
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair
value through OCl ...
Net fee and commission iNCOME...........cccceeiecerenenenens
Other NEt INCOME ........cveveeeicicicccee e
TOTAL INCOME
Operating expenses
Impairment........cccccovvvverinnn.
on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair
value through OCl........c.ccovverernereennenenereeenens
Share in results of associated companies and joint
VENEUTES ..o
RESULT BEFORE TAX
INCOME X EXPENSE ..o
Net post-tax result from discontinued operations......
RESULT AFTER TAX ..ot
attributable to minority interests.........c.cocoeevrerecenenes

attributable to equity holders of the parent...........

Six months ended June 30, 2022

Czech International
Belgium Republic Markets
Business Business Business Group
Unit Unit Unit Of which: Centre Of which: KBC Group
Hungary Slovakia Bulgaria Ireland
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

1,311 666 380 192 114 74 90 127 2,448
226 97 87 29 17 41 9 0 419
617 191 174 72 34 69 8 0 990

(391) (95) (87) (42) 17 (28) 2 0 (571)
(26) 29 22 6 7 10 0 0 24
413 84 59 21 15 23 0 0 556
(440) (55) 37) (15) (8) (13) 0 0 (531)
47 (6) (6) @ @ ©) (10) 0 26
25 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 28
87 107 54 33 23 ) (15) 4) 233
2 (12) (5) (5) 0 0 (3) 0 (16)
658 112 165 105 36 24 (2) 1 934
135 13 1) 4) 1 2 3) @) 144
2,466 1,008 697 354 197 146 69 118 4,239
(1,456) (475) (498) (290) (128) (81) (162) (115) (2,591)
18 2) (39) (21) (5) (13) 27) (23) (50)
25 8 (24) (7) (5) (13) (2) 1 6
4) 1) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5)
1,025 529 160 44 64 52 (120) (21) 1,594
(235) (86) (35) (15) (15) (6) 31 4 (325)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
790 443 125 29 50 47 (90) a7 1,269
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
790 443 125 29 50 47 (90) a7) 1,269
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NEt INtEreSt INCOME ....vvvireiiiriririrrie e
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)
Earned premiums..........ccceeeeeeenenenenenenenenenens
Technical Charges..........cocvverernineeeree e
Life insurance (before reinsurance)..........cccovveeeenrecennenenens
Earned premiums.........ccceeeeneneeenenenencennens
Technical charges..............
Ceded reinsurance result
Dividend INCOME .......coviiriririrrrese e
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOfIt OF 10SS ..ottt e
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OC ] ittt
Net fee and commission income.....
Other netincome...........c.ccco..ee.
TOTAL INCOME..................
Operating eXpenses ...
IMPAIMENT....coiiiiiie e
on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value
tArOUGN OCl ...
Share in results of associated companies and joint ventures......
RESULT BEFORE TAX....ocoiitrieininesisisesessssssssssesssesnens
INCOME tX EXPENSE ....cvuvvvrreiieieieieiee s
Net post-tax result from discontinued operations
RESULT AFTER TAX ..o
attributable to minority INtErestS........cocoveeeeeeeceiererereeins

attributable to equity holders of the parent.............cccccoeneene

Six months ended June 30, 2021

Czech
Belgium Republic International
Business Business Markets Group KBC
Unit Unit Business Unit  Of which: Centre Group
Hungary Slovakia Bulgaria Ireland
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

1,263 435 470 144 115 69 142 (6) 2,162
283 73 86 29 20 37 0 9 451
582 160 166 72 29 64 0 7 916

(299) (87) (80) (43) (10) (27) 0 2 (464)
(25) 29 19 4 7 8 0 0 22
416 94 54 19 16 19 0 0 564

(442) (65) (35) (15) 9) (12) 0 0 (542)

(4) 5 9 @) Q) O] 0 ®) (12)
21 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 25
158 36 24 24 3 0 (3) (62) 156
2 @) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
649 105 140 92 35 15 2 3) 890
74 13 5 1 2 2 (1) 1) 91
2,421 695 735 294 177 129 135 (65) 3,786
(1,359) (415) (485) (175) (128) (72) (109) (33)  (2,293)
121 62 23 19 3 1 0 5) 200
118 66 27 22 3 2 0 (5) 206
0 1) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1)
1,183 340 273 137 51 58 26 (103) 1,693
(275) (50) (44) (20) (13) (6) (5) 27 (342)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
908 291 228 118 38 52 21 (76) 1,350
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
908 291 228 118 38 52 21 (76) 1,350
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NEt INtEreSt INCOME .....overeiiiriririreisie e
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance).........ccocoeeeeeeververireneeens
Earned premiums..........ccceeeeeeenenenenenenenenenens
Technical charges
Life insurance (before reinsurance)..........cccovveeevnereceinnenenees
Earned premiums..........cceeeereennneeee e seeieesenees
Technical charges..............
Ceded reinsurance result
Dividend income
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOfIt OF 10SS ..ot
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OCH ittt ssesesienes
Net fee and commission income
Other NEt INCOME ...

TOTAL INCOME.......ccoitiieneeeesieee e
OPerating EXPENSES? ......c.cvvveeeieereirereeier e
IMPAIMENT....coiiiiiie e
on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value
thrOUGN OCH ...t
Share in results of associated companies and joint ventures......
RESULT BEFORE TAX....oooinrrieirineennisisesessssssssssesesesnens
INCOME X EXPENSE ...evrvviviriereireseieset sttt eens
Net post-tax result from discontinued operations.......................
RESULT AFTER TAX .ot
attributable to minority interests
attributable to equity holders of the parent.........
Of which non-cash expenses .........ccoovrrrrrrrinnne
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets...
Other ..
Acquisitions of Non-current assets®..........ccocevereeerienerenerienens

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups, investment property, property and equipment, investments in associated companies, and goodwill and other intangible assets.

Year ended December 31, 2021

Czech
Belgium Republic International
Business Business Markets Group KBC
Unit Unit Business Unit  Of which: Centre Group
Hungary Slovakia Bulgaria Ireland
(EUR million)
2,533 972 962 31 229 141 282 (16) 4,451
460 142 160 52 35 73 0 19 782
1,197 337 336 143 62 132 0 15 1,885
(737) (194) (176) 91) (26) (59) 0 4 (1,103)
(55) 61 39 9 13 17 0 (@) 45
903 182 111 40 31 39 0 @) 1,196
(958) (121) (71) (31) (18) (23) 0 0 (1,150)
36 17 (16) @ ] )] 0 (12) 25
38 1 1 0 0 0 0 5 45
224 95 23 21 8 0 5) (198) 145
2 @) 2 2 0 0 0 6 6
1,320 214 305 198 71 39 (©)] 3) 1,836
195 8 ) 3 6 5 (21) 28 223
4,754 1,506 1,469 592 356 268 253 (171) 7,558
(2,436) (803) (1,048) (335) (260) (140) (313) (109) (4,396)
303 126 (160) 9 15 @) (183) ©) 261
309 142 (110) 22 16 2 (149) @] 334
3) 3) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5)
2,618 827 262 267 111 127 (243) (288) 3,418
(621) (129) (135) (40) (26) (13) (55) 81 (804)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1,997 697 127 226 85 114 (298) (207) 2,614
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1,997 697 127 226 85 114 (298) (207) 2,614
(48) (96) (119) (38) (19) (16) (46) (83) (346)
(57) 97) (120) (38) (19) (16) (46) (82) (356)
10 1 1 1 0 0 0 @ 10
456 183 252 83 75 80 14 110 1,001
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NEt INtEreSt INCOME .....overeiiiriririreisie e
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance)
Earned premiums..........ccceeeeeeenenenenenenenenenens
Technical charges.........cccoevrecennccensees
Life insurance (before reinsurance)..........cccovveeevnnenceenenenees
Earned premiums..........cceeeereennneeee e seeieesenees
Technical charges..............
Ceded reinsurance result
Dividend income
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOfIt OF 10SS ..ot
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OCH ittt ssesesienes
Net fee and commission income
Other NEt INCOME ...
TOTAL INCOME.......coniiinnneeee e
Operating expenses?
IMPAITMENT....c.iiiii s
on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value
tArOUGN OCl ...
Share in results of associated companies and joint ventures......
RESULT BEFORE TAX
INCOME X EXPENSE ....cvvvvvrreirieieiei e
Net post-tax result from discontinued operations.......................
RESULT AFTER TAX .o
attributable to minority INtErestS........cocoveeeececececreerereene
attributable to equity holders of the parent...........c.ccccceeneens
Of which non-cash expenses ........cccovvvrvrvirriririennns
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets...
OEhEE e
Acquisitions of non-current assets™..........ccocevevveviiieiiiieseniennns

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups, investment property, property and equipment, investments in associated companies, and goodwill and other intangible assets.

Year ended December 31, 2020

Czech
Belgium Republic International
Business Business Markets Group KBC
Unit Unit Business Unit  Of which: Centre Group
Hungary Slovakia Bulgaria Ireland
(EUR million)

2,579 1,012 894 262 202 144 286 (18) 4,467
562 141 150 55 27 68 0 13 865
1,141 302 321 143 52 126 0 12 1,777
(579) (161) 172) (88) (25) (58) 0 0 912)
(63) 43 26 @ 12 15 0 @) 10
913 206 105 35 34 36 0 0 1,223
976) (158) (79) (36) (22) (22) 0 0 (1,213)
(12) @ ©) ® 3 ) 0 0] (20)
47 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 53

32 7 43 39 9 0 (@) (51) 33

0 1 2 1 2 0 0 0 2
1,138 203 273 191 58 28 (€)] ()] 1,609
157 13 8 4 8 3 ) 1) 176
4,438 1,425 1,391 548 320 253 269 (59) 7,195
(2,398) (752) (894) (323) (204) (139) (228) (111) (4,156)
(695) (226) (250) (85) (45) (30) (91) (11) (1,182)
(654) (210) (217) (59) (42) 27) (90) 7 (1,074)
9) 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 (11)
1,335 446 247 140 71 84 (50) (181) 1,847
(335) (71) (48) (26) (15) 9) 2 46 (407)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1,001 375 199 114 56 76 (48) (135) 1,440
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1,001 375 199 114 56 76 (48) (135) 1,440
(52) (85) (96) (35) (17) (15) (29) (76) (310)
(53) (86) (94) (33) (17) (15) (29) (76) (309)
1 1 2 ) 0 0 0 0 (@)

489 227 225 96 64 40 25 148 1,089
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Year ended December 31, 2019

Czech International
Belgium Republic Markets
Business Business Business Group KBC
Unit Unit Unit Of which: Centre Group
Hungary Slovakia Bulgaria Ireland
(EUR million)

NEL INTErESE INCOME ....vvveeceeieirieceeie e es 2,516 1,277 863 254 204 141 263 (38) 4,618
Non-life insurance (before reinsurance) 494 115 136 48 28 60 0 10 756

Earned premiums..........ccceeeeeeenenenenenenenenenens 1,115 281 315 145 47 122 0 10 1,721

Technical charges.........cccoevrecennccensees (621) (166) (179) 97) (19) (62) 0 0 (966)
Life insurance (before reinsurance).........cccoeovvveeeernresenieinenes (95) 54 36 8 12 16 0 0 (6)
Earned premiums ........ccoeeerenneeeeierneeeee e eeens 1,000 228 95 17 43 36 0 0 1,323
Technical charges.................... (1,095) (174) (60) 9 (30) (21) 0 0 (1,329)
Ceded reinsurance result 2 (5) 8 )] 2 (5) 0 ) (25)
Dividend income 78 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 82
Net result from financial instruments at fair value through
PrOfIt OF 10SS ..ot 177 (85) 48 33 4 15 4 41 181
Net realized result from debt instruments at fair value through
OCl ot 4 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 6
Net fee and commission income 1,182 254 301 215 65 24 2 3) 1,734
ONEE NELINCOME ...t ese s ese s see e seeeen 187 102 (11) 2 9 1 (23) 3 282
TOTAL INCOME oo 4,542 1,714 1,367 558 322 252 235 6 7,629
Operating expenses? (2,485) (770) (932) (353) (211) (139) (229) (116) (4,303)
IMPRITMENT.....c.ieiieiririceee e (244) 17) 12 (@] (1) 9 33 32 (217)

on financial assets at amortized cost and at fair value

through OCl ... (241) (12) 18 1 (1) (5) 33 32 (203)

Share in results of associated companies and joint ventures..... (6) 8 S 0 0 0 0 0 7
RESULT BEFORE TAX......coomrvriviiiisnsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 1,807 935 452 204 100 104 39 (78) 3,116
INCOME taX EXPENSE ....c.veeiiririririeiee e (463) (146) (73) (31) (22) (11) (10) 55 (627)
Net post-tax result from discontinued operations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
RESULT AFTER TAX oo 1,344 789 379 173 79 93 29 (23) 2,489
attributable to minority iNterests..........cceoceeeiernnnnrrrrse 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
attributable to equity holders of the parent...............c.......... 1,344 789 379 173 79 93 29 (23) 2,489
Of which non-cash expenses ..........ccccevereeecvernenen. (52) (89) (95) (38) (17) (15) (26) (112) (348)

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets... (53) (91) (95) (37) a7 (15) (26) (113) (351)

OUhBE o 0 2 ()] ()] 0 0 0 1 3
Acquisitions of non-current assets™..........ccocevevveviiieiiiieseniennns 560 178 308 80 70 104 53 183 1,228

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups, investment property, property and equipment, investments in associated companies, and goodwill and other intangible assets.
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Belgium Business Unit

Results after tax for the Belgium Business Unit decreased by €118 million, or 13.0%, from €908 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2021 to €790 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was
primarily due to higher costs mainly due to wage drift/indexation, higher ICT expenses and higher banking taxes,
as well as higher impairments, mainly related to exceptional geopolitical and emerging risks, only partly
compensated by higher total income.

Results after tax for the Belgium Business Unit increased by €996 million, or 99.5%, from €1,001 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020 to €1,997 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net interest income was €2,533 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, a decrease of 2% when compared
to the year prior. The decrease was primarily due to a lower reinvestment yields and lower interest income from
the insurer’s bond portfolio.

Net fee and commission income in the year ended December 31, 2021 was €1,320 million, an increase of 16%
when compared to the year prior. This was primarily attributable to an increase in fees for asset management
services (due to higher management fees) and, to a lesser extent, to an increase in fees for banking services (mainly
for payments).

The technical insurance results from insurance activities in Belgium was €441 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. In the non-life segment, the positive impact of growth in premium income and the higher
reinsurance result were offset by the significant increase in claims through the year ended December 31, 2021.
The latter was partly due to the consequences of the heavy flooding during the period. Moreover, the COVID-19
lockdown measures had resulted in a relatively low level of claims the year before. The Group’s life insurance
sales, including investment contracts without a discretionary participation feature, were €1,626 million in the year
ended December 31, 2021, a decrease of 2% when compared to the year prior. The decrease was primarily due to
a slight decline in sales of unit-linked life insurance.

The other income items for the year ended December 31, 2021 comprised dividends received on securities held
in the Group’s portfolios (€38 million), trading and fair value income (€224 million, a significant increase
compared to the year-earlier figure) and other net income (€195 million, relating mainly to the results of KBC
Autolease and VAB, proceeds from the sale of certain bonds, and miscellaneous smaller one-off items such as the
gain on the sale of the KBC Tower in Antwerp).

Costs in Belgium increased by 2% to €2,436 million in the year ended December 31, 2021. However, part of the
increase was related to exceptional and/or non-operating items, such as higher bank taxes, the payment of an
exceptional COVID-19-related bonus to staff and the reversal of a provision for expenses connected with the sale
of the KBC Tower in Antwerp.

The Group recorded a net reversal of €309 million in loan loss impairments for the year ended December 31,
2021, as opposed to a net increase of €654 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. The high figure for the
year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to the €413 million of collective impairments initially set aside
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group was able to reverse €313 million of this amount in the year
ended December 31, 2021. Impairment of assets other than loans was €6 million in the year ended December 31,
2021, as compared to €41 million a year earlier. This was primarily due to software and the accounting impact of
payment moratoria schemes due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results after tax for the Belgium Business Unit decreased by €343 million, or 26%, from €1,344 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019 to €1,001 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Net interest income, which was €2,579 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, increased by 3% when
compared to the year prior, principally due to the positive effect of TLTRO IIl, ECB tiering, growth in lending
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volumes and a positive one-off item which more than offset the negative impact of factors such as low
reinvestment yields.

Net fee and commission income for the year ended December 31, 2020 was €1,138 million, a decrease of 4%
when compared to the prior year. On balance, there was a net increase in fees for the Group’s banking services
(particularly related to securities); however, this was offset by the lower contribution made by the Group’s asset
management activities and higher distribution fees paid for the sale of funds and insurance products.

The technical insurance results from the insurance activities in Belgium was €487 million in the year ended
December 31, 2020. In the non-life segment, the Group saw growth in premium income due to a reduction in
claims as a result of the COVID-19 lockdown measures and a decrease in reinsurance result. The Group’s life
insurance sales, including investment contracts without a discretionary participation feature, were €1.7 billion in
the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of 12% when compared to the year prior. This growth was due to
unit-linked life insurance products.

The other income items for the year ended December 31, 2020 were comprised of dividends received on securities
held in the Group’s portfolios which were €47 million, trading and fair value income which was €32 million and
other net income which was €157 million and related mainly to the results of KBC Autolease, VAB, etc. as well
as miscellaneous smaller one-off items).

Costs in Belgium decreased by 4% to €2,398 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. Excluding bank taxes,
the reduction was 5%, due to strict cost control, as reflected in a reduction in average FTEs, lower accruals for
variable remuneration, lower marketing, travel, facilities and event costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic and
lower software related expenses owing to the changed depreciation rules.

The Group recorded €654 million in loan loss impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2020, as
opposed to €241 million in the year prior. This increase was primarily due to €413 million of collective
impairments set aside for the COVID-19 pandemic. Impairment of assets other than loans in the year ended
December 31, 2020 was €41 million and related primarily to software and the accounting impact of payment
moratoria schemes due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Czech Republic Business Unit

Results after tax for the Czech Republic Business Unit increased by €152 million, or 52.2%, from €291 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to €443 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was
primarily due to higher total income mainly as a result of rate increases in the Czech Republic, partly offset by
higher costs, mainly due to wage drift/inflation and foreign exchange impact given the strong appreciation of
Czech Koruna, and higher impairments, mainly related to exceptional geopolitical and emerging risks.

Results after tax for the Czech Republic Business Unit increased by €322 million, or 85.9%, from €375 million
for the year ended December 31, 2020 to €697 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net interest income in the Czech Republic was €972 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, a decrease of
4% when compared to the year prior. The decrease was primarily due to lower reinvestment yields and pressure
on loan portfolio margins (in particular, with respect to mortgage loans).

Net fee and commission income was €214 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase of 5% when
compared to the year prior. The increase was primarily due to higher fees for asset management services and
banking services (such as payment transactions) and the positive exchange rate effect.

The technical insurance results from the insurance activities in the Czech Republic was €221 million in the year
ended December 31, 2021, an increase of 18% when compared to the year prior. In the non-life segment, the
Group saw growth in premium income and reinsurance result as well as an increase in technical charges, partly
due to the consequences of extreme weather conditions, whereas in the year prior, the Group saw a relatively low
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level of claims due to the lockdowns. Sales of life insurance in the year ended December 31, 2021 were
€182 million, a decrease of 11% compared to the prior year, owing primarily to weaker sales of unit-linked life-
insurance products.

Other income items for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily comprised trading and fair value income
(€95 million, a significant increase compared to the year prior) and other net income (€8 million).

Costs increased by 7% or €51 million when compared to the year December 31, 2020 to €803 million in the year
ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to effects of exceptional and/or non-operating items,
such as higher bank taxes, the payment of an exceptional COVID-19-related bonus to staff and the exchange rate
effect. Excluding these items, costs rose by approximately 2% over the same period.

In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group recorded a net reversal of €142 million in loan loss impairment
charges, as opposed to a net increase of €210 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. The amount for the
year ended December 31, 2020 was higher partly due to collective impairments initially set aside for the COVID-
19 pandemic. The Group was able to reverse €93 million of this amount in the year ended December 31, 2021.
Impairment of assets other than loans was €16 million in both the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Results after tax for the Czech Republic Business Unit decreased by €414 million, or 52.5%, from €789 million
for the year ended December 31, 2019 to €697 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Net interest income in the Czech Republic was €1,012 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease
of 21% when compared to the year prior, reflecting several negative factors, including the effect of interest rate
cuts by the CNB, pressure on margins and the depreciation of the Czech koruna, despite the positive impact of the
full consolidation of CMSS (the “CMSS effect”).

Net fee and commission income was €203 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease of 20% when
compared to the prior year, primarily due to lower contribution amounts from fees for banking services such as
payments and the negative impact of the depreciation of the Czech koruna, both of which were only partially
offset by the positive CMSS effect.

The technical insurance results from the insurance activities in the Czech Republic was €188 million in the year
ended December 31, 2020, an increase of 15% when compared to the year prior. In the non-life segment, the
Group saw growth in premium income, but also a reduction in technical charges partly due to fewer claims because
of the COVID-19 lockdown measures. Sales of life insurance for the year ended December 31, 2020 were
€206 million, 10% lower than the previous year, owing primarily to weaker sales of unit-linked life insurance
products.

The other income items for the year ended December 31, 2020 were mainly comprised of trading and fair value
income (€7 million) and other net income (€13 million). Other net income for this period was €89 million less
than in the year ended December 31, 2019, where there was a positive one-off effect of €82 million from the
revaluation of the existing 55% stake in CMSS when the remaining 45% stake was acquired.

Costs decreased by 2% to €752 million in the year December 31, 2020. The negative influence of factors such as
wage drift, higher software-related expenses owing to the changed depreciation rules for software, the CMSS
effect and higher bank taxes were more than offset by cost savings in the form of lower accruals for variable
remuneration, a reduction in the average FTE count, lower marketing, travel, facilities and event costs and the
lower exchange rate of the Czech koruna.

Loan loss impairment charges were €210 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to €12 million
in the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was primarily due to €162 million in collective impairments
set aside for the COVID-19 pandemic. Impairment of assets other than loans in the year ended December 31, 2020
were €16 million and primarily related to software and the accounting impact of payment moratoria schemes due
to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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International Markets Business Unit

Results after tax for the International Markets Business Unit decreased by €103 million, or 45.2%, from €228
million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to €125 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The
decrease was primarily due to the transfer of KBC Bank Ireland from the International Markets Business Unit to
Group Centre as of January 1, 2022, an extraordinary sectoral tax charge in Hungary (€78 million), higher
impairments, mainly related to exceptional geopolitical and emerging risks, and modification losses, largely
related to the interest cap regulation in Hungary (the interest cap was extended until December 31, 2022).

Results after tax for the International Markets Business Unit decreased by €72 million, or 36.2%, from €199
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to €127 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net interest income for the International Markets Business Unit as a whole was €962 million in the year ended
December 31, 2021, an increase of 8% compared to December 31, 2020. This increase was due to the
consolidation of OTP Banka Slovensko in Slovakia, growth in lending and a strong increase in reinvestment yields
in the second half of the year in the Group’s operations in Hungary.

Net fee and commission income was €305 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, which reflected a 12%
increase, mainly attributable to higher fees for banking services in virtually all of the Group’s countries of
operations and due in part to the impact of changes in the scope of consolidation.

The International Markets Business Unit’s technical insurance results were €184 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, an increase of 8% on the prior year’s figure. In the non-life segment, the Group saw growth
in premium income accompanied by a slight increase in technical charges (partly due to the lower level of claims
during the lockdowns in the previous year) and a lower reinsurance result. Sales of life insurance, including
investment contracts without a discretionary participation feature, were €156 million, an increase of 22% on the
prior year’s figure, owing primarily to the consolidation of NN’s Bulgarian life insurance business. The other
income items comprised trading and fair value income (€23 million) and other income (negative €7 million, which
includes additional expenses connected with the tracker mortgage review in Ireland).

In the year ended December 31, 2021, costs rose by 17%, or by €154 million, to €1,048 million when compared
to the prior year. A significant factor of this increase was related to exceptional and/or non-operating items, such
as one-off costs connected with the sale of the Group’s operations in Ireland, as well as the changes in the scope
of consolidation and the payment of an exceptional COVID-19-related bonus to staff, partly offset by the positive
impact of changes in exchange rates and lower bank taxes.

There was a €110 million net increase in loan loss impairment charges in the year ended December 31, 2021,
compared with a net increase of €217 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. The relatively high figure for
the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to collective impairments initially being set aside for the
COVID-19 pandemic (€208 million), which the Group was able to reverse in part in the year ended December 31,
2021. However, the latter was more than offset by the one-off negative impact of the sale of the Group’s operations
in Ireland (€178 million). Impairment of assets other than loans were €50 million in year ended December 31,
2021, as opposed to €33 million the prior year. The figure for the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily
due to impairment charges on software and the accounting treatment of the various payment moratoria schemes
related to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Group’s core markets whereas in the year ended December 31, 2021,
the net increase in loan loss impairment charges related primarily to impairment of property and equipment and
intangible assets connected with the sale of the Group’s operations in Ireland, and to a lesser extent because of
modification losses.

Results after tax for the International Markets Business Unit decreased by €180 million, or 47.5%, from €379
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to €199 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Net interest income for the International Markets Business Unit as a whole was €894 million in the year ended
December 31, 2020, an increase of 4% compared to the year prior, despite the depreciation of the Hungarian forint
against the euro and the pressure on lending margins.

Net fee and commission income in the year ended December 31, 2020 (€273 million) decreased by 9% as
compared to the year prior, largely due to lower contributions from asset management activities (especially, in
Hungary) and banking services mainly in Slovakia and the depreciation of the Hungarian forint, which were only
partially offset by a reduction in distribution fees paid.

The business unit’s technical insurance results, which are confined to Hungary, Slovakia and Bulgaria, were
€170 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of 4% when compared to the prior year’s amount.
In the non-life segment, the Group saw growth in premium income accompanied by a reduction in technical
charges (partly due to the lower level of claims during the lockdowns). Sales of life insurance, including
investment contracts without a discretionary participation feature, were €128 million in the year ended December
31, 2020, a decrease of 7% when compared to the year prior, and was primarily due to lower sales of unit-linked
life insurance products in Slovakia and Hungary.

The other income items for the year ended December 31, 2020 were mainly comprised of trading and fair value
income (€43 million) and other income (€8 million, including a number of one-off items, such as negative €9
million in relation to the tracker mortgage review in Ireland).

Costs decreased by 4% to €894 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 due to strict cost control measures,
the direct impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the depreciation of the Hungarian forint. There was a €217
million net increase in loan loss impairment charges in the year ended December 31, 2020, compared with a net
reversal of €18 million in the year prior. This increase was primarily due to collective impairments set aside for
the COVID-19 pandemic (€208 million). Impairment of assets other than loans in the year ended December 31,
2020 (€33 million) was related in part to software and the accounting impact of payment moratoria schemes due
to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Group Centre

Results after tax for the Group Centre decreased by €14 million, or 18.4%, from a loss of €76 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2021 to a loss of €90 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was
primarily due to the inclusion of Ireland in the Group Centre since 2022 in relation to the pending sale.

Results after tax for the Group Centre decreased by €72 million, or 53.3%, from a loss of €135 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020 to a loss of €207 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was
primarily due to the recognition of €28 million of badwill related to the acquisition of OTP Banka Slovensko in
the year ended December 31, 2021, the results of the remaining Group companies scheduled for rundown,
including the portfolio of the former Antwerp Diamond Bank and KBC Finance Ireland, and due in part to the
lower value of derivatives used for asset/liability management purposes in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Results after tax for the Group Centre decreased by €112 million from a loss of €23 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to a loss of €135 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily
due to the €34 million one-off positive impact of a new hedging policy of foreign exchange participations in the
year December 31, 2019, which resulted in a substantial part of the Group’s existing hedges being terminated. In
addition, the decrease was due, in part, to the results of the remaining Group companies scheduled for run-down,
including the portfolio of the former Antwerp Diamond Bank and KBC Finance Ireland, and the lower value of
derivatives used for asset/liability management purposes in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Financial Condition

The following table summarizes the components of the Group’s balance sheet data as at the dates indicated.
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As at As at

June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances with central banks and
other demand deposits with credit institutions 53,360 40,653 24,583 8,356
Financial assetS........ccocvvriireneinienesesee 301,953 281,658 286,386 273,399
Reinsurers’ share in technical provisions,
INSUFANCE ...ttt 242 191 145 121
Profit/loss on positions in portfolios hedged
against interest rate risk...........cceocevveiinicnenns (3,618) (436) 1,360 478
TAX ASSELS vvvveeeieee ittt 1,274 1,296 1,624 1,434
Non-current assets held for sale and disposal
GIOUPS «. vttt ettt ste e sne e ens 9,023 10,001 19 29
Investments in associated companies and joint
VENEUIES ...t 34 37 24 25
Property and equipment and investment
[OT40] 01T 1 YA R T 3,505 3,568 3,691 3,818
Goodwill and other intangible assets............... 1,773 1,749 1,551 1,458
Other ASSELS .....eeevvveecieciie e 2,260 1,630 1,361 1,474
TOtal @SSELS...ccvviicvieerii it 369,807 340,346 320,743 290,591
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Financial liabilitieS.........cccoevviiiiiiiiicciees 326,078 291,667 276,781 248,400
Technical provisions, before reinsurance ........ 18,817 18,967 18,718 18,560
Profit/loss on positions in portfolios hedged
against interest rate risk..........c.ccevveveeievnennn, (1,544) (863) 99 (122)
Tax HabilitieS......ccovvveiviiieie e 222 435 498 476
Liabilities associated with disposal groups ..... 3,278 4,262 - -
Provisions for risks and charges.............ccc...... 286 282 209 227
Other Habilities......ccccoveivierieieiece e 2,430 2,520 2,908 2,827
Total liabilities ......ccoceoviiieiiieeie e 349,568 317,269 299,214 270,369
Total eQUILY ..oceveececece e 20,239 23,077 21,530 20,222
Parent sharcholders’ equity ..........cccoevevernnnnen. 18,739 21,577 20,030 18,722
Additional tier-1 instruments included in
BOUITY oo 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500
Total liabilities and equity ........cccceverernnnnne 369,807 340,346 320,743 290,591
Assets

As at June 30, 2022, the Group’s total assets were €369,807 million, an increase of €29,461 million, or 8.7%, as
compared to €340,346 million as at December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to an increase of cash,
cash balances with central banks and other demand deposits with credit institutions (up €12,707 million, or 31%,
as compared to December 31, 2021) and reverse repos (up €11,931 million, or 48%, as compared to December
31, 2021), primarily due to higher balances at the National Bank of Belgium, European Central Bank and the
Czech National Bank. In addition, this increase reflected a strong increase in the loan portfolio (up €9,256 million
as compared to December 31, 2021) due to strong term loan and mortgage loan growth.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group’s total assets were €340,346 million, an increase of €19,603 million, or 6%,
as compared to €320,743 million as at December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of cash,
cash balances with central banks and other demand deposits with credit institutions (up €16,070 million, or 65%
as compared to December 31, 2020, due primarily to higher balances at the National Bank of Belgium, European
Central Bank and the Bank of England. Both the strong increase in non-current assets held for sale and disposal
groups and the substantial decrease in financial assets relate to the transfer of the loan portfolio of KBC Ireland
in connection with the upcoming sale (following the application of IFRS 5). Excluding this transfer from the
Group’s financial assets, the change in total assets between December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was due
to a strong increase in the loan portfolio (in all countries), partly offset by a decreasing bond portfolio (mainly in
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Belgium) following matured and sold positions which were not yet fully reinvested due to unfavorable market
conditions.

As at December 31, 2020, the Group’s total assets were €320,743 million, an increase of €30,152 million, or 10%,
as compared to €290,591 million as at December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to an increase of cash,
cash balances with central banks and other demand deposits with credit institutions (up €16,227 million as
compared to December 31, 2019), due primarily to higher balances driven by TLTRO IlI funding and placed at
the National Bank of Belgium, European Central Bank and the Bank of England. Additionally, a strong increase
of financial assets (up by €12,987 million as compared to December 31, 2019) due to strong mortgage loan growth
in all countries and an increasing bond portfolio and the integration of OTP Banka Slovensko (not included in
consolidation as at December 31, 2019) also contributed to the Group’s increase in total assets.

Liabilities

As at June 30, 2022, the Group’s total liabilities were €349,568 million, an increase of €32,299 million, or 10.2%,
as compared to €317,269 million as at December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to strongly growing
repos (up €19,012 million as compared to December 31, 2021) and client-driven deposits (up €17,817 million as
compared to December 31, 2021).

As at December 31, 2021, the Group’s total liabilities were €317,269 million, an increase of €18,055 million, or
6%, as compared to total liabilities of €299,214 million as at December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due
to an increase in financial liabilities, due primarily to strong client-driven deposit growth and a robust increase in
non-maturity funding (primarily saving and deposit accounts) in all of the Group’s core markets, and to a lesser
extent, additional TLTRO III funding. The strong increase in liabilities associated with disposal groups (up €4,262
million as compared to December 31, 2020) related to the transfer of client deposits of KBC Bank Ireland in view
of the upcoming sale (applying IFRS5).

As at December 31, 2020, the Group’s total liabilities were €299,214 million, an increase of €28,845 million, or
11%, as compared to €270,369 million as at December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to an increase
in financial liabilities, due primarily to additional TLTRO I1I funding, and to a lesser extent, to strong client-
driven deposit growth and a robust increase in non-maturity funding (primarily saving and deposit accounts) in
all of the Group’s core markets.

Equity

As at June 30, 2022, the Group’s total equity was €20,239 million, a decrease of €2,838 million, or 12.3%, as
compared to €23,077 million as at December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the inclusion of the
profit for the first six months (an increase of €1.3 billion), the dividend payment in May 2022 (a decrease of €3.2
billion), a decrease in the revaluation reserves (a decrease of €0.9 billion) and various smaller items.

As at December 31, 2021, the Group’s total equity was €23,077 million, an increase of €1,547 million, or 7%, as
compared to €21,530 million as at December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of the
annual profit (an increase of €2.6 billion), an increase in the revaluation reserves (an increase of €0.4 billion), the
dividend payments in May and November 2021 (a decrease of €1.4 billion) and various smaller items.

As at December 31, 2020, the Group’s total equity was €21,530 million, an increase of €1,308 million, or 6%, as
compared to €20,222 million as at December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of the
annual profit (an increase of €1.4 billion), an increase in the revaluation reserves for debt instruments (an increase
of €0.1 billion), translation differences (a decrease of €0.3 billion, due largely to the depreciation in the reporting
period of the Czech koruna and the Hungarian forint) and various smaller items.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the Group’s cash flow for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
and the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)

(Unaudited)
Net cash from or used in operating

ACTIVILIES oo 29,403 44,424 14,043 26,369 (2,462)
Net cash from or used in investing

ACTIVILIES cvvvvevieviiec e (2,538) 135 822 (7,253) (1,854)
Net cash from or used in financing

ACHIVIIES oo, (3,319) (795) (448) 451 (1,148)
Net increase or decrease in cash and

cash equivalents...........ccoceevreriicnnnn, 23,546 43,764 14,417 19,566 (5,464)
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the period..................... 63,554 47,794 47,794 29,118 34,354
Effects of exchange rate changes on

opening cash and cash equivalents... (120) 790 1,343 (891) 228
Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the period .........cccovvviviieiiie, 86,980 92,348 63,554 47,794 29,118

Net cash from or used in operating activities

Net cash from operating activities was €29,403 million in the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to net
cash from operating activities of €44,424 million in the six months ended June 30, 2021. This change was
primarily due to the significant growth of deposits, thanks to higher demand deposits and repos, slightly offset by
an increasing mortgage and term loan portfolio.

Net cash from operating activities was €14,043 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to €26,369
million in the year ended December 31, 2020. This change was primarily due to the lower amount borrowed under
TLTRO III, €2.5 billion in the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to €19.5 billion in the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Net cash from operating activities was €26,369 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to net
cash used in operating activities of €2,462 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. This change was
primarily due to the higher level of borrowing under TLTRO III €19.5 billion in the year ended December 31,
2020 compared to €2.5 billion in the year ended December 31, 2019, as well as the repayment of €6.5 billion of
TLTRO 11 funds in the year ended December 31, 2019.

Net cash from or used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was €2,538 million in the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to net
cash from investing activities of €135 million in the six months ended June 30, 2021. This change was primarily
due to additional investments in debt securities at amortized cost, a €2.5 billion investment in the six months ended
June 30, 2022 compared to cash from maturing investments of €0.1 billion in the six months ended June 30, 2021.

Net cash from investing activities was €822 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to net cash
used in investing activities of €7,253 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. This change was primarily
due to higher investments in debt securities at amortized costs in the year ended December 31, 2020 and higher
proceeds from the repayment of debt securities at amortized cost in the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Net cash used in investing activities was €7,253 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to €1,854
million in the year ended December 31, 2019. This change was primarily due to higher investments in debt
securities at amortized costs in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Net cash from or used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was €3,319 million in the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to €795
million in the six months ended June 30, 2021. This change was primarily due to a dividend payment of €3,168
million and the repayment of €767 million of subordinated liabilities in the six months ended June 30, 2022, partly
compensated by an increase in the volume of issued debt securities compared to the prior period.

Net cash used in financing activities was €448 million in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to net
cash from financing activities of €451 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. This change was primarily
due to the €1.4 billion dividend pay-out in the year ended December 31, 2021 and lower issuances and repayments
of promissory notes in 2021 compared to 2020, partly offset by higher proceeds from subordinated liabilities in
2021 compared to 2020.

Net cash from financing activities was €450 million in the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to net cash
used in financing activities of €1,147 million in the year ended December 31, 2020. This change was primarily
due to the €1.5 billion dividend pay-out and the issuance of additional tier-1 instruments in the year ended
December 31, 2019, partly offset by higher repayment of promissory notes and other debt securities in 2019
compared to 2020.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

For a discussion of the Group’s off-balance sheet commitments and financial guarantees given and received, see
Notes 5.7.2 and 6.1 of the 2021 Financial Statements and the 2020 Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Funding

The following discussion of the Group’s liquidity, funding and capital requirements should be read in conjunction
with “Risk Management—Liquidity risk”.

The Group has a strong retail/mid-cap deposit base in its core markets, resulting in a stable funding mix. A
significant portion of the funding is attracted from core client segments and markets. The following table shows
the breakdown of the Group’s funding sources as at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and June 30, 2022.

As at As at
June 30, December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million)
(Unaudited)

Net unsecured interbank funding..........c.ccooeveienene. 10.7% 11.7% 11.7% 6.2%
Net secured fuNding ........ccocovvievinnieninnieeeee (5.3)% (8.49)% (10.0)% (10.8%)
Debt issues placed at institutional relations............... 18,152 18,959 17,042 16,778
Total @QUILY .oveeeicicc s 20,239 23,077 21,530 20,222
Certificates of deposit..........ccovireiiiiieiiiciere e 1.8% 2.4% 2.3% 4.9%
Funding from retail customers..........c.ccoceevvenvenennn 36.9% 56.9% 46.6% 51.3%

The Group’s sources of funding are as follows:
. funding from customers, consisting of demand deposits, time deposits, savings deposits, other deposits,

savings certificates and debt issues placed in the network. The majority of the funding from customers
relates to private individuals and SMEs;
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. debt issuances placed with institutional investors, mainly comprising covered bonds issues, tier-2 issues
and the Group’s senior debt;

. net unsecured interbank funding, including TLTRO funding (as further discussed below);

. net secured funding, which was negative as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 due to the fact that the Group
carried out more reverse repo transactions than repo transactions;

o certificates of deposit; and
. total equity, including additional tier-1 (AT1) issues.

In November 2012, KBC Bank announced its €10 billion Belgian residential mortgage covered bonds program,
and in 2020, this program was extended to €17.5 billion. This program gives KBC Bank access to the covered
bond market, allowing it to diversify its funding structure and reduce the cost of long-term funding. In addition,
in 2019, the Group borrowed €2.5 billion from the ECB under the targeted longer-term refinancing operations
(TLTRO II1), after having repaid all TLTRO Il funding. Following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, in
June 2020, the Group participated in TLTRO III for just under €19.5 billion. During 2021, the Group participated
in TLTRO 111 once more for €2.5 billion to further strengthen its solid liquidity and funding position.

Capital Expenditures

The Group’s capital expenditures include software developed in-house, which amounted to €559 million, €386
million and €168 million in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and software
developed externally, which amounted to €263 million, €301 million and €395 million in the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. However, overall capital expenditures are not a material part of
the Group’s expenses.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

When preparing the consolidated financial statements and applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Some degree of uncertainty is inherent in almost all amounts reported. The estimates are
based on the experience and assumptions that the Group’s management believes are reasonable at the time the
financial statements are being prepared.

The Group’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1.2 to the 2021 Financial Statements, the 2020
Financial Statements and the 2019 Financial Statements.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected. Significant areas of estimation uncertainty, and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements
are found in, but not limited to, Notes 1.3, 1.4, 3.3, 3.7, 3.10, 4.2, 4.4-4.8, 5.2, 5.5-5.7, 5.9 and 6.1 of the 2021
Financial Statements, the 2020 Financial Statements and the 2019 Financial Statements.
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SELECTED STATISTICAL DATA

The information below should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s financial statements and accompanying
notes incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular, as well as with “Selected Financial and Other
Information” and “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. The
information included in this section has not been derived from the Financial Statements. This information has
been derived from the Issuer’s accounting records and has not been audited. In this section, the term “domestic”
refers to all KBC lending, deposit and other business booked within its Belgian operations. The term “foreign”
refers to all other operations of KBC, and the term “Group” refers to domestic and foreign operations together.

DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY; INTEREST RATES
AND INTEREST DIFFERENTIAL

Average balance sheet information and information on interest rates

The following tables set forth the average balances of the Issuer’s interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities, other assets and liabilities, the interest generated from such assets and liabilities and average return rate
for each period presented. Average balances have been calculated on the basis of quarterly data. In each of the
tables below, loans and deposits are presented excluding debt securities and this presentation differs from the
presentation in the balance sheet and income statements in the Financial Statements. Average balances for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and for the six months ended June 30, 2022 include non-
performing loans and are presented net of any provisions for credit losses.

Six months ended June 30, 2022

Group Domestic Foreign
Average Average Average
interest interest interest
Average rate Average rate Average rate
(in millions of EUR) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %)
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets................. 324,247 4,585 2.8% 207,366 2,171 2.1% 116,881 2,414 4.1%
Amortized cost, including cash balances 305,446 3,272 2.1% 192,916 1,293 1.3% 112,530 1,979 3.5%
with central banks and other demand
deposits with credit institutions ............
Fair value through OCl.............. 14,076 128 1.8% 11,529 104 1.8% 2,547 24 1.9%
Fair value through profit or loss 4,327 473 21.8% 2,614 237 18.1% 1,713 236 27.5%
Hedging derivatives............c.cccccevurnnne. 397 713 307 538 90 175
Other @SSetS.......covvveverriveiririisice e 2,046 1 0.1% 1,309 0 0.0% 736 1 0.2%
Net yield on Interest Bearing Assets 326,292 2,448 1.5% 208,675 1,322 1.3% 117,617 1,126 1.9%
Total Interest Bearing Assets................. 326,292 4,586 2.8% 208,675 2,171 2.1% 117,617 2,415 4.1%
Interest Bearing Liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities........... 295,535 2,135 1.4% 210,982 848 0.8% 84,553 1,287 3.0%
Amortized COSt...........cco.covvvrnnn. 291,175 318 0.2% 208,371 (252) 0.2)% 82,804 570 1.4%
Fair value through profit or loss 3,450 1,040 60.3% 1,797 529 58.9% 1,653 511 61.8%
Hedging derivatives................ 910 776 815 571 95 206
Other 1iabilities.........cocovveiiieieie 2,797 3 0.2% 1,831 1 0.2% 966 2 0.3%
Total Interest Bearing Liabilities .......... 298,332 2,138 1.4% 212,814 849 0.8% 85,519 1,288 3.0%
Year ended December 31, 2021
Group Domestic Foreign
Average Average Average
interest interest interest
Average rate Average rate Average rate
(in millions of EUR) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %)
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets................. 317,237 5,639 1.8% 208,894 3,211 1.5% 108,343 2,428 2.2%
Amortized cost, including cash balances
with central banks and other demand
deposits with credit institutions ............ 296,063 4,569 1.5% 192,154 2,424 1.3% 103,909 2,145 2.1%
Fair value through OCl.............. 16,485 286 1.7% 13,419 227 1.7% 3,066 59 1.9%
Fair value through profit or loss 4,493 431 9.6% 3,169 325 10.3% 1,324 104 7.9%
Hedging derivatives................ 197 355 - 153 235 - 45 120 -
Other assets .........cocovririririririnins 1,682 - 0.0% 1,098 - 0.0% 583 - 0.0%
Net yield on Interest Bearing Assets......... 318,919 4,451 1.4% 210,029 2,525 1.2% 108,889 1,927 1.8%
Total Interest Bearing ASSetS....ieeees 318,919 5,639 1.8% 209,992 3,211 1.5% 108,926 2,428 2.2%
Interest Bearing Liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities 287,012 1,180 0.4% 208,966 682 0.3% 78,046 498 0.6%
Amortized COSt........ceirrrinnine 282,648 109 0.0% 206,277 (129) 0.1)% 76,371 238 0.3%
Fair value through profit or loss 3,271 468 14.3% 1,652 379 22.9% 1,619 88 5.5%
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Year ended December 31, 2021

Group Domestic Foreign
Average Average Average
interest interest interest
Average rate Average rate Average rate
(in millions of EUR) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %)
Hedging derivatives 1,093 604 - 1,037 432 - 56 172 -
Other liabilities.............. 2,781 8 0.3% 1,924 5 0.2% 857 3 0.4%
Total Interest Bearing Liabilities .... 289,793 1,188 0.4% 210,891 686 0.3% 78,903 502 0.6%

Year ended December 31, 2020

Group Domestic Foreign
Average Average Average
interest interest interest
Average rate Average rate Average rate
(in millions of EUR) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %)
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets................ 279,594 5,958 2.1% 180,260 3,655 2.0% 99,333 2,303 2.3%
Amortized cost, including cash balances
with central banks and other demand
deposits with credit institutions .. 257,020 4,798 1.9% 161,676 2,736 1.7% 95,344 2,062 2.2%
Fair value through OCI 18,501 330 1.8% 15,126 262 1.7% 3,376 68 2.0%
Fair value through profit or loss ......... 3,886 456 11.7% 3,330 350 10.5% 556 104 18.6%
Hedging derivatives... . 186 377 - 129 307 - 58 70 -
Other assets.................. 1,652 2 0.1% 1,126 2 0.2% 525 0 0.0%
Net yield on Interest Bearing Assets......... 281,246 4,467 1.6% 181,524 2,515 1.4% 99,722 1,952 2.0%
Total Interest Bearing ASSEtS....oovnnns 281,246 5,960 2.1% 181,387 3,657 2.0% 99,859 2,303 2.3%
Interest Bearing Liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities.......... 250,521 1,485 0.6% 181,059 1,138 0.6% 69,462 347 0.5%
Amortized COSt..........cccvvrrrinnns " 245,601 484 0.2% 178,483 307 0.2% 67,118 177 0.3%
Fair value through profit or loss 3,565 368 10.3% 1,322 261 19.8% 2,243 107 4.8%
Hedging derivatives... 1,355 632 46.7% 1,254 570 45.4% 101 63 62.0%
Other liabilities 2,928 8 0.3% 2,178 4 0.2% 750 4 0.5%
Total Interest Bearing Liabilities ......... 253,449 1,493 0.6% 183,237 1,142 0.6% 70,212 351 0.5%

Year ended December 31, 2019

Group Domestic Foreign
Average Average Average
interest interest interest
Average rate Average rate Average rate
(in millions of EUR) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %) Balance Interest (in %)
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets ... 259,699 7,124 2.7% 164,081 4,329 2.6% 95,618 2,794 2.9%
Amortized cost, including cash balances
with central banks and other demand
deposits with credit institutions ........... 239,198 5,482 2.3% 147,219 3,008 2.0% 91,979 2,474 2.7%
Fair value through OCl..........cccccuennee 18,567 333 1.8% 15,576 269 1.7% 2,991 64 2.1%
Fair value through profit or loss 1,755 824 46.9% 1,172 711 60.7% 583 112 19.2%
Hedging derivatives... 179 486 - 114 341 - 64 145 -
Other assets 1,662 - 0.0% 1,160 - 0.0% 502 - 0.0%
Net yield on Interest Bearing Asset . 261,361 4,618 1.8% 165,328 2,369 1.4% 96,032 2,249 2.3%
Total Interest Bearing Assets................ 261,361 7,123 2.7% 165,241 4,329 2.6% 96,120 2,794 2.9%
Interest Bearing Liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities.......... 230,876 2,491 1.1% 164,403 1,951 1.2% 66,473 540 0.8%
AMOrtized COSt......covveverereieieirieieieieinnens 225,821 1,225 0.5% 162,238 893 0.6% 63,583 332 0.5%
Fair value through profit or loss ......... 3,815 603 15.8% 990 476 48.0% 2,825 127 4.5%
Hedging derivatives... .. 1,240 663 - 1,175 582 - 65 82 -
Other liabilities.............. 2,943 14 0.5% 2,170 9 0.4% 773 5 0.7%
Total Interest Bearing Liabilities 233,819 2,505 1.1% 166,574 1,960 1.2% 67,246 546 0.8%

Changes in interest income; volume and rate analysis

The following tables set forth the effect of changes in the Issuer’s interest income and interest expense resulting
from fluctuations in the average volumes and average yield rate for each year presented. Similar data for the six
months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 is not available.

Year ended December 31, 2021 compared to year ended December 31, 2020
Group Domestic Foreign

Increase (decrease)
due to change in:

Increase (decrease)
due to change in:

Increase (decrease)
due to change in:

Average Average Average
Average  Interest Net Average  Interest Net Average  Interest Net
(in millions of EUR) volume rate change volume rate change volume rate change
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets................. 37,643 0.4)% (319) 28,634 (0.5)% (444) 9,010 0.1)% 125
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Amortized cost, including cash

balances with central banks and other 39,042 (0.3)% (229) 30,478 (0.4)% (312) 8,564 0.1)% 83
demand deposits with credit institutions
Fair value through OCl........c.ccccevunnne (2,017) 0.0% (44) (1,707) 0.0% (35) (310) 0.1)% (10)
Fair value through profit or loss 607 (2.1)% (24) (161) (0.2)% (25) 768 (10.7)% 1
Hedging derivatives 11 (22) 24 (72) (13) 50
Other assets 30 (0.1)% ) (128) 0.2)% (2) 158 0.0% 0
Net yield on Interest Bearing Assets 37,673 (0.2)% (16) 28,505 (0.2)% 10 9,168 0.2)% (26)
Total Interest Bearing Assets................. 37,673 (0.4)% (321) 28,505 (0.5)% (446) 9,168 (0.1)% 125
Interest Bearing Liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities............ 36,491 (0.2)% (305) 27,907 (0.3)% (456) 8,584 0.1% 151
Amortized COSt.......covrrrrerrnnnns 37,048 0.2)% (376) 27,795 0.2)% (436) 9,253 0.0% 61
Fair value through profit or loss (294) 4.0% 99 330 3.2% 118 (625) 0.7% (29)
Hedging derivatives................ (262) (29) (218) (138) (45) 109
Other liabilities................... (147) 0.0% 0 (254) 0.0% 0 107 (0.1)% 1)
Total Interest Be: 36,344 0.2)% (305) 27,653 (0.3)% (456) 8,691 0.1% 150

Year ended December 31, 2020 compared to year ended December 31, 2019

Group Domestic Foreign
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
due to change in: due to change in: due to change in:
Average Average Average
Average Interest Net Average Interest Net Average Interest Net

(in millions of EUR) volume rate change volume rate change volume rate change
Interest Bearing Assets
Interest bearing financial assets.................. 19,895 (0.6)% (1,165) 16,179 (0.6)% (674) 3,716 (0.6)% (491)

Amortized cost, including cash balances

with central banks and other demand

deposits with credit institutions ............. 17,822 0.4)% (684) 14,457 0.4)% (272) 3,365 (0.5)% (412)

Fair value through OCl............... (66) 0.0% 3) (450) 0.0% ®) 385 0.1)% 5

Fair value through profit or loss 2,131 (35.2)% (369) 2,158 (50.2)% (361) 27) (0.6)% 8)

Hedging derivatives 8 (69.6)% (109) 14 (59.7)% (34) (7) (103.8)% (75)
Other assets...............cooo..... (10) 0.2% 2 (34) 0.2% 2 23 0.0% 0
Total Interest Bearing Assets 19885  (06)% _ (1,163) 16146 _ (0.6)% (672) 3739 _ (0.6)% (491)
Interest bearing liabilities
Interest bearing financial liabilities. 19,645 (0.5)% (1,006) 16,656 (0.6)% (813) 2,989 (0.3)% (193)

Amortized COSt.........cevvvrreineinen, 19,779 (0.3)% (741) 16,245 (0.4)% (586) 3,535 0.3)% (155)

Fair value through profit or loss (249) (5.5)% (234) 332 (28.3)% (214) (582) 0.3% (20)

Hedging derivatives................ (115) (6.8)% (31) 79 (4.1)% (12) 36 (63.8)% (19)
Other liabilities............... (15) (0.2)% (6) 8 (0.2)% (5) (23) (0.1)% 1)
Total interest bearing liabilities.............. 19,630 (0.5)% (1,012) 16,664 (0.6)% (818) 2,966 (0.3)% (194)

Portfolio of debt securities

The following tables set forth information regarding the Issuer’s portfolio of debt securities at the dates presented,
together with information regarding when the instruments comprising the investment portfolio are due to mature.

As at June 30, As at December 31,

(in millions of EUR) 2022 2021 2020 2019

Debt securities, held by

KBC Bank 27,025 26,518 31,217 16,032
CSOBCZ...... 11,170 10,202 8,869 5,534
KBC Insurance.. 14,588 15,474 15,700 15,882
(0]111-Y SO 9,844 10,498 11,389 24,396
Total Investment Debt Securities................. 62,628 62,692 67,175 61,845

Portfolio of debt securities by maturity date

The following tables set forth information regarding when the instruments comprising the Issuer’s portfolio of
debt securities are due to mature, as at the dates presented.

<1 1-5 5-10 >10

(in millions of EUR) year years years years Total

As at June 30, 2022 .........cccoverininiiiee e 8,205 22,749 24,005 7,784 62,743
As at December 31, 2021 .......cccoeveveiieviiiieinns 8,298 23,468 22,308 7,993 62,067
As at December 31, 2020 ... . 8,205 26,245 22,359 8,655 65,464
As at December 31, 2019 .......ccoeevveiveiiieenins 6,634 26,204 19,972 7,059 59,869

As at June 30, As at December 31,
(in millions of EUR) 2022 2021 2020 2019
KBC inSUranCe CONSO .......ccvveeveerveeiveeiveesreesnnes 16,775 16,968 16,649 16,883
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KBC banK.........ccocviiiiniininiiccs 27,020 26,441 31,490 16,030

CSOB CZ ...t 10,567 10,002 8,291 5,237
Others (UBB + CBC + CSOB SK + K&H +
KBC CF + CMSS + DZI)® ..o 8,379 8,657 9,035 21,722

1) KBC Credit Investments was liquidated in 2020.
Loan portfolio by industry and geography

The following tables set forth a breakdown of the Issuer’s loan portfolio by industry and geography as at June 30,
2022.

As at June 30, 2022

Czech International Markets Business Unit Group Centre®
Belgium Republic
Business Business

(in millions of EUR) Unit® Unit Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland Other Total
Agriculture, farming, fishing 4,166 548 52 352 231 - - 5,350
Qil, gas & other fuels... 464 674 82 39 52 - 46 1,358
Electricity 1,973 244 392 318 125 - 122 3,175
240 67 113 52 4 - 3 478
2,267 178 73 190 144 - - 2,852
2,274 538 89 96 228 - - 3,226
1,151 526 42 35 19 - - 1,773
235 97 13 6 18 - - 369
Electrotechnics . 711 225 27 52 69 - - 1,083
Automotive.... 2,565 1,524 238 229 152 - - 4,708
Shipping . 1,293 13 2 5 14 - - 1,326
Aviation 145 68 0 76 12 - 8 309
Food producers 2,728 160 62 240 217 - - 3,407
Beverages .. 379 234 24 20 55 - - 711
Tobacco......... 0 - 0 - 0 - - 0
Textile & apparel..... 673 97 11 17 38 - - 836
Timber & wooden furniture 602 153 33 20 24 - - 832
Paper & pulp......... 403 84 7 8 31 - - 532
Media 160 264 31 3 14 - 5 477
Building & construction.. 6,119 1,479 287 342 241 - 104 8,573
Distribution.... 10,648 2,516 553 410 809 - 346 15,282
Traders ... 905 66 22 21 12 - - 1,027
Horeca 1,163 133 19 54 29 - - 1,398
Telecom.. 152 129 30 12 12 - - 335
Consumer products.. 226 21 10 15 32 - - 305
Finance and insurance.. 9,227 633 265 574 101 16 1,050 11,865
Real estate 8,723 2,254 559 395 78 3 - 12,012
Services .. 15,712 1,913 1,427 443 150 45 16 19,706
Authorities 5,502 474 199 59 52 - - 6,286
Private persons 44,149 21,682 6,331 2,520 1,794 9,013 - 85,490
Sector unknown.... 1,433 63 17 0 - - - 1,513
TOtAl oo 126,390 37,057 11,012 6,603 4,756 9,078 1,701 196,596

(1) Belgium Business Unit also includes the small network of KBC Bank branches established in the rest of Europe, the US and Southeast Asia.

) Group Centre comprises activities that have not been allocated to other business Units and companies to be divested. As a result of the pending sale to
Bank of Ireland Group of substantially all of KBC Bank Ireland’s performing loan assets, its deposit book, and a small portfolio of non-performing
mortgages (NPEs), the loan portfolio of KBC Bank Ireland has been transferred from Business Unit International Markets to Group Centre as of January
1, 2022.

The following tables set forth a breakdown of the Issuer’s loan portfolio by industry and geography as at December
31, 2021.

As at December 31, 2021

Belgium Czech International Markets Business Unit
Business Republic Group
(in millions of EUR) Unit® Business Unit  Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland Centre® Total
Agriculture, farming, fishing... 4,056 520 54 333 204 - - 5,166
Qil, gas & other fuels 275 684 49 37 78 - 43 1,166
Electricity.... 1,794 234 321 357 95 - 119 2,921
Water ... 242 87 115 52 4 - 4 504
Chemicals. 1,901 160 77 202 141 - - 2,482
Metals .. 1,777 497 84 92 176 - - 2,626
i 1,113 452 43 33 24 - - 1,665
202 91 10 5 20 - - 328
609 197 26 44 56 - - 931
2,503 1,436 271 218 126 - - 4,553
Shipping... 1,284 10 1 5 14 - - 1,314
Aviation ... . 147 77 - 79 9 - 9 322
F0Od Producers.........c.ccevvveverivivennnnn 2,657 158 66 252 191 - - 3,325
Beverages 407 277 24 19 55 - - 783
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As at December 31, 2021

Belgium Czech International Markets Business Unit
Business Republic Group

(in millions of EUR) Unit® Business Unit  Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland Centre® Total
Tobacco - - - - - - - -
Textile & apparel.... 672 130 12 19 30 - - 863
Timber & wooden furniture.. 560 160 32 22 24 - - 797
349 85 8 9 29 - - 480
144 270 33 10 15 - 5 477
Building & construction 5,610 1,327 251 324 226 - 107 7,845
Distribution..... 10,007 2,268 498 425 667 - 346 14,212
Traders. 785 66 22 23 41 - - 937
Horeca.. 1,134 134 19 56 32 - - 1,375
Telecom ... 170 173 34 14 11 - - 403
Consumer products 247 14 7 15 22 - - 305
Finance and insurance 8,725 361 259 534 80 21 1,300 11,280
Real estate ... 8,259 2,131 554 412 91 4 - 11,450
Services 15,616 1,882 1,348 414 160 53 17 19,488
Authorities .. 4,471 467 196 64 48 - - 5,247
Private persons 42,294 21,011 5,759 2,581 1,652 10,426 - 83,723
Sector unknown 1,342 7 10 - - - - 1,430
119,353 35,436 10,183 6,651 4,322 10,504 1,950 188,400

(1)  Belgium Business Unit also includes the small network of KBC Bank branches established in the rest of Europe, the US and
Southeast Asia.
(2)  Group Centre comprises activities that have not been allocated to other business Units and companies to be divested.

The following tables set forth a breakdown of the Issuer’s loan portfolio by industry and geography as at December
31, 2020.

As at December 31, 2020

Czech International Markets Business Unit
Belgium Republic
Business Business Group

(in millions of EUR) Unit® Unit Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland Centre® Total
Agriculture, farming, fishing 3,941 478 63 285 191 - - 4,957
Qil, gas & other fuels... 286 467 53 79 48 - 40 973
Electricity 1,757 271 308 300 61 - 123 2,820
247 74 121 53 11 - 4 510
1,977 167 65 182 118 - 2 2,511
1,694 468 102 86 154 - - 2,503
vy equipment......... 1,032 501 35 39 20 - - 1,629
227 67 14 4 12 - - 324
Electrotechnics . 571 169 24 50 48 - - 862
Automotive 2,554 1,364 275 135 123 - - 4,451
Shipping ... 1,120 11 1 3 11 - - 1,147
Aviation..... 165 35 - 80 10 - 11 302
Food producers. 2,520 164 82 216 201 - - 3,183
Beverages 371 236 24 12 61 - - 704
Tobacco......... - - - - - - - -
Textile & apparel..... 577 127 12 11 28 - - 756
Timber & wooden furniture... 474 159 30 21 22 - - 706
Paper & pulp 274 59 8 13 27 - - 381
Media 252 231 29 5 20 - 5 541
Building & construction.. 5,030 1,142 242 259 180 - 113 6,965
Distribution.... 8,945 1,783 441 412 547 - 348 12,477
Traders ... 735 69 25 21 29 - - 879
Horeca 1,095 148 22 53 36 - - 1,354
Telecom.. 166 116 46 12 8 - - 348
Consumer products.. 203 15 8 13 11 - - 250
Finance and insurance.. 10,758 341 299 338 121 14 2,569 14,439
Real estate 8,186 2,056 548 467 90 4 - 11,350
Services 15,526 1,850 1,390 449 153 64 16 19,448
Authorities..... 4,574 437 191 68 49 - - 5,320
Private persons 39,537 18,746 5,454 2,192 1,505 10,262 - 77,695
Sector unknown.... 1,047 53 6 - - - - 1,106
115,840 31,806 9,916 5,858 3,896 10,343 3,232 180,891

1) Belgium Business Unit also includes the small network of KBC Bank branches established in the rest of Europe, the US and
Southeast Asia.
2) Group Centre comprises activities that have not been allocated to other business Units and companies to be divested.

The following tables set forth a breakdown of the Issuer’s loan portfolio by industry and geography as at December
31, 20109.
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As at December 31, 2019

Czech International Markets Business Unit
Belgium Republic
Business Business Group
(in millions of EUR) Unit® Unit Slovakia Hungary Bulgaria Ireland Centre® Total
Agriculture, farming, fishing ............ 3,779 458 26 277 177 - - 4,717
Oil, gas & other fuels.. 339 535 32 89 39 - 43 1,078
Electricity ..... 1,674 376 267 237 70 - 169 2,791
........ 198 58 130 42 18 - 5 451
1,673 237 61 131 105 - 4 2,211
1,688 492 102 82 102 - - 2,466
1,180 549 40 33 20 - - 1,822
233 29 14 3 2 - - 281
Electrotechnics 663 178 17 66 40 - - 964
Automotive... 2,639 1,443 274 158 111 - - 4,625
Shipping ... 1,446 16 1 4 18 - - 1,485
Aviation.... 166 35 - 76 - - 12 290
Food producers 2,363 155 61 228 162 - - 2,968
Beverages 393 230 21 24 62 - - 730
Tobacco - - - - - - - -
Textile & apparel..... 735 182 14 7 36 - - 974
Timber & wooden furniture 511 172 30 21 21 - - 755
Paper & pulp 326 75 5 13 25 - - 445
Media 287 133 16 5 20 - 5 467
Building & construction.. 4,935 1,128 197 266 162 - 130 6,819
Distribution... 9,171 1,987 400 397 498 - 365 12,818
Traders 864 73 18 13 36 - - 1,002
997 136 18 40 38 - - 1,228
Telecom.... 168 184 50 8 5 - - 415
Consumer products.. 225 21 7 11 14 - - 278
Finance and insurance 9,598 430 267 316 93 4 2,676 13,384
Real estate ... 8,146 2,072 479 417 98 19 - 11,231
Services .... 15,268 2,006 1,282 398 157 33 14 19,158
Authorities.... 4,617 247 167 72 50 - - 5,153
Private persons .... 37,024 18,524 4,214 2,008 1,351 10,048 - 73,170
Sector unknown... 1,087 163 6 - - - - 1,256
112,392 32,325 8,215 5,442 3,529 10,104 3422 175431
(1)  Belgium Business Unit also includes the small network of KBC Bank branches established in the rest of Europe, the US and
Southeast Asia.
(2)  Group Centre comprises activities that have not been allocated to other business Units and companies to be divested.
Maturities of loans
The following table sets forth maturities of the Issuer’s loans as at June 30, 2022:
As at June 30, 2022
On <3 3 months 1year — >5
Total, EUR million demand months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks ..............cccce..e. 3,982 3,716 - - - 53,050
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates 1,893 1,637 1,801 2,514 1,276 9,121
Total loans to the public .. 7,092 11,503 17,891 65,591 101,902 203,978
As at June 30, 2022
On 3 months 1 year — >5
KBC/CBC, EUR million demand < 3 months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks...........cccccceveee 825 122 - - - 46,299
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates 234 1,346 1,531 1,852 1,053 6,017
Total loans to the public 4,744 4,667 11,722 41,114 52,715 114,962
As at June 30, 2022
On 3 months 1 year - >5
Other, EUR million demand < 3 months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks 3,157 3,594 - - - 6,751
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates...........coccvevireinennnniens 1,659 291 270 661 224 3,104
Total loans to the publiC ..........ccoceevreincnins 2,348 6,835 6,169 24,477 49,187 89,016

The following table sets forth maturities of the Issuer’s loans as at December 31, 2021:
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As at December 31, 2021

On <3 3 months 1year — >5
Total, EUR million demand months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks ...........c.cccceeeee 36,385 3,135 - - - 39,521
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........c.cocovverinnceninene 918 1,873 2,025 2,191 1,026 8,034
Total loans to the public ........cccccovvvirniene. 5,779 10,369 16,227 61,855 93,051 187,281
As at December 31, 2021
On 3 months 1 year — >5
KBC/CBC, EUR million demand < 3 months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks ............c.ccccenee. 16 126 - - - 143
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........cocvevirennennnninns 584 1,748 1,875 1,417 750 6,373
Total loans to the public 4,496 3,392 9,232 34,843 45,811 97,773
As at December 31, 2021
On 3 months 1 year - >5
Other, EUR million demand < 3 months —1year 5 years years Total
Total loans to central banks ............ccccccenee. 36,369 3,009 - - - 39,378
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........c.c.coeveeeiniccnnnnnn. 335 126 150 775 277 1,662
Total loans to the public 1,284 6,978 6,995 27,013 47,240 89,508
The following table sets forth maturities of the Issuer’s loans as at December 30, 2020:
As at December 31, 2020
On 3 months — 1 year —
Total, EUR million demand < 3 months 1year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks .............c..ccov... 1,206 1,826 - - - 3,032
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........c.c.coeveveviiccnnnnnn. 1,058 1,770 1,450 2,433 915 7,626
Total loans to the public ........ccccovvvrnene. 5,821 5,903 14,900 55,710 83,060 165,394
As at December 31, 2020
On 3 months — 1year —
KBC/CBC, EUR million demand < 3 months 1 year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks ...........cccccceeee 714 622 - - - 1,337
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates............cccoceeverininccnennne. 726 1,364 1,311 1,779 620 5,799
Total loans to the public .........ccocerveeriienine 4,250 2,974 9,040 32,748 41,821 90,833
As at December 31, 2020
On 3 months — 1 year —
Other, EUR million demand < 3 months 1year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks............c.ccccceee 492 1,204 - - - 1,696
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........ccoccoeevrenneinininns 332 407 139 654 295 1,826
Total loans to the public ..........ccocerreiiinine 1,570 2,929 5,860 22,962 41,239 74,560
The following table sets forth maturities of the Issuer’s loans as at December 31, 2019:
As at December 31, 2019
On 3 months - 1year —
Total, EUR million demand < 3 months 1 year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks............c.cccccceeee 1,486 254 - - - 1,740
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........c.c.coeeeerniccnnnnne. 3,568 2,247 1,903 2,315 1,098 11,131
Total loans to the public ..........cocevreiiinine 7,464 5,934 14,461 53,064 80,039 160,962
As at December 31, 2019
On 3 months - 1year -
KBC/CBC, EUR million demand < 3 months 1 year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks...........c.cccoevne. 825 141 - - - 966
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates..........c.cocoevveriniccninnnn. 3,294 553 1,137 1,845 817 7,646
Total loans to the public ..o 5,498 3,913 8,857 33,361 41,568 93,197
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As at December 31, 2019

On 3 months — 1year —
Other, EUR million demand < 3 months 1 year 5 years > 5 years Total
Total loans to central banks ...........c.cccceeeee 661 113 - - - 774
Total loans to credit institutions and
financial corporates........ 274 1,694 766 470 281 3,485
Total loans to the public 1,966 2,022 5,604 19,702 38,471 67,765

Impairment of financial assets

As from January 1, 2018, the Group has been required to apply IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, except for hedge
accounting transactions which the Group continues to account for in accordance with 1AS 39. See Note 1.2 to the
2021 Financial Statements under the heading “Financial Assets”.

For a classification of the Issuer’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowances and credit exposure by stage as at
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, see Note 4.2 to the 2021 Financial Statements and Note 4.2 to the 2020
Financial Statements.

Movements in allowances for expected credit losses

For reconciliation of the Issuer’s ECL allowances for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, see
Note 4.2.2 to the 2021 Financial Statements and Note 4.2.2 to the 2020 Financial Statements.

Past due loans

For the Issuer’s past due loans as at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, see “Risk Management—Capital Risk—
Forbearance measures”. Similar data as at June 30, 2022 is not available.

Forborne loans

For the Issuer’s forborne loans as at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, see “Risk Management—Capital Risk—
Forbearance measures”. Similar data as at June 30, 2022 is not available.

Deposits

The following tables set forth information regarding the maturities for the Issuer’s deposits and borrowings from
the public as at June 30, 2022 and as at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Maturity of deposits as at June 30, 2022

On 3months—  1lyear-5
Deposits from the public demand <3 months 1year years > 5 years Total
KBC/CBC......coiiiiiiieieeeee e 123,400.0 559.0 443.8 367.5 1054 124,875.6
56,966.0 11,801.7 3,038.5 304.6 15 72,112.3
180,365.9 12,360.6 3,482.3 672.1 106.9 196,987.9

Maturity of deposits as at December 31, 2021

On 3months—  1lyear-5
Deposits from the public demand <3 months 1 year years > 5 years Total
KBC/CBC.......oiiieiiieicirieieieeieesesesenenees 118,782.20 870.5 2243 3014 43.2 120,222
OLNEIS oot 58,994.00 10,401.50 2,003.50 377.3 24 71778.80
TOTAL o 177,776.20 11,272.00 2,227.90 678.7 45.6 192,000

Maturity of deposits as at December 31, 2020

On 3months—  1lyear-5
Deposits from the public demand <3 months 1 year years > 5 years Total
KBC/CBC......ooiiieieiiiieiceneesee e 108,750 794 588 322 192 110,646
54,874 9,014 1,447 580 51 65,967
TOTAL e 163,624 9,808 2,035 902 243 176,612
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Maturity of deposits as at December 31, 2019

On 3months—  lyear-5
Deposits from the public demand <3 months 1 year years > 5 years Total
KBC/CBC......oiiiitieieieieieieieieeesseseneneens 96,432 1,412 670 956 79 99,549
101112 £ YT 44,104 9,514 2,569 2,612 279 59,078
TOTAL ..ot 140,537 10,927 3,239 3,568 357 158,628

Return on equity and assets

The following table sets out the Issuer’s return on assets, return on equity, dividend payout ratio and equity to
assets ratio as at the dates and for the periods presented.

(in millions of EUR)

RELUMN 0N ASSEISW ......oviiiecicecee e
Return on equity® ....
Dividend payout ratio® ..
Cost/income ratio®......

Combined ratio®......
Equity to assets ratio

As at June 30, As at December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019

0.7% 0.8% 0.5% 0.9%
13% 13% 8% 14%

- 139% 74% 19%
61% 58% 58% 56%
85% 89% 85% 90%
5.5% 6.8% 6.7% 7.0%

(1) Result after tax on average total assets, where average total assets is calculated as the sum of the position at the beginning of the year

and the position at the end of the year, divided by two.

(2)  Result after tax, attributable to equity holders of the parent minus Coupon on the additional tier-1 instruments included in equity
divided by Average parent shareholders’ equity, excluding the revaluation reserve for FVOCI and for FVPL — overlay.
(3)  Amount of dividend to be distributed (including interim dividend) + Coupon on additional tier-1 instruments included in equity

divided by Net result, group share.
(4)  Operating expenses dividend by Total income.

(5)  Technical insurance charges, including the internal cost of settling claims divided by Earned insurance premiums + Operating
expenses of the insurer divided by Written insurance premiums.

(6)  Total equity divided by total assets.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview

As a financial institution, the Group is exposed to risks that are typical for the financial sector, including both
financial risks (e.g., credit risk, market risk and insurance risks) and non-financial risks (e.g., operational risks,
compliance risks and business risks). The Group’s integrated financial conglomerate business model makes some
of those risks more prominent, requiring additional processes to adequately manage them.

The Group has a solid risk governance and management system in place with regularly updated risk frameworks
and policies that consider internal and external developments and new regulatory requirements, including a clearly
defined risk appetite for each risk type, a mature product approval process and a deeply embedded risk culture
throughout its three lines of defense.

Risk governance
The main elements in the Group’s risk governance model are as follows:

. The Board of Directors, assisted by the Risk & Compliance Committee (“RCC”), which decides on the
risk appetite and defines the risk strategy each year and supervises the risk exposure in relation to the
risk appetite. It is also responsible for the promotion of a sound and consistent Group-wide risk culture,
based on a full understanding of the risks the Group faces and how they are managed, as well as the
Group risk appetite.

. The Executive Committee (“ExC0”), supported by activity-based risk committees, is the senior
management level committee responsible for integrating risk management with risk appetite, strategy
and performance goal setting.

. The CRO Services Management Committee and activity-based risk committees are mandated by the
ExCo.
. Risk-aware business people act as the first line of defense for conducting sound risk management. This

involves allocating sufficient priority and capacity to risk topics, making sure that the quality of self-
assessments is adequate, and performing the right controls in the right manner.

. A single, independent risk function that comprises the Group Chief Risk Officer (“Group CRO”), local
CROs, local risk functions and the Group risk functions. The risk function acts as (part of) the second
line of defense. While adhering to high standards, the risk function develops, imposes and monitors
consistent implementation of the Risk Management Framework, describing the processes, methods and
tools to identify, measure and report on risks. The third line of defense (internal audit) gives reasonable
assurance to the Board of Directors that the overall internal control environment is effective and that
effective policies and processes are in place and applied consistently throughout the Group.
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Board of Directors

Risk and Compliance
Committee

: Executive Committee
Group Lending
Committee Group Assets and
Group Markets Liabilities Committee
Committee .
Global IT Committee
Group Insurance
Committee Internal Sustainability
Group Internal Control Board
Committee CRO Services

Management Committee
Group Models & Group
Credit Risk model Risk Compliance

The Group’s relevant risk management bodies are as follows:

Local risk & compliance
departments

o Risk & Compliance Committee

o Advises the Board of Directors on the Group risk appetite, the supervision of risk exposure
compared to the Group risk appetite and the supervision of the implementation, efficiency and
effectiveness of the KBC Risk Management Framework;

o Reviews whether the prices of liabilities and assets and of categories of off-balance sheet
products offered to clients fully take into account the institution's business model and risk
appetite;

. Examines, without prejudice to the tasks of the Remuneration Committee, whether incentives

provided by the remuneration system take into consideration risk, capital, liquidity and the
likelihood and timing of earnings; and

. Issues periodic opinions on the quality, capacity and skills of the risk function.
) Executive Committee
. Makes proposals to the Board of Directors about risk appetite — including the risk strategy — and

the KBC Risk Management Framework;

. Decides on further cascading of the Group’s risk appetite through the organization by allocating
capital and defining local targets and limits and by approving limit changes and overruns within
its delegation;

. Monitors the Group’s major risk exposure to ensure conformity with the risk appetite;

o Decides on the risk management frameworks for each risk type and monitors their
implementation throughout the Group;

. Acts as the leading risk committee, covering material issues that are channeled via its supporting
committees; and
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o Together with other relevant parties, forms the Group Crisis Committee in Group-wide crisis

situations.
o Risk committees
. The CRO Services Management Committee supports the Executive Committee in assessing the

adequacy of, and compliance with, the KBC Risk Management Framework and defines and
implements the vision, mission and strategy for the CRO Services of the Group. The CRO
Services Management Committee convened on eight occasions during 2021 and seven
occasions during 2020;

. The activity-based Group Risk Committees (for lending (GLC), markets (GMC) and insurance
(GIC), respectively) support the Executive Committee in setting and monitoring limits for these
activities at Group level. Liquidity and ALM issues related to these activities are addressed by
the Group Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”). The ALCO convened on eight
occasions during each of 2021 and 2020; and

. The Group Internal Control Committee (“GICC”) supports the Executive Committee in
monitoring and strengthening the quality and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system. The GICC convened on five occasions during each of 2021 and 2020.

. Business committees
. The Group ALCO handles matters related to ALM and liquidity risk;
. The Global IT Committee handles matters related to information technology and information

security risk; and

. The Internal Sustainability Board handles matters related to Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) risks.

To strengthen the risk function and ensure that the decision-making bodies of the business entities are
appropriately challenged on matters of risk management and receiving expert advice, the Group has deployed
independent Chief Risk Officers (“CROs”) throughout the Group. Independence of the CROs is achieved through
a direct reporting line to the Group CRO; however, close collaboration with the business is assured as each CRO
takes part in their local decision-making processes and, if necessary, can exercise a right of veto.

For each main risk type, a Risk Competence Center has been assigned at the Group level. Most of these
competence centers are extended virtual teams made up of Group and local experts working together.

Three Lines of Defense Model (3 LOD model)

The three lines of defense concept is used to further improve the Internal Control System within the Group. The
roles and responsibilities of the different parties within this concept are highlighted below.

First line of defense: business entities
The first line of defense (the business side) has full ownership of its risks. It needs to identify, understand and deal
with these risks as well as have the necessary controls executed. This involves allocating sufficient priority and

capacity to risk topics, making sure the business self-assessments of the risks are of a sufficient quality, and
performing the right controls in the right manner.
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Second line of defense: the risk function

The risk function, as part of the second line of defense, formulates independent opinions on the risks the Group
faces and on the way they are mitigated. It provides an overview of the Group’s control environment and risk
exposure. To do this consistently while adhering to high standards, the risk function develops, imposes and
monitors consistent implementation of the KBC risk management framework, describing the processes, methods
and tools to identify, measure and report on risks. To make sure that their voice is heard, the CROs also have a
veto right that can be exercised in the different committees where major decisions are taken.

Third line of defense: internal audit

The third line of defense (internal audit) gives reasonable assurance to the Board of Directors that the overall
internal control environment is effective and that policies and processes are in place, effective and consistently
applied throughout the Group.

Components of sound risk management

Risk management refers to the coordinated set of activities to proactively identify and manage the many risks that
can affect the Group in its ability to achieve its objectives and in order to support the realization of its strategy.

The KBC Risk Management Framework sets strict governance and clear rules and procedures on how risk
management should be performed throughout the Group. It also refers to a set of minimum standards and risk
methods, processes and tools that all entities and risk-type-specific risk management frameworks must adhere to,
for which Group Risk is primarily responsible.

In the risk management process, the process steps are not strictly sequential and interact with one another.
Risk identification

Risk identification is the process of systematically and proactively discovering, recognizing, assessing and
describing risks, both within and outside the Group, that could negatively impact the Group’s strategic objectives
today and in the future. In addition to possible sources of risk, it also identifies their potential consequences and
materiality for the Group. Risk identification ensures that the Group’s risk management covers all material risks
to which it is exposed. For this purpose, robust processes have been set up that cover risk identification from
different perspectives, including the risk scan, the ‘New and Active Products Process’ (“NAPP”) and risk signals.

The risk scan is a strategic Group-wide exercise aimed at identifying and assessing top financial and non-financial
risks, being the risks that can significantly impact the Group’s business model. The identified top risks are used
as input for the yearly financial planning process and for several risk management exercises, including risk
appetite setting and stress testing.

The NAPP is a Group-wide, highly formalized process to identify and mitigate all risks related to new and existing
products and services which may negatively impact the client and/or the Group. Within the Group, no products,
processes and/or services can be created, purchased, changed or sold without approval in line with NAPP
governance. The risk department also conducts periodic assessments of the impact of the expanded and/or updated
product and service offering on the Group’s risk profile. In 2021, the process was improved, which resulted in a
more complete risk assessment and a stronger focus on the strategic fit of new products and services. A Group-
wide workflow tool, which supports the entire process up to and including the monitoring and reporting stage, has
been rolled out in all material entities of the Group. The additional risk data which are now captured in the tool
will enable more data-driven and more frequent monitoring and analysis of the development of the risk profile.

The internal and external environment are scanned on a continuous basis and using all possible sources of

information to detect events or changes that might impact the Group, either directly or indirectly. Risk signals are
collected at all levels of the organization (Group and local) and provide a summary of the risks identified and the
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potential impact for the Group and, where possible, propose remedial action. The Group Executive Committee
and the Risk & Compliance Committee/Board of Directors receive periodic updates through clear and
comprehensive internal risk reporting (including the ‘Integrated Risk Report’ (“IRR”)) on risk signals considered
material, allowing them to take timely action if and as needed.

Risk measurement

The Group defines risk measurement as ‘the action to come to a quantitative expression of a risk, or a combination
of risks, on a portfolio of instruments/exposures via a model’.

Risk measurement aims to quantify the various risks to which the Group is exposed. Once risks have been
identified, certain attributes can be assessed, such as impact, probability of occurrence and size of exposure, with
the help of risk measures. These measures allow risks to be monitored over time and help to assess the impact of
risk management actions. Risk measures are designed to measure a specific risk or multiple risks at the same time
and can be either internally developed or imposed by the regulator (including the calculation method used). An
overview of the risk measures in use in the Group (both regulatory and internally defined) is provided in the
integrated and risk-type-specific frameworks.

Setting and cascading risk appetite

The Group’s tolerance for risk is captured via the notion of “risk appetite”, which helps the Group to better
understand and manage risks by explicitly expressing (both qualitatively and quantitatively) how much and what
kind of risk it wants to take.

The ability to accept risk (risk-taking capacity) is limited by financial constraints (including available capital,
liquidity, borrowing capacity and earnings-generating capacity), non-financial constraints (including strategic
ability, skills and legal constraints) and regulatory restrictions (including regulatory floors on capital and liquidity
ratios). The Group’s willingness to accept risk depends on the interests of the various stakeholders. A key
component in defining risk appetite is therefore an understanding of the organization’s key stakeholders and their
expectations.

The Group’s risk appetite is set out in the “risk appetite statement” (“RAS”), which is decided at both Group and
local level. The RAS reflects the view of the Board of Directors and top management on risk-taking in general,
the acceptable level and composition of risks that ensure coherence with the desired return. The statement is built
on risk appetite objectives that are directly linked to the corporate strategy and provides a qualitative description
of the Group’s risk landscape. The high-level risk appetite objectives are further detailed in a set of qualitative
and quantitative statements for each of the different risk types. The long-term risk appetite is specified as “high”,
“medium” or “low” based on the measures and thresholds described in the risk appetite underpinning exercise
performed for the main risk types. Finally, risk appetite is translated into risk-type-specific Group limits/targets,
which are further cascaded down to the entities.

Risk analysis, reporting and follow-up

Risk analysis and reporting aim to give management transparency on the risk it is taking by ensuring a
comprehensive, forward-looking and ex-post view of the changing risk profile and the context in which the Group
operates.

In addition to internal reporting, external reports are prepared for the various stakeholders. As management is
expected to take relevant action based on the risk analysis and risk reporting, the output should be complete, well
balanced, easy to understand and focus on key messages/proposed actions. It is essential that the proposed actions
are tailored to the relevant stakeholders.
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Stress testing

Stress testing is a process that supports the decision-making process and that encompasses various techniques
used to assess the potential negative impact on the Group’s financial condition, caused by specific events and/or
movements in risk factors ranging from plausible to exceptional or even extreme.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk related to non-payment or non-performance by a contracting party due to that party’s
insolvency or lack of willingness to pay or perform, or due to events or measures taken by the political or monetary
authorities of a particular country.

The Group manages credit risk using strict governance rules and procedures set out in the KBC Credit Risk
Management Framework (the “CRMF”), designed by the Credit Risk Competence Center found within the Group
Credit Risk Department (the “GCRD”). The GCRD ensures the adequacy of the CRMF as well as compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements via Group-wide credit risk standards. This is done in close cooperation
with the Group’s local CROs and local risk departments, which are responsible for the local implementation of
the Group’s CRMF. Business entities are consulted for those areas of the CRMF that impact business processes
and/or governance.

The CRMF is reviewed annually to ensure its relevance and efficacy. It contains a clear delineation of
responsibilities and accountabilities at both the local and Group level, between the business (including credit
departments), credit risk departments and internal audit. The Group makes credit decisions based on independent
advice and acceptance and review processes that consider client knowledge and model-generated output. Material
credit decisions are advised and taken at the Group level within the GCRD.

A number of Group-wide building blocks are defined to ensure proper management of credit risk:

. Risk identification: A vital part of the credit risk identification process is to capture credit risk signals at
both the transactional and portfolio level. The Group scans both the internal and external environment
for events or developments that have already occurred or could occur and which directly or indirectly
have or could have a significant impact on the Group’s credit quality. Risk signals provide an overview
of the identified risk and outline the possible impact for the Group and, if possible, propose remedial
actions.

The appropriate risk management committees are informed periodically of the relevant signals or
observations with material risk signals reported to the Executive Committee. The Group also performs
thematic and sectoral deep dives to gain further insights into credit risk. New and upcoming prudential
(capital) credit risk regulation, product or client-specific regulation and legislation is followed up at the
Group or local level to ensure that amended or new regulations are promptly implemented in policy and
instructions.

The Group uses a specific risk identification process as its leading process to identify emerging credit
risks that could lead to impairment. The main objective in doing so is to have a reliable estimate of
impairment for the current quarter at an early stage and thus manage any risks.

. Risk measurement: Credit risk measurement involves a quantitative expression of a credit risk on a
portfolio of instruments and exposures by applying a model or methodology. A minimum Group-wide
set of credit risk measurements is defined and can be complemented with local measures. Central to this
methodology is the risk class, with a ranking being made based on the Probability of Default (the “PD”)
and the Loss Given Default (“LGD”). The LGD is the estimated loss that would be incurred if an obligor
were to default. In order to determine the risk class, the Group has developed various rating models for
measuring how creditworthy borrowers are and for estimating the expected loss of various types of
transactions. The Group uses the same internal rating scale throughout the Group and has a number of
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uniform rating models in place with other models having been designed for specific geographic markets
or types of transactions.

The output generated by these models is used to split the non-defaulted loan portfolio into internal rating
classes ranging from 1 (lowest risk) to 9 (highest risk) for the PD and assign a PD 10 to PD 12 to a
defaulted obligor, with PD 12 being assigned when either one of the obligor’s credit facilities is
terminated by the bank, or when a court order is passed instructing repossession of collateral. PD 11 class
obligors are those that are more than 90 days past due (in arrears or overdrawn), but that do not meet PD
12 criteria. PD 10 class obligors are those for which there is reason to believe that they are unlikely to
pay on time, but that do not meet the criteria for PD 11 or PD 12. ‘Defaulted’ status is fully aligned with
the ‘non-performing’ and ‘impaired’ status and obligors in PD classes 10, 11 and 12 are therefore referred
to as ‘defaulted’ and ‘impaired’. The ‘performing’ status is fully aligned with ‘non-defaulted’ and ‘non-
impaired’ statuses.

Impairment losses are recorded according to IFRS 9 requirements, calculated on a lifetime expected
credit loss (“ECL") basis for defaulted borrowers and on a twelve-month or lifetime ECL basis for non-
defaulted borrowers, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and a
corresponding shift from Stage 1 to Stage 2. The Group uses specific collective IFRS 9 models for this
purpose, except for material defaulted borrowers who are assessed individually to estimate ECL.
Together with PD and exposure at default (ED), measures such as ‘expected loss’ and ‘loss given default’
form the basis for calculating the regulatory capital requirements for the Group’s credit risk as it has
opted to use the Internal Ratings Based (“IRB”) approach. By the end of 2021, the main Group entities
and some smaller entities had adopted the IRB Advanced approach, apart from United Bulgarian Bank
(“UBB”) in Bulgaria, which uses the standardized approach, and CSOB in Slovakia, which uses the IRB
Foundation approach. The Group’s non-material entities will continue to adopt the standardized
approach.

Setting and cascading risk appetite: The KBC Risk Appetite Statement makes explicit the amount of
credit risk the Group is able and willing to accept in pursuit of its strategic objectives. The Credit Risk
Competence Centre is responsible for proposing the credit risk appetite objectives in line with the
corporate strategy, the underpinning methodology and the credit risk profile. Credit risk appetite is made
tangible by assigning credit risk limits and early warning levels to a limited set of credit risk (signal)
indicators, which are valid for one year.

Primary credit risk limits are decided by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee. These entail
limits on Expected Loss (“EL”), Stressed Credit Loss and Credit Risk Weighted Asset (“RWA”), and,
for new home loan production, Loan-to-Value (“LTV”) and Debt-Service-To-Income (“DSTI”). These
limits are supplemented by a portfolio limit system (“PLS”) framework to constrain concentration risk
on counterparty groups or authorities and other credit risk limits set at Group or local level that include
sector and activity limits and limits on risks, such as counterparty credit risk for professional transactions
or issuer risk.

By introducing a safety margin when defining these limits and by installing clear escalation rules in case
of limit breaches, they support business to stay a safe distance from positions that may bring the Group
into recovery or even resolution mode. Besides the limits defined in the Risk Appetite Statement, the risk
playing field is also determined by Group-wide risk boundaries defined in Credit Risk Standards, which
aim to align risk management of specific credit-risk related topics throughout the Group by defining
restrictions and/or recommendations.

Risk analysis, monitoring, reporting and follow up: The credit portfolio is analyzed on a continuous
basis. In addition to portfolio analyses performed by business, the local and Group credit risk departments
analyze the credit risk profile of the loan portfolio in order to obtain an independent view of the evolution
of credit risk. Results of the analyses are reported to the appropriate risk committees. Once credit risks
have been identified, measured, monitored and reported, it is the responsibility of both line management
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and the risk committees to respond, i.e. to keep or bring risks in line with the risk appetite. Corrective
action plans can be taken to avoid (further) credit risk, reduce it (mitigation), transfer the risk or accept

it.

. Stress testing: Stress testing is a core component of sound credit risk management and is performed at

local and Group level.

Credit risk exposure in the banking activities arising from lending and investing

Credit risk arises in both the banking and insurance activities of the Group. With respect to banking activities, the
main source of credit risk is KBC Bank’s loan portfolio. It includes all the loans and guarantees that KBC Bank
has granted to individuals, companies, governments and banks. Debt securities are included in the investment
portfolio if they are issued by companies or banks. Government bonds are not included in the investment portfolio.
Furthermore, the table does not take into account the credit risk related to the trading book (issuer risk) and the
counterparty credit risk related to derivative transactions, which are described separately below.

Loan and investment portfolio, banking
A: Total loan portfolio

Total loan portfolio (in billions of EUR)

Amount outstanding and undrawn
AMOUNt OULSEANAING .....ovvvieiesie e

Loan portfolio breakdown by business unit (as a % of the
outstanding portfolio)®

International Markets ....

Group CENIES.......cviiceeceerets e

TOtAL i

Loan portfolio breakdown by counterparty sector (as a %

of the outstanding portfolio)*

Private individualsS...........ccccoeevveiiiicieie e

Finance and insurance .........ccccceevevveveennns

GOVEIMMENTS ....ovveiieeriieeee e

Corporates....
Services............
Distribution......
Real estate........
Building and construction ......................
Agriculture, farming, fishing
AULOMOLIVE ...t
Other (SECLOrS < 290) .....coevvererieieieeieesie e

TOAL ! e

Loan and investment portfolio, banking

Loan portfolio breakdown by region (as a % of the

outstanding portfolio)!3

COre MAKELS ...vvveveieieie e
BeIGIUM ot
Czech Republic....
Ireland.................
Slovakia.....
Hungary....
Bulgaria ..o

Rest of Western EUrope..........cccoevvvevvennne

Rest of Central and Eastern Europe

NOIth AMETICa....veiiveeirieeriiereeserieine

As at June 30, As at December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019

247 237 225 218

197 188 181 175

64% 63% 64% 64%

19% 19% 18% 18%

11% 17% 17% 16%

6% 1% 2% 2%

100% 100% 100% 100%
44% 44% 43% 42%

6% 6% 8% 8%

3% 3% 3% 3%

47% 47% 46% 48%

10% 10% 11% 11%

8% 8% 7% 7%

6% 6% 6% 6%

4% 4% 4% 4%

3% 3% 3% 3%

2% 2% 2% 3%

14% 14% 13% 14%
100% 100% 100% 100%

As at June 30, As at December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019

89% 89% 87% 86%

54% 54% 53% 53%

18% 18% 17% 18%

5% 6% 6% 6%

6% 6% 6% 5%

3% 4% 3% 3%

2% 2% 2% 2%

7% 7% 9% 9%

0% 0% 0% 0%

1% 1% 1% 2%

1% 1% 1% 2%

1% 1% 2% 2%

100% 100% 100% 100%

Loan portfolio breakdown by risk class (as a % of the outstanding portfolio, based on internal rating scale)!

Unimpaired
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PD 1 (lowest risk, default probability ranging from 0.00%

up to, but not including, 0.10%)

PD 2 (0.10% - 0.2090) ....c.ccvvvrveeerereienens

PD 3 (0.20% - 0.4090) .......coovvverereiininae

PD 4 (0.40% - 0.8090) .......ccovvverereiininns

PD 5 (0.80% - 1.6090)......cccovvrerereiirinnae

PD 6 (1.60% - 3.2090) ......covovvvereriiiinns

PD 7 (3.20% - 6.4090) .......covueeeieriierieiieieieenisesieieee s

PD 8 (6.40% - 12.8090) .......coeuereririrereeirieiereeninesieieiereenees

PD 9 (highest risk, > 12.80%)

UNFAEEA ..o
Impaired

PD 10 it

PD11...

PD12...
TOTAL e

Loan portfolio breakdown by IFRS 9 ECL Stage* (as a % of the outstanding portfolio)®’

Stage 1 (no significant increase in credit risk since initial
FECOGNILION) ...ttt e
Stage 2 (significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition - not credit impaired) incl. POCI5.....................
Stage 3 (significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition - credit impaired) incl. POCI5........c..cccoovennee.
TOtAl o

B: Impaired loan portfolio

Impaired loans (PD 10 + 11 + 12; in millions of EUR or %)

IMPAIred 10aNS8..........ccooeviriiiieeee e
Of which more than 90 days pastdue .........c.cccceeeeveennene.

Impaired loans by business unit (as a % of the impaired loan portfolio)*

BelgiUM2.......ovieeecececeee e
Czech Republic
International Markets ...........cccveveiiieiiic i

Hungary
Bulgaria
Group Centre?

excl. Ireland

B: Impaired loan portfolio

Impaired loans by sector (as a % of the impaired loan

portfolio)*

Private individualS...........cccoovevvrinenineese e

DiStribULION ...

Services

Real estate

Building and construction .............c.ccccee..

AULOMOLIVE. ..o

Agriculture, farming, fishing...........cc........

Machinery & heavy equipment

Hotels, bars & restaurants ..........c.ccccevvveeene

Other (sectors < 2%) .......cccevveveeirereriennas

TOMAL o

Loan loss impairment (in millions of EUR)

Impairment for Stage 1 portfolio..........ccocvvvierincieiiee,

Impairment for Stage 2 portfolio, incl. POCI5 (cured).........

Impairment for Stage 3 portfolio, incl. POCI5

(St IMPAIred)......ccveieicieec e
Of which impairment for impaired loans that are more
than 90 days Past dUE........cccceverereerieieeieesese e
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26% 25% 26% 29%
11% 13% 12% 8%
18% 17% 15% 17%
13% 13% 13% 12%
13% 13% 13% 14%
9% 8% 9% 8%
4% 4% 5% 5%
2% 2% 2% 2%
1% 1% 1% 2%
0% 1% 1% 0%
1.0% 1.4% 1.5% 2%
0.3% 0.6% 0.6% 1%
0.9% 1.0% 1.2% 1%
100% 100% 100% 100%
81% 83% 85% 85%
16% 14% 12% 11%
2% 3% 3% 4%
100% 100% 100% 100%
As at June 30, As at December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2019
4,278 5,454 5,902 6,160
2,323 2,884 3,220 3,401

57% 48% 45% 44%
15% 12% 12% 12%
12% 32% 35% 38%
- 23% 24% 27%
4% 3% 4% 2%
3% 3% 2% 3%
5% 4% 5% 6%
16% 8% 8% 7%
6% - - -
100% 100% 100% 100%
As at June 30, As at December 31,

2022 2021 2020 2019
19% 34% 35% 38%
19% 16% 18% 19%
11% 11% 10% 8%
11% 9% 9% 8%

5% 5% 4% 4%
5% 4% 3% 2%
4% 3% 2% 2%
2% 3% 2% 2%
4% 3% 2% 2%
19% 13% 14% 15%
100% 100% 100% 100%
136 127 191 144
512 559 998 265
2,076 2,569 2,638 2,584
1,587 1,905 2,044 2,050
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Credit cost ratio

Belgium BUSiness UNit? ...........ccocoeeeeereeeeisnceeeeceesennans (0.04)% (0.26)% 0.57% 0.22%
Czech Republic Business Unit (0.04)% (0.42)% 0.67% 0.04%
International Markets Business Unit 0.22% 0.36% 0.78% (0.07)%
Ireland® - 1.43% 0.88% (0.32)%
Slovakia 0.09% (0.16)% 0.50% 0.14%
HUNGAIY .o 0.20% (0.34)% 1.05% (0.02)%
BUIGAITA ....cveveiiccc s 0.56% (0.06)% 0.73% 0.14%
Group Centre 0.03% 0.28% (0.23)% (0.88)%
Excluding Ireland...........ccoooiiiiniieeieesc e (0.02)% - - -
TOMAL e (0.01)% (0.18)% 0.60% 0.12%
Impaired loans ratio
Belgium Busingss Unit? ..........c.cccoevevvivevirceieceiseeeee e 1.9% 2.2% 2.3% 2.4%
Czech Republic Busingss Unit..........ccccccvveeiieiencnieiecnenenn, 1.8% 1.8% 2.3% 2.3%
International Markets Business Unit ...... 2.2% 5.7% 6.9% 8.5%
Ireland.........cooeeeieiennnncces 2.7% 12.0% 13.9% 16.4%
Slovakia...... 1.6% 1.6% 2.3% 1.7%
Hungary ..... 1.8% 2.1% 1.9% 2.8%
Bulgaria......... 4.3% 5.3% 7.7% 10.6%
Group Centreé.............. 6.3% 21.5% 13.9% 12.4%
TOtAl o 2.2% 2.9% 3.3% 3.5%
Of which more than 90 days past due ..........ccccevvererrenns 1.2% 1.5% 1.8% 1.9%
Coverage ratio
Loan loss impairment / impaired 10ans............ccccocevieenee 49% 47% 45% 42%
Of which more than 90 days past due ..........ccccevreceriens 68% 66% 64% 60%
Loan loss impairment / impaired loans (excl. mortgage
JOBNS) .. 51% 51% 52% 50%
Of which more than 90 days past due ..........ccccevvererrenns 71% 73% 75% 72%

Unaudited figures.

Also includes the small network of KBC Bank branches established in the rest of Europe, the US and Southeast Asia (with a total
outstanding portfolio of €7 billion at year-end 2021).

A more detailed breakdown by country is available in the Issuer's quarterly reports (at www.kbc.com).

For more information on stages, see Note 1.2 of the ‘Consolidated financial statements' section.

Purchased or originated credit impaired assets; gross amounts, as opposed to net amounts in the accounting treatment.

Figures differ from those appearing in Note 4.2 of the ‘Consolidated financial statements' section, due to differences in scope. The €448
million decrease between year-ends 2020 and 2021 breaks down as follows: €62 million at the Belgium Business Unit, €73 million at
the Czech Republic Business Unit, €285 million at the International Markets Business Unit (around half of which in Ireland) and €28
million at the Group Centre.

Figures before impact of the overlay approach (for more information, see Note 4.2.1 of the ‘Consolidated financial statements' section).
As a result of the pending sale to Bank of Ireland Group of substantially all of KBC Bank Ireland’s performing loan assets, its deposit
book, and a small portfolio of non-performing mortgages (NPEs), the loan portfolio of KBC Bank Ireland has been transferred from
the International Markets Business Unit to the Group Centre as of January 1, 2022 (without retroactive restatement).

Sale of the Irish portfolios

In 2021, KBC Bank Ireland reached an agreement to divest a portfolio of non-performing mortgage loans and
entered into a legally binding agreement regarding the sale of substantially all of KBC Bank Ireland's performing
loans and the remaining portfolio of non-performing mortgage loans. The completion of these transactions will
ultimately result in the sale of the entire portfolio and the Group’s withdrawal from the Irish market.

The table below shows the pro forma impact of this sale on a number of credit risk indicators.

Including Excluding

Loan and investment portfolio 31-12-2021, including and excluding KBC Bank KBC Bank KBC Bank

Ireland Ireland Ireland

Total loan portfolio (amount outstanding; in billions of EUR)!................... 188 178

Breakdown by counterparty sector (as a % of the outstanding portfolio).....

RELAI ... 44% 41%
Of which mortgages............... 41% 38%
Of which consumer finance... 3% 3%

SIME .ttt Rt R et Rt r et R et R ettt reneenn 22% 23%

(O70] 0T ] 2= 1] TS F TSSOV 34% 36%

Impaired loans (PD 10 + 11 + 12; in millions of EUR) 5454 4198

Credit COSETALIO ... eiviviieieiciee sttt ettt e bt resbe b sn e (0.18)% (0.27)%

IMPAITEA 08NS FALI0.......viiieieicice ettt sre e 2.9% 2.4%
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COVEIAZE FALIO ..ottt sttt b et st e b e s et e s e st ebeabeeaeneenes 47% 48%

1 Unaudited figures.
Forbearance measures

Forbearance measures consist of concessions towards a borrower facing, or about to face, financial difficulties.
They may involve lowering or postponing interest or fee payments, extending the term of the loan to ease the
repayment schedule, capitalizing arrears, declaring a moratorium (temporary principal and/or interest payment
holidays) or providing debt forgiveness.

A client with a loan qualifying as forborne will in general be assigned a PD class that is worse than before the
forbearance measure was granted, given the increased risk of default. When that is the case, the client’s
unlikeliness to pay is also assessed (according to specific “unlikely to pay” criteria). In accordance with IFRS 9
requirements, a facility tagged as “forborne” is allocated to Stage 2, if the client/facility is classified as “non-
defaulted”, or to Stage 3, if the client/facility is classified as “defaulted”.

The Group applies criteria that are consistent with the corresponding EBA standards to move forborne exposures
from “defaulted” to “non-defaulted” status and to remove the forbearance status. If a client/facility has been
assigned ‘defaulted’ status (before or at the time forbearance measures are granted), the client/forborne facility
(depending on whether defaulted status is assigned at client or facility level) must remain defaulted for at least
one year. Only upon strict conditions can the client/facility be reclassified as ‘non-defaulted’. A forborne facility
with a ‘non-defaulted’ status will be tagged as ‘forborne’ for at least two years after the forbearance measure has
been granted, or after the client/facility becomes non-defaulted, and can only be removed when strict extra criteria
have been met (including non-defaulted and regular payments). As a forbearance measure constitutes an objective
indicator (i.e. impairment trigger) that requires assessing whether impairment is needed, all forbearance measures
are subject to an impairment test.

Movements
Loans which
are no
longer
On-balance-sheet exposures with Loans which  considered
forbearance measures: gross Opening  have become to be Closing
carrying value balance forborne forborne Repayments ~ Write-offs  Other® balance
(EUR million)
2021
Total..ceiicecece e 4,158 1,692 (371) (670) (28) (1,100) 3,681
Of which KBC Bank Ireland........ 1,417 76 0 (251) 0 (1,226) 16
2020
Total..cveiieeeeece e 3,075 1,912 (535) (355) (31) 92 4,158
Of which KBC Bank Ireland........ 1,668 92 (222) (128) 0) 7 1,417
2019
Total..cveiieeeeece e 3,890 277 (712) (253) (137) 10 3,075
Of which KBC Bank Ireland........ 2,195 98 (439) (57) (103) (26) 1,668
Movements
Existing Decrease in
impairment  impairment
on loans because Increase in  Decrease in
On-balance-sheet exposures with which have loansareno impairment impairment
forbearance measures: Opening become longer on forborne on forborne Closing
impairment balance forborne forborne loans loans Other? balance
(EUR million)
2021
Total. .o 645 154 (68) 266 (164) (388) 445
Of which KBC Bank Ireland........ 251 23 0 170 (69) (360) 15
2020
Total. ..o 516 156 (95) 169 (82) (18) 645
Of which KBC Bank Ireland 224 13 (30) 66 (20) 2) 251
2019
Total. .o 655 64 (173) 69 (86) (13) 516
Of which KBC Bank Ireland........ 353 22 (127) 15 (38) () 224
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1 Includes foreign-exchange effects for loans granted in currencies other than the local currency, changes in the drawn/undrawn portion
of facilities, increases in the gross carrying value of existing forborne loans and additions or disposals through business combinations.
For Ireland: the planned sale of loans at KBC Ireland resulted in a shift to the 'Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups'
balance sheet item because we consider all IFRS 5 conditions to have been met.

2 Includes the use of impairment in respect of write-offs and additions or disposals through business combinations.

Breakdown by PD class
(as a % of the entity's portfolio of forborne loans)

PD 10 PD 11-12
(impaired, (impaired, 90
As a % of the less than 90 days and
outstanding days past more past
Forborne loans portfolio PD 1-8 PD 9 due) due)
30-6-2022
TOtal oovveeececece e 2% 38% 16% 33% 14%
Of which KBC Bank Ireland... 5% 0% 55% 28% 18%
By client segment!
Private individuals? 1% 40% 23% 26% 11%
SMES. ..o, 2% 42% 12% 35% 11%
Corporations® ............cccceueen. 2% 33% 14% 36% 18%
31-12-2021
TOtal oo 3% 39% 12% 33% 16%
Of which KBC Bank Ireland... 12% 0% 25% 41% 34%
By client segment!
Private individuals?................ 2% 21% 18% 35% 25%
SMES. ..o, 3% 57% 8% 27% 8%
Corporations® 3% 44% 9% 35% 13%
31-12-2020
Total .oovveiececececeece s 2% 32% 13% 38% 18%
Of which KBC Bank Ireland... 14% 0% 25% 43% 32%
By client segment!
Private individuals? ................ 2% 13% 20% 39% 28%
SMES...coiiiiiiiieieccseee s 3% 54% 9% 28% 10%
Corporations® .............cccceveen. 2% 39% 6% 45% 10%
31-12-2019
TOtal oo 2% 13% 18% 43% 25%
Of which KBC Bank Ireland... 17% 0% 25% 46% 29%
By client segment!
Private individuals?................ 3% 8% 23% 43% 27%
SMES....ccooviieiiririenn, 1% 25% 12% 35% 29%
Corporations® 1% 21% 10% 50% 19%

1 Unaudited.
2 95% of the forborne loans total relates to mortgage loans in 2021 (97% in 2020).
3 27% of the forborne loans relates to commercial real estate loans in 2021 (22% in 2020).

A financial contract is past due when a counterparty fails to make a payment when it is contractually due. In case
of factoring, a purchased receivable is past due when the invoice debtor fails to make payment on the due date of
an undisputed invoice. There are defaulted (or non-performing loans (“NPL”)) exposures that are not past due,
but also exposures (less than 90 days) past due that are non-defaulted (in other words, performing).

The tables below set forth the Group’s credit quality of performing and non-performing exposures by past due
days. Similar data as at June 30, 2022 is not available.
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31-12-2021

Cash balances at central

banks and other demand

deposits

Loans and advances

Central banks

General governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations
Of which SMEs

Households

Debt securities

Central banks

General governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations

Off-balance-sheet exposures

Central banks

General governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations

Households

Total

Gross carrying amount/nominal amount

Performing exposures

Non-performing exposures

Not past
due or Past due
past due > 30 days
<30 days <90 days
39,457 39,457 -
190,530 190,034 496
27,409 27,409 -
5,932 5,845 87
5,544 5,544 -
4,836 4,829 7
68,078 67,769 309
33,365 33,329 36
78,731 78,638 93
44,956 44,956 -
131 131 -
40,122 40,122 -
3,235 3,235 -
925 925 -
543 543 -
54,246
1,398
2,912
5,072
35,960
8,903
329,189 274,447 496
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3,927

14
68
3,082
1,478

Unlikely
to pay
that are
not past
due or Past due Past due
are past > 90 days > 180 Pastdue Pastdue  Pastdue
due <90 <180 days<1 >1lyear >2years >5years Pastdue Ofwhich
days days year <2years <Syears <7years >7years defaulted
(EUR million)

1,942 208 155 303 413 157 749 3,927

1 - - 1 1 - 1 3

- 14 - - - - - 14

2 1 - 11 41 - 12 68

1,566 147 96 221 289 120 644 3,082

649 140 59 126 214 71 220 1,478

373 46 60 69 82 37 93 760

- - - - 1 - - 1

- - - - 1 - - 1

197

190

7

1,942 208 155 303 415 157 749 4,126



31-12-2020

Loans and advances

Central banks

Central governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations
Of which SMEs

Households

Debt securities

Central banks

General governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations

Off-balance-sheet exposures

Central banks

General governments

Credit institutions

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations

Households

Total

Gross carrying amount/nominal amount

Performing exposures

Non-performing exposures

214,840
47,983
5,996
9,374
5,308
64,167
32,843
82,011
49,344
314
43,287
3,941
1,315
486
49,916

1,426
2,449
4,822
33,868
7,352
314,101

Not past
due or Past due
pastdue > 30 days
<30 days <90 days
214,457 383
47,983 -
5,995 1
9,374 -
5,308 1
63,938 229
32,800 43
81,858 153
49,344 -
314 -
43,287 -
3,941 -
1,315 -
486 -
263,801 383
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Unlikely
to pay
that are
not past
due or Past due Past due
are past > 90 days > 180 Pastdue Pastdue  Pastdue
due <90 <180 days<1 >1lyear >2years >5years Pastdue Ofwhich
days days year <2years <Syears <7years >7years defaulted
(EUR million)

2,419 196 335 409 564 227 1,200 5,350

1 1 - - 1 - 1 4

- 27 - - - - - 28

10 4 11 35 4 - 13 76

1,448 77 200 201 318 110 687 3,040

568 60 104 127 223 68 252 1,402

960 88 124 173 242 116 500 2,202

- - - - 1 - 2 3

- - - - 1 - 2 3

209

203

6

2,419 196 335 409 566 227 1,202 5,563



31-12-2019
Loans and advances
Central banks
General governments
Credit institutions
Other financial
corporations
Non-financial
corporations

Of which SMEs
Households
Debt securities
Central banks
General governments
Credit institutions
Other financial
corporations
Non-financial
corporations
Off-balance-sheet
exposures
Central banks
General governments
Credit institutions
Other financial
corporations
Non-financial
corporations
Households
Total

Gross carrying amount/nominal amount

Performing exposures

Non-performing exposures

191,105
30,273
5,919
7,839

5,496

64,172
26,407
77,406
43,987
297
38,090
3,739

1,457
403
48,440

1,372
2,728

4,470
33,257

6,614
283,531

Not past
due or Past due
past due > 30 days
<30days <90 days
190,627 478 5,464
30,273 - -
5,919 - 12
7,839 - 30
5,496 - 82
63,895 277 2,887
26,360 48 1,184
77,205 200 2,453
43,987 - 7
297 - -
38,090 - -
3,739 - -
1,457 - -
403 - 7
307
3
3
295
5
234,613 478 5,778
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Unlikely
to pay
that are
not past
due or Past due Past due
are past > 90 days > 180 Past due Past due Past due
due <90 <180 days<1 > 1 year >2vyears  >5years Past due Of which  Of which
days days year <2 years <5 years <7 years >7years  defaulted impaired
(EUR million)

2,489 300 524 326 582 548 695 5,462 5,460

9 - 1 - 1 - 1 12 12

- - - - 30 30 30

24 - 38 4 1 2 13 82 82

1,375 99 326 157 315 301 314 2,886 2,886

358 58 65 87 251 301 314 2,886 2,886

1,081 201 158 165 266 215 367 2,451 2,450

- - - - 7 - - 7 7

- - - - 7 - - 7 7

307 307

3 3

3 3

295 295

5 5

2,489 300 524 326 589 548 695 5,776 5,775



Other credit risks in the banking activities

Trading book securities. These securities carry an issuer risk (potential loss should the issuer default). The Group
measures exposure to this type of risk on the basis of the market value of the securities. Issuer risk is curtailed
through the use of limits both per issuer and per rating category.

Government securities in the investment portfolio of banking entities. The Group measures exposure to
governments in terms of nominal value and book value. Such exposure relates mainly to EU states. The Group
has put in place limiting caps for both non-core and core market sovereign bond exposure.

Counterparty credit risk of derivatives transactions. The amounts shown in the table below are the Group’s pre-
settlement risks, which are measured using the internal model method for interest rate and foreign exchange
derivatives in the Belgium Business Unit. For inflation, equity and commodity derivatives, pre-settlement risks
are calculated as the sum of the (positive) current replacement value (“mark-to-market” value) of a transaction
and the applicable add-on. This calculation is also used for measuring pre-settlement risks for interest rate and
foreign exchange derivatives in the other business units.

The Group aims to curtail risks by setting limits per counterparty. The Group also uses close-out netting and
collateral techniques. Financial collateral is only taken into account if the assets concerned are considered eligible
risk mitigants for regulatory capital calculations.

As at December 31,

Other credit exposure, banking 2021 2020 2019
(EUR billion)

ISSUBT TISKY.... ottt sttt nees 0.02 0.02 0.05

Counterparty credit risk of derivatives transactions?...........c.cccoeeeerrveeenen. 4.4 5.0 5.6

1 Excluding a nominative list of central governments, and all exposure to EU institutions and multilateral development banks.
2 After deduction of collateral received and netting benefits.

Credit risk exposure in insurance activities

For insurance activities, credit exposure exists primarily in the investment portfolio and towards reinsurance
companies. The Group has guidelines in place for the purpose of controlling credit risk within the investment
portfolio with regard to, for instance, portfolio composition and ratings. The table below shows the market value
of the investment portfolio of the insurance entities broken down by asset type under Solvency II.

As at June 30, As at December 31,

Investment portfolio of KBC group insurance entities * 2022 2021 2020 2019
(EUR million, market value)

Per asset type (Solvency 1)

SBCUITIES ..ttt ettt ettt b e s 17,344 20,102 20,466 20,331
Bonds and @liKE.........ocveeivreeeiciee et 16,214 18,791 19,230 18,988
GBS ettt ettt ettt 1,074 1,290 1,231 1,341
Derivatives................. 56 21 5 1

Loans and mortgages 2,368 2,806 3,074 3,133
Loans and mortgages to Clients.........ccccocevvienenciiiniennns 1,994 2,299 2,506 2,513
Loans to banks ........cceecveeiiiiiieieece e 374 507 568 619

Property and equipment and investment property 305 305 315 286

Unit-linked iNVESIMENSZ ..........ccoovvveeeeieececee e 13,018 14,620 13,831 14,477

Investments in associated companies 246 292 242 264

Other investments 11 12 12 13

TOMAL v e 33,292 38,137 37,939 38,503

1 The total carrying value amounted to €36,317 million at year-end 2020 and to €37,018 million at year-end 2021. Figures differ from
those appearing in Note 4.1 of the ‘Consolidated financial statements' section, due to asset class reporting under Solvency II.

2 Representing the assets side of unit-linked (class 23) products and completely balanced on the liabilities side. No credit risk involved
for KBC Insurance.
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The table below provides more details of the bond and other fixed-income security components of the portfolio.
Similar data as at June 30, 2022 is not available.

As at December 31,

Investment portfolio of KBC group insurance entities * 2021 2020 2019
Details for bonds and other fixed-income securities
By external rating?

INVESTMENT GIrAGE ..ottt 99% 99% 98%
Non-investment grade ... 1% 1% 2%
UNTBLEO. ...t 0% 0% 0%
By sector?

GOVEIMIMENTS ... 66% 65% 64%
FINANCIAE ..o 23% 23% 23%
OB bbb 11% 13% 13%
By remaining term to maturity?

NOt MOFE thaN L VB ....ccueiieieieieee et 8% 8% 11%
Between 1 and 3 Years.........ccocvverereneeeeennnnnen 18% 16% 15%
Between 3 and 5 Years.........ccocvverereneeieenennne 15% 16% 17%
Between 5 and 10 years 29% 30% 31%
MOTE than 10 YEAIS......cveeieieiirieeriete e 29% 30% 27%

1 The total carrying value amounted to €36,317 million at year-end 2020 and to €37,018 million at year-end 2021. Figures differ from
those appearing in Note 4.1 of the ‘Consolidated financial statements' section, due to asset class reporting under Solvency IL.

2 Excluding in